
Sam CERA Notice of Public Meeting 

The Board of Retirement 
of the San Mateo County Employees' Retirement Association will meet on 

Tuesday, October 27, 2015, at 10:00 A.M. 
PUBLIC SESSION- The Board will meet in Public Session at 10:00 a.m. 

1. Call to Order, Roll Call and Miscellaneous Business 
2. Oral Communications 

2.1 Oral Communications from the Board 
2.2 Oral Communications from the Public 

3. Approval of the Minutes 
3.1 Approval of Regular Board Meeting Minutes from September 29, 2015 

4. Approval of the Consent Agenda* 
4.1 Disability Retirements 

• None 
4.2 Service Retirements 
4.3 Continuances 

5. Benefit & Actuarial Services 

4.4 
4.5 

Deferred Retirements 
Member Account Refunds 

4.6 Member Account Rollovers 
4.7 Approval of Resolution Amending 

SamCERA's Interest Crediting Policy 

5.1 Consideration of Agenda Items, if any, Removed from the Consent Agenda 
5.2 Acceptance of Milliman, Inc. Report on GASB 67 and 68 Disclosures For FY 2014-15 

6. Investment Services 
6.1 Prel iminary Monthly Portfolio Performance Report for the Period Ending Sept ember 

30,2015 
6.2 Report on Annual Due-Diligence Reviews for Opportunist ic Credit Manager {Brigade 

Capital) 
6.3 Report on Annual Due-Diligence Reviews for Commodity, Absolute Return-Hedge 

Funds, Risk Parity, and Real Estate Managers. 
6.4 Discussion and Approval of Proposed Alternative Investment {to be heard in Closed 

Session, Confidential Under Gov. Code §54956.81 and §6254.2, see item C2) 
6.5 Report and Discussion of Organizational Changes Within SIS 

7. Board & Management Support 
7.1 Acceptance of Financial Audit Management Reports and Findings 
7.2 Approval of SamCERA's 2015 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report {CAFR) 
7.3 Annual Review of Independent Auditor, Brown Armstrong 
7.4 Discussion of SACRS Business Meeting Topics 
7.5 Approval of Board of Retirement Meeting Schedule for 2016 

8. Management Reports 
8.1 Chief Executive Officer's Report 
8.2 Assistant Executive Officer's Report 

Page 1 of2- Posted 1012112015 

kperez
Cross-Out



Notice of Public Meeting 
Page 2 of 2 

8.3 Chief Investment Officer's Report 

8.4 Chief Legal Counsel's Report 

CLOSED SESSION - The Board may meet in closed session prior to adjournment 

Cl Consideration of Disability Items, if any, Removed f rom t he Consent Agenda 

C2 Approva l and Report of Proposed Alte rnative Investment {Conf idential Under Gov. Code 

§54956.81 and §6254.2 - see also item 6.4) 

9. Report on Actions Taken in Closed Session 

10. Adjournment i n Memory of the Following Deceased Members: 

Knox, Mavis August 14, 2015 Social Work 

Soto, Beatrice August 14, 2015 Public Health 

Barthel, Irene September 3, 2015 County Clerk 

Forbes, Glenn September 4, 2015 Socia l Services 

Cantwell, Sidney September 6, 2015 Public Works 

O'Toole, Matilda September 8, 2015 Municipal Court 

Phillips, Edith September 8, 2015 County Clerk 

Lynch, Margaret September 11, 2015 Social Services 

Fitzgerald, Ronald September 12, 2015 SMC General Hospital 

Dunlop, Alta September 14, 2015 Courts 

Hansen, Richard September 20, 2015 Sheriff 

Johnson, John October 1, 2015 General Services 

Mastenbrook, Clifford October 1, 2015 Assessor's 

Co leman, Demetric October 6, 2015 Medical Center 

Garcia, Jorge October 11, 2015 Food Service/ Dietary Unit 

~Officer Posted: October 21, 2015 

(*ALL ITEMS ON THE CONSENT AGENDA ARE APPROVED BY ONE ROLL CALL MOTION UNLESS A REQUEST IS MADE BY A BOARD 

MEMBER THAT AN ITEM BE WITHDRAWN OR TRANSFERRED TO THE REGULAR AGENDA. ANY ITEM ON THE REGULAR AGENDA MAY BE 

TRANSFERRED TO THE CONSENT AGENDA. ANY 4.11TEMS REMOVED FROM THE CONSENT AGENDA WILL BE TAKEN UP UNDER 

CLOSED SESSION; ALL OTHER ITEMS REMOVED FROM THE CONSENT AGENDA W ILL BE TAKEN UP UNDER ITEM 5.1.) 

THE BOARD MEETS AT 100 MARINE PARKWAY, SUITE 160, WHICH IS LOCATED ON THESE (ORNER OF TWIN DOLPHIN & MARINE PARKWAY IN 
REDWOOD CITY. Detailed direct ions are avai lable on t he "Contact Us" page of the website www.samcera.org. Free Parking is 
available in all lots in the vicinity of the building. A copy of the Board of Retirement's open session agenda packet is 
available for review at the Sam CERA offices and on our website unless the writings are privileged or otherwise exempt from 
disclosure under the provisions of the California Public Records Act. Office hours are Monday through Thursday 7 a.m. -6 
p.m. 

IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE CALIFORNIA GOVERNMENT (ODE AND THE AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT: SamCERA's facilities and board 
and committee meetings are accessible to individuals with disabilities. Contact SamCERA at (650) 599-1234 at least three 
business days prior to the meeting if (1) you need special assistance or a disabi lity-re lated modification or accommodation, 
including auxiliary aids or services, in order to participate in th is meeting; or (2) you have a disability and wish to receive the 
agenda, meeting notice, agenda packet or other writings that may be distributed at the meeting in an alternative format. 
Notification in advance of the meeting will enable SamCERA to make reasonable arrangements to ensure full accessibil ity to 
this meeting and the materials related to it. 

Page 2 of2- Posted 10/2112015 



 

September 29, 2015, DRAFT Minutes                                                                                                                                                                                     Page 1 of 6 

 SAN MATEO COUNTY EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT ASSOCIATION  
SEPTEMBER 29,  2015 – REGULAR BOARD MEETING MINUTES 

 
1509.1 Call to Order, Roll Call and Miscellaneous Business  

 

Call to Order:  Ms. Michal Settles, Vice Chair, called the Regular Meeting of the Board of Retirement to 
order at 10:06 a.m.  
  
Mark Battey, SamCERA’s new Board member, was introduced by Ms. Settles.  Mr. Battey briefly 
shared his experience and professional history with the Board.  Mr. Battey was appointed by the San 
Mateo County Board of Supervisors as the Sixth Member of the Board of Retirement on September 
22, 2015. 
 

 Roll Call:  
Present:  Sandie Arnott, Mark Battey, Ben Bowler (arrived 12:50 p.m.), Natalie Kwan Lloyd, Michal 
Settles, Eric Tashman, and Shirley Tourel.   
Excused:   Paul Hackleman, David Spinello 
Alternates present: Susan Lee (for David Spinello), Alma Salas (for Paul Hackleman) 
Staff:  Scott Hood, Michael Coultrip, Brenda Carlson, Gladys Smith, Al David, Tat-Ling Chow, Mabel 
Wong, Doris Ng, Elizabeth LeNguyen, Barbara Edwards; and Kristina Perez.  
Consultants: Jonathan Brody and Margaret Jadallah (SIS), Nick Collier and Craig Glyde (Milliman, Inc.) 

 

1509.1.1 Administration of the Oath of Office to Reappointed and Newly Appointed Trustees:  County 
Treasurer and Board of Retirement Trustee, Sandie Arnott, administered the Oath of Office to newly 
appointed trustee Mark Battey and re-appointed trustee Eric Tashman.  
 

1509.1.2 Report of Appointment by Chair of the Audit Committee:  Mr. Hood announced the appointments to 
the Audit Committee as selected by Chair Paul Hackleman.  The Audit Committee members will be 
Shirley Tourel, Eric Tashman, Alma Salas, and Natalie Kwan Lloyd serving as the Chair.  Ms. Settles 
announced that she would be serving as the Chair of the Ad Hoc CEO Evaluation committee with 
trustees Mark Battey and Sandie Arnott.  There is one opening remaining on the Ad Hoc CEO 
Evaluation Committee and any interested Board members were asked to contact Mr. Hackleman for 
more information.  
 

1509.2.1 Oral Communications From the Board:  Ms. Arnott reported her attendance at the Public Funds 
Forum on September 8-10, 2015 in Laguna Beach, CA.  Ms. Lee and Ms. Salas also reported their 
attendance at the Public Funds Forum.  Additionally Ms. Lee reported her attendance at CALAPRS 
Principles of Pension Management for Trustees, held at Pepperdine University, August 25-28, 2015.  
Ms. Kwan Lloyd reported her attendance at the CALAPRS Trustees’ Round Table in San Jose on 
September 18, 2015.  Ms. Settles updated the Board on her service with the SACRS ad hoc committee 
with regard to the UC Berkeley trustee program.    
 

1509.2.2 Oral Communications From the Public:  None. 
 

1509.3.2 Approval of Regular Board Meeting Minutes from August 25, 2015:  Ms. Settles asked if there were 
any changes or corrections to the Regular Board Meeting Minutes from August 25, and none were 
stated.   
Action:  Ms. Salas moved to approve the minutes from the Regular Meeting of August 25, 2015; and 
the motion was seconded by Ms. Arnott.  The motion carried with a vote of 5-0-3 with trustees Arnott, 
Kwan Lloyd, Salas, Settles and Tourel all in favor; none opposed; and with trustees Battey, Lee and 
Tashman abstaining as they were not present at the August 25th meeting. 
 



 

September 29, 2015, DRAFT Minutes                                                                                                                                                                                     Page 2 of 6 

1509.4.0 Approval of the Consent Agenda:  Ms. Settles asked if there were any items to be removed from the 
Consent Agenda, and the service-connected disability retirement applications of Mary Burns and 
Rhonda Collins were removed for discussion.          
Action:  Mr. Tashman moved to approve the remaining items on the Consent Agenda, and the motion 
was seconded by Ms. Kwan Lloyd.   The motion carried with a vote of 8-0 with trustees Arnott, Battey, 
Lee, Kwan Lloyd, Salas, Settles, Tashman and Tourel all in favor; none opposed. 
 

1509.4.1 Disability Retirements:  
The Board found that Adam Reininger is (1) permanently incapacitated for the performance of his 
usual and customary duties as a Deputy Sheriff, (2) found that his disability was a result of an injury 
arising out of and in the course of his employment, and (3) granted his application for a service-
connected disability retirement. 
 
The Board found that Jon Roberts is (1) permanently incapacitated for the performance of his usual 
and customary duties as a Deputy Sheriff, (2) found that his disability was a result of an injury arising 
out of and in the course of his employment, and (3) granted his application for a service-connected 
disability retirement. 
 

1509.4.2 Service Retirements: 
The Board ratified the actions as listed below for the following members regarding service 
retirements: 
Member Name                                    Effective Retirement Date            Department 
Barron, Dolores July 8, 2015 Human Services Agency 
Bloomquist, Joyce July 18, 2015 Tax Collector 
Bullivant, Joyce July 31, 2015 Deferred from Social Services 
Chevalier, Brian July 18, 2015 Deferred from Sheriff's 
Garrison, David July 4, 2015 Controller's Office 
Goodenough, Marshall August 1, 2015 Deferred from Sheriff's 
Hall, Stacy July 4, 2015 Medical Center 
Hernandez, Cristeta July 20, 2015 Deferred from Medical Center 
Holaday, Lori July 10, 2015 Def’d from Aging & Adult Serv. 
Holland, David July 18, 2015 Deferred from County Manager 
Mack, Vicki August 1, 2015 Deferred from Medical Center 
McFarren-Nave, Ellen August 1, 2015 Deferred from Health Services 
Miranda, Sonia July 11, 2015 Medical Center 
Misthos, George August 1, 2015 Deferred from Family Support 
Mojica, Gladys July 11, 2015 Child Support Services 
Sanderson, Katherine July 14, 2015 Library 
Schillaci (Morse), Suzanne August 1, 2015 Deferred from Sheriff's 
Trotter, Kaylynn July 31, 2015 Deferred Public Health 
White, JoAnn                                                  August 1, 2015                       Medical Center 

 
1509.4.3 Continuances: 

The Board ratified the actions as listed below for the following members regarding continuances: 
Survivor’s Name Beneficiary of 
Jenkins, Nancy Jenkins, Risdon 
Sherzinger, Kay Sherzinger, Dennis 
 
 
 
 



 

September 29, 2015, DRAFT Minutes                                                                                                                                                                                     Page 3 of 6 

1509.4.4 Deferred Retirements: 
The Board ratified the actions as listed below for the following members regarding deferred 
retirements: 
Member Name    Retirement Plan Type 
Frank, Damien G4 Vested - Reciprocity 
Mullin, Amy QDRO 
Murphy, Patrick G4 Vested - Reciprocity 
Stimson, Jennifer G4 Vested – Auto Defer 
 

1509.4.5 Member Account Refunds:  
The Board ratified the actions as listed below for the following members regarding refunds: 
Member Name                                      Retirement Plan Type 
Farias, David S4, Vested 
Johnson, David QDRO, Vested 
Mendez, Karla G4, Vested 
Schaaf, Adam G7, Non-vested 
Siddiq, Morwarid G7, Non-vested 
 

1509.4.6 Member Account Rollovers: 
The Board ratified the actions as listed below for the following members regarding rollovers: 
Member Name                                        Retirement Plan Type 
Alfaro, Douglas G4, Non-vested 
Balabis, Joseph G4, Vested 
Guillaume, Elizabeth 3, G2, Vested 
Jones, Sylvia G7, Non-vested 
Walan, Bradley G7, Non-vested 
 

1509.4.7 Member Account Redeposit:  The Board approved a payment period of two years for redeposit of 
retirement funds by Richard Daly pursuant to Government Code Section 31652. 
 

1509.4.8 Approval of Resolution Revising the Investment Policy Statement to Memorialize Past Board 
Actions:  The Board adopted a resolution revising the SamCERA Investment Policy Statement.  
 

1509.5.1 Consideration of Agenda Items, if any, Removed From the Consent Agenda:  The Board adjourned 
into closed session from 10:20 a.m. to 10:45 a.m. to consider the service-connected disability 
applications Mary Burns and Rhonda Collins. 
 
Ms. Carlson reported the following Board actions that were taken in the Closed Session: 
 
The applicant Mary Burns was present and appeared before the Board.  A motion was made, and 
seconded, to approve the staff recommendation regarding the service-connected disability application 
of Mary Burns.  The Board found that Mary Burns is not permanently incapacitated for the 
performance of her usual and customary duties as a Corrections Officer and denied her application for 
a service-connected disability retirement.  The motion carried by a vote 5-2-1, with trustees Arnott, 
Kwan Lloyd, Settles, Tashman and Tourel all in favor; Lee and Salas opposed; and Battey abstaining.   
 



 

September 29, 2015, DRAFT Minutes                                                                                                                                                                                     Page 4 of 6 

1509.5.1 In a second and separate action, a motion was made, and seconded, to approve the staff 
recommendation regarding the service-connected disability application of Rhonda Collins.  The Board 
found that Rhonda Collins is permanently incapacitated for the performance of her usual and 
customary duties as a Probation Services Manager I, found that her disability was a result of an injury 
arising out of and in the course of her employment, and granted her application for a service-
connected disability retirement. The motion carried by a vote 7-0-1, with trustees Arnott, Lee, Kwan 
Lloyd, Salas, Settles, Tashman and Tourel all in favor; and Battey abstaining.   
 

1509.5.2 Presentation of the June 30, 2015, Actuarial Valuation Report by Milliman, Inc.: Nick Collier, and 
Craig Glyde of Milliman, Inc., presented the Actuarial Valuation Report.  Mr. Collier and Mr. Glyde 
went over the report and slides, and reviewed the valuation with the Board, comparing and discussing 
last year’s assumptions with the actual outcomes and trends.   The disposition of the County 
Supplemental Contributions Account (CSCA) was highlighted.  Mr. Collier and Mr. Glyde explained the 
way the supplemental contributions are “credited” to the County’s obligations, how the contributions 
appear in the valuation, and the impact of the additional contributions on contribution rates and 
funded ratio.  Mr. Collier and Mr. Glyde discussed the improvement in SamCERA’s funded ratio (from 
78.8% to 82.6%) and noted that there is an increase in mortality expectations.   There was no action 
taken; this item was for discussion and information only.  
 
Ms. Settles adjourned the meeting for a short break at 11:29 a.m., reconvening at 11:36 a.m. 
 

1509.5.3 Approval of Resolution Accepting the Fiscal Year 2016-2017 Employer and Member Contribution 
Rates and Recommendations:  Mr. Hood presented the staff report and noted that the recommended 
contribution rates have been decreased for most employees and employers.   
Action:  Ms. Salas moved to approve a resolution to 1) accept the employer and member contribution 
rates as recommended in the June 30, 2015 Actuarial Valuation, and 2) recommend approval of these 
rates by the Board of Supervisors.  The motion was seconded by Ms. Kwan Lloyd and carried by a vote 
of 8-0, with trustees Arnott, Battey, Kwan Lloyd, Lee, Salas, Settles, Tashman and Tourel all in favor; 
none opposed.   
 

1509.5.4 Annual Review of SamCERA’s Actuarial Services Firm, Milliman, Inc.: Mr. David presented the results 
of the annual review of services provided by Milliman, Inc.  He stated the staff and Board have been 
pleased with the responsiveness of Milliman’s staff and the value of the services.  This item was 
informational only and no action was taken. 
 

1509.6.1 Preliminary Monthly Performance Report for the Period Ending August 30, 2915:  Mr. Coultrip 
discussed the preliminary monthly performance report with the Board.  He reported that SamCERA’s 
net preliminary return for August was -3.9%, while the preliminary trailing twelve-month return was    
-0.70% net. This item was informational only and no action was taken. 
 

1509.6.2 Report on Annual Due-Diligence Reviews for Opportunistic Credit Managers (Angelo Gordon and 
Beach Point Capital):  Mr. Coultrip discussed the annual reviews of Angelo Gordon and Beach Point 
Capital that were held at the SamCERA office on September 3, 2015.  He stated that there were no 
significant concerns identified during the portfolio reviews.  This item was informational only and no 
action was taken. 
 
Ms. Settles adjourned the meeting for a lunch break from 11:58 a.m. to 12:30 p.m.  Upon reconvening 
the meeting, the Board immediately went into Closed Session from 12:30 p.m. to 1:11 p.m. to discuss 
the following item.   
 



 

September 29, 2015, DRAFT Minutes                                                                                                                                                                                     Page 5 of 6 

1509.6.3 Approval of Purchase of Alternative Investment (Confidential Under Gov. Code §54956.81 and 
§6254.26, to be heard in Closed Session, C2):  Ms. Carlson reported the following action taken by the 
Board in the Closed Session.   
Action:  A motion was made by Mr. Battey to invest $35 million dollars in Standard Life Investments 
Global Absolute Return Strategies (GARS) as part of SamCERA’s hedge fund/absolute return portfolio 
within Alternatives.   The motion as seconded by Mr. Bowler, and carried with a vote of 9-0, with 
trustees Arnott, Battey, Bowler, Kwan Lloyd, Lee, Salas, Settles, Tashman and Tourel all in favor; none 
opposed.   
 

1509.6.4 Discussion on Investment Consultant and Direction to Staff: Ms. Jadallah gave the Board and staff an 
update on the status of organizational changes at SIS.  At this time, the Board of Retirement continues 
to be satisfied with the service provided by SIS.  This item was informational only and no action was 
taken.   
 

1509.7.1 Approval of SACRS Voting Delegate and Alternates for the SACRS Fall 2015 Business Meeting: Mr. 
Hood and the Board discussed the upcoming SACRS conference, November 17-20, 2015 in San Diego.   
Staff recommends the Board designate Michal Settles, Vice Chair as the Voting Delegate, with Susan 
Lee as the First Delegate and Scott Hood would be the Second Delegate Alternate.   
Action: Mr. Battey moved to approve the voting delegates as proposed.  The motion was seconded by 
Ms. Kwan Lloyd and carried with a vote of 9-0, with trustees Arnott, Battey, Bowler, Kwan Lloyd, Lee, 
Salas, Settles, Tashman and Tourel all in favor; none opposed.   
 

1509.7.2 Approval of San Mateo County Mosquito and Vector Control District Supplemental Contributions 
Memorandum of Understanding: Mr. Hood reviewed the processes and actions taken by the San 
Mateo County Mosquito and Vector Control District (District) and SamCERA to facilitate the District’s 
desire to pay down its unfunded accrued actuarial liability by making supplemental contributions.  The 
District approved the Memorandum of Understanding on September 9, 2015.  
Action:  Mr. Tashman moved to approve a resolution authorizing the Chair to sign the MOU between 
the San Mateo County Mosquito and Vector Control District and SamCERA.  The motion was seconded 
by Ms. Arnott and carried with a vote of 9-0, with trustees Arnott, Battey, Bowler, Kwan Lloyd, Lee, 
Salas, Settles, Tashman and Tourel all in favor; none opposed.   
 

1509.8.1 Chief Executive Officer's Report:  Mr. Hood directed the Board to items found in their “Day of 
Meeting” folder, including the SamCERA calendar and SACRS information.  He congratulated the 
Finance Department staff on their 18th year receiving the Government Finance Officers Association 
award for their 2014 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR).  Mr. Hood let the Board know 
that he signed a contact with Financial Knowledge Network who will continue providing member 
education through June 2016; and he expects an RFP to be released early 2016 for future member 
educational services.  He announced that October 20 would be the new “go live” date for the new 
SamCERA website.   
 

1509.8.2 Assistant Executive Officers’ Report:  Ms. Smith reported that JulieAnne Nagal was promoted to 
Retirement Analyst and recruitment will begin to fill the Retirement Support Specialist position.  She 
announced the 2016 SamCERA calendar was printed and ready for distribution for the Benefits Fair 
and off-site visits, and stated the newsletter would be released in conjunction with the new website.    
 
Mr. David reported staff has been busy working on the actuarial valuation, and he stated the 2015 
CAFR is on schedule and will be coming to the Board for approval in October.  He noted that the audit 
field work was completed, and there were no potential findings.  Mr. David stated the PASS project 
was on schedule and that SamCERA was preparing for the County’s migration from GroupWise to 
Microsoft Outlook.   



 

September 29, 2015, DRAFT Minutes                                                                                                                                                                                     Page 6 of 6 

 

1509.8.3 Chief Investment Officer’s Report:  Mr. Coultrip reported on several upcoming investment manager 
annual review meetings.  Invesco (Core Real Estate strategy) and SSARIS (Multisource Active 
Commodity "MAC" strategy) would be meeting with staff at the SamCERA offices on October 1st, and 
AQR (Delta and Risk Parity strategies) and Panagora (Risk Parity strategy) would be here on October 
8th.  
 

1509.8.4 Chief Legal Counsel's Report:  None. 
 

CLOSED SESSION – The Board may meet in closed session prior to adjournment 

C1 
C2 

Consideration of Disability Items, if any, Removed from the Consent Agenda – see item 5.1  
Approval of Purchase of Alternative Investment (Confidential Under Gov. Code §54956.81 and 
§6254.26– see also item 6.3) – see item 6.3 

1509.9 Report on Actions Taken in Closed Session –recorded under item 6.3 
 

1509.10 Adjournment:   Ms. Settles adjourned the meeting at 1:56 p.m. in memory of the deceased members 
listed below.   
 

Benner, Dorothy August 2, 2015 Crystal Springs Rehab Center 
Jenkins, Risdon August 3, 2015 Sheriff's Office 

Danielson, Maryann August 5, 2015 Parks & Recreation 

Scherzinger, Dennis August 16, 2015 Public Works 

Peterson, Stewart August 13, 2015 Probation 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
____________________________                              __________________________________     
Scott Hood   Kristina Perez 
Chief Executive Officer  Retirement Executive Secretary 



 

                     
                                                                SAN MATEO COUNTY EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT ASSOCIATION 

Board of Retirement 

 

 

October 27, 2015    Agenda Items 4.1- 4.6   

    
TO:               Board of Retirement 

FROM:         Elizabeth LeNguyen, Retirement Benefits Manager      
 
SUBJECT:   Approval of Consent Agenda Items 4.1 – 4.7 

 
4.1 Disability Retirements 

 None 
 
4.2 Service Retirements 

The Board ratifies the actions as listed below for the following members regarding 
service retirements: 
 

Member Name Effective Retirement Date Department 

Boado, Eufresina August 15, 2015 Environmental Health 

Cornejo, Maria  August 31, 2015 Deferred from Mental Health 

Fitton, John  August 18, 2015 Superior Court 

Golda, Voytek August 23, 2015 Sheriff's 

Karesh, Jonathan  August 4, 2015 Deferred from DA's Office 

Koss, Yelena  September 1, 2015 Behavioral Health 

Lou, Anna September 1, 2015 QDRO 

Mathison, John  September 1, 2015 Information Services 

Mcentee, Cheryle  August 29, 2015 Environmental Health 

Pinckney, Rosalyn August 27, 2015 QDRO 

Raggio, Glenn  August 13, 2015 Deferred from Sheriff's 

Rimon, Rolindy  August 8, 2015 Deferred from Medical Center 

Silvestri, Gloria August 29, 2015 Deferred from Public Health 

 

 

 

 

 



   

2 

 

4.3 Continuances 
 The Board ratifies the actions as listed below for the following members regarding 

continuances: 

Survivor’s Name Beneficiary of: 

Jenkins, Nancy Jenkins, Risdon 

Rakov, Mikhail Lewis-Rakova, Wendy 

Scherzinger, Kay Scherzinger, Dennis 

 
 
 
4.4 Deferred Retirements 
 The Board ratifies the actions as listed below for the following members regarding 

deferred retirements: 

Member Name Retirement Plan Type 

Francis, Susan G5 Non Vested – Reciprocity 

Gatt, Mariavictoria G4 Vested 

Irrinki, Narsimha G4 Vested 

Valera-Clemena, Valerie G4 Vested 

 
4.5 Member Account Refunds 

 The Board ratifies the actions as listed below for the following members regarding 
refunds: 

Member Name Retirement Plan Type 

Alegria, Rocio G7, Non-vested 

Garcia, Grace G7, Non-vested 

Keovongsa, Karen G7, Non-vested 

Lamonica, Ashley G7, Non-vested 

Legaspi, Lylin G4, Vested 

Mantz, Antoinette G5, Vested 

Muckel, Adrianna G4, Vested 

Schaaf, Adam G7, Non-vested 

Vaca, David P7, Non-vested 

 
 
 



   

3 

 

4.6 Member Account Rollovers 
 The Board ratifies the actions as listed below for the following members regarding 

rollovers:    
 

Member Name Retirement Plan Type 

Cook-Greene, Roniqua G4, Non-vested 

Hunter, Anne G4, Non-vested 

Kelly, Lauren G5, Non-vested 

Serrano, Michael G7, Non-vested 

Underwood, Galen S4, Vested 

Wang, Raymond G7, Non-vested 

 



SAN M ATEO COUNTY EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT ASSOCIATION 
Board of Retirement 

October 27, 2015 Agenda Item 4.7 

TO: 

FROM: 

SUBJECT: 

Board of Retirement 

Scott Hood, Chief Executive Officer 

Resolution Amending the SamCERA Interest Crediting Policy to create a new 
District Supplementary Contributions Account (DSCA) Reserve and other non
substantive administrative changes. 

Staff Recommendation 
Approve a resolution amending the SamCERA Interest Crediting Policy to create a new District 
Supplementary Contributions Account (DSCA) Reserve and other non-substantive 
administrative changes. 

Background 
Last month the San Mateo County Mosquito and Vector Control District ("District" ) entered into 
an agreement with SamCERA to make supplemental contributions to the retirement fund. 
These funds are to be held for the sole benefit of the District in the calculation of the District's 
contributions to the retirement fund. 

Discussion 
To account for the District's supplemental contributions separately from the contributions of 
other Sam CERA employers and separately from statutory required contributions of the District, 
the Interest Crediting Policy needs to be amended to create a new District Supplementary 

Contributions Account (DSCA) Reserve. 

The revised policy will create a DSCA reserve and define how earnings will be credited to the 
reserve. Like all SamCERA reserves, earnings will be credited on an actuarial (smoothed) basis. 

The revised policy also changes name of the "County Advance Reserve" to " Employer Advance 

Reserve" to be consistent with our Financial Statements which reflect that the County of San 
Mateo is not the only participating employer. 

The revised policy is attached to the resolution with the proposed changes highlighted. 



SAN MATEO COUNTY EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT ASSOCIATION 

Board of Retirement 
 

  

 

RESOLUTION AMENDING THE BOARD OF RETIREMENT’S  
INTEREST CREDITING POLICY  

RESOLUTION 15-16____ 
 

WHEREAS, the Board should have a policy to govern the crediting of interest to reserves 
of the Fund that is consistent with Article 5 of  the County Employees’ Retirement Law of 
1937; and 

 
WHEREAS, in the development and adoption of the current Interest Crediting Policy as 

well as the proposed revisions to this policy, the Board has balanced the interests of the 
active members and the retired members and has determined that the policy set forth below 
best serves the interests of the membership as a whole; and  

 
WHEREAS, the San Mateo County Mosquito and Vector Control District (the District) has 

entered into an agreement with SamCERA to make supplemental contributions to the 
retirement fund.  These funds are to be held for the sole benefit of the District in the 
calculation of the District’s contributions to the retirement fund; and   

 

WHEREAS, this Board has determined that the Interest Crediting Policy needs to be 
amended to create a new District Supplementary Contributions Account (DSCA) Reserve and 
to address the crediting of interest to that reserve; and 

 
WHEREAS, this Board has further determined that the Interest Crediting Policy needs to 

be amended to change name of the “County Advance Reserve” to “Employer Advance 
Reserve” to reflect that there are participating employers in addition to the County; and 

 
WHEREAS; this Board has reviewed the attached amendment to the Interest Crediting 

Policy and desires to make such amendment; therefore be it  
 

 RESOLVED that the Board hereby amends its Interest Crediting Policy to read as follows:  



 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Interest Crediting Policy 
 

Approved by the Board of Retirement 7/29/2014 
Last Amended 10/27/2015 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



SamCERA Interest Crediting Policy | Page 2 

I. Overview 
 
The San Mateo County Employees’ Retirement Association (SamCERA) Board of Retirement 
(Board) establishes this policy to govern the crediting of interest to reserves under the County 
Employees’ Retirement Law of 1937 (CERL) subject to the requirements specified in Article 5 of 
the CERL. 
 
 
II. Objectives 
 
In the development and adoption of this policy, the Board has balanced the interests of the 
active members and the retired members and has determined that the policy set forth below 
best serves the interests of the membership as a whole. In addition, this policy has been 
developed with the following objectives: 
 

 To comply with appropriate legal and regulatory requirements. 

 To assure the prompt delivery of benefits and related services to the participants and 
their beneficiaries. 

 To limit, to the extent possible, the volatility of interest crediting from period to period.  

 To minimize the volatility of employer contribution rates. 

 To limit, to the extent possible, the charging of short-term losses to reserves. 

 To maintain consistency between the reserve structure and the actuarial funding of 
SamCERA. 

 To assure that the reserve values track the market value of assets over the long term. 
 

III. Definition of Reserves 
 
For the purpose of allocating earnings, all SamCERA reserves will fall into one of three 
categories below: 
 

A. Valuation Reserves.  Valuation Reserves are used to determine the employers’ statutory 
contribution rates.   

 
The following reserves are considered Valuation Reserves into which contributions and 
earnings are credited at certain limits: 
 
1. Member Reserve.  This is the reserve for all member contributions.   

 
2. Employer Advance Reserve.  This is the reserve for statutorily determined 

contributions from all employers. 
 
3. Retiree Reserves.  These are the reserves for retirees.  Monies are transferred from 

the Members Reserve and the Employer Advance Reserve when a member retires. 



SamCERA Interest Crediting Policy | Page 3 

 
a) Retirees – Annuity Reserve, 
b) Retirees – Current Service Pension Reserve 
c) Retirees – Survivors Death Benefit Reserve 

 
4. Cost of Living Adjustment Reserve.  This is the reserve for employer Cost of Living 

Adjustment contributions. 
 

5. The County Supplementary Contributions Account (CSCA) Reserve.  This is a 
reserve for supplemental contributions from the County of San Mateo that are over 
and above the County’s required statutory contribution rates.   

 
6. The District Supplementary Contributions Account (DSCA) Reserve.  This is a 

reserve for supplemental contributions from the San Mateo County Mosquito and 
Vector Control District (“District”) that are over and above the District’s required 
statutory contribution rates.   
 

B. Non-Valuation Reserves.  These reserves are not used to determine employers’ 
statutory contribution rates. 
 
1. Contingency Reserve.  This is a statutorily defined account set aside as a reserve 

against deficiencies in interest earnings, losses on investments or other 
contingencies under Sections 31592 and 31592.2 of the CERL. 

 
2. Undistributed Earnings/Losses Reserve. This reserve is for cumulative undistributed 

actuarial earnings and losses.  
 

3. Other Specified Non-Valuation Reserves.  These are other reserves that may be 
created by the Board and have been designated by the Board for a specified 
purpose.  Designation of these reserves does not create any vested rights for benefit 
payments.  Other Specified Non-Valuation Reserves include:  
 

 (None until such time as this policy may be amended and reserves are added 
by Board action.)  

 
C. Financial Statement Reserve.  This reserve is shown in the financial statements but is 

not a part of the annual valuation and is not included in the interest crediting process. 
 

D. Market Stabilization Account. This reserve is shown in the financial statements but is 
not a part of the annual valuation and is not included in the interest crediting process.



IV. Timing of Interest Crediting 
 
SamCERA will credit reserves twice each year to all Valuation and Non-Valuation Reserves that 
have been on deposit for the prior six months, in accordance with Section 31591 of the CERL.  
The crediting will take effect as of June 30 and December 31 of each year.  The act of crediting 
will occur as of the dates set forth in Section V below. 
 
V. Definition of Available Earnings 
 
The Board will credit interest based on the amount of earnings that are available to be 
allocated for that purpose (Available Earnings) for each six-month period.  Available Earnings 
will be the difference between the actuarial value of assets at the beginning of the six-month 
crediting period and the actuarial value of assets at the end of the six-month crediting period, 
calculated using the asset smoothing method adopted by the Board in the most recent 
SamCERA actuarial valuation.  The amount in the Undistributed Earnings/Losses Reserve will be 
combined with the above calculation to determine Available Earnings.  The values used for 
these calculations will not include the value or earnings of either the County Supplementary 
Contributions Account (CSCA) Reserve or the District Supplementary Contributions Account 
(DSCA) Reserve. The crediting of Available Earnings will take place in accordance with Section VI 
of this Statement. 
 
VI. Crediting of Available Earnings 
 
The Retirement Board will credit earnings to the Valuation and Non-Valuation Reserves based 
on the amount of Available Earnings determined under Section V of this Statement.  The 
allocation will be done in the following order until all earnings have been allocated, or the 
allocation process has been suspended as described below. 
 

A. Crediting to Valuation Reserves  
(Steps in the Crediting Process) 

 
1. The County Supplementary Contributions Account (CSCA) Reserve.  For funds on 

deposit in this account, crediting to this reserve will be on a market value basis, net 
of all proportionate fees and expenses, as determined by SamCERA from the date of 
deposit with SamCERA to the effective date of crediting. 

 
a) Interest will be credited to this reserve in accordance with the 

“Memorandum of Understanding Between The County Of San Mateo 
And The San Mateo County Employees’ Retirement Association 
Regarding Retirement System Funding.”  The amounts in this reserve will 
only be recognized for contribution rate-setting purposes for the benefit 
of the County of San Mateo and will not be recognized for the benefit of 
any other employer. 

 



SamCERA Interest Crediting Policy | Page 5 

b) Crediting to this account will have no upper or lower limit.   
 

c) The assets of this account will be valued separately from all other 
reserves and will be credited separately from all other reserves.  The 
earnings or losses of the reserves will not be used to credit any other 
reserves until such time, by mutual agreement, SamCERA and the County 
of San Mateo agree to do so. 

 
2. The District Supplementary Contributions Account (DSCA) Reserve.  For funds on 

deposit in this account, crediting to this reserve will be on a market value basis, net 
of all proportionate fees and expenses, as determined by SamCERA from the date of 
deposit with SamCERA to the effective date of crediting. 

 
a) Interest will be credited to this reserve in accordance with the 

“Memorandum of Understanding Between the San Mateo County 
Mosquito and Vector Control District and the San Mateo County 
Employees’ Retirement Association Regarding Retirement System 
Funding.”  The amounts in this reserve will only be recognized for 
contribution rate-setting purposes for the benefit of the San Mateo 
County Mosquito and Vector Control District and will not be recognized 
for the benefit of any other employer. 

 
b) Crediting to this account will have no upper or lower limit.   

 
c) The assets of this account will be valued separately from all other 

reserves and will be credited separately from all other reserves.  The 
earnings or losses of the reserves will not be used to credit any other 
reserves until such time, by mutual agreement, SamCERA and the San 
Mateo County Mosquito and Vector Control District agree to do so. 

 
3. Member Reserve.  Member Reserve accounts will be credited in amounts that are 

equal to the lesser of: 
 

a) one-half of the assumed investment earnings rate,* or 
b) the Actuarial Earnings Rate for the prior six-month period, but the rate 

credited shall not be less than zero. 
 

 
__________________________________________ 
* The “assumed investment earnings rate” as used throughout this policy, shall be the rate adopted 

by the Board for use in the actuarial valuation used to determine employer contribution rates 
for the Fiscal Year in which the allocation is taking place. 

  



SamCERA Interest Crediting Policy | Page 6 

 
4. Balancing Credit to Employer Advance Reserve.  If the actuarial earnings rate for 

the period is less than one-half the assumed investment earnings rate, the 
difference between the amount that would have been credited to the Member 
Reserve and the amount that was actually credited to the Member Reserve in Step 2 
above, will be credited to the Employer Advance Reserve.  The purpose of making 
the additional allocation is to produce a total amount credited to all Valuation 
Reserves that is equal to the amount that would have been credited to the Valuation 
Reserves, in aggregate, if all Valuation Reserves were credited with one-half of the 
assumed interest rate. 
 

5. Other Valuation Reserves.  The other Valuation Reserves (except the Member 
Reserve, the CSCA reserve and the DSCA Reserve) will be credited with earnings at a 
rate of one-half of the assumed investment earnings rate.  These reserves include: 

 
a) Employer Advance Reserve 
b) Retiree Reserves 
c) Cost of Living Reserve 

 
B. Suspension of Crediting Process and Crediting to Non-Valuation Reserve  

 
1. Suspension of Crediting from Available Earnings.  If there are insufficient Available 

Earnings to credit the Reserves as specified in VI.A.2-4, the Contingency Reserve will 
be debited to the extent needed to complete VI.A.2-4 of this policy and to the extent 
assets are available from such reserve.  Assets in the Contingency Reserve may not 
be debited if such action causes the reserve to equal less than 1% of the Fund’s 
actuarial value of assets.  If assets are not sufficiently available from the Contingency 
Reserve for the crediting requirements of VI.A.2-4, the Undistributed 
Earnings/Losses Reserve will be debited by the amount required to complete VI.A.2-
4 with the following restrictions: 
 
The crediting specified in VI.A.2 will not be less than zero, no matter how far the 
Undistributed Earnings/Losses Reserve is required to drop in order to make this 
occur.  
 

2. Contingency Reserve.  If there are still Available Earnings to be distributed after the 
allocations in VI.A.2-4 above have been completed, the Contingency Reserve will be 
allocated earnings until the value of the Contingency Reserve is equal to 3% of the 
Actuarial Value of Assets, or until all Available Earnings have been exhausted, 
whichever is less.  
 

a) If the Contingency Reserve falls below 3% of assets, earnings in future 
periods not needed to credit earnings to Valuation Reserves will be used 



SamCERA Interest Crediting Policy | Page 7 

to increase the Contingency Reserve to 3% of assets before amounts are 
credited to any other reserves. 
 

b) By statute, the Contingency Reserve may not be less than 1% of the 
actuarial value of assets. 

 
3. Undistributed Earnings/Losses Reserve.  After the allocations in all steps above 

have been completed, all remaining Available Earnings or losses will be credited to 
the Undistributed Earnings/Losses Reserve.  The Undistributed Earnings/Losses 
Reserve may hold a positive or negative balance.   

 



SAN M ATEO COUNTY EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT ASSOCIATION 

Board of Retirement 

October 27, 2015 

TO: Board of Retirement 

FROM: 

Agenda Item 5.2 

SUBJECT: Acceptance of Milliman, Inc.'s Report on Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board (GASB) 67 and 68 Disclosures for FY 2014-15 

Recommendation 

Accept Milliman, Inc.'s report on GASB Statements 67 and 68 disclosures report. 

Background 

GASB sets standards for defined benefit pension plan reporting and disclosures. GASB 
Statement No. 67 applies to reporting by pension plans that are administered through trusts, 
and Statement No. 68 applies to reporting by state and local governmental employers. 

GASB Statements 67 and 68 establish pension accounting and financial reporting standards for 
pension plans and part icipating employers, respectively. These Statements specify the 
required approach to measure and present information on the employer's pension liability for 
benefits provided through the pension plan ("Net Pension Liability"). 

Discussion 
Nick Collier will present Milliman, Inc.'s report on SamCERA' s GASB Statements 67 and 68 

required disclosures. SamCERA's participating employers are required to report on thei r 
financial balance sheet their proportionate share of the Net Pension Liability (i.e., the 

unfunded liability for the pension benefits promised to current employees, retirees, and their 
beneficiaries). Mr. Collier will explain how and why the accounting liabilities reported under 
GASB's requirements differ from funding liabilities presented in SamCERA's actuarial reports. 

Attachment 

Report on GASB Statements 67 and 68 Disclosures for FY 2014-15 



Milliman Financial Reporting Valuation 

Issued October 21, 2015 
 
 

San Mateo County Employees’  
Retirement Association 

GASB 67 and 68 Disclosure 

Fiscal Year: July 1, 2014 to June 30, 2015 

Prepared by: 
Nick Collier 
ASA, EA, MAAA 

Craig Glyde 
ASA, EA, MAAA 

Milliman, Inc. 
1301 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3800 
Seattle WA 98101-2605 
Tel +1 206 624 7940 
Fax +1 206 623 3485 
milliman.com 



Milliman Financial Reporting Valuation 

GASB 67 and 68 Disclosure for Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2015 i 
San Mateo County Employees’ Retirement Association 

sme0226.docx 
This work product was prepared solely for SamCERA for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does 
not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman recommends that third parties be aided by their own 
actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing the Milliman work product. 

Table of Contents 
 
Certification ..........................................................................................................................................................1 

Overview of GASB 67 and GASB 68 ...................................................................................................................3 

Statement of Fiduciary Net Position .....................................................................................................................4 

Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position .................................................................................................5 

Schedule of Net Pension Liability ........................................................................................................................6 

Discount Rate .......................................................................................................................................................7 

Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability .....................................................................................................8 

Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios .....................................................................9 

Schedule of Employer Contributions ................................................................................................................. 10 

Collective Pension Expense.............................................................................................................................. 11 

Deferred Inflows and Outflows of Resources .................................................................................................... 12 

Employer’s Allocations and Proportionate Share ............................................................................................. 13 

Employers' Proportionate Share of Deferred Outflows and Inflows .................................................................. 14 

Changes in Employers' Proportionate Share .................................................................................................... 15 

Differences in Contributions .............................................................................................................................. 16 

Employers' Pension Expense Excluding that Attributable to Employer-Paid Member Contributions ............... 17 

Deferred Inflows and Outflows of Resources Due to Changes in Proportionate Share  
and Differences in Contribution ......................................................................................................................... 18 

Schedule of Employers' Recognition of Deferred Outflows and Inflows ........................................................... 19 

Schedule of Employer Pension Amounts Allocated by Cost Sharing Plan ....................................................... 20 

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions ................................................................................................................. 21 

Glossary ............................................................................................................................................................ 22 

 

 



Milliman Financial Reporting Valuation 

GASB 67 and 68 Disclosure for Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2015 1 
San Mateo County Employees’ Retirement Association 
This work product was prepared solely for SamCERA for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does 
not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman recommends that third parties be aided by their own 
actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing the Milliman work product. 

Certification 

Actuarial computations presented in this report under Statements No. 67 and 68 of the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board are for purposes of assisting the system and plan sponsors in fulfilling their 
financial accounting requirements. No attempt is being made to offer any accounting opinion or advice. This 
report is for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015. The reporting date for determining plan assets and 
obligations is June 30, 2015. The calculations enclosed in this report have been made on a basis consistent 
with our understanding of the plan provisions. Determinations for purposes other than meeting financial 
reporting requirements may be significantly different than the results contained in this report. Accordingly, 
additional determinations may be needed for other purposes, such as judging benefit security or meeting 
employer funding requirements.  

In preparing this report, we relied, without audit, on information as of June 30, 2015 furnished by San Mateo 
County Employees’ Retirement Association (SamCERA). This information includes, but is not limited to, 
statutory provisions, member census data, and financial information. Please see Milliman's funding valuation 
report dated September 22, 2015 for more information on the data used in the valuation as well as a summary 
of the plan provisions and actuarial methods and assumptions. 

We performed a limited review of the census and financial information used directly in our analysis and have 
found them to be reasonably consistent and comparable with information used for other purposes. The 
valuation results depend on the integrity of this information. If any of this information is inaccurate or 
incomplete our results may be different and our calculations may need to be revised.  

All costs, liabilities, rates of interest, and other factors for the Plan have been determined on the basis of 
actuarial assumptions and methods which are individually reasonable (taking into account the experience of 
the Plan and reasonable expectations); and which in combination, offer our best estimate of anticipated 
experience affecting the Plan.  

This valuation report is only an estimate of the Plan's financial condition as of a single date. It can neither 
predict the Plan's future condition nor guarantee future financial soundness. Actuarial valuations do not affect 
the ultimate cost of Plan benefits, only the timing of Plan contributions. While the valuation is based on an 
array of individually reasonable assumptions, other assumption sets may also be reasonable and valuation 
results based on those assumptions would be different. No one set of assumptions is uniquely correct. 
Determining results using alternative assumptions is outside the scope of our engagement. 

Future actuarial measurements may differ significantly from the current measurements presented in this 
report due to factors such as, but not limited to, the following: plan experience differing from that anticipated 
by the economic or demographic assumptions; changes in economic or demographic assumptions; increases 
or decreases expected as part of the natural operation of the methodology used for these measurements 
(such as the end of an amortization period or additional cost or contribution requirements based on the plan’s 
funded status); and changes in plan provisions or applicable law. Due to the limited scope of the actuarial 
assignment, we did not perform an analysis of the potential range of such future measurements. 

  



Milliman Financial Reporting Valuation 

GASB 67 and 68 Disclosure for Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2015 2 
San Mateo County Employees’ Retirement Association 
This work product was prepared solely for SamCERA for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does 
not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman recommends that third parties be aided by their own 
actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing the Milliman work product. 

Milliman’s work is prepared solely for the use and benefit of SamCERA. To the extent that Milliman's work is 
not subject to disclosure under applicable public records laws, Milliman’s work may not be provided to third 
parties without Milliman’s prior written consent. Milliman does not intend to benefit or create a legal duty to 
any third party recipient of its work product. Milliman’s consent to release its work product to any third party 
may be conditioned on the third party signing a Release, subject to the following exceptions:  (a) the Plan 
Sponsors may provide a copy of Milliman’s work, in its entirety, to the Plan Sponsors' professional service 
advisors who are subject to a duty of confidentiality and who agree to not use Milliman’s work for any purpose 
other than to benefit the Fund;  and (b) the Plan Sponsors may provide a copy of Milliman's work, in its 
entirety, to other governmental entities, as required by law.  

No third party recipient of Milliman's work product should rely upon Milliman's work product. Such recipients 
should engage qualified professionals for advice appropriate to their specific needs. 

The consultants who worked on this assignment are pension actuaries. Milliman's advice is not intended to be 
a substitute for qualified legal or accounting counsel. 

The signing actuaries are independent of the plan sponsors. We are not aware of any relationship that would 
impair the objectivity of our work. 

On the basis of the foregoing, we hereby certify that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, this report is 
complete and has been prepared in accordance with generally recognized accepted actuarial principles and 
practices. We are members of the American Academy of Actuaries and meet the Qualification Standards to 
render the actuarial opinion contained herein.  

 

    
Nick Collier, ASA, EA, MAAA  Craig Glyde, ASA, EA, MAAA 
Consulting Actuary  Consulting Actuary 

  



Milliman Financial Reporting Valuation 

GASB 67 and 68 Disclosure for Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2015 3 
San Mateo County Employees’ Retirement Association 
This work product was prepared solely for SamCERA for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does 
not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman recommends that third parties be aided by their own 
actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing the Milliman work product. 

Overview of GASB 67 and GASB 68 

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) released new accounting standards for public 
pension plans and participating employers in 2012. GASB Statements No. 67 and 68 replace and have 
substantially revised the accounting requirements previously mandated under GASB Statements No. 25 and 
27. Under GASB Statements No. 67 and 68, plan sponsors are encouraged to establish a formal funding 
policy that is separate from financial reporting calculations. 

GASB 67 applies to financial reporting for public pension plans and was implemented for plan fiscal years 
beginning after June 15, 2013. Note that a plan's fiscal year might not be the same as the employer's fiscal 
year.  

GASB 68 governs the specifics of accounting for public pension plan obligations for participating employers 
and is required to be implemented for employer fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2014. GASB 68 requires 
a liability for pension obligations, known as the net pension liability, to be recognized on the balance sheets of 
participating employers. Changes in the net pension liability will be immediately recognized as pension 
expense on the income statement or reported as deferred inflows/outflows of resources depending on the 
nature of the change. 

 

 



Milliman Financial Reporting Valuation 

GASB 67 and 68 Disclosure for Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2015 4 
San Mateo County Employees’ Retirement Association 
This work product was prepared solely for SamCERA for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does 
not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman recommends that third parties be aided by their own 
actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing the Milliman work product. 

Statement of Fiduciary Net Position 

 

 

  

June 30, 2015 June 30, 2014

Assets

Cash and short term investments:
Cash and cash equivalents 51,162,210$             78,671,477$             
Cash management overlay 26,273,301               21,446,466               
Security lending cash collateral 99,386,577               -                                
      Total cash and short-term investments 176,822,088 100,117,943

Receivables:
Contributions 6,151,530                 4,648,233                 
Due from broker for investments sold 14,438,183               12,596,153               
Investment income 6,433,607                 3,483,030                 
Security lending income 37,582                      39,953                      
Other receivables 112,810                    113,410                    

Total receivables 27,173,712               20,880,779               

Prepaid Expense 7,669                        7,669                        

Investments at fair value:
Domestic fixed income securities 567,116,706             493,024,480             
International fixed income Securities 98,285,376               100,023,249             
Domestic equities 1,122,264,718          1,229,039,423          
International equities 675,589,939             653,569,353             
Real estate 218,473,360             183,566,990             
Private equities 193,265,850             138,490,534             
Real assets 4,176,914                 -                                
Risk parity 265,103,721             197,597,402             
Hedge funds 139,680,676             117,896,816             
Commodities 89,291,005               90,480,043               
          Total investments at fair value 3,373,248,265          3,203,688,290          

Capital Assets, net 3,206,047                 -                                

Total assets 3,580,457,781 3,324,694,681

Liabilities

Payables:
Investment management fees 2,042,596                 2,787,598                 
Due to broker for investments purchased 21,246,436               27,187,226               
Collateral payable for securities lending 99,386,577               -                                
Other 3,305,844                 3,025,903                 

Total liabilities 125,981,453 33,000,727

Net position restricted for pensions 3,454,476,328$        3,291,693,954$        



Milliman Financial Reporting Valuation 

GASB 67 and 68 Disclosure for Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2015 5 
San Mateo County Employees’ Retirement Association 
This work product was prepared solely for SamCERA for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does 
not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman recommends that third parties be aided by their own 
actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing the Milliman work product. 

Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position 

 

 

  

2015 2014

Additions

Contributions:
Employer 180,704,280$     202,877,362$     
Member 48,011,698 46,593,698

Total Contributions 228,715,978 249,471,060

Investment Income:
Interest and dividends 44,433,648 54,492,076
Net appreciation in fair value of investments 99,877,102 454,082,350
      Total investment income 144,310,750 508,574,426
Less:  investment expense (32,990,697) (26,524,556)
            Net investment income 111,320,053 482,049,870

Securities Lending Income:
Earnings 184,442 253,687
Rebates 212,304 368,557
Fees (87,101) (186,785)

Net Securities Lending Income 309,645 435,459

Other Additions 338 178,636

Total Additions 340,346,014$     732,135,025$     

Deductions

Member benefits:
Service retirement allowance 147,266,945 139,036,410
Disability retirement allowance 20,038,671 19,266,623
Survivor, death and other benefits 803,591 1,038,945

168,109,207 159,341,978

Member refunds 3,357,011 3,214,129
Administrative expense 5,349,796 4,913,875
Information technology expense 628,909 731,129
Other expense 118,717 65,292

Total Deductions 177,563,640$     168,266,403$     

Net increase $162,782,374 $563,868,622

Net position restricted for pensions

Beginning of year 3,291,693,954 2,727,825,332
End of year 3,454,476,328$  3,291,693,954$  



Milliman Financial Reporting Valuation 

GASB 67 and 68 Disclosure for Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2015 6 
San Mateo County Employees’ Retirement Association 
This work product was prepared solely for SamCERA for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does 
not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman recommends that third parties be aided by their own 
actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing the Milliman work product. 

Schedule of Net Pension Liability 

 

 

The total pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of the valuation date, calculated based 
on the discount rate shown below and actuarial assumptions and methods as outlined in this report for GASB 
purposes. 

Discount Rate 

 

The plan's fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of 
current active and inactive employees. Therefore, the discount rate for calculating the total pension liability is 
equal to the long-term expected rate of return, gross of administrative expenses. See details of discount rate 
determination in this report. 

Other Key Actuarial Assumptions 

The actuarial assumptions that determined the total pension liability as of June 30, 2015 were based on the 
results of an actuarial experience study for the period July 1, 2011 - April 30, 2014. These assumptions were 
adopted for the June 30, 2014 valuation, and re-adopted for the June 30, 2015 valuation. 
 

 
 
  

Net Pension Liability June 30, 2015 June 30, 2014

Total pension liability $3,946,439,845 $3,703,341,222
Fiduciary net position 3,454,476,328 3,291,693,954
Net pension liability 491,963,517 411,647,268
Fiduciary net position as a % of total pension liability 87.53% 88.88%
Covered payroll 454,683,180 422,021,990
Net pension liability as a % of covered payroll 108.20% 97.54%

Discount rate 7.45% 7.45%
Long-term expected rate of return, net of expenses 7.25% 7.25%
Municipal bond rate N/A N/A

Valuation date June 30, 2015 June 30, 2014

Measurement date June 30, 2015 June 30, 2014

Other assumptions and methods See the 'Actuarial Methods and Assumptions' 
section of this report. 



Milliman Financial Reporting Valuation 

GASB 67 and 68 Disclosure for Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2015 7 
San Mateo County Employees’ Retirement Association 
This work product was prepared solely for SamCERA for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does 
not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman recommends that third parties be aided by their own 
actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing the Milliman work product. 

Discount Rate 

The discount rate is the single rate of return that, when applied to all projected benefit payments results in an 
actuarial present value of projected benefit payments equal to the total of the following: 

1. The actuarial present value of benefit payments projected to be made in future periods in which (a) the 
amount of the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is projected to be greater than the benefit payments 
that are projected to be made in that period and (b) pension plan assets up to that point are expected to 
be invested using a strategy to achieve the long-term rate of return, calculated using the long-term 
expected rate of return on pension plan investments. 

2. The actuarial present value of projected benefit payments not included in (1), calculated using the 
municipal bond rate. 

Therefore, if plan investments in a given future year are greater than projected benefit payments in that year 
and are invested such that they are expected to earn the long-term rate of return, the discount rate applied to 
projected benefit payments in that year should be the long-term expected rate of return on plan investments. 
If future years exist where this is not the case, then an index rate reflecting the yield on a 20-year, tax-exempt 
municipal bond should be used to discount the projected benefit payments for those years.  

The determination of a future date when plan investments are not sufficient to pay projected benefit payments 
is often referred to as a depletion date projection. A depletion date projection compares projections of the 
pension plan’s fiduciary net position to projected benefit payments and aims to determine a future date, if one 
exists, when the fiduciary net position is projected to be less than projected benefit payments. If an evaluation 
of the sufficiency of the projected fiduciary net position compared to projected benefit payments can be made 
with sufficient reliability without performing a depletion date projection, alternative methods to determine 
sufficiency may be applied. 

In order to determine the discount rate to be used by SamCERA we have used an alternative method to 
determine the sufficiency of the fiduciary net position in all future years. Our alternative method reflects the 
funding requirements under SamCERA’s funding policy and the legal requirements under the County 
Employees Retirement Law of 1937. 

1. SamCERA has a funding policy where the Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability (UAAL) shall be 
amortized as a level percent of pay over 15-year closed layered periods. 

2. San Mateo County intends to contribute additional amounts over the next eight years to accelerate the 
elimination of the UAAL even faster than outlined by the 15-year closed layered period amortization. 

3. SamCERA’s assets are projected to exceed its accrued liabilities in less than 10 years. When this point is 
reached, employers are still required to contribute at least the normal cost. 

Based on the above, the projected fiduciary net position is determined to be sufficient compared to projected 
benefit payments. Based on the expected level of cash flows and investment returns to the system, the 
fiduciary net position as a percentage of total pension liability is projected to increase from its current level in 
future years. 

Since the projected fiduciary net position is projected to be sufficient to pay projected benefit payments in all 
future years, the discount rate for purposes of calculating the total pension liability and net pension liability of 
SamCERA’s participating employers is equal to the long-term assumed rate of return on investments. This 
long-term assumed rate of return should be net of investment expenses, but gross of administrative expenses 
for GASB 67/68 purposes. Therefore, we have used a discount rate of 7.45%. This rate reflects the long-term 
assumed rate of return on assets for funding purposes of 7.25%, net of all expenses, increased by 0.20% to 
be gross of administrative expenses.  



Milliman Financial Reporting Valuation 

GASB 67 and 68 Disclosure for Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2015 8 
San Mateo County Employees’ Retirement Association 
This work product was prepared solely for SamCERA for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does 
not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman recommends that third parties be aided by their own 
actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing the Milliman work product. 

Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability 

 

 
 
 
Sensitivity Analysis 

The following presents the net pension liability of SamCERA’s participating employers, calculated using the 
discount rate of 7.45%, as well as the net pension liability if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 
1 percentage point lower (6.45%) or 1 percentage point higher (8.45%) than the current rate. 
 

 
 

Increase (Decrease)
Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Pension 

Liability Net Position Liability
Net Pension Liability (a) (b) (a) - (b)

Balances as of June 30, 2014 $3,703,341,222 $3,291,693,954 $411,647,268

Changes for the year:
Service cost 90,955,831 90,955,831
Interest on total pension liability 272,953,777 272,953,777
Effect of plan changes 0 0
Effect of economic/demographic gains or losses 50,655,233 50,655,233
Effect of assumptions changes or inputs 0 0
Benefit payments (168,109,207) (168,109,207) 0
Refunds of contributions (3,357,011) (3,357,011) 0
Administrative expenses 0 (5,978,705) 5,978,705
Other non-investment expenses (118,717) 118,717
Member contributions 48,011,698 (48,011,698)
Employer contributions 180,704,280 (180,704,280)
Net investment income 111,630,036 (111,630,036)

Balances as of June 30, 2015 $3,946,439,845 $3,454,476,328 $491,963,517

1% Current 1%
Decrease Discount Rate Increase

6.45% 7.45% 8.45%

Total pension liability $4,430,177,364 $3,946,439,845 $3,463,264,525
Fiduciary net position 3,454,476,328 3,454,476,328 3,454,476,328
Net pension liability 975,701,036 491,963,517 8,788,197



Milliman Financial Reporting Valuation 

GASB 67 and 68 Disclosure for Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2015 9 
San Mateo County Employees’ Retirement Association  
This work product was prepared solely for SamCERA for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or 
liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing the Milliman work product. 

Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios 

 

 

Note: This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirement to show information for 10 years. However, recalculations of prior years are not required, and if prior 
years are not reported in accordance with the standards of GASB 67/68, they should not be shown here. Therefore, we have shown only years for which the new 
GASB statements have been implemented. 

 

Fiscal Year Ending June 30
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

Total Pension Liability
Service cost $90,955,831 $87,512,515 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Interest on total pension liability 272,953,777 265,430,896 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Effect of plan changes 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Effect of assumption changes or inputs 0 37,853,852 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Effect of economic/demographic gains or (losses) 50,655,233 (31,415,241) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Benefit payments and refund of contributions (171,466,218) (162,556,107) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Net change in total pension liability 243,098,623 196,825,915 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total pension liability, beginning 3,703,341,222 3,506,515,307 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total pension liability, ending (a) $3,946,439,845 $3,703,341,222 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Fiduciary Net Position
Employer contributions $180,704,280 $202,877,362 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
Member contributions 48,011,698 46,593,698 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Investment income net of investment expenses 111,630,036 482,663,965 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Benefit payments and refund of contributions (171,466,218) (162,556,107) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Administrative (and other non-investment) expenses (6,097,422) (5,710,296) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Net change in plan fiduciary net position 162,782,374 563,868,622 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Fiduciary net position, beginning 3,291,693,954 2,727,825,332 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Fiduciary net position, ending (b) 3,454,476,328 3,291,693,954 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Net pension liability, ending = (a) - (b) $491,963,517 $411,647,268 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Fiduciary net position as a % of total pension liability 87.53% 88.88% N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Covered payroll $454,683,180 $422,021,990 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Net pension liability as a % of covered payroll 108.20% 97.54% N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 



Milliman Financial Reporting Valuation 

GASB 67 and 68 Disclosure for Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2015 10 
San Mateo County Employees’ Retirement Association 
This work product was prepared solely for SamCERA for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does 
not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman recommends that third parties be aided by their own 
actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing the Milliman work product. 

Schedule of Employer Contributions 

 

 

1  Employers contributed at a higher rate than the Actuarially Determined Contribution rate in order to maintain more 
stable contributions. 

2  In 2014, the Board of Supervisors implemented a policy to eliminate the County UAAL by 2023. Contributions in 
excess of the Actuarially Determined Contribution are related to that policy unless noted otherwise.  

 
 
  

As a % of Covered Payroll
Actuarially Actual Contribution Actuarially Actual

Determined Employer Deficiency Covered Determined Employer
Contribution Contribution (Excess) Payroll Contribution Contribution

2006 $76,089,599 $76,089,599 $0 $368,971,869 20.62% 20.62%
2007 100,549,570 100,549,570 0 407,911,467 24.65% 24.65%
2008 105,339,570 105,339,570 0 416,261,210 25.31% 25.31%
2009 106,123,055 106,123,055 0 436,423,248 24.32% 24.32%
2010 106,265,329 106,265,329 0 428,559,066 24.80% 24.80%
2011 150,474,872 150,474,872 0 424,060,830 35.48% 35.48%
2012 139,406,807 150,949,791 (11,542,984) 419,778,688 33.21% 35.96% 1

2013 131,293,846 144,308,171 (13,014,325) 406,921,529 32.27% 35.46% 1

2014 152,877,362 202,877,362 (50,000,000) 422,021,990 36.22% 48.07% 2

2015 169,814,170 180,704,280 (10,890,110) 454,683,180 37.35% 39.74% 2

Fiscal Year
Ending
June 30



Milliman Financial Reporting Valuation 

GASB 67 and 68 Disclosure for Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2015 11 
San Mateo County Employees’ Retirement Association 
This work product was prepared solely for SamCERA for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does 
not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman recommends that third parties be aided by their own 
actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing the Milliman work product. 

Collective Pension Expense 

 
 
1 Note that additional future deferred inflows and outflows of resources may impact these numbers. 
 
  

July 1, 2013 to July 1, 2014 to
Pension Expense June 30, 2014 June 30, 2015

Service cost $87,512,515 $90,955,831
Interest on total pension liability 265,430,896 272,953,777
Effect of plan changes 0 0
Administrative (and other non-investment) expenses 5,710,296 6,097,422
Member contributions (46,593,698) (48,011,698)
Expected investment return net of investment expenses (211,727,481) (247,102,399)

Recognition of Deferred Inflows/Outflows of Resources
Recognition of economic/demographic (gains) or losses (6,283,048) 3,847,999
Recognition of assumption changes or inputs 7,570,770 7,570,770
Recognition of investment (gains) or losses (54,187,297) (27,092,824)

Pension Expense 47,432,953 $59,218,878

As of June 30, 2015, the deferred inflows and outflows of resources are as follows:

Deferred Inflows Deferred Outflows
Deferred Inflows / Outflows of Resources of Resources of Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience $18,849,145 $40,524,186
Changes of assumptions 0 22,712,312
Net difference between projected and actual earnings 54,184,000 0
Contributions made subsequent to measurement date 0 0
Total $73,033,145 $63,236,498

Year ended June 30:
2016 ($15,674,055)
2017 (15,674,055)
2018 (15,674,053)
2019 37,225,516
2020 0
Thereafter1 0

Amounts currently reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to
pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

The discount rate and long-term expected rate of return assumptions used in the calculation of pension 
expense are the same as used to calculate total pension liability as of the end of the prior period.



Milliman Financial Reporting Valuation 

GASB 67 and 68 Disclosure for Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2015 12 
San Mateo County Employees’ Retirement Association 
This work product was prepared solely for SamCERA for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does 
not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman recommends that third parties be aided by their own 
actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing the Milliman work product. 

Deferred Inflows and Outflows of Resources  

 

 
 
1 Investment (gains)/losses are recognized in pension expense over a period of five years; economic/demographic 

(gains)/losses and assumption changes or inputs are recognized over the average remaining service life for all active 
and inactive members. 

 
  

Amount Balance of Balance of
Original Recognized Deferred Deferred

Original Date Recognition in 06/30/2015 Inflows Outflows
Amount Established Period1 Expense 06/30/2015 06/30/2015

Investment 135,472,363 6/30/2015 5 27,094,473 0 108,377,890
(gains) or losses (270,936,484) 6/30/2014 5 (54,187,297) 162,561,890 0

5 0 0 0
5 0 0 0
5 0 0 0

Total (27,092,824) 162,561,890 108,377,890

Economic/demographic 50,655,233 6/30/2015 5 10,131,047 0 40,524,186
(gains) or losses (31,415,241) 6/30/2014 5 (6,283,048) 18,849,145 0

5 0 0 0
5 0 0 0
5 0 0 0

Total 3,847,999 18,849,145 40,524,186

Assumption 0 6/30/2015 5 0 0 0
changes or inputs 37,853,852 6/30/2014 5 7,570,770 0 22,712,312

5 0 0 0
5 0 0 0
5 0 0 0

Total 7,570,770 0 22,712,312



Milliman Financial Reporting Valuation 

GASB 67 and 68 Disclosure for Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2015 13 
San Mateo County Employees’ Retirement Association 
This work product was prepared solely for SamCERA for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does 
not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman recommends that third parties be aided by their own 
actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing the Milliman work product. 

Employer’s Allocations and Proportionate Share 

 

 

1 Employer Allocation Percentage (or Proportionate Share) is based on Actuarially Determined Contributions. 

 

Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2015
Actual Actuarially Employer Net

Employer Determined Allocation Pension
Employer Contributions Contributions Percentage 1 Liability

County of San Mateo 174,263,295$   163,373,185$   96.21% 473,318,100$  

San Mateo Superior Courts 5,914,688 5,914,688 3.48% 17,120,330

Mosquito & Vector Control District 526,297 526,297 0.31% 1,525,087

180,704,280$   169,814,170$   100.00% 491,963,517$     



Milliman Financial Reporting Valuation 

GASB 67 and 68 Disclosure for Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2015 14 
San Mateo County Employees’ Retirement Association 
This work product was prepared solely for SamCERA for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or 
liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing the Milliman work product. 

Employers' Proportionate Share of Deferred Outflows and Inflows 

 

 

  

Proportionate Share of Deferred Outflows Proportionate Share of Deferred Inflows
Proportionate Assumption Investment Assumption Investment

Employer Share Experience Changes Return Experience Changes Return

County of San Mateo 96.21% 38,988,319$  21,851,516$  -$                 18,134,763$  -$                 52,130,427$   

San Mateo Superior Courts 3.48% 1,410,242      790,388         -                   655,950         -                   1,885,603       

Mosquito & Vector Control District 0.31% 125,625         70,408           -                   58,432           -                   167,970          

Total 100.00% 40,524,186$  22,712,312$  -$                 $18,849,145 -$                 54,184,000$   



Milliman Financial Reporting Valuation 

GASB 67 and 68 Disclosure for Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2015 15 
San Mateo County Employees’ Retirement Association 
This work product was prepared solely for SamCERA for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or 
liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing the Milliman work product. 

Changes in Employers' Proportionate Share  

 

 

  

Proportionate Share Impact of Change in Proportion Recognition of Change in Proportion
Prior Current Deferred Deferred Net Pension Pension Deferred Deferred

Employer Year Year Outflows Inflows Liability Expense Outflows Inflows

County of San Mateo 95.97% 96.21% 72,680$       580,515$     987,953$      299,158$     1,196,630$  -$                 
San Mateo Superior Courts 3.73% 3.48% (75,708)        (604,703)      (1,029,118)    (311,623)      -                   1,246,490    
Mosquito & Vector Control District 0.30% 0.31% 3,028           24,188         41,165          12,465         49,860         -                   

Total 100.00% 100.00% -$                 -$                 -$                  -$                 1,246,490$  1,246,490$  



Milliman Financial Reporting Valuation 

GASB 67 and 68 Disclosure for Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2015 16 
San Mateo County Employees’ Retirement Association 
This work product was prepared solely for SamCERA for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or 
liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing the Milliman work product. 

Differences in Contributions 

 

 

  

Contributions Recognition of Difference in Contributions
Proportionate Pension Deferred Deferred

Employer Actual Share Difference Expense Outflows Inflows

County of San Mateo 174,263,295$ 173,855,588$ 407,707$      81,541$       326,166$     -$                 
San Mateo Superior Courts 5,914,688       6,288,509       (373,821)       (74,764)$      -                   299,057       
Mosquito & Vector Control District 526,297          560,183          (33,886)         (6,777)$        -                   27,109         

Total 180,704,280$ 180,704,280$ -$                  -$                 326,166$     326,166$     



Milliman Financial Reporting Valuation 

GASB 67 and 68 Disclosure for Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2015 17 
San Mateo County Employees’ Retirement Association 
This work product was prepared solely for SamCERA for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or 
liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing the Milliman work product. 

Employers' Pension Expense Excluding that Attributable 
to Employer-Paid Member Contributions 

 

 

 

Recognitions
Collective Current Period Employer

Proportionate Pension Change in Difference in Prior Pension
Employer Share Expense Proportion Contributions Periods Expense

County of San Mateo 96.21% 56,974,482$    299,158$       81,541$         650,654$       58,005,835$   

San Mateo Superior Courts 3.48% 2,060,817        (311,623)        (74,764)          (668,522)        1,005,908       

Mosquito & Vector Control District 0.31% 183,579           12,465           (6,777)            17,868           207,135          

Total 100.00% $59,218,878 -$                   -$                   -$                   59,218,878$   



Milliman Financial Reporting Valuation 

GASB 67 and 68 Disclosure for Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2015 18 
San Mateo County Employees’ Retirement Association 
This work product was prepared solely for SamCERA for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does 
not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman recommends that third parties be aided by their own 
actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing the Milliman work product. 

Deferred Inflows and Outflows of Resources 
Due to Changes in Proportionate Share and Differences in Contribution 

 

 
 

Amount Balance of Balance of
Original Recognized Deferred Deferred

Original Date Recognition in 06/30/2015 Inflows Outflows
Amount Established Period Expense 06/30/2015 06/30/2015

County of San Mateo 1,903,495 6/30/2015 5 380,699 0 1,522,796
3,253,270 6/30/2014 5 650,654 0 1,951,962

5 0 0 0
5 0 0 0
5 0 0 0

Total 1,031,353 0 3,474,758

San Mateo Superior Courts (1,931,934) 6/30/2015 5 (386,387) 1,545,547 0
(3,342,613) 6/30/2014 5 (668,522) 2,005,569 0

5 0 0 0
5 0 0 0
5 0 0 0

Total (1,054,909) 3,551,116 0

Mosquito & Vector Control District 28,439 6/30/2015 5 5,688 0 22,751
89,343 6/30/2014 5 17,868 0 53,607

5 0 0 0
5 0 0 0
5 0 0 0

Total 23,556 0 76,358



Milliman Financial Reporting Valuation 

GASB 67 and 68 Disclosure for Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2015 19 
San Mateo County Employees’ Retirement Association 
This work product was prepared solely for SamCERA for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or 
liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing the Milliman work product. 

Schedule of Employers' Recognition of Deferred Outflows and Inflows 

 

 

  

Recognition of Proportionate Share of Deferred Outflows and Inflows
Employer 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 Thereafter

County of San Mateo (14,048,655)$  (14,048,655)$  (14,048,653)$  36,195,368$    -$                    -$                    
San Mateo Superior Courts (1,600,366)$    (1,600,366)$    (1,600,366)$    909,061$         -$                    -$                    
Mosquito & Vector Control District (25,034)$         (25,034)$         (25,034)$         121,087$         -$                    -$                    

Total (15,674,055)$  (15,674,055)$  (15,674,053)$  37,225,516$    -$                    -$                    



Milliman Financial Reporting Valuation 

GASB 67 and 68 Disclosure for Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2015 20 
San Mateo County Employees’ Retirement Association 
This work product was prepared solely for SamCERA for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or 
liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing the Milliman work product. 

Schedule of Employer Pension Amounts Allocated by Cost Sharing Plan 

 

 

 
 

County of San Mateo 473,318,100$ 38,988,319$   -$                  21,851,516$ 3,474,758$     18,134,763$  52,130,427$    -$                  -$                   56,974,482$  1,031,353$          
San Mateo Superior Courts 17,120,330     1,410,242      -                    790,388        -                      655,950         1,885,603        -                    3,551,116       2,060,817      (1,054,909)           
Mosquito & Vector Control District 1,525,087       125,625         -                    70,408          76,358            58,432           167,970           -                    -                     183,579         23,556                 

Total 491,963,517$ 40,524,186$  -$                  22,712,312$ 3,551,116$     18,849,145$  54,184,000$    -$                  3,551,116$     59,218,878$  -$                         

Deferred Outflow of Resources Deferred Inflow of Resources

Pension Expense Excluding that 
Attributable to Employer-Paid 

Member Contributions

Employer
Net Pension 
Liability

Differences 
Between 
Expected and 
Actual 
Economic 
Experience

Net 
Differences 
Between 
Projected 
and Actual 
Investment 
Earnings

Changes of 
Assumptions

Changes in 
Proportion 
and 
Differences 
Between 
Employer 
Contributions 
and 
Proportionate 
Share of 
Contributions

Differences 
Between 
Expected and 
Actual 
Economic 
Experience

Net 
Differences 
Between 
Actual and 
Projected 
Investment 
Earnings

Changes of 
Assumptions

Changes in 
Proportion 
and 
Differences 
Between 
Employer 
Contributions 
and 
Proportionate 
Share of 
Contributions

Proportionate 
Share of 
Allocable 
Pension 
Expense

Net Amortization 
of Deferred 
amounts from 
Changes in 
Proportion and 
Differences 
between 
Employer 
Contributions 
and 
Proportionate 
Share of 
Contributions



Milliman Financial Reporting Valuation 

GASB 67 and 68 Disclosure for Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2015 21 
San Mateo County Employees’ Retirement Association 
This work product was prepared solely for SamCERA for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does 
not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman recommends that third parties be aided by their own 
actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing the Milliman work product. 

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions 

All actuarial methods and assumptions used for this GASB analysis were the same as those used in the 
June 30, 2015 funding valuation, except as noted below and throughout this report. Please see the actuarial 
valuation dated September 22, 2015 for further details. 

Following are the key assumptions and methods used in this GASB analysis.  

Valuation Timing Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of 
June 30, two years prior to the end of the fiscal year in which the 
contributions are reported. 

Actuarial Cost Method Individual Entry Age Normal 

Amortization Method 
 Level percent or level dollar Level percent 
 Closed, open, or layered periods Layered 
 Amortization Period for Each Layer 15 years 
 Amortization Growth Rate 3.50% 

Asset Valuation Method 
 Smoothing period 5 years 
 Recognition method Non-asymptotic 
 Corridor 80% to 120% of market value 

Inflation 3.00% 

Investment Rate of Return 7.45%1 

Cost of Living Adjustments As described in the June 30, 2015 actuarial valuation. 

Mortality Various rates based on RP-2000 mortality tables. See June 30, 
2015 actuarial valuation for details.  

1 Differs from actuarial valuation due to addition of administrative expense load of 0.20%. 

 



Milliman Financial Reporting Valuation 

GASB 67 and 68 Disclosure for Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2015 22 
San Mateo County Employees’ Retirement Association 
This work product was prepared solely for SamCERA for the purposes described herein and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does 
not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman recommends that third parties be aided by their own 
actuary or other qualified professional when reviewing the Milliman work product. 

Glossary 

Actuarially determined 
contribution 

A target or recommended contribution to a defined benefit pension plan 
for the reporting period, determined based on the funding policy and 
most recent measurement available when the contribution for the 
reporting period was adopted. 

Deferred inflows/outflows  
of resources 

Portion of changes in net pension liability that is not immediately 
recognized in pension expense. These changes include differences 
between expected and actual experience, changes in assumptions, and 
differences between expected and actual earnings on plan investments. 

Discount rate Single rate of return that, when applied to all projected benefit payments, 
results in an actuarial present value of projected benefit payments equal 
to the sum of:  
1) The actuarial present value of benefit payments projected to be 

made in future periods where the plan assets are projected to be 
sufficient to meet benefit payments, calculated using the long-term 
expected rate of return. 

2) The actuarial present value of projected benefit payments not 
included in (1), calculated using the municipal bond rate. 

Fiduciary net position Equal to fair value of assets. 

Long-term expected  
rate of return 

Long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments expected 
to be used to finance the payment of benefits, net of investment 
expenses. 

Money-weighted  
rate of return 

The internal rate of return on pension plan investments, net of 
investment expenses. 

Municipal bond rate Yield or index rate for 20-year, tax-exempt general obligation municipal 
bonds with an average rating of AA/Aa or higher. 

Net pension liability Total pension liability minus the Plan's fiduciary net position. 

Projected benefit payments All benefits estimated to be payable through the pension plan to current 
active and inactive employees as a result of their past service and 
expected future service. 

Service cost The portion of the actuarial present value of projected benefit payments 
that is attributed to a valuation year. 

Total pension liability The portion of actuarial present value of projected benefit payments that 
is attributable to past periods of member service using the Entry Age 
Normal cost method based on the requirements of GASB 67 and 68. 

 



SAN MATEO COUNTY EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT ASSOCIATION 

Board of Retirement 

October 27, 2015 

TO: Board of Retirement 

FROM: Michael Coultrip, Chief Investment Officer 

Agenda Item 6.1 

SUBJECT: Preliminary Monthly Portfolio Performance Report for the Period Ending September 

30, 2015 

Staff Recommendation 
Review the preliminary performance report dated September 30, 2015. 

Background 
This preliminary report is intended to provide a high-level view of the portfolio and its trends. It is 
not intended to provide short-term performance upon which the Board would act. As discussed 
previously, preliminary performance estimates are now included for AQR Risk Parity, AQR Delta, 
Panagora Risk Parity, and Beach Point Select. The quarterly performance metrics are not yet 
available for our private equity, private real asset, and real estate portfolios. The performance for 
these portfolios will be reflected in the quarterly performance report generated by SIS. 

The attached performance report shows both net and gross of fee returns for the total plan on 
page one, with net composite returns (pages 2-3) and net manager returns (pages 4-9) also shown. 

Discussion 
The fund's net preliminary return for September was -2.1%, while the preliminary trailing twelve
month return was -0.6% net. The twelve-month net return is higher than SamCERA's Total Plan 

Policy Benchmark return of -1.9%, but below the Actuarial Assumed Earnings Rate of 7.25%. As a 
reminder, Sam CERA should expect performance to vary substantially from that of the Total Plan 
Policy Benchmark in the initial stages of its implementation of private equity and private real 

assets. 

The global equity markets were down again during the month, bringing most major equity indices 
into negative territory on a year-to-date basis. In the U.S., large-capitalization stocks returned 

-2.5%, while smaller capitalization stocks returned -4.9%. International equity indices were also 
down on the month, with developed markets (as measured by MSCI EAFE) down 5.0% and 

emerging markets down 3.0%. 

Heightened market volatility continued during the month, with on-going concerns about global 
growth prospects and its impact on the timing of potential Fed action weighing on the market. 
Economic reports in the U.S. continued to show improvement, with 2 nd quarter GDP growth being 



revised higher to a 3.9% annualized pace. The Federal Reserve decided to leave rates unchanged 
in September, citing market volatility and sluggish global growth. 

The general U.S. fixed income market return was higher by 0.7%. Interest rates (as measured by 
10-year Treasuries) decreased by 15 basis points. Higher risk sectors of the fixed income market 

were again lower on the month . For example, U.S. high yield bonds returned -2.6%, while 
emerging market bonds returned -1.4%. 

Attachments 
A. SIS Market Update 
B. Northern Trust Performance Report 

2 



 

MARKET UPDATE  F O R  S E P T E M B E R  2 0 1 5  
 

 

 

 

 

Strategic Investment Solutions, Inc.  Page 1 

  

U.S. EQUITY 

September was another rough month for equities driven 
by continued global growth concerns and a confusing 
message from the US Federal Reserve.  For the month, 
large cap outperformed small cap on a relative basis 
(Russell 1000 Index was -2.7% compared to the Russell 
2000 Index -4.9%).  Growth outperformed Value in large 
cap (Russell 1000 Growth Index -2.5% vs. Russell 1000 
Value Index -3.0%) whereas, Value outperformed 
Growth in small cap (Russell 2000 Growth Index -6.3% 
vs. Russell 2000 Value Index -3.5%).  The S&P 500 
Index ended the month down 2.5%.   
 

The S&P 500’s forward P/E has risen to 15‐16x, which 
is about what it’s averaged over many years through all 
kinds of inflation, interest rate regimes and earnings 
cycles. 
 
From a factor/characteristic standpoint, the environment 
exhibited signs of risk-off behavior mixed in with strong 
influences from the biotech/pharma sell-off following 
comments of possible government pricing 
intervention.  In September, the highest relative strength 
stocks outperformed, while non-earnings stories and 
high P/E stocks underperformed.  
 

NON-U.S. EQUITY 

 
The global equity markets continued to sell off in 
September, resulting in their worst quarter since 2011. 
Rising concerns over the global growth outlook 
prompted by weakening manufacturing numbers in 
China, declining commodity prices, and a decision by the 
US Federal Reserve not to raise interest rates, combined 
to aggravate the selling pressure. Corporate profits also 
weakened, posting negative results on a year-over-year 
basis, sending every developed market into negative 
territory for the month and the quarter. Energy and 
material stocks bore the brunt of the September decline, 
both finishing the quarter with declines approaching 
20%. More defensive sectors, specifically consumer 
staples and utilities, weathered the decline with only 
modest losses for the month. 
 
The MSCI AC World ex US Index fell 4.6% during the 
month (in US dollars). All developed equity markets in 
the index registered losses during the month.  While 
markets were generally weak, improved economic data 
supported the relative returns of certain European 
markets.  For example Italy, encouraged by possible 

reform of the financial sector, fell only 3.0%.  France and 
Switzerland also fared well on a relative basis, down 4.1% 
and 4.4% respectively.  In the UK, higher economic 
growth and lower unemployment figures in part 
supported the equity market’s relatively respectable 
return, although the market still fell 4.5%.  Export-
oriented Germany fared less well, down 6.2% on 
concerns about global economic growth.  The Spanish 
equity market generated the lowest return in the region, 
down 7.6%.  Continued improvements in the Spanish 
economy were overshadowed by the outcome of a 
regional election in Catalonia where the victory of pro-
independence parties is expected to increase uncertainty 
in national elections in December. 
 
In the Asia Pacific region, the equity market in Hong 
Kong produced the strongest relative return.  The 
decision by the Federal Reserve to keep US interest rates 
stable provided relative support to the market, which fell 
only 2.2% in September.  Despite concerns about growth 
in China, and political commotion resulting in the 
replacement of the Australian prime minister, the equity 
market in Australia fared well on a relative basis, down 
4.2%.  The Singaporean market fared similarly, down 
4.4%, while Japan produced the weakest return in the 
region, down 6.8%.  Worsening economic indicators in 
Japan weighed on the returns of Japanese stocks. 
 
The MSCI Emerging Markets index fell 3.0% during the 
month (in US dollars), resulting in a year-to-date return 
of -15.5%. Asia was the strongest major region, 
supported by positive returns of 1.8% and 0.5% in Korea 
and India respectively. The Korean market was aided in 
particular by strength in the auto sector which has 
benefitted from weakness in the won year to date. The 
Indian market return was supported by relative strength 
in the rupee, as the central bank put through a larger 
than expected rate cut on a benign inflation outlook. All 
other markets in the region declined. China fell 1.9%, 
outperforming the broader asset class. Indonesia was the 
worst performing market in the region, down 13.2% as 
high levels of equity and bond outflows pressured stock 
prices and the currency. Latin America was the worst 
performing region, driven by an 11.9% decline in the 
Brazilian market. The majority of this was due to an 
8.5% decline in the real, which came under pressure 
following a downgrade of the sovereign by a major 
ratings agency to below investment grade. Returns in the 
EMEA region were mostly negative, with the larger 
markets of South Africa, Russia & Turkey down 6.7%, 
4.4% and 4.9% respectively. 



 

MARKET UPDATE  F O R  S E P T E M B E R  2 0 1 5  
 

 

 

 

 

Strategic Investment Solutions, Inc.  Page 2 

  

Most currencies in the MSCI EAFE index depreciated 
against the US dollar in September.  In particular, the 
British pound fell 1.5%, the Swiss franc weakened 1.0%, 
the Australian dollar declined 0.9% and the euro 
decreased 0.4%.  This was only partly offset by the 
strength of the Swedish krona and Japanese yen, both 
appreciating 1.2% during the month.  
 

FIXED INCOME 

After much speculation, the Fed decided early in the 
month to leave rates unchanged, citing market volatility 
and softer global growth. Janet Yellen’s comments later 
in the month were more hawkish—a result of upbeat 
domestic data, including stronger-than-expected GDP 
growth and an uptick in consumer spending.  
 
New issuance remained robust with $109B of issuance 
during September. The issues, however, were highly 
concentrated in the first few weeks of the month, with 
the market volatility post-Fed inaction delaying the 
marginal issuer.  September’s new issuance calendar was 
dominated by A and BBB rated companies.  The two 
most notable AA rated issuers to come to market were 
American Airlines and payroll processor ADP. Corporate 
bond trading after the September 17 FOMC meeting was 
quiet as the market digested the Fed’s potential next 
steps.  
 
The widening of AA corporate spreads was more than 
offset by a treasury yield decline as investors continued 
to push treasury yields lower amid an equity sell-off.  
 
During the month EM markets again experienced 
significant volatility. The volatility experienced in Brazil, 
as a combination of generic EM weakness, worsening of 
the local political situation and a challenging 
macroeconomic climate, was as extreme as witnessed 
since the global financial crisis, and harked back to the 
early 2000s.  The month was characterized by the 
downgrade of Brazil, which resulted in one to two notch 
downgrades of Brazilian issuers, and Petrobras in 
particular. The Brazilian national oil company is now the 
credit market’s largest fallen angel, and the recycling of 
these bonds was the key mover of EM credit markets 
during the month.  

 
New issues contributed $11.8 billion of supply in 
September, taking the YTD gross supply to $197 billion, 
in line with $250 billion for FY 2015, down 30% from 
2014 and 2013 record levels. Asia now has the lion’s 
share of the primary issuance, rising from 38% to 58% of 

total issues between 2013 and 2015 to date. Over the 
same period, Latin America’s portion has shrunk from 
29% to 24%, reflecting Brazil’s current lack of market 
access. Countries recording the largest widening of their 
CDS spreads in September include those displaying the 
highest fragility to debt rollover, most notably Brazil. 
 
ECONOMIC HIGHLIGHTS 

 

U.S. 
* U.S. growth revised higher in the 2nd quarter to a 3.9% 
annualized pace supported by stronger consumer and 
business spending. 
* While inflation remains below the Fed’s 2% target, 
factors that supported the trend in lower inflation have 
moderated with the pace of U.S. dollar strength slowing 
and rents rising due to a tightening housing market. 
Evidence suggests that wages are beginning to inflect 
higher from trough levels as the labor market has 
improved. 
* Acknowledging increased global market concerns, the 
U.S. Federal Reserve may start its path to “interest rate 
normalization” at the end of the year, with the 
subsequent pace of rate hikes expected to be gradual and 
data dependent. 
* Outside energy-related sectors, healthy balance sheets 
and cash flows still provide the corporate sector 
flexibility in the use of capital to increase capital 
spending, engage in M&A activity and return capital to 
shareholders. 
* U.S. profit growth in the 3rd quarter is expected to 
decline by low-single digits weighed down by continued 
weakness in the energy sector; ex-energy revenue and 
earnings still only expected to expand by low-single digits 
Europe 
* Economic growth in the 2nd quarter revised higher to 
a 1.5% annualized rate supported by improved consumer 
spending and trade; the region is supported by 
diminished fiscal headwinds, improving credit 
environment, lower energy costs and weaker euro 
* European Central Bank (ECB) progresses with its 
quantitative easing program launched in March 2015 
which includes monthly purchases of 60 billion euros of 
sovereign, agency and asset-backed debt. 
* Risks remain with uncertainty surrounding Greece, 
lingering structural issues, elevated unemployment, high 
debt levels and political instability in several countries. 
Japan 
* Economic growth contracts in the 2nd quarter by an 
annualized rate of -1.2%, weighed down by weakness in 



 

MARKET UPDATE  F O R  S E P T E M B E R  2 0 1 5  
 

 

 

 

 

Strategic Investment Solutions, Inc.  Page 3 

  

consumer spending, raising concerns that “Abenomics” 
is failing and more fiscal and monetary stimulus may be 
required by year end. 
* Bank of Japan (BOJ) progresses with current 
quantitative easing measures facing challenges of meeting 
its 2% inflation target with stabilization of the Yen and 

 lower oil prices. 
Emerging Markets 
* Divergence across the fiscal conditions and monetary 
policies of emerging market countries, with the decline in 
energy prices helping some with lower inflation while 
other commodity-exporting related economies face 
weaker growth 
* Increased evidence of weakness in the Chinese 
economy and its broader impact on commodity prices 
and global trade lead to increased market volatility and 
weakness in global risk assets. 
* People’s Bank of China reduces reserve requirements 
and lowers interest rates for the fifth time since last 
November in an effort to stimulate growth as evidence 
mounts that the economy is growing less than the 

 policymakers’ 7% target. 
* While continued monetary stimulus measures by the 
European Central Bank and Bank of Japan could 
continue to weigh on their currencies relative to the U.S. 
dollar, it is expected that any further dollar appreciation 
will be less dramatic than we experienced in the second 

 half of 2014. 
 

CONCLUSION 

In September, risk markets recorded price declines. The 

sell‐off has extended across asset classes, including 
equities, credit, commodities and cyclically oriented 
currencies.  Global GDP growth has slowed to 2.5%, 
and third quarter U.S. growth is estimated at a very tepid 

1‐1.5%.  Emerging markets’ growth has dropped off to 
4%.  
 
Many investors have been agonizing over the timing of 
the Fed’s initial rate hike as is well evidenced in the daily 
news and market gyrations.  Other investors are 
concerned about deflation and sluggish growth as 
opposed to “interest rate normalization”. Sluggish 
economic growth and credit demands combined with 
more than ample liquidity throughout the system may 
limit the rise in long and short term interest rates for a 
period of time.  
 
Most central banks are easing, and the ECB and the 
Bank of Japan are likely to remain accommodative for 
the foreseeable future. Nominal GDP growth in the 

United States is estimated at 3‐3.5%, and that sluggish 
pace will likely keep the path of Fed Fund rate hikes at a 
moderate pace.  
 
U.S. equity valuations, in the aggregate, are not cheap, 
but nor are they particularly expensive. But when 
assessing the outlook for US equity returns, we don’t 
think it’s prudent to assume any expansion in valuations. 
We think it’s more likely that total S&P 500 equity 
returns will approximate the outlook for modest earnings 
growth plus the dividend yield. Not very exciting, but 
better than Treasuries or cash. 
 
Although US corporates have been the largest net buyers 
of US equities these past several years, recent economic 
releases capturing flow of funds within the US economy 
establish the significant deceleration of debt funded share 
buyback programs over the past several weeks. As the 
cost of debt capital has gone up the past several months 
and corporate balance sheets are starting to become 
stretched, we believe that one of the most powerful 
factors accounting for the resilience of US equities’ price 
performance versus foreign peers is increasingly behind 
us. As such, US equities are likely to look less attractive 

than non‐US equities, including those in selected 
Emerging Markets, Europe and Japan.  
 
Fear and uncertainty have dominated risk asset 
markets—for good reasons—and aren’t likely to 
dissipate soon.  Investors are looking to policymakers, 
particularly in China, to act in a constructive manner. 
The elephant in the room is timely and effective fiscal 
policy and structural reforms, or lack thereof. China, 
however, has responded to its waning economic 
expansion as the Central Government has increased its 
spending significantly. 



Monthly Market Update  

 US Equity Indices Trailing Performance 

Annualized Performance to Date:
Ending Sep‐15

1
Month

3
Months YTD 1

Year
2

Years
3

Years
5

Years
7

Years
10

Years
Russell 3000 Index ‐2.91 ‐7.25 ‐5.45 ‐0.49 8.25 12.53 13.28 9.91 6.92
Russell TOP 200 Index ‐2.37 ‐6.31 ‐4.99 ‐0.79 9.32 12.15 13.42 9.49 6.60
Russell TOP 200 Growth Index ‐1.89 ‐4.13 ‐0.42 3.87 12.29 13.53 14.93 11.67 8.17
Russell TOP 200 Value Index ‐2.88 ‐8.55 ‐9.53 ‐5.44 6.32 10.70 11.88 7.25 5.01
S&P 500 Index ‐2.47 ‐6.44 ‐5.29 ‐0.61 9.09 12.40 13.34 9.75 6.80
Russell 1000 Index ‐2.74 ‐6.83 ‐5.24 ‐0.61 8.76 12.66 13.42 10.02 6.95
Russell 1000 Growth Index ‐2.47 ‐5.29 ‐1.54 3.17 10.87 13.61 14.47 11.73 8.09
Russell 1000 Value Index ‐3.02 ‐8.39 ‐8.96 ‐4.42 6.60 11.59 12.29 8.21 5.71
Russell Mid‐Cap Index ‐3.60 ‐8.01 ‐5.84 ‐0.25 7.49 13.91 13.40 11.38 7.87
Russell Mid‐Cap Growth Index ‐3.86 ‐7.99 ‐4.15 1.45 7.75 13.98 13.58 12.12 8.09
Russell Mid‐Cap Value Index ‐3.34 ‐8.04 ‐7.66 ‐2.07 7.25 13.69 13.15 10.52 7.42
Russell 2000 Index ‐4.91 ‐11.92 ‐7.73 1.25 2.58 11.02 11.73 8.63 6.55
Russell 2000 Value Index ‐3.46 ‐10.73 ‐10.06 ‐1.60 1.22 9.18 10.17 6.81 5.35
Russell 2000 Growth Index ‐6.32 ‐13.06 ‐5.47 4.04 3.92 12.85 13.26 10.44 7.67
DJ US REIT Index 3.37 3.09 ‐2.84 11.82 12.63 9.92 12.31 7.35 6.69
DJ‐UBS US Commodity Index ‐3.42 ‐14.47 ‐17.21 ‐25.99 ‐16.85 ‐16.02 ‐8.89 ‐8.75 ‐5.67
DJ‐UBS US Gold Index ‐1.52 ‐5.00 ‐7.49 ‐8.41 ‐8.66 ‐14.71 ‐3.69 2.79 8.13

 Non‐US Indices Trailing Performance 

Annualized Performance to Date:
Ending Sep‐15

1
Month

3
Months YTD 1

Year
2

Years
3

Years
5

Years
7

Years
10

Years
MSCI AC World Index ex USA ‐4.60 ‐12.10 ‐8.28 ‐11.78 ‐3.65 2.78 2.27 3.66 3.49
MSCI AC World Index ‐3.58 ‐9.34 ‐6.65 ‐6.16 2.47 7.52 7.39 6.60 5.14
MSCI EAFE Index ‐5.04 ‐10.19 ‐4.91 ‐8.27 ‐1.99 6.08 4.45 4.25 3.44
MSCI Emerging Markets index ‐2.97 ‐17.78 ‐15.22 ‐18.98 ‐7.92 ‐4.93 ‐3.25 2.89 4.60
ML Global Government Bond Ex. U.S. Index 0.96 1.68 ‐2.59 ‐5.92 ‐4.78 ‐6.79 ‐2.19 1.80 2.81
Euro ‐0.38 0.18 ‐7.75 ‐11.64 ‐9.19 ‐4.62 ‐3.95 ‐3.23 ‐0.77
Japanese Yen 1.19 2.17 0.11 ‐8.41 ‐9.48 ‐13.39 ‐6.95 ‐1.71 ‐0.55
UK Pound Sterling ‐1.51 ‐3.68 ‐2.85 ‐6.56 ‐3.28 ‐2.11 ‐0.79 ‐2.30 ‐1.54

 US Fixed Income Indices Trailing Performance 

Annualized Performance to Date:
Ending Sep‐15

1
Month

3
Months YTD 1

Year
2

Years
3

Years
5

Years
7

Years
10

Years
ML 3‐month T‐bill Total Return Index 0.00 0.01 0.02 0.02 0.04 0.06 0.08 0.13 1.33
BarCap Aggregate Bond Index 0.68 1.23 1.13 2.94 3.45 1.71 3.10 4.85 4.64
ML U.S. Corp/Govt Master Index 0.70 1.23 1.04 2.97 3.64 1.69 3.18 5.08 4.64
ML U.S. Corporate Master Index 0.52 0.39 ‐0.07 1.36 4.18 2.33 4.33 7.63 5.36
BarCap Mortgage Backed Securities Index 0.58 1.30 1.61 3.43 3.61 1.98 3.03 4.36 4.71
ML U.S. High Yield Master Index ‐2.59 ‐4.88 ‐2.51 ‐3.54 1.66 3.42 5.90 9.79 7.04
JPM EMBI Global ‐1.38 ‐2.04 ‐0.32 ‐1.96 3.03 0.51 4.40 7.92 6.76



San Mateo County
Total Fund Characteristics

September 30,2015

‐‐

‐8.00

‐6.00

‐4.00

‐2.00

0.00

2.00

4.00

6.00

8.00

10.00

1 Mth. 3 Mth. YTD FYTD 1 Yr. 3 Yr. 5 Yr. 10 Yr. ITD

TOTAL FUND ‐ Gross ‐2.08 ‐5.44 ‐2.06 ‐5.44 ‐0.41 7.49 8.20 5.17 6.52

TOTAL FUND ‐ Net ‐2.08 ‐5.48 ‐2.24 ‐5.48 ‐0.63 7.20 7.86 4.97 6.41

SAMCERA PLAN BENCHMARK ‐2.26 ‐5.96 ‐3.51 ‐5.96 ‐1.86 6.89 8.09 5.75 6.67

Excess (Net) 0.18 0.48 1.27 0.48 1.23 0.32 ‐0.23 ‐0.78 ‐0.26

Re
tu
rn
 (%

)

Total Fund Performance

‐0.05 ‐0.33 ‐0.20

1.04 0.59 0.63 0.65 0.64 0.66 0.63 1.17 1.23

‐4.00

‐2.00

0.00

2.00

4.00

6.00

8.00

10.00

Oct‐14 Nov‐14 Dec‐14 Jan‐15 Feb‐15 Mar‐15 Apr‐15 May‐15 Jun‐15 Jul‐15 Aug‐15 Sep‐15

Re
tu
rn
 (%

)

Rolling Month End Annual Returns

EXCESS TOTAL FUND SAMCERA TOTAL PLAN POLICY BENCHMARK

100.0%

0.6%

1.2%

0.3%

6.7%

20.2%

2.6%

4.6%

7.6%

6.2%

18.6%

31.4%

0.0% 20.0% 40.0% 60.0% 80.0% 100.0% 120.0%

 TOTAL FUND  $3,292,427,331

 CLIFTON GROUP ‐ CASH OVERLAY  $20,310,186

 CASH  $38,042,787

 PRIVATE REAL ASSETS  $10,679,877

 REAL ESTATE  $220,199,593

 FIXED INCOME  $666,428,703

 COMMODITES  $84,828,442

 HEDGE FUND  $151,909,026

 RISK PARITY  $250,102,278

 PRIVATE EQUITY  $203,892,069

 INTERNATIONAL EQUITY  $613,626,795

 DOMESTIC EQUITY  $1,032,407,575

Asset Allocation

1 of 13



San Mateo County
Composite Return Summary

September 30,2015

Composite Returns (Net of Manager Fees) Market Value ($) 1 Mth. 3 Mth. YTD FYTD 1 Yr. 3 Yr. 5 Yr. 7 Yr. 10 Yr. ITD

San Mateo County ERA 3,292,427,331 ‐2.08 ‐5.48 ‐2.24 ‐5.48 ‐0.63 7.20 7.86 6.59 4.97 6.41
Samcera Total Plan Benchmark ‐2.26 ‐5.96 ‐3.51 ‐5.96 ‐1.86 6.89 8.09 7.12 5.75 6.67
Excess 0.18 0.48 1.27 0.48 1.23 0.32 ‐0.23 ‐0.54 ‐0.78 ‐0.26

San Mateo Ex‐Clifton Overlay 3,272,117,145 ‐1.99 ‐5.37 ‐2.25 ‐5.37 ‐0.74 7.17 7.87 6.53 4.85 6.34
Samcera Total Plan Benchmark ‐2.26 ‐5.96 ‐3.51 ‐5.96 ‐1.86 6.89 8.09 7.12 5.75 6.67
Excess 0.27 0.59 1.26 0.59 1.12 0.29 ‐0.22 ‐0.59 ‐0.90 ‐0.33

Total Equity 1,646,034,370 ‐3.64 ‐8.91 ‐5.70 ‐8.91 ‐3.75 8.94 8.99 6.85 4.53 7.12
Samcera Total Equity Benchmark ‐3.37 ‐8.56 ‐6.12 ‐8.56 ‐2.61 9.98 9.91 8.08 5.91 7.66
Excess ‐0.27 ‐0.36 0.42 ‐0.36 ‐1.14 ‐1.04 ‐0.92 ‐1.24 ‐1.38 ‐0.53

Total Fixed Income 666,428,703 ‐0.70 ‐1.53 ‐0.50 ‐1.53 ‐0.33 2.30 4.45 6.54 4.96 5.63
Samcera Fixed Income Benchmark ‐0.18 ‐0.18 ‐0.05 ‐0.18 0.87 0.65 2.88 4.69 4.53 5.19
Excess ‐0.53 ‐1.35 ‐0.45 ‐1.35 ‐1.20 1.65 1.57 1.85 0.43 0.44

Total Risk Parity 250,102,278 ‐0.81 ‐5.66 ‐4.94 ‐5.66 ‐3.88 1.83 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 4.88
Samcera Risk Parity Benchmark ‐1.48 ‐3.89 ‐2.73 ‐3.89 1.02 8.21 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 7.88
Excess 0.67 ‐1.77 ‐2.21 ‐1.77 ‐4.90 ‐6.38 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐2.99

‐2.08

‐5.48

‐2.24

‐5.48

‐0.63

7.20 7.86
6.59

4.97
6.41

‐2.26

‐5.96
‐3.51

‐5.96

‐1.86

6.89
8.09 7.12

5.75 6.67

‐10.00

‐5.00

0.00

5.00

10.00

1 Mth. 3 Mth. YTD FYTD 1 Yr. 3 Yr. 5 Yr. 7 Yr. 10 Yr. ITD

Return Comparison

San Mateo County ERA Samcera Total Plan Benchmark

2 of 13



San Mateo County
Composite Return Summary

September 30,2015

Composite Returns (Net of Manager Fees) Market Value ($) 1 Mth. 3 Mth. YTD FYTD 1 Yr. 3 Yr. 5 Yr. 7 Yr. 10 Yr. ITD

‐2.08

‐5.48

‐2.24

‐5.48

‐0.63

7.20 7.86
6.59

4.97
6.41

‐2.26

‐5.96
‐3.51

‐5.96

‐1.86

6.89
8.09 7.12

5.75 6.67

‐10.00

‐5.00

0.00

5.00

10.00

1 Mth. 3 Mth. YTD FYTD 1 Yr. 3 Yr. 5 Yr. 7 Yr. 10 Yr. ITD

Return Comparison

San Mateo County ERA Samcera Total Plan Benchmark

Total Hedge Fund Composite 151,909,026 4.68 8.75 8.86 8.75 15.51 9.56 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 6.25
Samcera LIBOR + 4% 0.34 1.03 3.12 1.03 4.18 4.19 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 4.21
Excess 4.34 7.72 5.74 7.72 11.33 5.38 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 2.04

Total Private Equity 203,892,069 ‐1.50 0.06 12.39 0.06 17.82 13.75 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐33.49
Samcera PE Benchmark ‐2.67 ‐6.54 ‐3.54 ‐6.54 2.25 15.78 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 15.93
Excess 1.17 6.61 15.94 6.61 15.57 ‐2.03 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐49.42

Total Commodities 84,828,442 ‐1.73 ‐15.89 ‐16.70 ‐15.89 ‐25.70 ‐14.10 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐9.28
Bloomberg Commodity Index ‐3.42 ‐14.47 ‐15.80 ‐14.47 ‐25.99 ‐16.02 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐13.73
Excess 1.68 ‐1.43 ‐0.90 ‐1.43 0.29 1.92 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 4.44

Private Real Assets 10,679,877 ‐0.19 85.87 16.61 85.87 17.19 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 14.57
Samcera CPI + 5% 0.00 0.69 4.81 0.69 4.67 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 4.63
Excess ‐0.19 85.18 11.80 85.18 12.52 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 9.93

Total Real Estate 220,199,593 0.00 0.00 12.12 0.00 15.88 12.73 12.90 3.34 6.03 8.25
Samcera Real Estate Benchmark 0.00 0.00 7.45 0.00 10.80 11.88 13.06 3.28 6.05 8.64
Excess 0.00 0.00 4.67 0.00 5.08 0.85 ‐0.16 0.06 ‐0.03 ‐0.39

Total Cash 38,042,787 0.01 0.10 0.17 0.10 0.27 0.48 0.60 0.82 1.27 2.16
Samcera Cash Benchmark 0.00 0.01 0.02 0.01 0.03 0.06 0.08 0.13 1.33 2.01
Excess 0.01 0.08 0.15 0.08 0.24 0.42 0.52 0.69 ‐0.07 0.15

3 of 13



San Mateo County
Manager Return Summary

September 30,2015

Composite Returns (NET) Market Value ($) 1 Mth. 3 Mth. YTD FYTD 1 Yr. 3 Yr. 5 Yr. 7 Yr. 10 Yr. ITD

Total Equity 1,646,034,370 ‐3.64 ‐8.91 ‐5.70 ‐8.91 ‐3.75 8.94 8.99 6.85 4.53 7.12
Samcera Total Equity Benchmark ‐3.37 ‐8.56 ‐6.12 ‐8.56 ‐2.61 9.98 9.91 8.08 5.91 7.66
Excess ‐0.27 ‐0.36 0.42 ‐0.36 ‐1.14 ‐1.04 ‐0.92 ‐1.24 ‐1.38 ‐0.53

Total Domestic Equity 1,032,407,575 ‐3.22 ‐7.47 ‐5.02 ‐7.47 0.01 11.89 12.42 9.03 5.64 7.86
Samcera Dom. Equity Benchmark ‐3.17 ‐7.86 ‐5.71 ‐7.86 ‐0.19 12.39 13.13 9.80 6.93 8.23
Excess ‐0.04 0.39 0.69 0.39 0.19 ‐0.50 ‐0.71 ‐0.77 ‐1.28 ‐0.37

Total Large Cap Equity 843,410,919 ‐2.66 ‐6.42 ‐3.95 ‐6.42 0.73 12.48 12.73 9.14 6.00 8.63
Russell 1000 ‐2.74 ‐6.83 ‐5.24 ‐6.83 ‐0.61 12.66 13.42 10.02 6.95 9.01
Excess 0.08 0.40 1.29 0.40 1.34 ‐0.18 ‐0.69 ‐0.88 ‐0.95 ‐0.38

Barrow Hanley 100,894,811 ‐3.46 ‐8.70 ‐4.93 ‐8.70 ‐0.62 13.23 13.02 ‐‐ ‐‐ 13.48
Russell 1000 Value ‐3.02 ‐8.39 ‐8.96 ‐8.39 ‐4.42 11.59 12.29 ‐‐ ‐‐ 13.00
Excess ‐0.45 ‐0.30 4.03 ‐0.30 3.80 1.64 0.73 ‐‐ ‐‐ 0.48

Blackrock S&P 500 Index Fund 531,965,897 ‐2.47 ‐6.33 ‐5.13 ‐6.33 ‐0.43 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 12.16
S&P 500 ‐2.47 ‐6.44 ‐5.29 ‐6.44 ‐0.61 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 12.08
Excess 0.00 0.11 0.16 0.11 0.18 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 0.08

Brown Advisory 103,315,609 ‐2.61 ‐4.99 ‐0.82 ‐4.99 4.16 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 10.20
Russell 1000 Growth ‐2.47 ‐5.29 ‐1.54 ‐5.29 3.17 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 12.46
Excess ‐0.14 0.30 0.72 0.30 0.98 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐2.26

DE Shaw Commingled Fund 107,234,602 ‐2.89 ‐6.05 ‐3.00 ‐6.05 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐3.00
Russell 1000 ‐2.74 ‐6.83 ‐5.24 ‐6.83 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐5.24
Excess ‐0.15 0.78 2.24 0.78 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 2.24

4 of 13



San Mateo County
Manager Return Summary

September 30,2015

Composite Returns (NET) Market Value ($) 1 Mth. 3 Mth. YTD FYTD 1 Yr. 3 Yr. 5 Yr. 7 Yr. 10 Yr. ITD

Total Small Cap Equity 188,996,656 ‐5.61 ‐11.92 ‐9.61 ‐11.92 ‐3.06 9.92 11.45 8.62 4.23 5.76
Russell 2000 ‐4.91 ‐11.92 ‐7.73 ‐11.92 1.25 11.02 11.73 8.63 6.55 6.95
Excess ‐0.71 ‐0.00 ‐1.88 ‐0.00 ‐4.31 ‐1.10 ‐0.28 ‐0.02 ‐2.32 ‐1.19

Boston Company 93,812,566 ‐4.17 ‐10.45 ‐8.69 ‐10.45 ‐1.89 9.91 10.85 ‐‐ ‐‐ 12.19
Russell 2000 Value ‐3.46 ‐10.73 ‐10.06 ‐10.73 ‐1.60 9.18 10.17 ‐‐ ‐‐ 11.86
Excess ‐0.71 0.28 1.37 0.28 ‐0.29 0.72 0.69 ‐‐ ‐‐ 0.33

Chartwell Investment Mgmt 95,184,090 ‐6.99 ‐13.32 ‐10.50 ‐13.32 ‐4.19 10.09 12.52 9.74 6.66 7.18
Russell 2000 Growth ‐6.32 ‐13.06 ‐5.47 ‐13.06 4.04 12.85 13.26 10.44 7.67 7.65
Excess ‐0.68 ‐0.26 ‐5.04 ‐0.26 ‐8.24 ‐2.75 ‐0.74 ‐0.70 ‐1.00 ‐0.47

Total International Equity 613,626,795 ‐4.34 ‐11.27 ‐6.69 ‐11.27 ‐9.91 3.29 2.04 2.24 2.47 4.86
MSCI ACW ex US‐IMI ‐4.40 ‐11.88 ‐7.84 ‐11.88 ‐11.42 2.75 2.08 3.71 3.30 4.37
Excess 0.06 0.61 1.15 0.61 1.51 0.54 ‐0.04 ‐1.47 ‐0.84 0.49

Total Developed Markets Equity 551,842,515 ‐4.40 ‐10.84 ‐5.74 ‐10.84 ‐8.40 4.29 2.67 2.88 3.03 3.53
MSCI ACW ex US‐IMI ‐4.40 ‐11.88 ‐7.84 ‐11.88 ‐11.42 2.75 2.08 3.71 3.30 4.04
Excess 0.00 1.04 2.11 1.04 3.02 1.55 0.59 ‐0.83 ‐0.27 ‐0.51

Baillie Gifford 183,568,505 ‐3.65 ‐11.71 ‐5.62 ‐11.71 ‐6.54 5.48 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 5.25
MSCI ACWI ex US Growth ‐3.75 ‐10.73 ‐5.67 ‐10.73 ‐7.79 3.99 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 3.48
Excess 0.10 ‐0.98 0.05 ‐0.98 1.25 1.50 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 1.77

Blackrock EAFE Index Fund 123,858,609 ‐5.04 ‐10.22 ‐5.05 ‐10.22 ‐8.46 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐5.55
MSCI EAFE ND ‐5.08 ‐10.23 ‐5.28 ‐10.23 ‐8.66 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐5.79
Excess 0.04 0.02 0.23 0.02 0.20 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 0.25

5 of 13



San Mateo County
Manager Return Summary

September 30,2015

Composite Returns (NET) Market Value ($) 1 Mth. 3 Mth. YTD FYTD 1 Yr. 3 Yr. 5 Yr. 7 Yr. 10 Yr. ITD

Mondrian Investment Partners 184,314,816 ‐5.15 ‐10.81 ‐7.50 ‐10.81 ‐11.50 3.17 2.93 3.36 3.39 4.65
MSCI ACWI ex US Value ‐5.48 ‐13.50 ‐10.93 ‐13.50 ‐15.72 1.53 1.42 3.08 2.80 4.12
Excess 0.32 2.69 3.43 2.69 4.22 1.63 1.51 0.28 0.59 0.52

Pyramis Intl Small Cap 60,100,585 ‐2.96 ‐9.45 ‐1.93 ‐9.45 ‐4.08 5.11 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 4.29
MSCI ACWI Small Cap ex US Net ‐2.86 ‐10.02 ‐2.54 ‐10.02 ‐6.42 5.51 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 4.36
Excess ‐0.11 0.57 0.61 0.57 2.33 ‐0.40 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐0.07

Total Emerging Markets Equity 61,784,280 ‐3.84 ‐15.26 ‐14.97 ‐15.26 ‐22.29 ‐4.57 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐4.39
MSCI Emerging Markets ND ‐3.01 ‐17.90 ‐15.48 ‐17.90 ‐19.28 ‐5.27 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐5.04
Excess ‐0.83 2.64 0.51 2.64 ‐3.01 0.70 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 0.65

EV Parametric EM 61,784,280 ‐3.73 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐9.83
MSCI Emerging Markets GD ‐2.97 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐11.71
Excess ‐0.76 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 1.88

Total Fixed Income 666,428,703 ‐0.70 ‐1.53 ‐0.50 ‐1.53 ‐0.33 2.30 4.45 6.54 4.96 5.63
Samcera Fixed Income Benchmark ‐0.18 ‐0.18 ‐0.05 ‐0.18 0.87 0.65 2.88 4.69 4.53 5.19
Excess ‐0.53 ‐1.35 ‐0.45 ‐1.35 ‐1.20 1.65 1.57 1.85 0.43 0.44

Total Domestic Fixed Income 569,787,606 ‐0.48 ‐0.63 0.51 ‐0.63 1.14 2.35 4.62 6.63 5.09 5.78
Samcera US Fixed Inc Benchmark ‐0.33 ‐0.40 0.31 ‐0.40 1.58 0.97 3.24 4.95 4.71 5.40
Excess ‐0.16 ‐0.23 0.19 ‐0.23 ‐0.44 1.38 1.38 1.69 0.38 0.38

Total Core Fixed Income 335,454,580 ‐0.12 0.18 0.16 0.18 1.75 2.20 4.08 6.23 4.81 5.61
BC U.S. Aggregate 0.68 1.23 1.13 1.23 2.94 1.71 3.10 4.85 4.64 5.36
Excess ‐0.80 ‐1.05 ‐0.96 ‐1.05 ‐1.19 0.49 0.98 1.39 0.18 0.25

6 of 13



San Mateo County
Manager Return Summary

September 30,2015

Composite Returns (NET) Market Value ($) 1 Mth. 3 Mth. YTD FYTD 1 Yr. 3 Yr. 5 Yr. 7 Yr. 10 Yr. ITD

Pyramis Core Bond 233,806,044 0.28 0.45 0.47 0.45 2.17 1.94 3.74 6.15 ‐‐ 5.05
BC U.S. Aggregate 0.68 1.23 1.13 1.23 2.94 1.71 3.10 4.85 ‐‐ 4.74
Excess ‐0.39 ‐0.78 ‐0.65 ‐0.78 ‐0.77 0.23 0.64 1.30 ‐‐ 0.31

Western Total Return 101,115,741 ‐1.01 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐1.36
BC U.S. Aggregate 0.68 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 0.53
Excess ‐1.69 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐1.90

Brown Brothers Harriman 67,265,247 ‐0.91 ‐1.91 ‐1.05 ‐1.91 ‐1.89 ‐2.91 1.91 ‐‐ ‐‐ 2.39
BC US Tips ‐0.59 ‐1.15 ‐0.80 ‐1.15 ‐0.83 ‐1.83 2.55 ‐‐ ‐‐ 2.92
Excess ‐0.32 ‐0.76 ‐0.24 ‐0.76 ‐1.06 ‐1.08 ‐0.64 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐0.53

Total Opportunistic Credit 167,067,780 ‐1.03 ‐1.69 1.67 ‐1.69 0.73 6.91 9.61 ‐‐ ‐‐ 10.00
BC BA Intermediate HY Index ‐2.03 ‐3.00 ‐0.76 ‐3.00 0.04 3.84 6.09 ‐‐ ‐‐ 7.59
Excess 1.00 1.30 2.43 1.30 0.68 3.06 3.53 ‐‐ ‐‐ 2.41

AG Opportunistic Whole Loan 25,169,739 0.00 1.16 1.38 1.16 0.92 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐0.73
BC BA Intermediate HY Index ‐2.03 ‐3.00 ‐0.76 ‐3.00 0.04 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 0.14
Excess 2.03 4.15 2.14 4.15 0.87 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐0.87

Angelo Gordon 42,127,334 0.00 2.14 6.98 2.14 8.90 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 11.04
BC BA Intermediate HY Index ‐2.03 ‐3.00 ‐0.76 ‐3.00 0.04 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 3.48
Excess 2.03 5.14 7.74 5.14 8.85 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 7.56

Beach Point Select Fund 39,027,896 ‐0.57 ‐0.79 ‐‐ ‐0.79 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 4.79
BC BA Intermediate HY Index ‐2.03 ‐3.00 ‐‐ ‐3.00 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐1.88
Excess 1.46 2.21 ‐‐ 2.21 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 6.66

7 of 13



San Mateo County
Manager Return Summary

September 30,2015

Composite Returns (NET) Market Value ($) 1 Mth. 3 Mth. YTD FYTD 1 Yr. 3 Yr. 5 Yr. 7 Yr. 10 Yr. ITD

Brigade Cap Mngmt 60,742,811 ‐2.43 ‐5.85 ‐3.61 ‐5.85 ‐6.38 2.56 5.57 ‐‐ ‐‐ 5.76
BC BA Intermediate HY Index ‐2.03 ‐3.00 ‐0.76 ‐3.00 0.04 3.84 6.09 ‐‐ ‐‐ 6.54
Excess ‐0.40 ‐2.86 ‐2.84 ‐2.86 ‐6.42 ‐1.29 ‐0.52 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐0.78

Total Global Fixed Income 96,641,097 ‐1.98 ‐6.64 ‐6.09 ‐6.64 ‐8.18 1.51 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 3.71
Samcera Global Fixed Benchmark 0.33 0.49 ‐2.42 0.49 ‐3.56 ‐1.48 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 1.26
Excess ‐2.31 ‐7.13 ‐3.67 ‐7.13 ‐4.61 2.99 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 2.45

Franklin Templeton 96,641,097 ‐1.98 ‐6.64 ‐6.09 ‐6.64 ‐8.18 1.06 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 3.41
BC Multiverse Index 0.33 0.49 ‐2.42 0.49 ‐3.56 ‐1.48 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 1.26
Excess ‐2.31 ‐7.13 ‐3.67 ‐7.13 ‐4.61 2.54 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 2.15

Total Risk Parity 250,102,278 ‐0.81 ‐5.66 ‐4.94 ‐5.66 ‐3.88 1.83 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 4.88
Samcera Risk Parity Benchmark ‐1.48 ‐3.89 ‐2.73 ‐3.89 1.02 8.21 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 7.88
Excess 0.67 ‐1.77 ‐2.21 ‐1.77 ‐4.90 ‐6.38 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐2.99

AQR Global Risk III 119,587,520 ‐0.59 ‐7.68 ‐6.69 ‐7.68 ‐8.36 ‐0.05 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 3.61
Samcera Risk Parity Benchmark ‐1.48 ‐3.89 ‐2.73 ‐3.89 1.02 8.21 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 7.88
Excess 0.88 ‐3.80 ‐3.97 ‐3.80 ‐9.38 ‐8.27 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐4.27

Panagora 130,514,758 ‐1.00 ‐3.72 ‐3.28 ‐3.72 0.66 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 0.25
Samcera Risk Parity Benchmark ‐1.48 ‐3.89 ‐2.73 ‐3.89 1.02 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 0.89
Excess 0.48 0.16 ‐0.55 0.16 ‐0.36 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐0.64

Total Real Estate 220,199,593 0.00 0.00 12.12 0.00 15.88 12.73 12.90 3.34 6.03 8.25
Samcera Real Estate Benchmark 0.00 0.00 7.45 0.00 10.80 11.88 13.06 3.28 6.05 8.64
Excess 0.00 0.00 4.67 0.00 5.08 0.85 ‐0.16 0.06 ‐0.03 ‐0.39

Invesco Core Real Estate 220,199,593 0.00 0.00 12.12 0.00 15.88 12.44 12.90 3.34 6.03 7.51
Samcera NCREIF ODCE EW (gross) 0.00 0.00 7.45 0.00 10.80 11.88 13.06 3.28 6.05 7.16
Excess 0.00 0.00 4.67 0.00 5.08 0.56 ‐0.16 0.06 ‐0.02 0.34

8 of 13



San Mateo County
Manager Return Summary

September 30,2015

Composite Returns (NET) Market Value ($) 1 Mth. 3 Mth. YTD FYTD 1 Yr. 3 Yr. 5 Yr. 7 Yr. 10 Yr. ITD

Total Alternatives 451,309,414 0.50 ‐0.11 4.30 ‐0.11 5.72 3.75 ‐12.07 ‐13.67 ‐6.54 ‐4.32
Samcera Alternatives Benchmark ‐1.72 ‐5.23 ‐3.12 ‐5.23 ‐2.67 6.45 8.49 7.04 6.19 6.90
Excess 2.22 5.12 7.42 5.12 8.39 ‐2.70 ‐20.55 ‐20.71 ‐12.74 ‐11.22

Total Private Equity 203,892,069 ‐1.50 0.06 12.39 0.06 17.82 13.75 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐33.49
Samcera PE Benchmark ‐2.67 ‐6.54 ‐3.54 ‐6.54 2.25 15.78 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 15.93
Excess 1.17 6.61 15.94 6.61 15.57 ‐2.03 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐49.42

Private Real Assets 10,679,877 ‐0.19 85.87 16.61 85.87 17.19 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 14.57
Samcera CPI + 5% 0.00 0.69 4.81 0.69 4.67 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 4.63
Excess ‐0.19 85.18 11.80 85.18 12.52 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 9.93

Total Hedge Fund Composite 151,909,026 4.68 8.75 8.86 8.75 15.51 9.56 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 6.25
Samcera LIBOR + 4% 0.34 1.03 3.12 1.03 4.18 4.19 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 4.21
Excess 4.34 7.72 5.74 7.72 11.33 5.38 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 2.04

Total Commodities 84,828,442 ‐1.73 ‐15.89 ‐16.70 ‐15.89 ‐25.70 ‐14.10 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐9.28
Bloomberg Commodity Index ‐3.42 ‐14.47 ‐15.80 ‐14.47 ‐25.99 ‐16.02 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐13.73
Excess 1.68 ‐1.43 ‐0.90 ‐1.43 0.29 1.92 ‐‐ ‐‐ ‐‐ 4.44

Total Cash 38,042,787 0.01 0.10 0.17 0.10 0.27 0.48 0.60 0.82 1.27 2.16
Samcera Cash Benchmark 0.00 0.01 0.02 0.01 0.03 0.06 0.08 0.13 1.33 2.01
Excess 0.01 0.08 0.15 0.08 0.24 0.42 0.52 0.69 ‐0.07 0.15

SamCera General Account 25,073,667 0.01 0.14 0.23 0.14 0.30 0.17 0.22 0.30 1.54 2.15

SamCera Treasury & LAIF 12,964,050 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.44 0.66 0.87 1.13 2.89

San Mateo County ERA 3,292,427,331 ‐2.08 ‐5.48 ‐2.24 ‐5.48 ‐0.63 7.20 7.86 6.59 4.97 6.41
Samcera Total Plan Benchmark ‐2.26 ‐5.96 ‐3.51 ‐5.96 ‐1.86 6.89 8.09 7.12 5.75 6.67
Excess 0.18 0.48 1.27 0.48 1.23 0.32 ‐0.23 ‐0.54 ‐0.78 ‐0.26

9 of 13



San Mateo County
Accounting Change in Market Value Details

September 30,2015

Record of Asset Growth
Three Months One Year

TOTAL FUND
Beginning Market Value 3,439,860,919 3,274,712,822
Contributions 191,278,019 413,459,903
Withdrawals ‐148,445,465 ‐380,709,938
Income Received 5,472,484 39,362,685
Gain/Loss ‐195,822,017 ‐53,893,621
Ending Market Value 3,292,427,331 3,292,427,331

2,170 2,310 2,313
2,107

2,284 2,347 2,361
2,540 2,560

2,760 2,732
2,911 3,045 3,150 3,285 3,275 3,297

3,451 3,440 3,292

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

4,000

Dec‐10 Mar‐11 Jun‐11 Sep‐11 Dec‐11 Mar‐12 Jun‐12 Sep‐12 Dec‐12 Mar‐13 Jun‐13 Sep‐13 Dec‐13 Mar‐14 Jun‐14 Sep‐14 Dec‐14 Mar‐15 Jun‐15 Sep‐15

M
ill
io
ns

Net Asset Values Over Time ($000)

10 of 13



San Mateo County
Asset Allocation

September 30,2015

‐‐

Min Actual Target Deviation Max
Total Large Cap Equity 22.0 25.6 24.0 1.6 26.0
Total Small Cap Equity 4.0 5.7 6.0 ‐0.3 8.0
Total International Equity 18.0 18.6 20.0 ‐1.4 22.0
Total Fixed Income 18.0 20.2 20.0 0.2 22.0
Total Private Equity 5.0 6.2 7.0 ‐0.8 9.0
Total Risk Parity 6.0 7.6 8.0 ‐0.4 10.0
Total Hedge Fund Composite 2.0 4.6 4.0 0.6 6.0
Total Commodities 1.0 2.6 3.0 ‐0.4 5.0
Total Real Estate 4.0 6.7 6.0 0.7 8.0

25.6

5.7

18.6
20.2

6.2
7.6

4.6
2.6

6.7

24.0

6.0

20.0 20.0

7.0 8.0

4.0 3.0

6.0

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

30.0

Total Large Cap EquityTotal Small Cap Equity Total International
Equity

Total Fixed Income Total Private Equity Total Risk Parity Total Hedge Fund
Composite

Total Commodities Total Real Estate

Actual vs Target Weights

Actual Target

11 of 13



San Mateo County
Asset Allocation Over Time

September 30,2015

‐‐

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

12/31/2014 3/31/2015 6/30/2015 9/30/2015

Asset Allocation over Time

Total Cash Total Commodities Total Equity Total Fixed Income

Total Hedge Fund Composite Total Private Equity Total Real Estate Total Risk Parity

12 of 13



San Mateo County
Sub‐Asset Class Allocation Over Time

September 30,2015

‐‐

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

12/31/2014 3/31/2015 6/30/2015 9/30/2015

Sub‐Asset Class Allocation Over Time

Total Cash Total Commodities Total Fixed Income Total Hedge Fund Composite
Total Large Cap Equity Total Private Equity Total Real Estate Total Risk Parity
Total Small Cap Equity Total Developed Markets Equity Total Emerging Markets Equity

13 of 13



SAN MATEO COUNTY EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT ASSOCIATION 

Board of Retirement 

October 27, 2015 

TO: Board of Retirement 

FROM: Doris Ng, Investment Analyst P-Q 

Agenda Item 6.2 

SUBJECT: Report on Fixed Income Manager Annual Review (Brigade Capital Management) 

Staff Recommendation 
Review the report on the annual review of SamCERA's Opportunistic Credit manager, Brigade 
Capital Management. 

Background 
The annual manager review for Brigade Capital Management occurred on September 17, 2015. 
The meeting lasted approximately 1.5 hours and consisted of a firm/organizational update, an 
investment process review, and a review of performance and attribution . Their current 
positioning and market outlook was also discussed. 

Discussion 
Brigade Capital Management's Opportunistic Credit product is a fundamental, bottom-up strategy 

focused on high yield corporate bonds and bank loans with tactical allocations to st ructured 
securities, convertibles and other sectors of the bond markets. 

There were no significant concerns identified during the portfolio review. Attached you will find 
meeting notes from SIS summarizing the findings from the annual review. 

Attachment 
Brigade Capital Management Opportunistic Credit Annual Review Meeting Note (Confidential) 



SAN MATEO COUNTY EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT ASSOCIATION 

Board of Retirement 

October 27, 2015 Agenda Item 6.3 

TO: 

FROM: 

SUBJECT: 

Board of Retirement 

Lilibeth Dames, Investment Analyst 'J:....].JJJ..tl;;.}. o&~ 

Report on Commodity, Hedge Fund, Ri sk Parity, and Real Estate Annual Manager 
Reviews 

Staff Recommendation 
Accept and review the report on the annual review of SamCERA's Commodity, Hedge Fund, Risk 

Parity and Real Estate managers. 

Background 
On October 1st, SamCERA staff and consultant held annual review meetings in SamCERA's office 
for our commodity and real estate managers. The following week, on October gth, the annual 

reviews for SamCERA's hedge fund and risk parity managers took place. 

Each meeting lasted approximately 1.5 hours, and consisted of a firm/organizational update, 
investment process review, performance review and attribution, and current positioning/market 
outlook. 

Discussion 
On October 15

t, INVESCO's Core Real Estate fund, an open-ended commingled pool which invests 
in institutional quality office, retail, industrial and multi-family residential real estate assets, was 

reviewed . Next , SSARIS' Multisource Active Commodity fund, which utilizes two different 
strategies (a convergent and divergent pool) that complement each other on a risk and return 

basis, was reviewed. As a follow-up to the meeting, SamCERA staff will receive performance, 
market and firm updates in the form of monthly due diligence calls with SSARIS on a go-forward 

basis. 

On October gth, AQR's Global Risk Premium fund, which is a strategy that balances risk among four 
main asset classes, was reviewed first . AQR's Delta Fund, a multi-strategy return fund that seeks 
to provide systematic exposure to a diversif ied set of hedge fund premia, was also reviewed. AQR 
discussed its recent termination of its former Head of Trading. Lastly, Sam CERA reviewed 
PanAgora's Diversified Risk Multi Asset fund, a complementary strategy to AQR's risk parity fund. 
PanAgora employs a strategic r isk allocation between equities, nominal fixed income and inflation

protection. 



Attached you will find meeting notes summarizing the findings from these annual reviews. 

Attachments 
A. INVESCO Core Real Estate Annual Review Meeting Notes {Confidential) 

B. SSARIS Multisource Active Commodity Annual Review Meeting Notes {Confidential) 

C. AQR Global Risk Premium and Delta Fund Annual Review Meeting Notes {Confidential} 

D. PanAgora Diversified Ri sk Multi Asset Fund Meeting Notes (Confidential) 

2 



SAN M ATEO COUNTY EMPLOYEES' R ETIREMENT A SSOCIATION 

Board of Retirement 

October 27, 2015 Agenda Item 6.5 

TO: 

FROM : 

SUBJECT: 

Discussion 

Board of Retirement L}---<7 / / _ (; 
Scott Hood, Chief Executive~ J~uV, 
Investment Consulting Services 

This agenda item is informational only and provides Strategic Investment Solutions ("SIS") and 
the Board an opportunity to discuss their upcoming merger with Verus Advisory. Barry Dennis, 
CEO and Managing Director, will be providing the update to the Board and will address any 
questions and concerns raised by the Board. 



SAN MATEO COUNTY EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT ASSOCIATION 

Investment Consulting Presentation 

October 27, 2015 

 

 

 

 

 
3 3 3  B U S H  S T R E E T    |  S A N  F R A N C I S C O   |   9 4 1 0 4   |   4 1 5 . 3 6 2 . 3 4 8 4   

 Barry W. Dennis  Margaret Jadallah 
 CEO and Managing Director  Managing Director 
 Strategic Investment Solutions, Inc.   Strategic Investment Solutions, Inc. 



A Brand New Development  

● SIS has entered into a definitive Merger Agreement with Verus Advisory 
to close on January 1, 2016. 

 

2 

● What Verus Brings to SIS 

□ Superior risk management tools 

□ Expanded research capabilities 

□ Corporate infrastructure 

□ Consulting talent 

□ New markets 

□ Generational succession 

 

● What SIS Brings to Verus 

□ Experienced large plan consulting 

□ Private equity capabilities 

□ Complementary capital markets 
process 

□ Enhanced manager research 

 



The Combined Company 

● 101 employees, 81 investment professionals 

● Retainer clients > $380 billion assets under advisement, additional $400 billion 

in “pool” and project assignments 

● 29 consultants 

● Expanded public fund client base 

□ Multiple ‘37 Act Counties 

● Robust investment team 

□ Nine risk professionals 

□ Nine capital markets professionals 

□ 18 manager research professionals 

3 



How Does This Benefit SamCERA? 

● As Verus, SamCERA will receive the same services and attention you 
have received in the past, with expanded research and risk capabilities. 

● No change to consulting team or support  

● No change to fees 

● A continued local presence (SF office will likely grow) 

● Expanded asset allocation, manager selection, risk management, and 
new ideas capabilities. 

● A continued strategic partner 

4 



SAN MATEO COUNTY EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT ASSOCIATION 

Board of Retirement 

October 27, 2015 Agenda Item 7.1 

TO: Board of Retirement 

FROM: Tat-Ling Chow, Finance Officer (' lvv.;~ .. f ;_ 

Approval of Financial Audit Management Repo~s for the FY Ended June 30, 2015 SUBJECT: 

Staff Recommendation 
Approve Brown Armstrong's Financial Audit Management Reports for the period ended June 30, 
2015. 

Discussion 
Brown Armstrong performed an independent financial audit for the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2015. Andrew J. Paulden, CPA, of Brown Armstrong, will present highlights from the following 
Brown Armstrong documents, which are attached: 

1) Independent Auditor's Report, which provides the following an unqualified (a clean) opinion:, 
"In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the fiduciary net position of Sam CERA as of June 30, 2015, and its changes in fiduciary 
net position for the fiscal year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America." 

2) Required Communications to the Board of Retirement, which provides an overview of the 
auditor's responsibility under the U.S. Generally Accepted Auditing Standards. The required 
communications provide useful information to assist in understanding the audit process and 
auditing procedures undertaken to complete the audit. 

3) Independent Auditor's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, which states that 
there are (1) no instances of noncompliance that are required to be reported under 
Government Auditing Standards and (2) no matters involving the internal control over financial 
reporting and its operation considered to be material weaknesses. 

4) Agreed Upon Conditions Report to Management, which is designed to increase efficiency, 
internal controls, and/or financial reporting. There are no findings in the current year. 

Attachments 
Reports as listed above 



 

San Mateo County Employees’ Retirement Association 
Board of Retirement presentation  
of the June 30, 2015 audit results 

By:  Andrew J. Paulden, CPA 
Brown Armstrong Accountancy Corporation 

October 27, 2015  
 

 
1. Purpose of the Audit 
 
2. The Audit Process 

a. Timeline coordination with SamCERA staff 
b. Understanding and evaluation of SamCERA internal controls through inquiry 

and observation 
c. Confirmations with independent third parties 
d. Interim testing 
e. Final fieldwork testing 
f. Report presentation 
 

3. Significant Audit Areas/Scope of Audit Work 
a. Risk based approach 
b. Investments and related earnings 
c. Participant data and actuarial information 
d. Employee and employer contributions 
e. Benefit payments 
f. GASB 67/68 

 
4. Audit Reports 

a. CAFR 
i. Independent Auditor’s Report (opinion) on Financial Statements – 

unmodified (“clean”) opinion 
b. Report to the Board of Retirement 

i. Required Communication to the Members of the Board of Retirement in 
Accordance with Professional Standards (SAS 114) 

ii. Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial 
Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of 
Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government 
Auditing Standards 

iii. Agreed Upon Conditions Report Designed to Increase Efficiency, 
Internal Controls, and/or Financial Reporting 

 
5. Questions and/or Comments? 



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
 
To the Board of Retirement of 
San Mateo County Employees’ Retirement Association 
Redwood City, California 
 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying Statement of Fiduciary Net Position of the San 
Mateo County Employees’ Retirement Association (SamCERA), a pension trust fund 
of the County of San Mateo, as of June 30, 2015, the Statement of Changes in 
Fiduciary Net Position for the fiscal year then ended, and the related notes to the 
financial statements, which collectively comprise SamCERA’s basic financial 
statements as listed in the table of contents.  We have also audited the Schedule of 
Cost Sharing Employer Allocations of SamCERA for the years ended June 30, 2015, 
2014, and 2013, and the Schedule of Employer Pension Amounts Allocated by Cost 
Sharing Plan total for all entities of the columns titled net pension liability, total 
deferred outflows of resources, total deferred inflows of resources, and total pension 
expense excluding that attributable to employer-paid member contributions (specified 
column totals) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2015, listed as other information
in the table of contents. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements and Other 
Information 
 
SamCERA’s management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of 
these financial statements and other information in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the 
preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements and other 
information based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards 
applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by 
the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements and other information are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the 
auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the SamCERA’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements and other information in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the SamCERA’s 
internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes 



evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
financial statements and other information. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinions. 
 
Opinions 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements and the other information referred to above present fairly, in all 
material respects, the fiduciary net position of SamCERA as of June 30, 2015, their changes in fiduciary 
net position for the fiscal year then ended, the Schedule of Cost Sharing Employer Allocations of 
SamCERA for the years ended June 30, 2015, 2014, and 2013, and the Schedule of Employer Pension 
Amounts Allocated by Cost Sharing Plan total for all entities of the columns titled net pension liability, total 
deferred outflows of resources, total deferred inflows of resources, and total pension expense excluding 
that attributable to employer-paid member contributions (specified column totals) as of  and for the  year 
ended June 30, 2015, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. 
 
Emphasis of Matter 
 
As discussed in Note 6 to the basic financial statements, the total pension liability of the participating 
employers as of June 30, 2015, was $3,946,439,845. The fiduciary net position as a percentage of the 
total liability as of June 30, 2015, was 87.53%. The actuarial valuations are very sensitive to the 
underlying actuarial assumptions, including a discount rate of 7.45%, which represents the long-term 
expected rate of return. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter. 
 
Additionally, as discussed in Note 2 to the financial statements, the financial statements include 
investments that are not listed on national exchanges or for which quoted market prices are not available. 
These investments include private equity, real estate, and investments in real assets. Such investments 
totaled $415,916,124 (11.6% of total assets) at June 30, 2015. Where a publicly listed price is not 
available, the management of SamCERA uses alternative sources of information including audited 
financial statements, unaudited interim reports, independent appraisals, and similar evidence to 
determine the fair value of the investments. Our opinion is not modified with respect to these matters. 
 
Other Matters 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis and required supplementary information as listed in the table of contents be 
presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic 
financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to 
be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate 
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required 
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information 
and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic 
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. 
We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited 
procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
 
Other Supplementary Information 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise SamCERA’s basic financial statements. The other supplementary information and the 
introductory, investment, actuarial, statistical and compliance sections, as listed in the table of contents, 
are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial 
statements. 
 



The other supplementary information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and 
relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial 
statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the 
basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such 
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial 
statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, 
the other supplementary information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic 
financial statements as a whole. 
 
The introductory, investment, actuarial, statistical and compliance sections have not been subjected to 
the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not 
express an opinion or provide any assurance on them. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated October 20, 
2015, on our consideration of SamCERA’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and other matters.  The purpose of that 
report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over financial reporting 
or on compliance.  That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government 
Auditing Standards in considering SamCERA’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.  
 
Report on Summarized Comparative Information 
 
We have previously audited SamCERA’s June 30, 2014, financial statements, and our report dated 
October 22, 2014, expressed an unmodified opinion on those audited financial statements. In our opinion, 
the summarized comparative information presented herein as of and for the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2014, is consistent in all material respects, with the audited financial statements from which it has been 
derived. 
 
 BROWN ARMSTRONG  
 ACCOUNTANCY CORPORATION 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Bakersfield, California 
October 20, 2015 



 

SAN MATEO COUNTY EMPLOYEES’ 
RETIREMENT ASSOCIATION 

 
REPORT TO THE BOARD OF RETIREMENT 

 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2015 



 

SAN MATEO COUNTY EMPLOYEES’ 
RETIREMENT ASSOCIATION 

 
 
 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 

 Page 
 
I. Required Communication to the Members of the Board of  
   Retirement in Accordance with Professional Standards ...........................................................  1 
 
II. Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on 
   Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements 
   Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards ..............................................  4 
 
III. Agreed Upon Conditions Report Designed to Increase Efficiency, 
   Internal Controls, and/or Financial Reporting ............................................................................  6 
 

  



1 

REQUIRED COMMUNICATION TO THE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF  
RETIREMENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH PROFESSIONAL STANDARDS 

 
 
 
To the Board of Retirement of 
San Mateo County Employees’ Retirement Association 
Redwood City, California 
 
 
We have audited the financial statements of the San Mateo County Employees’ 
Retirement Association (SamCERA) for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015, and 
have issued our report dated October 20, 2015. Professional standards require that 
we provide you with information about our responsibilities under auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America and Government Auditing 
Standards, as well as certain information related to the planned scope and timing of 
our audit. We have communicated such information in our letter to you dated May 19, 
2015. Professional standards also require that we communicate to you the following 
information related to our audit. 
 
Significant Audit Findings 
 
Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices 
Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting 
policies. The significant accounting policies used by SamCERA are described in Note 
2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, to the financial statements. No new 
accounting policies were adopted and the application of existing policies was not 
changed during 2015. We noted no transactions entered into by SamCERA during 
the fiscal year for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus. All 
significant transactions have been recognized in the financial statements in the 
proper period. 
 
Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by 
management and are based on management’s knowledge and experience about 
past and current events and assumptions about future events. Certain accounting 
estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial 
statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ 
significantly from those expected. The most sensitive estimate affecting SamCERA’s 
financial statements were: 
 

 Management’s estimate of the fair market value of investments was 
derived by various methods as detailed in Note 2, Summary of 
Significant Accounting Policies. We evaluated the key factors and 
assumptions used to develop the fair market value of investments in 
determining that it is reasonable in relation to the financial statements 
taken as a whole. 
 

 The contribution amounts and net pension liability which are based on 
the actuarially-presumed interest rate and assumptions.  We evaluated 
the key factors and assumptions used to develop the contribution 
amount and net pension liability in determining that they are reasonable 
in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole. 

 



2 

Certain financial statement disclosures are particularly sensitive because of their significance to financial 
statement users. The most sensitive disclosures affecting the financial statements were: 
 

 The disclosures for deposits and investments in Notes 2 and 5 to the financial statements, 
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Deposits and Investment Disclosures, 
respectively, were derived from SamCERA’s investment policy.  Management’s estimate of 
the fair market value of investments was derived by various methods as detailed in the notes.  
 

 Additionally, the disclosures related to the funding policies, net pension liability, and actuarial 
methods and assumptions in Note 1, Plan Description and Note 6, Pension Disclosures were 
derived from actuarial valuations, which involved estimates of the value of reported amounts 
and probabilities about the occurrence of future events far into the future.  
 

The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear. 
 
Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit 
We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and completing our 
audit. 
 
Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements 
Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified during the 
audit, other than those that are clearly trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of 
management. Management has corrected all such misstatements. In addition, none of the misstatements 
detected as a result of audit procedures corrected by management were material, either individually or in 
the aggregate, to the financial statements taken as a whole. 
 
Disagreements with Management 
For purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management is a financial accounting, reporting, or 
auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to the financial 
statements or the auditor’s report. We are pleased to report that no such disagreements arose during the 
course of our audit. 
 
Management Representations 
We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management 
representation letter dated October 20, 2015. 
 
Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants 
In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting 
matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations. If a consultation involves application 
of an accounting principle to SamCERA’s financial statements or a determination of the type of auditor’s 
opinion that may be expressed on those statements, our professional standards require the consulting 
accountant to check with us to determine that the consultant has all the relevant facts. To our knowledge, 
there were no such consultations with other accountants. 
 
Other Audit Findings or Issues 
We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing 
standards, with management each year prior to retention as SamCERA’s auditors. However, these 
discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and our responses were not a 
condition to our retention. 
 
Other Matters 
We applied certain limited procedures to the Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability and Related 
Ratios, Schedule of Contributions History, Schedule of Investment Returns, Notes to the Required 
Supplementary Information, and Latest Actuarial Valuation of Plan Assets and Liabilities, which are 
Required Supplementary Information (RSI) that supplements the basic financial statements. Our 
procedures consisted of inquiries of management regarding the methods of preparing the information and 
comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic 
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during the audit of the basic financial statements. 
We did not audit the RSI and do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the RSI. 



3 

We were engaged to report on the Schedule of Administrative Expenses, Administrative Budget Analysis, 
Schedule of Information Technology Expenses, Schedule of Investment Expenses, Schedule of 
Payments to Consultants, Notes to the Other Supplementary Information, Applicable Valuation Assets, 
and Actuarial Resources and Liabilities, which accompany the financial statements but are not RSI. With 
respect to this other supplementary information, we made certain inquiries of management and evaluated 
the form, content, and methods of preparing the information to determine that the information complies 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, the method of preparing it 
has not changed from the prior period, and the information is appropriate and complete in relation to our 
audit of the financial statements. We compared and reconciled the other supplementary information to the 
underlying accounting records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements 
themselves.  
 
We were not engaged to report on the introductory, investment, actuarial, statistical, and compliance 
sections, which accompany the financial statements but are not RSI. We did not audit or perform other 
procedures on this other information and we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on it.  
 

******** 
 
This information is intended solely for the use of the Board of Retirement and management of SamCERA 
and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties.  
 

BROWN ARMSTRONG  
ACCOUNTANCY CORPORATION 
 

  
 
 
 
Bakersfield, California 
October 20, 2015 
 
 



4 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER 
FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS 

BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

 
 
 
To the Board of Retirement of  
San Mateo County Employees’ Retirement Association 
Redwood City, California 
 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in 
the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits 
contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of 
the United States, the financial statements of the San Mateo County Employees’ 
Retirement Association (SamCERA) as of and for the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2015, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise 
SamCERA’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated 
October 20, 2015. 
 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered 
SamCERA’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of 
expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of SamCERA’s internal control. 
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of SamCERA’s 
internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does 
not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their 
assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely 
basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of SamCERA’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected 
and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material 
weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 
governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first 
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal 
control that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these 
limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that 
we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist 
that have not been identified. 
 



5 

Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether SamCERA’s financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 
provisions was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The 
results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be 
reported under Government Auditing Standards. 
 
We noted certain matters that we reported to management in a separate letter dated October 20, 2015. 
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of SamCERA’s internal 
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering SamCERA’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, 
this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 

 
 BROWN ARMSTRONG  
 ACCOUNTANCY CORPORATION 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Bakersfield, California 
October 20, 2015 
 



6 

AGREED UPON CONDITIONS REPORT DESIGNED TO INCREASE 
EFFICIENCY, INTERNAL CONTROLS, AND/OR FINANCIAL REPORTING 

 
 
 
To the Board of Retirement of the 
San Mateo County Employees’ Retirement Association 
Redwood City, California 
 
 
We have audited the financial statements of the San Mateo County Employees’ 
Retirement Association (SamCERA) for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015, and 
have issued our report dated October 20, 2015.  In planning and performing our audit 
of the financial statements of SamCERA, we considered its internal control structure 
over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing our auditing 
procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of SamCERA’s 
internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of 
SamCERA’s internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does 
not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their 
assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely 
basis. A material weakness is a deficiency or a combination of deficiencies in internal 
control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the 
entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a 
timely basis. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first 
paragraph and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that 
might be significant deficiencies or material weaknesses and, therefore, there can be 
no assurance that all such deficiencies have been identified. In addition, because of 
inherent limitations in internal control, including the possibility of management 
override of controls, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be 
detected by such controls. We did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that 
we considered to be material weaknesses. 
 
During our audit we reviewed the listed status of the conditions noted in the prior 
audit engagement.  
 
 

Current Year Agreed Upon Conditions and Recommendations 
 
We noted no conditions in the current year. 
 
 

Status of Prior Year Agreed Upon Conditions and Recommendations 
 
 
Agreed Upon Condition 1 – Backup Data Restoration 
During our review of SamCERA’s IT policy we noted no formal backup data 
restoration test has been set up in current IT operations. 



7 

Recommendation 
We recommend SamCERA IT perform the backup data restoration test on a regular basis (semi-annually 
at least) to ensure the critical financial application systems files and data are available for restoration 
when unexpected incidents occurred. 
 
Management Response 
SamCERA IT will perform semi-annual tests of the backups by performing restore operations, and 
document the success or failure. 
 
Current Year Status 
Implemented. 
 
 
Agreed Upon Condition 2 – Terminated Employee Access 
During our review of the terminated employee’s user account in the key financial application we noted 
was not removed timely. 
 
Recommendation 
SamCERA IT may consider reviewing the accounting application user list on a reasonable frequency, 
quarterly at least. Also, create a procedure that will document an on and off boarding checklist to disable 
accounts and access to staff that is newly hired or terminated. 
 
Management Response 
SamCERA IT will create a procedure that will document an on and off boarding checklist to disable 
accounts and access to staff that is newly hired or terminated. 
 
Current Year Status 
Implemented. 
 
 

******** 
 
This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Board of Retirement and management of 
SamCERA and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified 
parties. 
 
     BROWN ARMSTRONG  
     ACCOUNTANCY CORPORATION 
       
 
 
 
 
 
 
Bakersfield, California 
October 20, 2015 



SAN MATEO COUNTY EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT ASSOCIATION 

Board of Retirement 

October 27, 2015 Agenda Item 7.2 

TO: Board of Retirement 

\ 

FROM: Tat-Ling Chow, Finance Officer i!J.,.,:'l!.f ~ 
SUBJECT: Approval of SamCERA's 2015 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report {CAFR) 

Staff Recommendation 
Approve SamCERA's Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR} for the fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2015. 

Discussion 
Staff will provide an oral report on this year's CAFR highlights. 

Background 
The CAFR is divided into six sections: 

• Introduction: SamCERA's Mission and Goals, Administrator's Letter of Transmittal, the 
Government Finance Officers Association Certificate of Achievement for Exce llence in 
Financial Reporting {18th consecutive year for Sam CERA), the Public Pension 

Coordinating Council Public Pension Standards Award for Funding and Administration, 
Members of SamCERA's Board of Retirement, and SamCERA's Organization Chart. 

• Financial: Independent Auditors' Report, Management's Discussion and Analysis, 
SamCERA's Financial Statements including Notes to the Financial Statements, and 
Required Supplementary Information. 

• Investment: Chief Investment Officer's Report, Investment Consultant's Report, Asset 
Allocations, List of Investment Professionals and various investment schedules. 

• Actuarial : Actuary's Certification Letter, results ofthe most recent annual actuarial 
valuation, overview of the plan funding status and other actuarial-related information. 

• Statistical: Detailed statistical data pertaining to SamCERA. 

• Compliance: Report on internal control over financial reporting and on compliance and 
other matters based on the most recent audit of financial statements performed in 
accordance with government auditing standards. 

Attachment 
2015 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) 



2015 
COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL 
FINANCIAL REPORT 
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2015 
A Pension Trust Fund of the County of San Mateo 
and Participating Employers 
Redwood City, State of California 



On the cover: 
 
San Pedro Valley County Park 
San Mateo County, California 



 
San Mateo County Employees’ Retirement Association 

A Pension Trust Fund of the County of San Mateo and Participating Employers 
 

 

 

 

 

 

COMPREHENSIVE 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2015 

 
Scott Hood 

Chief Executive Officer 

Tat-Ling Chow  
Finance Officer 

Michael Coultrip 
Chief Investment Officer 

 

 
SamCERA 

100 Marine Parkway, Suite 125  

Redwood City, California 94065 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

INTRODUCTORY SECTION 
SamCERA’s Mission and Goals ....................................................................................... 8 

Administrator’s Letter of Transmittal .............................................................................. 9 

GFOA Certificate of Achievement ................................................................................ 17 

PPCC Public Pension Standards Award ........................................................................ 18 

Members of the Board of Retirement ............................................................................ 19 

SamCERA’s Organizational Chart ................................................................................ 21 

 

FINANCIAL SECTION 
Independent Auditor’s Report ....................................................................................... 23 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis ......................................................................... 26 

Basic Financial Statements ............................................................................................. 34 

          Statement of Fiduciary Net Position .................................................................... 34 

          Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position ................................................ 35 

          Notes to the Financial Statements ....................................................................... 36 

          Note 1: Plan Description ......................................................................... 36 

          Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies ............................. 40 

          Note 3: Funding Policy ............................................................................ 43 

          Note 4: Contributions ............................................................................. 44 

          Note 5: Deposit and Investment.............................................................. 45 

          Note 6: Pension Disclosures .................................................................... 53 

          Note 7: Funding Status and Funding Progress ........................................ 55 

          Note 8: Plan Reserves .............................................................................. 55 

          Note 9: Administrative Expenses ............................................................. 58 

          Note 10: Information Technology Expenses ........................................... 58 

          Note 11: Risk Management ..................................................................... 59 

          Note 12: Related Party Transactions ....................................................... 59 

          Note 13: Commitments ........................................................................... 59 

          Note 14: Contingent Liability ................................................................. 59 

Required Supplementary Information ........................................................................... 60 



          Schedule of Changes in Net Position Liability of Participating Employers ........ 60 

          Schedule of Employer Contributions .................................................................. 61 

          Schedule of Investment Returns .......................................................................... 61 

          Notes to the Required Supplementary Information ............................................ 63  

Other Supplementary Information ................................................................................ 64 

          Schedule of Administrative Expenses .................................................................. 64 

          Schedule of Information Technology Expenses .................................................. 64 

          Schedule of Investment Expenses ........................................................................ 65 

          Schedule of Payments to Consultants ................................................................. 66 

          Notes to the Other Supplementary Information ................................................. 67 

Other Information ......................................................................................................... 68 

          Schedule of Employer Pension Amounts Allocated by Cost Sharing Plan ......... 68 

          Schedule of Cost Sharing Employer Allocations ................................................. 69 

             

INVESTMENT SECTION 
Actual Historical Quarterly Asset Allocation ................................................................. 71 

Chief Investment Officer’s Report ................................................................................. 72 

Investment Consultant’s Report on Investment Activities ............................................ 76 

Investment Philosophy, Objectives, and Policy ............................................................. 79 

Asset Allocation ............................................................................................................. 81 

Schedule of Portfolio Returns ........................................................................................ 84 

Schedule of Investment Portfolio by Asset Class and Manager ..................................... 85 

Schedule of Top Ten Equities and Fixed Income Securities ......................................... 86 

Schedule of Professional Services and Fees .................................................................... 87 

Schedule of Commission per Share Traded .................................................................. 88 

 

ACTUARIAL SECTION 
Actuary’s Certification ................................................................................................... 91 

Actuarial Valuation ........................................................................................................ 93 

Employer and Member Contribution Rates .................................................................. 93 

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions ............................................................................. 95 

Rate of Separation From Active Service ......................................................................... 98 



Employer Contribution Rates as a Percentage of Covered Payroll ................................ 99 

Summary of Significant Actuarial Statistics and Measures ............................................ 99 

Solvency Test  ............................................................................................................... 100 

Schedule of Funding Progress ...................................................................................... 100 

Member Contribution Rates ........................................................................................ 101 

History of Employer Statutory Contribution Rates ..................................................... 103 

Demographic Activity of Retirees and Beneficiaries .................................................... 105 

Actuarial Analysis of Financial Experience .................................................................. 105 

Summary of Active Member Valuation Data ............................................................... 106 

Average Monthly Salary of Active Members ................................................................ 107 

Participating Employers and Active Members ............................................................. 107 

Summary of Retired and Inactive Member Benefits .................................................... 108 

Average Monthly Retiree Benefit Payment .................................................................. 109 

Number of Retirees by Category .................................................................................. 109 

 

STATISTICAL SECTION 
Change in Pension Plan Net Position  ........................................................................ 111 

Plan Net Position ......................................................................................................... 113 

Schedule of Employer Contributions .......................................................................... 113 

Schedule of Additions to Plan Net Positon by Source ................................................ 114 

Schedule of Deductions from Plan Net Positon by Type ............................................ 114 

Summary of Retired Benefits, Refunds, and Inactive Members .................................. 115 

Summary of Average Pension Benefit Payments ......................................................... 117 

Schedule of Average Monthly Salary of Active Members ............................................ 119 

Schedule of Participating Employers and Active Members ......................................... 120 

 

COMPLIANCE SECTION 
SamCERA’s Funded Ratio .......................................................................................... 123 

Additions To and Deductions From SamCERA’s Net Position ................................. 123 

Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on 
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards ...................................................... 124 



INTRODUCTORY SECTION 

Bluff Trail, Coyote Point, San Mateo County 



8 | INTRODUCTORY SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

SAMCERA’S MISSION AND GOALS 

SAMCERA’S MISSION 
SamCERA exists to serve as loyal fiduciary for its members and as prudent 
administrator of the retirement system. 

 

 

SAMCERA’S GOALS 
Provide caring, fair, accurate, timely and knowledgeable professional services 
and information to members and other stakeholders. 
 
Prudently manage the assets in order to appropriately fund the actuarial 
liabilities of the retirement system, to ensure the ability to pay all earned 
benefits while minimizing the costs to employers. 
 
Constantly improve the effectiveness of SamCERA’s services and the 
efficiency of its operations. 



| INTRODUCTORY SECTION  | 9  

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

ADMINISTRATOR’S LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL 

100 Marine Parkway, Suite 125 
Redwood City, CA 94065 
Phone: 650-599-1234 
Toll Free: 1-800-339-0761 
Fax: 650-591-1488 
Web: www.samcera.org 
Email: samcera@samcera.org 

Board of Retirement 
San Mateo County Employees’ Retirement Association 

  

Dear Trustees: 

 
I am pleased to present the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) 
of the San Mateo County Employees’ Retirement Association (SamCERA) for 
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015. 
  
SamCERA’s management is responsible for a fair presentation of financial 
data and a complete disclosure of all matters of material consequence.  
Management’s discussion and analysis of the data are presented on pages 26-
33. 
  
SamCERA’s management is also responsible for establishing and maintaining 
appropriate internal controls to safeguard SamCERA’s assets and provide 
reliable financial information. As the Chief Executive Officer, I hereby certify 
that SamCERA’s system of internal controls is adequate and that this report 
properly discloses all matters of material consequence. 
  
The certified public accounting firm of Brown Armstrong Accountancy 
Corporation provides financial audit services to SamCERA. The objective of 
this financial audit is to ensure that SamCERA’s financial statements are 

Scott Hood 
SamCERA 
Chief Executive Officer 

ADMINISTRATOR’S LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL 



10 | INTRODUCTORY SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

presented in conformity with Generally 
Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) in 
the United States of America and are free of 
material misstatements. Internal controls are 
reviewed to ensure that SamCERA’s policies 
and procedures are being adhered to and 
that sufficient controls are in place to ensure 
reliable financial reporting and to safeguard 
SamCERA’s assets. This report is prepared 
in accordance with GAAP as promulgated by 
the Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board (GASB). 
  
SamCERA’s financial statements presented 
in the Financial Section are prepared on the 
accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are 
recognized when earned, regardless of when 
cash is collected. Expenses are recorded 
when liabilities are incurred, regardless of 
when payment is made.  Investments are 
reported at fair value.   
 
The duty of SamCERA’s Board, its officers, 
and its employees is to prudently manage 
plan assets in order to appropriately fund the 
actuarial liabilities of the retirement system 
and ensure the ability to pay all earned 
benefits while minimizing employer 
contributions and defraying reasonable 
expenses of administrating the system. 
  
SamCERA engages an independent actuarial 
consulting firm, Milliman, Inc., to conduct 
an annual actuarial valuation of the pension 
plan. The purpose of this valuation is to 
reassess the magnitude of the benefit 
commitments in comparison with the assets 
expected to be available to support those 
commitments so that employer and 
employee contribution rates can be adjusted 
accordingly. Triennially, SamCERA requests 
its actuarial consulting firm to perform an 
actuarial experience study so that 

appropriate assumptions can be determined 
for valuing the plan’s liabilities. SamCERA 
strives to provide the most recent financial 
and actuarial data in its annual report.  
  
Authority, Responsibilities & Duties 
The San Mateo County Board of Supervisors 
adopted an ordinance to create SamCERA, 
effective in San Mateo County on July 1, 
1944,  as prescribed by the provisions of 
Government Code section 31450 et seq., 
California’s County Employees Retirement 
Law of 1937 (the CERL). SamCERA 
provides retirement, disability, and death 
benefits for its eligible members and 
beneficiaries in accordance with the CERL, 
the California Public Employees’ Pension 
Reform Act of 2013 (PEPRA- Government 
Code section 7522 et seq.), and other 
applicable statutes, regulations and case law. 
  
The Board of Retirement (the Board), 
serving  as fiduciary for all of SamCERA’s 
members and beneficiaries under the 
California Constitution, Article XVI, 
Section 17 and the CERL, is responsible for 
administering the system. The Board has 
adopted, among other policies, its Mission & 
Goals; Regulations of the Board of Retirement; 
Investment Policy Statement; Conflict of Interest 
Code; and Code of Conduct, to document the 
Board’s guiding policies. The Board annually 
adopts an operating budget for the 
administration of SamCERA, which is 
discussed in the Financial Section beginning 
on page 23. A breakdown of the budget 
allotment versus expenditures is presented 
on pages 58-59.  In addition, the Board has 
authorized the execution of contracts for the 
professional services of an actuary, an 
auditing actuary, an investment consultant, 
investment managers, a global custodian, a 
financial auditor, a medical advisor, and an 

ADMINISTRATOR’S LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL 



| INTRODUCTORY SECTION  | 11  

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

information technology consultant to help 
the Board fulfill its duties.  The Board’s 
primary professional consultants are 
highlighted in the organizational chart on 
page 21, and a full list of investment 
managers and consultants can be found in 
the “Schedule of Professional Services and 
Fees,” on page 87 in the Investment Section. 

  
SamCERA’s Chief Executive Officer (CEO) 
is responsible for the day-to-day operations 
of the plan.  The CEO serves at the pleasure 
of the Board and manages SamCERA’s 
operations.  SamCERA’s staff of 24 full-time 
employees is responsible for meeting the 
needs of its members and beneficiaries, 
participating employers, and the Board in 
accordance with the high standards set forth 
in SamCERA’s Mission & Goals statements.  
SamCERA’s staff is sworn to carry out its 
fiduciary duties in accordance with 
governing law, SamCERA regulations and 
policies. 
 
SamCERA’s members include all active 
permanent employees of the participating 
employers (the County of San Mateo, the 
San Mateo County Mosquito and Vector 
Control District, and the Superior Court of 
the County of San Mateo), inactive 
members, retirees, and beneficiaries.  More 
than 86% of SamCERA’s members are 
classified as General Members while the 
remaining are law enforcement employees 
classified as Safety or Probation Safety 
Members.   
  
Looking Backward and Forward  
For a summary of highlights for fiscal year 
2014-15, I encourage you to review the 
following narrative introduction, as well as 
the Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
beginning on page 26.  Details on 

SamCERA’s investment portfolio can be 
found in the Chief Investment Officer’s 
Report beginning on page 72. 
 
Trustees 
The SamCERA Board of Retirement 
consists of nine Trustees.  Four positions are 
appointed by the Board of Supervisors.  Four 
Trustees are elected from their respective 
membership: two from the General 
Members, one from the Safety Members, 
and one from the Retiree Members. The 
County Treasurer is a member of the Board 
by virtue of her publically elected office; all 
other Trustees serve for a term of three years.  
In addition, there is one elected Safety 
Member Alternate and one elected Retiree 
Member Alternate. 
 
The officers for the Board of Retirement for 
fiscal year 2014-15 were:  Lauryn Agnew, 
Chair; Paul Hackleman, Vice Chair; and 
Michal Settles, Secretary.  Other members of 
the Board were:  Sandie Arnott, Albert 
David, Eric Tashman, Benedict J. Bowler, 
David Spinello, and Natalie Kwan Lloyd.  
Alternate Trustees were Christopher Miller 
and Alma Salas. 
 
In April 2015, both Albert David and 
Christopher Miller resigned their seats on 
the Board.  Because both of their terms were 
set to expire on June 30, 2015, pursuant to 
Board regulation, the filling of the vacancies 
occurred at a regular election.  The County 
Elections Division conducted the election 
on June 9, 2015, for these vacancies as well 
as the Safety Member seat that was 
scheduled for regular election. Shirley 
Tourel, the Assistant Controller for San 
Mateo County, ran unopposed for the 
General Member 2nd seat and was 
automatically deemed elected.  David 

ADMINISTRATOR’S LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL 



12 | INTRODUCTORY SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

Spinello, a Deputy with the San Mateo 
County Sheriff’s Department, won 
reelection to the Safety Member 7th seat.  
Susan Lee, a Deputy Probation Officer with 
the San Mateo County Probation 
Department, received the second most votes 
for the Safety Member seat and was elected 
to the Safety Alternate Member seat.    
 
 
Investments 
Although this year’s returns were under our 
long-term average assumed rate of return of 
7.25%, SamCERA earned a positive return 
for fiscal year 2014-15 mainly due to the 
strong U.S. equity market and real estate 
market returns.  For the one year period 
ended in June 2015, the fund returned 3.5% 
net of investment manager fees (3.8% before 
deducting for investment manager fees).  
The 3.5% return exceeded the fund’s policy 
benchmark by 80 basis points (0.80%).  
These results are above median among large 
(greater than $1 billion in assets) public 
plans.  Over the most recent five-year periods 
ended in June 2015, SamCERA’s 
performance was in the upper 26th percentile 
of its peers. 

 

In January 2015, the Board approved a 
change to the structure of the domestic 
equity portion of the portfolio by raising the 
passive portion of the large-capitalization 
portfolio from 35% to 50% of total domestic 
equity. The three actively managed large-
capitalization strategies were reduced by 5% 
each as part of this reallocation.  The 
purpose of this change was to lower the 
event risk associated with any one particular 
manager and reduce active risk in the 
domestic equity portion of the portfolio. 

 

During this year, SamCERA continued to 
build out its private equity portfolio by 
adding four new partnerships.  Additionally, 
a new private real asset category was created 
and SamCERA entered into two such 
partnerships.  In order to further diversify 
the portfolio, a new strategy was added to 
the opportunistic credit allocation and a 
second manager was added in the risk-parity 
category. 

 

SamCERA changed its global custodian 
from State Street Bank & Trust Company to 
Northern Trust Company, effective on July 
1, 2014.  Northern Trust provides asset 
safekeeping, accounting, securities 
settlement, cash management, corporate 
actions, class actions and proxy processing, 
securities lending, and performance and risk 
analytics for SamCERA.   

 

Staffing 
My promotion by the Board in late 2014 to 
succeed retiring CEO David Bailey began a 
series of staffing changes within SamCERA.  
Both the Board of Retirement and Board of 
Supervisors authorized three additional 
positions.  The first change was to add a 
second AEO position to divide SamCERA’s 
major oversight responsibilities.  One AEO 
is now responsible for overseeing 
A d m i n i s t r a t i o n ,  B e n e f i t s ,  a n d 
Communications. Gladys Smith, the 
previous Benefits Manager, was promoted to 
this position. The second AEO is now 
responsible for overseeing Finance and 
Information Technology.  Al David, a 
former Trustee, who was the Director of 
Program Support for the County’s Human 
Services Agency, was promoted into this 
position.   

ADMINISTRATOR’S LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL 



| INTRODUCTORY SECTION  | 13  

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

In addition to the senior management 
position, the Board of Retirement also 
authorized two new positions (one for an 
Investment Analyst and another for a 
Financial Analyst). Doris Ng was hired from 
the private sector to fill the Investment 
Analyst position while Mabel Wong 
transferred into the Financial Analyst role.  

In May, we welcomed Tat-Ling Chow as the 
Finance Officer.  She joins SamCERA after 
serving over 20 years in the San Mateo 
County Controller’s Office where she was a 
Financial Services Manager II responsible for 
external financial reporting, accounts 
payable and general accounting. 

With the internal promotion of Gladys 
Smith to the AEO position, Senior 
Retirement Analyst Elizabeth LeNguyen, was 
promoted to the Benefits Manager position.  
Thus far, SamCERA has filled 22 of the 24 
authorized positions. 

  

Actuarial 
SamCERA again was pleased to be ranked 
the 3rd most actuarially conservative among 
California retirement systems in a May 2015 
survey from Roeder Financial.  The survey 
ranks the funding assumptions used by 
California’s public pension systems from 
“most conservative” to “most optimistic.”  
SamCERA’s high ranking was due mainly to 
its relatively short closed 15-year layered 
amortization of unfunded liabilities, and its 
relatively low assumed investment earnings 
rate, which at the time of the survey was 
7.25%.  

 

Plan Funding Status 

SamCERA maintains a funding goal to 
establish contributions that fully fund the 
System’s liabilities, and that, as a percentage 
of payroll, remain as level as possible for the 
plan sponsor.  SamCERA contracts with an 
independent actuarial consulting firm, 
Milliman Inc., to act as the plan’s actuary 
and conduct annual actuarial valuations, 
which are presented to the Board 
annually. Triennially, Milliman conducts an 
experience study of SamCERA members 
and makes recommendations to the Board 
on key economic and non-economic 
assumptions. The most recent triennial 
experience study was performed for the 
period ended April 30, 2014. 

 

Milliman’s actuarial valuation as of June 30, 
2015, determined that the funding ratio 
increased from 78.8% to 82.6%, using 
approved assumptions. This increase was 
primarily due to employer contributions 
used to amortize the Unfunded Accrued 
Actuarial Liability (UAAL) as well as the 
recognition of deferred investment gains 
from prior years under the asset smoothing 
method. 

 

The Employer Normal Cost Rate decreased 
from 10.80% to 10.42% of covered 
payroll. The decrease was mainly due to an 
increase of the active population being 
members of PEPRA plans together with 
increases in some member COLA 
contribution rates. The portion of the 
employer’s statutory contribution rate that 
finances the UAAL decreased form 23.94% 
to 21.93% of covered payroll.  This decrease 

ADMINISTRATOR’S LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL 



14 | INTRODUCTORY SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

was in large part due to the asset smoothing 
method of investment gains. 
 
For all plans except Plan 7, member rates 
and member COLA rates remain 
unchanged. However, there are several 
employee groups that have agreed to pay an 
increased portion of the COLA cost. 
 
Supplemental Contributions 
The County of San Mateo continues to 
make supplemental contributions in 
accordance with a Memorandum of 
Understanding (MOU) between the County 
and SamCERA.  The contributions paid 
above the statutorily required contribution 
rate and the earnings in the County’s 
Supplemental Contribution Account has 
grown to over $65 million.  Furthermore, 
the County plans to contribute an additional 
$80 million over the remaining eight years.  
 
Pension Reporting Standards 
SamCERA has been working with key 
stakeholders (its financial auditor, Brown 
Armstrong; its actuary, Milliman, Inc., as 
well as its three participating employers 
and the County’s auditor) to ensure a 
smooth implementation of the new GASB 
pension standards for financial reporting by 
government pension plans.  This year marks 
the implementation of GASB Statement No. 
68 under which SamCERA’s three 
participating employers will report in their 
financial statements information from the 
GASB 67/68 report prepared by 
SamCERA’s actuary.  
  
Cost of Living Adjustment 
In 2014, the Bay Area experienced higher 
inflation than the year prior, and 
significantly higher inflation than most of 
the rest of the country, according to the 
Federal Bureau of Labor Statistics.  This 

resulted in a cost of living adjustment 
(COLA) of 2% to 3% that most SamCERA 
retirees and beneficiaries received. The 
amount of the COLA was dependent on the 
plan’s COLA limits.  The COLA for Plan 1 
and Plan 2 was 3.0%, while the COLA for 
Plans 4, 5, 6 and 7 was 2.0%.  Plan 3 does 
not provide a COLA.  
 
Information Technology 
SamCERA is progressing with its multi-year 
Technology Modernization Project.  The 
major component of the project is the 
replacement of SamCERA’s aging Pension 
Administration Software System (PASS).  
SamCERA has been working diligently with 
its vendor Vitech, Inc., on the design, 
programming, and testing of its future 
system, which is approximately 50% 
completed.  Finally, SamCERA is putting its 
finishing touches on its improved website, 
which will be launched in late 2015. 

 

Tax Determination Letter 
After receiving a favorable tax determination 
letter from the IRS during the 2013-14 fiscal 
year, SamCERA filed for a follow-up letter in 
early 2015.  Along with our favorable tax 
determination letter, SamCERA (along with 
the other CERL systems) was directed to 
take certain steps.  Our application 
demonstrates that the following necessary 
actions were taken: (1) enactment of CERL 
legislation to comply with federal law, and 
(2) adoption of Board regulations to further 
ensure compliance. In addition, our 
application explains all of the plan changes 
made by PEPRA.  SamCERA is awaiting the 
IRS’ review of our submitted documents. 
 
Strategic Planning 
SamCERA’s staff held their annual retreat in 
March 2015 and began working through the 

ADMINISTRATOR’S LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL 



| INTRODUCTORY SECTION  | 15  

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

steps in the strategic planning process as 
recommended by the Government Finance 
Officers Association (GFOA).  The result of 
these discussions was an update of 
SamCERA’s Strategic Plan Action Matrix, 
along with the creation of a new, visual slide 
presentation of the strategic planning goals 
of the fund.  Progress on these goals will be 
tracked and updated throughout fiscal year 
2016. Moving forward, SamCERA will 
continue to pursue its three major goals. All 
of which are derived from and consistent 
with SamCERA’s mission statement: 
 
1. ASSET MANAGEMENT GOAL 
Prudently manage the assets in order to 
appropriately fund the actuarial liabilities of the 
retirement system to ensure the ability to pay all 
earned benefits, while minimizing the costs to 
employers.  
 
Major projects under this goal include: 
completing the build-out of the portfolio 
based on the most recent asset-liability study, 
reviewing the public equity manager 
structure and opportunities to enhance the 
real estate allocation, evaluating performance 
fee arrangements, and reviewing proxy 
voting policy and procedures. 
 
2. CUSTOMER SERVICES GOAL 
Provide caring, fair, accurate, timely and 
knowledgeable professional services and 
information to members and other stakeholders.  
 
Over the coming year, meeting this goal will 
involve providing input to our PASS, 
website, and agenda management software 
vendors to ensure that the new systems 
provide users and members with new tools 
that will improve efficiency, accuracy, and 
customer service.  Our goal will also include 
developing a member education master plan 
that will provide a master list of the types of 

informational and educational opportunities 
provided by SamCERA along with 
re commended  t ime l ine s  and/or 
circumstances for receiving that information 
or education. 
 
3. OPERATIONS GOAL 
Constantly improve the effectiveness of 
SamCERA’s services and the efficiency of its 
operations.  
This will involve updates to some of 
SamCERA’s core technologies, including the 
creation and implementation of a new 
SamCERA website with integrated Web 
Member Services. 
  

Certificate of Achievement and 
Acknowledgements 
For the eighteenth consecutive year, the 
Government Finance Officers Association 
(GFOA) has awarded SamCERA its 
Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in 
Financial Reporting.  This award was in 
recognition of SamCERA’s CAFR for the 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2014.  The 
certificate is reproduced on page 17. 
  
SamCERA is also the recipient of the GFOA 
Award for Outstanding Achievement in 
Popular Annual Financial Reporting (PAFR) 
for the twelfth year running and has received 
this honor for the PAFR for the fiscal year 
ended June 30, 2014. 
  
Additionally, the Public Pension 
Coordinating Council (the Council) 
presented SamCERA its Public Pension 
Standards Award for 2014.  This award 
recognizes that SamCERA has met 
professional standards for plan funding and 
administration as set forth in the Public 
Pension Standards of the Council.  The 
standards judge retirement systems on their 
Funding Adequacy, Comprehensive Benefit 

ADMINISTRATOR’S LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL 



16 | INTRODUCTORY SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

Program, Actuarial Valuation, Independent 
Audit, Investments and Communications.  
The award is reproduced on page 18. 
  
These awards recognize SamCERA’s 
contributions to the practice of government 
finance exemplifying outstanding financial 
management and reporting; in doing so, 
they stress practical, documented work that 
offers leadership to the profession.  
The compilation of the Comprehensive 
Annual Financial Report, in a timely 
manner, reflects the combined efforts of 
SamCERA’s management and staff under 
the leadership, dedication and support of 
the Board of Retirement.   
  
SamCERA continues to maintain the 
highest financial reporting standards while 
providing quality services to its members.  I 
am sincerely grateful to the Board of 
Retirement and staff who perform so 
diligently to ensure the successful operation 
and financial soundness of SamCERA.  I am 
also appreciative for the continuing 
cooperation and open communication that 
SamCERA has with all our participating 
employers.   
  
Respectfully submitted, 

 
 
 
 
 

Scott Hood  
Chief Executive Officer 
October 20, 2015 

ADMINISTRATOR’S LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL 



| INTRODUCTORY SECTION  | 17  

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

GFOA CERTIFICATE OF ACHIEVEMENT 

GFOA CERTIFICATE OF ACHIEVEMENT 

PLACEHOLDER 



18 | INTRODUCTORY SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

PPCC PUBLIC PENSION STANDARDS AWARD 

PPCC PUBLIC PENSION STANDARDS AWARD 

Public Pension Coordinating Council 

Public Pension Standards Award 
For Funding and Administration 

2014 

Presented to 

San Mateo County Employees' Retirement Association 

In recognition of meeting professional standards for 
plan funding and administration as 

set forth in the Public Pension Standards. 

Presented by the Public Pension Coordinating Council, a confederation ()[ 

National Association of State Retirement Administrators (NASRA) 
National Conference on Public Employee Retirement Systems (NCPERS) 

National Council on Teacher Retirement (NCTR) 

Alan H. Winkle 
Program Adm inistrator 



| INTRODUCTORY SECTION  | 19  

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF 
RETIREMENT (JUNE 30, 2015) 

Sandie Arnott 
Ex Officio per the CERL, First 
Member 

Sandie Arnott is the San 
Mateo County Treasurer/
Tax Collector and is a 
member of the Board of 
Retirement by virtue of her 

office. She first began serving in this office in 
January 2011, but served as Assistant 
County Treasurer for many years during 
which she was also active on the Board of 
Retirement. Her term as Treasurer/Tax 
Collector expires December 31, 2018. 

Albert David 
Elected by the General 
Members, Second Member 

Albert David was Director 
of Program Support and 
Information Services for the 
San Mateo County Human 
Services Agency. He is also a 

retired Army Reserve Lieutenant Colonel. 
He joined the Board in 2008, and was re-
elected in 2009 and 2012. Al Resigned from 
the Board in April 2015. 

Natalie Kwan Lloyd 
Elected by the General 
Members, Third Member 

Natalie Kwan Lloyd is a 
Senior Appraiser in the San 
Mateo County Assessor’s 
Office. She joined the 
Board of Retirement in July 

2008, and was reelected in June 2013. She 
has previously served as Board of Retirement 
Chair. Her current term expires June 30, 
2016.  

Eric Tashman 
Appointed by the Board of Supervisors, 
Fourth Member 

Eric Tashman is a public 
finance partner in the San 
Francisco office of law firm 
Sidley Austin where he is 
head of the firm’s West 
Coast public finance 
practice group. He was 
appointed by the Board of 

Supervisors in 2009 and reappointed in 
2012, and 2015. His term expires June 30, 
2018. 

Benedict J. Bowler 
Appointed by the Board of Supervisors, Fifth 

Member 

Ben Bowler is the 
Treasurer of Matson, Inc. 
He was first appointed in 
August 2008 to fill the 
unexpired term of Scott 
Lee. He was reappointed in 
2013. His term expires 

June 30, 2016. 

Lauryn Agnew 
Appointed by the Board of 
Supervisors, Sixth Member, 
Chair 

Lauryn Agnew is a 
Principal at Seal Cove 
Financial and Chair of the 
Investment Committee at 
United Way of the Bay 

Area. She was appointed by the Board of 
Supervisors in 2009, and reappointed in 
2012. Her term expired June 30, 2015.  

 

 

MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF RETIREMENT 



20 | INTRODUCTORY SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

David Spinello 
Elected by the Safety 
Members, Seventh Member 

David Spinello is a Deputy 
with the San Mateo County 
Sheriff’s Office. He was 
elected to the Board of 
Retirement in 2009 and 

reelected in 2012 and 2015. He has 
previously served on the Audit Committee. 
His term expires on June 30, 2018. 

Paul Hackleman 
Elected by the Retired 
Members, Eighth Member, 
Vice-Chair 

Paul served as the County 
Benefits Manager from 
1982 through March 2008. 
He is also a former member 

of the Board of Retirement, having served 
from June 2005 through March 2008 while 
actively employed. Today he is the head of 
I.C. Benefits Consulting. He was elected in 
2010, and reelected in 2013. His current 
term expires June 30, 2016.  

 

Michal Settles 
Appointed by the Board of 
Supervisors, Ninth Member, 
Secretary 

Michal Settles is a business 
professor at the City 
College of San Francisco. 
She was first appointed by 

the Board of Supervisors in June 2011, and 
was reappointed in 2013. Her term expires 
June 30, 2016.  

Alma Salas 
Elected by the Retired 
M e m b e r s ,  R e t i r e e 
Alternate 

Alma Salas was a Probation 
Services Manager with the 
San  Mateo  County 

Probation Department before her retirement 
in May 2013. Alma first joined the Board of 
Retirement in May of 2001, and served as 
Board of Retirement Chair during the 2004-
05 fiscal year. She was elected in June 2013 
to serve as the Retiree Alternate. In this role 
she substitutes in the absence of the Eighth 
Member. Her term expires June 30, 2016. 

Christopher Miller 
Elected by the Safety 
Members, Safety Alternate 

Chris Miller is a Group 
Supervisor II for the San 
Mateo County Probation 
Department. He was 
elected by the Safety 
Membership and began his 

term in July 2012. Chris resigned in April 
2015. 

MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF RETIREMENT 



| IN
TRO

D
UC

TO
RY SEC

TIO
N  | 21  

 

SA
M

C
ERA

 C
O

M
PREH

EN
SIV

E A
N

N
UA

L FIN
A

N
C

IA
L R

EPO
RT | 2015 

SAMCERA ORGANIZATIONAL CHART (JUNE 30, 2015) 
SA

M
C

ERA
 O

RG
A

N
IZA

TIO
N

A
L C

H
A

RT 

Medical Advisor 
Dr. Henry Brodkin 

Investment Consultant* 
Strategic Investment Solutions 

Margaret Jadallah 

Senior Retirement Analyst 
Celedonia Amacker 

Senior Retirement Analyst 
Vacant 

Retirement Analyst 
Barbara Edwards 

Retirement Analyst 
Sue Thompson 

Retirement Support Spec. 
Joyce Balajadia 

Retirement Support Spec. 
JulieAnne Nagai 

Board of Retirement 
Lauryn Agnew, Chair; Paul 

Hackleman, Vice Chair; Michal Settles, 
Secretary; Sandie Arnott; Natalie 
Kwan Lloyd, Eric Tashman; Ben 

Bowler; David Spinello. 
Alternate Trustee: 

Alma Salas 

Information Tech. Analyst 
Darius Nagai 

Information Tech. Analyst 
Edward lck 

IT Consultant 
LRWL 

KEY 

Actuarial Services 
Milliman, Inc. 
Nick Collier 

Financial Audits 
Brown Armstrong 

Andrew J. Paulden 

Finance Officer 
Tat-Ling Chow 

Finance Analyst 
Mabel Wong 

Senior Accountant 
Chezelle Milan 

Accountant 
Susan Fong 

Acctg. Tech. 
Vacant 

Chief Investment Officer 
Michael Coultrip 

Investment Analyst 
Lilibeth Dames 

Investment Analyst 
Doris Ng 

( Permanent Position ) ( Consultant ) 

*See "Schedule of Professional Services and Fees" table in the Investment Section 
for a full list of SamCERA's investment managers. 



FINANCIAL SECTION 

Crystal Springs Reservoir, San Mateo County 



| FINANCIAL SECTION | 23 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

BROWN 
ARMSTRONG 

aRnFIFI'> 
PUBLIC 

ACCOIJNTANTS 

IIAK!II.SFI!LD OffiCE 
(MAIN OFFICE) 

•-OO~<nJNA'IEIIUE 

SUITE 300 

W£R5FlB.O CA 9330'1 

TB_661.314-197t 

FAX 661 3!4 499" 

EMAilrf~<om 

F"RE"SNO OffiCE 

76'3 N · .G -·1AVB IUE 

o;urrE 0 

FRESNO. CA <m 

m ss' 4'6 359~ 

FAX 559 4'6 3>91 

PASADENA OffiCE 

260 C" LOS RO&.ES r · IP-, :f 

'illr'OJ 0 

PASADENA CA ~I 0 

TEL 626 204 iS-12 

FAX 6~6 204 65-17 

STOCKTON OFFIC! 

525 QAREMOI JT AV8 IUE 

BROWN ARMSTRONG 
Certified Public Accountants 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Board of Retirement of 
San Mateo County Employees' Retirement Association 
Redwood City, California 

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying Statement of Fiduciary Net Position of the San 
Mateo County Employees' Retirement Association (SamCERA), a pension trust fund 
of the County of San Mateo, as of June 30, 2015, the Statement of Changes in 
Fiduciary Net Position for the fiscal year then ended, and the related notes to the 
financial statements, which collectively comprise SamCERA's basic financial 
statements as listed in the table of contents. We have also audited the Schedule of 
Cost Sharing Employer Allocations of SamCERA for the years ended June 30, 2015, 
2014, and 2013, and the Schedule of Employer Pension Amounts Allocated by Cost 
Sharing Plan total for all entities of the columns titled net pension liability, total 
deferred outflows of resources, total deferred inflows of resources, and total pension 
expense excluding that attributable to employer-paid member contributions (specified 
column totals) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2015, listed as other information 
in the table of contents. 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements and Other 
Information 

SamCERA's management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of 
these financial statements and other information in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the 
preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor's Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements and other 
information based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards 
applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by 
the Comptroller General of the United states. Those standards require that we plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements and other information are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the 
auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the SamCERA's 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements and other information in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the SamCERA's 
internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes 



24 | FINANCIAL SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
financial statements and other information. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinions. 

Opinions 

In our opinion, the financial statements and the other information referred to above present fairly, in all 
material respects, the fiduciary net position of SamCERA as of June 30, 2015, their changes in fiduciary 
net position for the fiscal year then ended, the Schedule of Cost Sharing Employer Allocations of 
SamCERA for the years ended June 30, 2015, 2014, and 2013, and the Schedule of Employer Pension 
Amounts Allocated by Cost Sharing Plan total for all entities of the columns titled net pension liability, total 
deferred outflows of resources, total deferred inflows of resources, and total pension expense excluding 
that attributable to employer-paid member contributions (specified column totals) as of and for the year 
ended June 30, 2015, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America. 

Emphasis of Matter 

As discussed in Note 6 to the basic financial statements, the total pension liability of the participating 
employers as of June 30, 2015, was $3,946,439,845 The fiduciary net position as a percentage of the 
total liability as of June 30, 2015, was 87.53%. The actuarial valuations are very sensitive to the 
underlying actuarial assumptions, including a discount rate of 7.45%, which represents the long-term 
expected rate of return. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter. 

Additionally, as discussed in Note 2 to the financial statements, the financial statements include 
investments that are not listed on national exchanges or for which quoted market prices are not available. 
These investments include private equity, rea! estate, and investments in rea! assets. Such investments 
totaled $415,916,124 (11.6% of total assets) at June 30, 2015. Where a publicly listed price is not 
available, the management of SamCERA uses alternative sources of information including audited 
financial statements, unaudited interim reports, independent appraisals, and similar evidence to 
determine the fair value of the investments. Our opinion is not modified with respect to these matters. 

Other Matters 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's 
discussion and analysis and required supplementary information as listed in the table of contents be 
presented to supplement the basic financial statements Such information, although not a part of the basic 
financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to 
be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate 
operational, economic, or historical context We have applied certain limited procedures to the required 
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information 
and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic 
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. 
We do not express an opinion or prov ide any assurance on the information because the limited 
procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Other Supplementary Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise SamCERA's basic financial statements. The other supplementary information and the 
introductory, investment, actuarial, statistical and compliance sections, as listed in the table of contents, 
are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial 
statements. 



| FINANCIAL SECTION | 25 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

The other supplementary information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and 
relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial 
statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the 
basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such 
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial 
statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, 
the other supplementary information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic 
financial statements as a whole. 

The introductory, investment, actuarial, statistical and compliance sections have not been subjected to 
the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not 
express an opinion or provide any assurance on them. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated October 20, 
2015, on our consideration of SamCERA's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and other matters. The purpose of that 
report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over financial reporting 
or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government 
Auditing Standards in considering Sam CERA's internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 

Report on Summarized Comparative Information 

We have previously audited SamCERA's June 30, 2014, financial statements, and our report dated 
October 22, 2014, expressed an unmodified opinion on those audited financial statements. In our opinion, 
the summarized comparative information presented herein as of and for the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2014, is consistent in all material respects, with the audited financial statements from which it has been 
derived. 

Bakersfield, California 
October 20, 2015 

BROWN ARMSTRONG 
ACCOUNTANCY CORPORATION 

~ ~4-Pt#/1 
~+IM'I~~~ 



26 | FINANCIAL SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND 
ANALYSIS FISCAL YEAR 2014-15 
As fiduciaries of the San Mateo County 
Employees’ Retirement Association 
(SamCERA), we provide this overview and 
analysis of SamCERA’s financial position as 
of June 30, 2015, and results of operation 
for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015. The 
information presented here, in conjunction 
with the Notes to the Financial Statements 
beginning on page 36, provides a clear 
picture of SamCERA’s overall financial 
status and activities.    
  
Financial Highlights 
 The fiduciary net position restricted for 

pension benefits as of June 30, 2015, was 
approximately $3.5 billion, an increase 
of $163 million, or 5% over the prior 
fiscal year. The increase was primarily 
from contributions and appreciation on 
investments less deductions during fiscal 
year 2015. 

 
 Total additions to fiduciary net position 

decreased $392 million, or 54%, to $340 
million this year from $732 million last 
year. The decrease was primarily from a 
$371 million decline in net investment 
income as the market conditions were 
shadowed by numerous global concerns 
such as the economic downturn in 
China, decline in oil prices, and market 
uncertainty in Europe and the Middle 
East. 

 
 Deductions from fiduciary net position 

increased $9 million, or 6%, to $177 
million from $168 million last year. 
Most of this increase was from an 
increased number of service retirement 
allowances for retirees with higher 
pension benefit amounts.  

 
 The net pension liability of participating 

employers was $492 million as of June 
30, 2015, which approximates to 108% 
of collective covered payroll based on the 
Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board (GASB) Statement No. 67.  

 
 The funded ratio for SamCERA 

increased to 82.6% from 78.8% over the 
year, based upon the most recent 
actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2015. 
The funding status is measured by the 
ratio of the actuarial value of assets to 
the actuarial value of accrued liabilities. 
The improvement in funded ratio was 
due mainly to the recognition of 
deferred investment gains from prior 
years under the asset smoothing method 
and employer contributions to amortize 
the unfunded actuarial accrued 
liabilities. 

 
 Despite recent market volatility and 

increased retirement benefits, the overall 
financial position of SamCERA has 
improved. SamCERA remains in a good 
financial position to meet its obligations 
to plan participants and beneficiaries.   

  
Overview of Financial Statements 
The following discussion and analysis serve 
as an introduction and overview of 
SamCERA’s basic financial statements. The 
basic financial statements and required 
disclosures are prepared in accordance with 
the accounting principles and reporting 
standards prescribed by GASB.   
  
Basic Financial Statements 
The Statement of Fiduciary Net Position is 
a snapshot of account balances at fiscal year-
end. This statement discloses the assets 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 



| FINANCIAL SECTION | 27 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

available for future pension benefits to 
retirees and their beneficiaries as well as 
outstanding liabilities as of June 30, 2015. 
The difference between assets and liabilities 
is reported as “Net Position Restricted for 
Pensions,” which represents funds available 
to pay pension benefits. Over time, increases 
and decreases in Net Position Restricted for 
Pensions may serve as an indicator of 
whether SamCERA’s financial position is 
improving or declining. This statement can 
be found on page 34 of this report. 
 
The Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net 
Position provides information about the 
financial activities during the reporting 
period that increased or decreased the Net 
Position Restricted for Pensions. This 
statement can be found on page 35 of this 
report. 
 
The above basic financial statements are 
prepared using the accrual basis of 
accounting, which is similar to most private-
sector entities. Member and employer 
contributions are recognized in the period in 
which contributions are due pursuant to 
legal requirements. Benefits and refunds are 
recognized when due and payable in 
accordance with plan terms. Investment 
income is recognized as revenue when 
earned, and expenses are recognized when 
incurred. The net appreciation (or 
deprecation) in the fair value of investments 
is recorded as an increase (or decrease) to 
investment income, which includes both 
realized and unrealized gains and losses on 
investments based upon investment 
valuations. 
 
Notes to the Basic Financial 
Statements 
The notes to the basic financial statements 

are an integral part of the basic financial 
statements and provide additional 
information that is essential to obtain a 
thorough understanding of the data 
provided in the basic financial statements. 
The notes also provide detailed information 
of key policies and activities, which occurred 
during the reporting period. The notes to 
the basic financial statement can be found 
on pages 36-59 of this report. 
 
Required Supplementary 
Information 
The Required Supplementary Information 
presents information that GASB requires to 
accompany the basic financial statements. 
Such information is an essential part of 
financial reporting for placing the basic 
financial statements in an appropriate 
operational, economic, or historical context. 
In addition to the Management’s Discussion 
and Analysis, Required Supplemental 
Information consists of schedules discussed 
below. Required Supplementary Information 
and the accompanying notes can be found 
on pages 60-63. 
 
 Schedule of Changes in Net Pension 

Liability of Participating Employers – 
indicates the extent to which the total 
pension liability is covered by the 
fiduciary net position of SamCERA. 
Liabilities on this schedule are calculated 
solely for financial reporting purposes 
and are not intended to provide 
information about the funding of 
SamCERA’s benefits. 

 
 Schedule of Employer Contributions – 

helps readers determine if plan sponsors 
are meeting the statutory actuarially 
determined contributions over a period 
of time. 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 



28 | FINANCIAL SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

 Schedule of Investment Returns – shows 
the “money-weighted rate of return” for 
investment, net of investment expenses. 
The money-weighted rate of return is a 
measure of investment performance 
adjusted for cash flows and the changing 
amounts actually invested. 

 
Other Supplementary Information 
Other Supplementary Information includes 
severa l  schedules  perta ining to 
administrative expenses, information 
technology expenses, investment expenses, 
and payments to consultants for fees paid to 
outside professionals other than investment 
advisors. Other supplementary information 
and the accompanying notes can be found 
on pages 64-67 of this report. 
 
Other Information 
Other Information consists of two schedules 
pertaining to GASB Statement No. 68, 
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions 
– an Amendment of GASB Statement No. 27. 

The two schedules are the Schedule of Cost 
Sharing Employer Allocations and the 
Schedule of Employer Pension Amounts 
Allocated by Cost Sharing Plan. Under 
GASB Statement No. 68, plan sponsors are 
required to report Net Pension Liability on 
their balance sheet and changes in Net 
Pension Liability on their income statement 
as pension expenses and deferred inflows/
outflows of resources as appropriate. Other 
information can be found on pages 68-69 of 
this report. 
 
Financial Analysis 
Increases and decreases in fiduciary net 
position over time may serve as a useful 
indicator of whether the financial health of 
SamCERA is improving or declining. Other 
factors, such as market conditions, should 
also be considered in measuring SamCERA’s 
overall financial position.  
 
Analysis of Fiduciary Net Position 
The table below compares SamCERA’s net 
position as of June 30 for the current and 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION 
June 30 (In Thousands) 
             Increase (Decrease)  

    2015   2014    Amount     Percentage  
Assets               
  Cash and cash equivalents  $       51,162     $       78,672     $      (27,510)   -35% 
  Cash management overlay           26,273              21,446                4,827    23% 
  Security lending cash collateral            99,387                       -              99,387    --- 
  Receivables           27,174              20,881                6,293    30% 
  Prepaid expense                   8                      8                       -    0% 
  Investments at fair value       3,373,248         3,203,688            169,560    5% 
  Capital assets, net             3,206                       -                3,206    --- 
             Total assets      3,580,458         3,324,695            255,763    8% 
                  
Liabilities               

  Payable -Investment management fees             2,043                2,788                 (745)   -27% 
  Due to broker for investments purchased           21,246              27,187               (5,941)   -22% 
  Securities lending collateral due to borrowers           99,387                       -              99,387    --- 

  Other             3,306                3,026                  280    9% 
             Total liabilities         125,982              33,001              92,981    282% 
                  

Net position restricted for pensions  $   3,454,476     $   3,291,694     $     162,782    5% 



| FINANCIAL SECTION | 29 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

prior fiscal years. SamCERA’s fiduciary net 
position restricted for pensions as of June 
30, 2015, was approximately $3.5 billion, 
which represents an increase of $163 million 
or 5% over the reporting period. The chart 
below compares SamCERA’s net position as 
of June 30 for the last five fiscal years. 
 
Assets. SamCERA’s total assets increased 
$256 million, or 8%, due primarily to the 
following: 
 
 Cash and cash equivalents decreased by 

$28 million. The decrease was caused 
mainly by the timing of cash inflow in 
relation to supplemental funding from 
the County of San Mateo (the County). 
In May of 2014, the County contributed 
an additional funding of $50 million  to 
accelerate the pay down its unfunded 
actuarial accrued liability. In anticipation 
of portfolio rebalancing in July 2014, the 
cash received was not invested until the 
beginning of fiscal year 2015, which 
resulted in a relatively higher cash 
balance at June 30, 2014. 

 

 Securities lending cash collateral 
increased by $99 million. In mid-June of 
2014, SamCERA temporarily suspended 
its securities lending activities while 
transitioning to a new custodian, the 
Northern Trust Company. Securities 
lending activities were resumed in mid-
July of 2014.  

 
 Investments increased by $170 million. 

The increase was driven by a net market 
appreciation on investments of $114 
million and the infusion of new capital 
of $56 million to private equity. In fiscal 
year 2015, as a result from implementing 
SamCERA’s updated target asset 
allocation, SamCERA reduced its 
investments in domestic equites and 
reallocated the capital to other asset 
categories such as domestic fixed income 
securities, international equities, real 
estate, risk parity, hedge funds, and 
commodities. 

 
 Capital assets increased by $3 million 

from the development of a new Pension 
Administration Software System. 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

SAMCERA’S FIDUCIARY NET POSITION 
June 30 (In Millions) 



30 | FINANCIAL SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

Liabilities. SamCERA’s total liabilities 
increased by $93 million, or 282%, caused 
mainly by a $99 million increase in securities 
lending liabilities. As discussed earlier, 
SamCERA temporarily suspended its 
securities lending activities in mid-June of 
2014 and resumed such activities in mid-
July of 2014 in the midst of changing 
custodian banks. The prevailing accounting 
standards require that cash received as 
collateral on securities lending transactions 
be reported as assets as well as liabilities of 
an equal amount. 
 
Analysis of Changes in Fiduciary Net 
Position 
The changes in fiduciary net position are 
determined by total additions less total 
deductions. The table below shows 
condensed information about total 
additions to, and total deductions from, the 
fiduciary net position. SamCERA’s fiduciary 

net position increased $163 million, or 5%, 
for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015.   
 
Additions. Total additions to SamCERA’s 
net position decreased $392 million, or 
54%, during fiscal year 2015. SamCERA’s 
primary sources of funding encompass 
employer and member contributions as well 
as investment income net of related 
expenses. The decrease was primarily 
attributed to the following: 
 
 Employer contributions decreased by 

$22 million. The decrease comes 
primarily from a reduction in the 
County’s supplemental funding. The 
County reduced its supplemental 
funding to $10 million in fiscal year 
2015 from $50 million in fiscal year 
2014. The net decrease of $40 million in 
supplemental contributions was partly 
offset by an $18 million increase in 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION 
For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30 (In Thousands) 

     Increase (Decrease)  
  2015   2014    Amount    Percentage 

Additions               
  Employer contributions  $      180,704     $      202,877     $   (22,173)   -11% 
  Member contributions            48,012               46,594              1,418    3% 
  Net investment income          111,320             482,050        (370,730)   -77% 
  Net security lending income                 310                    435               (125)   -29% 
  Other                       -                    179               (179)   -100% 
       Total additions          340,346             732,135        (391,789)   -54% 
                  
Deductions               
  Service retirement allowance          147,267             139,036              8,231    6% 
  Disability retirement allowance            20,039               19,267                 772    4% 
  Survivor, death and other benefits                 803                 1,039               (236)   -23% 
  Member refunds              3,357                 3,214                 143    4% 
  Administrative expense              5,350                 4,914               436   9% 
  Information technology expense                 629      731   (102)   -14%  
  Other expense                 119                      65                   54    83% 
       Total deductions          177,564             168,266    9,298   6% 
                  
             Net increase (decrease)          162,782             563,869        (401,087)   -71% 
                  
Net position restricted for pensions               
  Beginning of year       3,291,694          2,727,825          563,869    21% 
  End of year  $   3,454,476     $   3,291,694     $   162,782    5% 



| FINANCIAL SECTION | 31 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

CHANGES IN SAMCERA’S NET POSITION 
For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30 (In Millions) 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

employer contributions due mainly to 
higher statutory contribution. 

 
 Net investment income decreased by 

$371 million. Most of this decrease was 
from a total of $354 million decrease in 
market appreciation on SamCERA’s 
investments when compared to the prior 
fiscal year. The market conditions in 
fiscal year 2015 were shadowed by 
numerous global concerns such as the 
economic slowdown in China, the 
expected interest rate increase in the 
U.S., uncertainty in the oil markets, and 
Greece’s bailout. In addition, there was a 
$10 million decrease in interest and 
dividend income as the weighted average 
rate of return on SamCERA’s 
investment declined to 3.5% for fiscal 
year 2015 from 17.3% for fiscal year 
2014.  

 
Deductions. Total deductions increased by 
$9 million, or 6%, during fiscal year 2015. 
Most of this increase was from an increased 
number of service retirement allowances for 
retirees with higher pension benefit 
amounts.  
 

Actuarial Valuation 
SamCERA engages an independent actuarial 
firm, Milliman, Inc., to perform an annual 
actuarial valuation to monitor its funding 
status and funding integrity. The valuation 
reassesses the magnitude of SamCERA’s 
benefit commitments, in comparison with 
the assets expected to be available to support 
those commitments. Valuation results will 
be used to determine employer and member 
contribution rates for funding purposes.  
 
In the actuarial valuation, the actuary uses 
several assumptions with regards to 
SamCERA’s members (such as their life 
expectancy, projected salary increases, and 
the age at which members may retire) to 
determine the assets, liabilities, and future 
contribution requirements. The actuarial 
economic and demographic assumptions 
selected are used to project as closely as 
possible the actuarial cost of the plan. The 
projection permits an orderly method for 
setting aside contributions today to provide 
benefits in the future, and maintain equity 
among generations of members and 
taxpayers.  
 
According to the latest actuarial valuation as 
of June 30, 2015, the plan’s funded ratio 



32 | FINANCIAL SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

ADDITIONS TO PLAN NET PENSION 
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2015 (In Thousands) 

DEDUCTIONS FROM PLAN NET POSITION 
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2015 (In Thousands) 

0.3% 



| FINANCIAL SECTION | 33 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

(actuarial value of assets to actuarial accrued 
liabilities) increased to 82.6% as of June 30, 
2015, from 78.8% as of June 30, 2014. The 
increase primarily resulted from the 
recognition of deferred investment gains 
from prior years under the asset smoothing 
method and employer contributions to 
amortize the UAAL. The assets used in the 
calculation of the funded ratio include the 
value of the County Supplemental 
Contribution account. 
 
As of June 30, 2015, the actuarial value of 
plan assets was $3.3 billion, and the actuarial 
accrued liability was $4.0 billion. The 
difference between these two amounts 
represents the unfunded actuarial accrued 
liability, which amounted to $702 million 
(or 154% of the collective covered payroll of 
participating employers, totaling $455 
million for the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2015).  
 
SamCERA’s Fiduciary Responsibilities 
SamCERA’s Board of Retirement and 
management staff are fiduciaries of the 
pension trust fund. Under the California 
Constitution and the County Employees’ 
Retirement Law of 1937, assets of the 
retirement system can only be used for the 
exclusive benefit of plan participants and 
their beneficiaries. 
 
Requests for Information 
This financial report is designed to provide 
SamCERA’s Board of Retirement, members, 
investment managers, and interested parties 
with a general overview of SamCERA’s 
financial position and to show accountability 
for the funds received. Additional 
information is available on SamCERA’s 
website at www.samcera.org.  
 
 

Questions concerning any of the 
information provided in this report or 
requests for additional financial information 
should be addressed to: 
 

San Mateo County Employees’ 
Retirement Association  

 100 Marine Parkway, Suite 125 
 Redwood City, CA 94065 
 Telephone: (650) 599-1234 
 Facsimile: (650) 591-1488  
 
 
  
 



34 | FINANCIAL SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

 2015 2014 
ASSETS   
 Cash and short term investments:   
 Cash and cash equivalents   $ 51,162,210  $ 78,671,477  
 Cash management overlay 26,273,301  21,446,466  

 Securities lending cash collateral  99,386,577  - 
       Total cash and short-term investments 176,822,088  100,117,943  

 
   Receivables:   
  Contributions 6,151,530  4,648,233  

  Due from broker for investments sold 14,438,183  12,596,153  
  Investment income 6,433,607  3,483,030  
  Securities lending income 37,582  39,953  
  Other  112,810  113,410  
                  Total receivables 27,173,712  20,880,779  

 
 Prepaid expense 7,669 7,669 

 
 Investments at fair value:    

  Domestic fixed income securities 567,116,706  493,024,480 
  International fixed income securities 98,285,376  100,023,249 
  Domestic equities 1,122,264,718  1,229,039,423 
  International equities 675,589,939  653,569,353 
  Real estate  218,473,360  183,566,990 
  Private equities 193,265,850  138,490,534  
  Real assets 4,176,914  - 
  Risk parity 265,103,721  197,597,402  
  Hedge funds 139,680,676  117,896,816  
  Commodities 89,291,005  90,480,043  
                 Total investments at fair value 3,373,248,265  3,203,688,290 

         Capital assets, net 3,206,047 - 
         Total assets 3,580,457,781  3,324,694,681  

LIABILITIES   
  Payable - Investment management fees 2,042,596  2,787,598 

  Due to broker for investments  purchased 21,246,436  27,187,226 

  Securities lending collateral due to borrowers 99,386,577  - 

  Other 3,305,844  3,025,903 
        Total liabilities  125,981,453  33,000,727 

   
Net position restricted for pensions $3,454,476,328 $3,291,693,954  

   

STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION 
June 30, 2015 (with comparative amounts as of June 30, 2014) 

The accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of these financial statements.  

STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION 



| FINANCIAL SECTION | 35 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION 
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2015  

(with comparative amounts for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2014) 

The accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of these financial statements.  

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION 

  2015   2014 
ADDITIONS       
  Contributions:       
    Employer  $        180,704,280     $        202,877,362  
    Member              48,011,698                 46,593,698  
          Total contributions            228,715,978               249,471,060  
            
  Investment income:       
    Interest and dividends              44,433,648                 54,492,076  
    Net appreciation in fair value of investments              99,877,102               454,082,350  
          Total investment income            144,310,750               508,574,426  
    Less:  investment expense            (32,990,697)              (26,524,556) 
                Net investment income             111,320,053               482,049,870  
          
  Security lending income:        
    Earnings                   184,442    253,687 

    Fees                   (87,101)                      (186,785)  
                Net securities lending income                   309,645                      435,459  
          
  Other additions                          338                      178,636  
    
                  Total additions            340,346,014               732,135,025  
            
DEDUCTIONS       
  Member benefits:       
    Service retirement allowance            147,266,945               139,036,410  
    Disability retirement allowance              20,038,671                 19,266,623  
    Survivor, death and other benefits                   803,591                   1,038,945  
          Total member benefits            168,109,207               159,341,978  
            
  Member refunds                3,357,011                   3,214,129  
  Administrative expense                5,349,796                   4,913,875  
  Information technology expense                   628,909      731,129 
  Other expense                   118,717                        65,292  

  
                Total deductions            177,563,640               168,266,403  

  
  Net increase            162,782,374               563,868,622  
            
Net position restricted for pensions       

        3,291,693,954            2,727,825,332  
  End of year  $     3,454,476,328     $     3,291,693,954  
  Beginning of year 

  Rebates 212,304  368,557 



36 | FINANCIAL SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS  
 
Note 1: Plan Description   
 
The San Mateo County Employees' 
Retirement Association (SamCERA) is 
governed by the California Constitution, the 
County Employees’ Retirement Law of 1937 
(the CERL - a component of the California 
Government Code) and the regulations, 
procedures and policies adopted by the 
Board of Retirement (the Board). SamCERA 
is not subject to the provisions of the 
Employee Retirement Income Security Act 
of 1974 (ERISA).  
 
General 
SamCERA is a cost-sharing multiple-
employer, defined benefit pension plan 
established to provide pension benefits for 
substantially all permanent employees of the 
County of San Mateo (the County), the San 
Mateo County Mosquito and Vector 
Control District (the District), and the 
Superior Court of the County of San Mateo 
(the Court). Because of its close relationship 
with the County, SamCERA is a blended 
component unit, fiduciary in nature, of the 
County and is a pension trust fund of the 
participating employers.  
 
Under the CERL, the management of 
SamCERA is vested in the Board consisting 
of nine members: the first member is the 
County Treasurer; the second and third 
members are general members of SamCERA 
elected by their peers; the fourth, fifth, sixth 
and ninth members are qualified electors of 
the County and appointed by the County 
Board of Supervisors; the seventh member is 
elected by and a member of SamCERA’s 
safety membership; and the eighth member 

is a retired member elected from the retired 
membership. In addition, there is one 
elected Safety Member Alternate and one 
elected Retired Member Alternate. 
 
Subject to the following fiduciary 
responsibilities, the Board oversees and 
guides the pension plan: 
 
(1) solely in the interest of, and for the 

exclusive purpose of, providing 
economic benefits to participants and 
their beneficiaries;  

(2) with the care, skill, prudence, and 
diligence under the circumstances then 
prevailing that a prudent person acting 
in a like capacity and familiar with these 
matters would use in the conduct of an 
enterprise of a like character with like 
objectives; and  

(3) shall diversify the investments of the 
plan as to minimize the risk of loss and 
to maximize the rate of return unless, 
under the circumstances, it is clearly 
prudent not to do so.  

  
Pension Plans 
SamCERA has seven pension plan tiers, 
which cover members classified as general, 
safety (those serving in law enforcement), 
and probation. The table on the following 
two pages provide details for each of these 
tiers.  
 
In addition to the basic member and the 
cost sharing contributions, certain plan 
members (except those in Plan 3) are 
required to make contributions to fund the 
Cost of Living Adjustments (COLA) 
discussed in the succeeding section. Certain 
members in Tiers 1, 2, and 4 contribute  a 
specific percentage of the retirement COLA 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT 



| FINANCIAL SECTION | 37 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

BENEFIT PLANS 
June 30, 2015 
      General Member   Probation Member   Safety Member 
        
PLAN 1* Hire Date   On or before 7/6/80   On or before 7/6/80   On or before 7/6/80 
  Benefit factor   2%@55.5   3%@50   3%@50 
  Maximum COLA   5%   3%   5% 
  FAC Period**   Highest 1 year   Highest 1 year   Highest 1 year 
  

Eligibility for 
Service Retirement 

  Age 50 with 10 years of 
service***; any age 

with 30 years of 
service; or age 70 

regardless of years of 
service. 

  
Age 50 with 10 years of 
service; any age with 20 

years of service. 
  

Age 50 with 10 years of 
service; any age with 20 

years of service. 

                
PLAN 2* Hire Date   7/7/80 - 7/12/97   7/7/80 - 7/12/97   7/7/80 - 7/12/97 
  Benefit factor   2%@55.5   3%@50   3%@50 
  Maximum COLA   3%   3%   3% 
  FAC Period    Highest 1 year   Highest 1 year   Highest 1 year 
  

Eligibility for 
Service Retirement 

  Age 50 with 10 years of 
service***; any age 

with 30 years of 
service; or age 70 

regardless of years of 
service. 

  
Age 50 with 10 years of 
service; any age with 20 

years of service. 
  

Age 50 with 10 years of 
service; any age with 20 

years of service. 

                
PLAN 3* 

Hire Date 

  
On or before12/22/12,  

a non-contributory 
plan. 

  Not applicable   Not applicable 

  

  

  (After five years of service, Plan 3 members can elect membership under the open 
contributory plan. Members currently working in a contributory plan with Plan 3 
service may purchase an upgrade of their Plan 3 service. Plan 3 closed effective 
December 23, 2012.) 
 
(If retirement occurs prior to age 65, benefit amount will be adjusted by an actuarial 
equivalent factor.) 

  Maximum COLA   No COLA   Not applicable   Not applicable 
  

FAC Period 
  Highest 3 years (non-

consecutive)   Not applicable   Not applicable 

  

Eligibility for 
Service Retirement 

  
Age 65 with 10 years of 

service; reduced 
benefit at age 55 with 

10 years of service. 

  Not applicable   Not applicable 

       (Continued) 

 
*Plans 1, 2, 3, and 4 are closed to new entrants. However, eligible general members with reciprocity of the Mosquito 
District may participate in Plan 4. 
 
** FAC  Period stands for “Final Average Compensation” Period. 
 
*** Age 50 is replaced with age 55 for part-time employees. 
 



38 | FINANCIAL SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

      General Member   Probation Member   Safety Member 
                
PLAN 4* Hire Date   7/13/97 - 8/6/11 

(except Plan 5 transfers 
discussed under Plan 5 

below) 

  
7/13/97 - 7/9/11 

  
7/13/97 - 1/7/12       

    

      (Note: Plan 4 closed simultaneously with the implementation of Plan 5 and Plan 6.) 
  Benefit factor   2%@55.5   3%@50   3%@50 
  Maximum COLA   2%   2%   2% 
  FAC Period**   

Highest 3 years (non-
consecutive)   Highest 3 years (non-

consecutive)   Highest 3 years (non-
consecutive) 

  Eligibility for 
Service Retirement 

  Age 50 with 10 years of 
service***; any age 

with 30 years of 
service; or age 70 

regardless of years of 
service. 

  
Age 50 with 10 years of 
service; any age with 20 

years of service. 
  

Age 50 with 10 years of 
service; any age with 20 

years of service. 

                
PLAN 5 Hire Date   8/7/11 - 12/13/12   7/10/11 - 12/31/12   1/8/12 - 12/31/12 
      (Note: General Plan 5 members after 10 years of service can elect to transfer to Plan 

4 and must pay the total actuarial equivalent cost of the increase in past service 
benefits at the date of transfer.) 

  Benefit factor   2% @61.25   3%@55    3%@55 
  Maximum COLA   2%   2%   2% 
  FAC Period   

Highest 3 years (non-
consecutive)   Highest 3 years (non-

consecutive)   Highest 3 years (non-
consecutive) 

  Eligibility for 
Service Retirement 

  Age 50 with 10 years of 
service***; any age 

with 30 years of 
service; or age 70 

regardless of years of 
service. 

  
Age 50 with 10 years of 
service; any age with 20 

years of service. 
  

Age 50 with 10 years of 
service; any age with 20 

years of service. 

                
PLAN 6 Hire Date   Not applicable   7/10/11 - 12/31/12   1/8/12 - 12/31/12 
  Benefit factor   Not applicable   2%@50    2%@50 
  Maximum COLA   Not applicable   2%   2% 
  FAC Period   

Not applicable   Highest 3 years (non-
consecutive)   Highest 3 years (non-

consecutive) 

  Eligibility for 
Service Retirement 

  
Not applicable   

Age 50 with 10 years of 
service; any age with 20 

years of service. 
  

Age 50 with 10 years of 
service; any age with 20 

years of service. 
                
PLAN 7 Hire Date   On or after 1/1/13   On or after 1/1/13   On or after 1/1/13 
  Benefit factor   2%@62   2.7%@57   2.7%@57 
  Maximum COLA   2%   2%   2% 
  FAC Period   

Highest 36 consecutive 
months   Highest 36 consecutive 

months   Highest 36 consecutive 
months 

  Eligibility for 
Service Retirement 

  Age 52 with 5 years of 
service. 

  Age 50 with 5 years of 
service. 

  Age 50 with 5 years of 
service. 

*Plans 1, 2, 3, and 4 are closed to new entrants. However,  eligible general members with reciprocity of the Mosquito District may 
participate in Plan 4. 
** FAC  Period stands for “Final Average Compensation” Period. 
*** Age 50 is replaced with age 55 for part-time employees. 



| FINANCIAL SECTION | 39 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

SAMCERA MEMBERSHIP 
June 30, 2015 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

cost. All members in Tiers 5 and 6 
contribute 50% of the COLA. Members in 
Tier 7 contribute 50% of the aggregate 
normal cost rate for their plan. 
 
Pension Plan Membership 
Plan membership as of June 30, 2015, is 
displayed in the table below. 
 
Benefit Provisions 
SamCERA provides basic service retirement, 
disability, and death benefits based on 
defined benefit formulas, which use final 
average compensation, years of service, and 
age factors to calculate benefits payable. In 
addition, SamCERA provides annual COLA 
upon retirement for members of Tiers 1, 2, 
4, 5, 6 and 7. The benefits of Tier 3 are 
reduced by a portion of the Social Security 

benefits received by the member. The CERL 
vests the County Board of Supervisors with 
the authority to initiate benefits.  
 
Active Member Benefits. Members are 
entitled to receive a retirement allowance 
based on their plan membership. The seven 
pension plans cover members classified as 
general, safety, or probation. 
 
Inactive (Deferred) Member Benefits. A 
member is entitled to withdraw his/her 
member contributions plus accumulated 
interest upon termination of employment. If 
the member enters a reciprocal retirement 
system within 180 days, the member can 
elect to leave the accumulated contributions 
with SamCERA and receive a deferred 
retirement allowance when eligible. 

* Plans closed to new entrants except eligible general members with reciprocity of the Mosquito District may participate 
in Plan 4. 

      Tier 1* Tier 2* Tier 3* Tier 4* Tier 5 Tier 6 Tier 7 Total 
RETIREES AND BENEFICIARIES CURRENTLY RECEIVING BENEFITS                 
   General       1,711       1,715         128         460             1              -              -       4,015  
   Safety         271         157              -           39              -              -              -         467  
   Probation           71           69              -           16              -              -              -         156  
          Subtotal        2,053       1,941         128         515             1              -              -       4,638  
TERMINATED MEMBERS ENTITLED TO BUT NOT RECEIVING BENEFITS (INACTIVE/DEFERRED)                 
   General           17         380         121         702           22              -           25       1,267  
   Safety             1           26              -           43             2              -             1           73  
   Probation              -           12              -           32              -              -              -           44  
          Subtotal           18         418         121         777           24              -           26       1,384  
CURRENT MEMBERS, VESTED                 
   General           24         780           73       2,191             3              -             5       3,076  
   Safety             3           87              -         228              -              -             1         319  
   Probation             1           48              -         198              -              -              -         247  
          Subtotal           28         915           73       2,617             3              -             6       3,642  
CURRENT MEMBERS,  NON-VESTED                 
   General              -             1           24         167         271              -         795       1,258  
   Safety              -              -              -           41           53             1           65         160  
   Probation              -              -              -             1             9             2           23           35  
                        Subtotal              -             1           24         209         333             3         883       1,453  
                  Total Members       2,099       3,275         346       4,118         361             3         915     11,117  



40 | FINANCIAL SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Members with five years of service, 
permanent, part-time employees with the 
equivalent of five years of full-time service, or 
non-contributory members in Tier 3 with ten 
years of service may elect a deferred 
retirement upon termination of 
employment. 
 
Disability Benefits. A disability retirement 
may be service-connected or non-service-
connected. Service credit requirements do 
not apply for members applying for service-
connected disability benefits. If members are 
found permanently incapacitated from 
performing their job as a result of injury or 
disease arising out of or in the course of 
employment, the members are eligible for 
disability retirement benefits. Members 
applying for non-service-connected disability 
must have five or more years of eligible 
service credit.  
 
Death Benefits. Death benefits are payable to 
eligible beneficiaries of retired members. 
Eligible beneficiaries may receive a 
percentage of a deceased member’s 
retirement allowance based upon the 
retirement option selected by the member at 
the time of retirement. 
 
Cost-of-Living Adjustments (COLA). As of 
April 1 of each year, the Board will adjust 
the retirement allowances in accordance with 
an annual increase in the cost of living as of 
January 1 of each year to the nearest one-half 
of one percent.  
 
The COLA is based on information released 
by the Bureau of Labor Statistics Consumer 
Price Index for All Urban Consumers in the 
San Francisco, Oakland, and San Jose Bay 
Area. The increase is capped at 5% for 
General and Safety members in Tier 1; 3% 

for Probation members in Tier 1 and all 
members in Tier 2; and 2% for members in 
Tiers 4, 5, 6, and 7. Tier 3 has no COLA.  
 
Note 2: Summary of Significant 
Accounting Policies 
  
Basis of Accounting  
The accompanying financial statements are 
prepared on the accrual basis of accounting 
and in accordance with Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles (GAAP) in the United 
States of America. The basis of accounting 
indicates the timing of transactions or events 
for recognition in the financial statements. 
Employer and member contributions are 
recognized in the period in which 
contributions are due pursuant to legal 
requirements. Benefits and refunds are 
recognized when due and payable in 
accordance with plan terms. Investment 
income is recognized as revenue when 
earned, and expenses are recognized when 
incurred. The net appreciation (or 
deprecation) in the fair value of investments 
is recorded as an increase (or decrease) to 
investment income, which includes both 
realized and unrealized gains and losses on 
investments, based upon investment 
valuations. 
  
SamCERA is an independent public 
employee retirement system with its own 
governing board. SamCERA’s management 
is responsible for maintaining appropriate 
internal controls and preparing SamCERA’s 
financial statements. Because of its financial 
relationship with the County (the primary 
plan sponsor), SamCERA is classified as a 
blended component unit of the County 
(fiduciary in nature) and reported as a 
pension trust fund in the County’s financial 
statements.  



| FINANCIAL SECTION | 41 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Investment Policy and Valuation 
The Board has exclusive control of 
SamCERA’s investments. Government 
Code Section 31595 of the CERL  
authorizes the Board to invest, or delegate 
the authority to invest, the assets of 
SamCERA in any investment allowed by 
statute and deemed prudent in the informed 
opinion of the Board. 
 
The Investment Policy of SamCERA seeks to 
optimize long-term returns within acceptable 
risk parameters. In June 2014, the Board 
adopted a new target asset allocation, which 
included modest changes to further diversify 
the plan. The new target asset allocation is 
incorporated into SamCERA’s Investment 
Policy, which is detailed in the Investment 
Section. The Board periodically reviews the 
asset allocation in response to changing 
market conditions that may affect forward-
looking expected returns of asset classes.  
 
Plan investments consist of domestic and 
international fixed income securities, 
domestic and international equities, real 
estate, private equities, real assets, risk parity, 
hedge funds, and commodities. SamCERA 
records investment transactions on the trade 
date. Investments are reported at fair value, 
which represents the amount SamCERA 
could reasonably expect to receive for an 
investment in a current sale between a 
willing buyer and seller.  
 
The valuation process by major asset 
category is as follows: 
 
Cash and cash equivalents. Cash is pooled 
with other funds of the County or 
custodians, as appropriate, to earn a higher 
rate of return than could be earned by 
investing the funds individually. All highly 

liquid investments with maturities of three 
months or less when purchased, in addition 
to the pooled cash with the County and 
custodians, are considered cash equivalents. 
 
Short-term investments. Short-term 
investments are reported at cost, which 
approximates fair value. Short-term 
investments include cash held in the money 
market and securities that are readily 
convertible to cash. 
 
Domestic and international equities and 
fixed income securities. Valuations for 
publicly traded securities, such as stocks and 
bonds, are provided by SamCERA’s 
custodian, the Northern Trust Company, 
based on end-of-day prices from external 
pricing vendors. The fair value of public 
market equity and fixed income investments 
held in Institutional Commingled Funds or 
Partnerships are typically provided by a third 
party fund administrator, who performs this 
service for the fund manager. 
 
Real estate. Real estate assets are reported at 
fair value utilizing an income approach to 
valuation. An independent appraisal is 
conducted every quarter to determine the 
fair value of the real estate assets.  
 
Private equity and real assets. Private equity 
and real asset partnerships are reported 
based on the fair value provided by the 
General Partner on a quarterly basis. The 
General Partner considers the financial 
conditions and operating results of the 
portfolio companies, the nature of the 
investments, marketability, and other 
relevant factors. 
 
Risk parity, hedge funds, and commodities. 
These investments are reported based on the 



42 | FINANCIAL SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

fair value provided by a third party 
administrator, who performs this service for 
the fund manager. 
 
Interest income is recognized as it accrues. 
Dividend income is recognized when the 
dividends are declared. Realized as well as  
unrealized gains and losses on investments 
are combined and reported as the net 
appreciation (depreciation) in the fair value 
of investments. 
 
Foreign Currency Transactions 
Gains and losses from foreign currency 
transactions during the year (including 
translation of international investments at 
fiscal year-end rates of exchange) are 
recorded as investment income. Forward 
currency contracts are used by SamCERA’s 
investment managers to control currency 
exposure and facilitate the settlement of 
international security purchase and sale 
transactions. These contracts are agreements 
to exchange different currencies at specified 
rates and settlement dates. Differences 
between the contract and market exchange 
rates at settlement result in gains or losses, 
which are included in net investment 
income. Risks may arise from the possible 
inability of counterparties to meet the terms 
of their contracts and from movements in 
exchange and interest rates. 
 
Securities Lending Activity  
Securities lending transactions are short-term 
collateralized loans of SamCERA’s securities 
for the purpose of generating additional 
investment income. For each securities 
lending transaction, SamCERA receives 
either cash collateral or non-cash collateral. 
The underlying securities out on loan are 
reported on SamCERA’s statement of 
fiduciary net position as if the lending 
transaction had not occurred. 

In accordance with Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) 
Statement No. 28, Accounting and Financial 
Reporting for Securities Lending Transactions, 
cash collateral held (or any security that can 
be sold or pledged without a borrower 
default) is separately reported on the 
statement of fiduciary net position among 
the current assets. A corresponding liability 
of an equal amount (the obligation to return 
the cash collateral) is reported 
simultaneously. Non-cash collateral held that 
cannot be sold or pledged without a 
borrower default is not reported on the 
statement of fiduciary net position nor is 
there a corresponding liability reported on 
this statement.  
 
Receivables  
Receivables consist primarily of interest, 
dividends, investments in transition (traded 
but not yet settled), and contributions owed 
by participating employers at year-end. 
 
Capital Assets  
Capital assets including intangible assets are 
items with an initial unit cost of greater than 
$5,000 and an estimated useful life in excess 
of three years. Capital assets are reported at 
historical cost, net of accumulated 
depreciation. Depreciation is calculated 
using the straight-line method over the 
estimated useful lives of the assets, from 
three to ten years. Most capital assets are 
information technology related.  
 
The routine upgrade of information 
technology systems, hardware, software, and 
maintenance are deemed appropriate as 
expenses for the current year. As of June 30, 
2015, SamCERA reported $3.2 million in 
capital assets from the development of a new 
pension administration system with an 
expected completion date in the year 2017. 



| FINANCIAL SECTION | 43 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Estimates 
The preparation of financial statements in 
accordance with GAAP requires 
management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect certain amounts and 
disclosures.  Accordingly, actual results may 
differ from those estimates. 
 
Income Taxes  
The Internal Revenue Service has ruled that 
retirement plans, such as SamCERA, under 
Section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code 
are not subject to tax under present income 
tax laws. On January 29, 2014, the Internal 
Revenue Service issued a favorable Tax 
Determination Letter. Thus, no provision 
for income taxes has been reported in the 
accompanying basic financial statements as 
the plan is exempt from federal and state 
income taxes under provisions of the 
Internal Revenue Code, Section 401 and the 
California Revenue and Taxation Code, 
Section 23701, respectively.  
 
Subsequent Events 
Subsequent events are those events or 
transactions that occur subsequent to the 
effective date of the financial statements, but 
prior to the issuance of final reports, which 
may have a material effect on the financial 
statements or disclosures contained therein. 
Subsequent to June 30, 2015, and through 
October 20, 2015, the date through which 
management evaluated subsequent events 
and the date of the independent auditor’s 
report, SamCERA did not have any 
subsequent events that required disclosure. 
 
Reclassification 
Certain financial statement items from the 
prior year’s financial statements have been 
reclassified for comparative purposes. Such 
reclassifications had no effect on previously 
reported fiduciary net position. 

Note 3: Funding Policy 
 
The CERL establishes the basic contribution 
obligations for employers and members to 
the pension plan. The employer and 
member contribution rates adopted by the 
Board are based on recommendations from 
an independent actuary in accordance with 
membership type (General, Safety, and 
Probation) and the tier in which a member 
belongs. The funding objective of the 
pension plan is to establish employer and 
member contribution rates which, over time, 
will remain as a level percentage of payroll. 
 
Participating employers are required by 
statute to contribute amounts necessary to 
fund the estimated benefits accruing to 
members not otherwise funded by member 
contributions or expected investment 
earnings. Employer contribution rates for 
each tier are determined pursuant to 
Government Code Section 31453 of the 
CERL, using the entry age normal cost 
method based upon a level percentage of 
projected payroll. The employer 
contribution rates include an estimated 
amount necessary to finance benefits earned 
by members during the current year (normal 
cost) and an amount to amortize the 
unfunded actuarial accrued liability (UAAL).   
 
For members in Plans 1, 2, 4, 5, and 6, 
contributions are of three types: (1) basic 
member contributions, (2) cost sharing 
contributions,  and (3) COLA cost sharing 
contributions. Basic member contributions 
are determined using the Entry Age Normal 
Cost Method and  selected actuarial 
assumptions. In addition to the basic rate, 
Plan 1, 2, and 4 General members, as well as 
Plan 5 Safety management and Probation 
management members, make additional cost
-sharing contributions. Plan 6 members do 



44 | FINANCIAL SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

not participate in cost-sharing. All members 
in Plan 7 pay contributions equal to one-half 
of the total normal cost rate. Members in 
Plan 3 pay no contributions. 
 
Members may  also share the cost of the 
COLA by making additional contributions, 
depending on which plan and bargaining 
unit they belong to. Member contributions 
along with interest credited are refundable 
upon termination of membership.  
 
In determining both employer and member 
contribution rates, assumptions are made 
about future events that may affect the 
amount and timing of benefits to be paid 
and assets to be accumulated. Methods and 
assumptions used to determine contribution 
rates appear in the Required Supplemental 
Information section. The actuarial valuation 
of plan assets and liabilities is normally 
carried out as of June 30 of each year. The 
contribution rates as determined at June 30, 
2015, are subject to “one year” deferral. 
Thus, the new contribution rates in the 
2015 valuation are effective on July 1, 2016. 

Note 4: Contributions 
 
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015, the 
average statutory employer contribution rate 
was 32.35% of actual covered payroll (with 
10.42% attributed to the normal cost and 
21.93% to the amortization of the UAAL 
over a new closed 15 years). The average 
member contribution rate for the same 
period was 11.52%. These contribution rates 
were actuarially determined. 
 
The employer statutory contributions, 
including the normal cost and the UAAL, 
are presented  below. 

The employer normal cost rate decreased 
from 10.8% to 10.42% of covered payroll 
and was primarily due to a large portion of 
the active population being members in 

    (a)   (b)   (a) - (b)     
Fiscal Year 
Ended June 

30 
  Actual 

Contribution   Statutory 
Contribution   

Excess 
Supplemental 
Contribution 

  
Percentage of 

Statutory Contribution 
Received 

2006   $ 76,090    $ 76,090          $      -    100% 
2007   100,550    100,550    -   100% 
2008   105,340    105,340    -   100% 
2009   106,123    106,123    -   100% 
2010   106,265    106,265    -   100% 
2011   150,475    150,475    -   100% 
2012   150,950    139,407    $11,543    100% 
2013   144,308    131,294    13,014    100% 
2014   202,877    152,877    50,000   *  100% 
2015   180,704    169,814    10,890   **  100% 

SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS 
(In Thousands) 

* The County made a supplemental payment of $50 million to accelerate the pay down of the County's UAAL. 
** The County made a supplemental payment of $10 million to accelerate the pay down of the County's UAAL and 
$0.9 million in addition to the required annual contribution. 

  2015 2014 Change 

Normal Cost 10.42% 10.80% -0.38% 

UAAL Amortization  21.93% 23.94% -2.01% 

Total Contribution Rate 32.35% 34.74% -2.39% 

EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTION RATES AS A 
PERCENTAGE  OF COVERED PAYROLL 



| FINANCIAL SECTION | 45 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT 

PEPRA plans. In addition, negotiated 
increases in some member’s contribution 
rates due to additional COLA sharing also 
helped reduce the contribution rates. 
 
The employer’s statutory contribution rate to 
finance the UAAL over 15 years decreased 
from 23.94% to 21.93% of covered payroll. 
The decrease was largely driven by the 
recognition of investment gains from prior 
years under the asset smoothing method. 
 
In November 2013, the County reached an 
agreement with SamCERA to accelerate the 
pay down of the County’s UAAL. Under 
this agreement, the County provided an 
additional $50 million of pension 
contribution in fiscal year 2014 and will 
contribute an additional $10 million 
annually for the following nine years. 
SamCERA set up a new account, County 
Supplemental Contribution Account 
(CSCA), to separately account for the 
supplemental contributions.  
 
Deposits in the CSCA less than six months 
prior to the regular crediting dates of June 
30 or December 31 will receive interest 
credit at the actual market investment return 
rate. Deposits in the CSCA for more than 
six months prior to a crediting date will 
receive interest at the actuarially calculated 
return.  
 
During fiscal year 2015, in addition to the 
supplemental contribution of $10 million, 
the County contributed 38.0% of its actual 
payroll in lieu of the statutory rate of 37.8%. 
The additional 0.2% contribution amounted 
to $0.9 million. Thus, the total excess 
contribution reached $10.9 million during 
the year. The CSCA had an aggregate 
balance of $65.5 million as of June 30, 2015. 
 

In fiscal year 2015, the County paid its 
annual employer contributions to 
SamCERA via two semi-annual prepayments 
in July 2014 and January 2015, respectively. 
The prepayments were based on the adopted 
actuarial contribution rate and the projected 
covered payroll by tier, discounted by the 
actuarial assumption rate of return.  
 
Throughout the year, the prepayments were 
periodically reduced by actual contributions 
as determined by the adopted actuarial 
contribution rate and the actual covered 
payroll by tier. At year end, SamCERA 
performed a “true-up” calculation to ensure 
that the County’s annual statutory 
contribution to SamCERA was fully settled. 
The excess balance in the prepayment 
account will be applied towards the County’s 
contribution for fiscal year 2016.  
 
Note 5: Deposit and Investment  
 
The Board established an Investment Policy 
in accordance with applicable local, state and 
federal laws. The CERL vests the Board with 
exclusive control over SamCERA’s 
investment portfolio. Except as otherwise 
expressly restricted by the California 
Constitution and by regulation, the Board 
may, in its discretion, invest, or delegate the 
authority to invest, the assets of SamCERA 
in any investment allowed by statute and 
deemed prudent in the informed opinion of 
the Board.  
  
Deposit 
SamCERA has deposits with an outside 
financial institution, the Northern Trust 
Company , as well as with the County in an 
investment pool account. Deposits with 
Northern Trust are swept into a pooled 
money market fund, which invests in 
securities such as repurchase agreements, 



46 | FINANCIAL SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT 

commercial paper, U.S. Treasury bills and 
notes. Earnings and losses from the County 
investment pool are shared among pool 
participants. All deposits are reported at 
cost, which approximates fair value.  
 
Custodial Credit Risk – Deposits: The 
custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk 
that, in the event of the failure of a 
depository financial institution, SamCERA 
will not be able to recover deposits nor be 
able to recover collateral securities that are in 
the possession of an outside party. 
SamCERA has no general policy on 
custodial credit risk for deposits. 
 
SamCERA maintains cash deposits to 
support its investment activities and 
operational needs.  As of June 30, 2015, 
$31.6 million of cash was held in a pooled 
money market fund with a financial 
institution (the Northern Trust Company) 
and $2.1 million in the investment pool 
with the County Treasurer.  
 
Cash held with the Northern Trust 
Company of  $389,569 is uninsured and 
uncollateralized. Thus, this amount is 
subject to custodian credit risk. SamCERA 
does not have a general policy addressing 
custodial credit risk. The fair value of 
SamCERA’s position in the pool is the same 
as the value of the pool shares. The 
participation in the County investment pool 
is voluntary. The County investment pool is 
not registered with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission as an investment 
company. The County Board of Supervisors 
established an eight-member County 
Treasury Oversight Committee to oversee 
the management of public funds in the 
investment pool in accordance with Article 6 
Section 27131 of the California 
Government Code. 

Investment 
SamCERA’s investments are managed by 
independent investment management firms 
in accordance with the guidelines and 
controls specified in the Investment Policy 
and contracts executed with the Board. A 
third party institution is used as an 
independent custodian, the Northern Trust 
Company, over SamCERA’s assets.  
 
Investment Policy. The Investment Policy is 
strategized to reduce risk through a prudent 
diversification of the investment portfolio 
across a broad selection of distinct asset 
classes. The Board conducted an asset 
liability study in fiscal year 2014 and 
subsequently approved a new target asset 
allocation outlined in SamCERA’s 
Investment Policy. The Board undertakes an 
in-depth asset and liability study every three 
to five years. 
 
Target Asset Allocation. The newly adopted 
target asset allocation consists of 50% in 
equities, 20% in fixed income, 16% in 
alternatives, 8% in risk parity, and 6% in 
real estate. The Board added a new real asset 
category in alternatives and moved risk parity 
from alternatives into its own asset class. 
SamCERA does not have an allocation 
policy for cash and cash equivalents.  
 
As of June 30, 2015, actual asset allocation 
was 52.7% in equities, 19.3% in fixed 
income, 12.2% in alternatives, 7.7% in risk 
parity, 6.4% in real estate, and 1.7% in cash 
and cash equivalents. 
 
Long-Term Expected Rate of Return.  
The long-term expected rate of return on 
pension plan investments was determined 
using a building-block method. Under this 
method, a median (or expected) geometric 
rate of return is developed for each major 



| FINANCIAL SECTION | 47 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT 

asset class. The median rates are combined 
to produce the long-term expected rate of 
return by weighting the expected future rates 
of return by the target asset allocation 
percentage.   
 
As of June 30, 2015, estimates of the median 
geometric rates of return for each major asset 
class at the time the asset allocation targets 
were selected are shown in the table below. 
 

 
Money-Weighted Rate of Return. The 
money-weighted rate of return expresses 
investment performance, net of pension plan 
investment expense, adjusted for the timing 
of cash flows and the changing amounts 
actually invested. For the fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2015, the annual money-weighted 
rate of return was 3.36% on SamCERA’s 
investments, net of related investment 
expenses. 
 
Investment Risk 
SamCERA manages investment risks under 
GASB Statements No. 40 and 53 by 
contractually requiring each investment 
manager to follow specific investment 
guidelines that are specifically tailored to the 

investment manager. These investment 
guidelines typically stipulate the investment 
style, performance objective, performance 
benchmarks, and portfolio characteristics. 
 
Each investment manager is required to 
follow the “manager standard of care” to act 
prudently and solely in the best interest of 
SamCERA. The guidelines require the 
investment return performance of each 
manager be compared with the performance 
of a relative passive market index over 
specific periods. SamCERA’s investment 
consultant and staff constantly monitor the 
performance of all investment managers for 
compliance with respective guidelines.    
 
Credit Risk. Credit risk is the risk that an 
issuer or other counterparty to an 
investment will not fulfill its obligations. 
SamCERA’s Investment Policy seeks to 
maintain a diversified portfolio of fixed 
income instruments to obtain the highest 
total return for the fund at an acceptable 
level of risk within the asset class. Credit 
quality guidelines have been established for 
the separately managed accounts to 
effectively control credit risk.  
 
The quality of SamCERA’s investments in 
bonds as of June 30, 2015, is summarized in 
the table below. 

Asset Class 
  Target 

Allocation 

Long-Term  
Expected  

Rate of Return 

Domestic Equity 30% 7.3% 
International Equity 20% 8.5% 
Fixed Income 20% 3.1% 
Alternatives 16% 8.4% 
Risk Parity 8% 5.9% 
Real Estate 6% 5.7% 
Cash - 1.5% 
Total 100% 7.1% 

LONG-TERM EXPECTED RATE OF RETURN 
June 30, 2015 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

QUALITY BREAKDOWN FOR SAMCERA’S 
INVESTMENT IN BONDS 

Credit Risk Active 
Management 

Commingled 
Management 

AAA 1.10% 20.00% 
AA 61.80% 4.18% 
A 8.00% 17.43% 

BBB 10.30% 10.60% 
Less than BBB 4.70% 33.99% 

NR 14.10% 13.80% 
Total 100.00% 100.00% 



48 | FINANCIAL SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT 

Interest Rate Risk. Interest rate risk is the 
risk that changes in interest rates will 
adversely affect the fair value of an 
investment. The longer the duration of the 
portfolio, the greater its price sensitivity to 
changes in interest rates. Duration is the 
measure of the price sensitivity of a fixed 
income portfolio to changes in interest rates, 
and calculated as the weighted average time 
to receive a bond’s coupon and principal 
payments.  

SamCERA has investments in eight fixed 
income portfolios containing individual debt 
securities and investments in external 
investment pools containing debt securities. 
Interest rate risk for the fixed income 
portfolios are displayed below.  
 
SamCERA does not have a formal policy 
that limits investment duration as a means 
of managing its exposure to fair value losses 
arising from increasing interest rates. 

Investment Type  Fair Value  

 Weighted 
Average 
Coupon  

Weighted 
Average 
Maturity 
(Years) 

Effective 
Duration 
(Years) 

Asset Backed Securities  $      6,398,230  1.81% 17.21  3.94  
Commercial Mortgage-Backed          4,544,480  4.36% 24.92  3.40  
Corporate Bonds        36,948,931  4.90% 12.23  7.08  
Government Agencies          2,449,732  5.07% 10.18  6.75  
Government Bonds        24,558,587  4.77% 13.47  9.61  
Government Mortgage Backed Securities        31,030,433  3.47% 27.09  3.95  
Government-issued Commercial Mortgage-Backed             695,282  1.67% 21.75  3.95  
Index Linked Government Bonds        69,033,124  1.55% 9.77  8.87  
Non-Government Backed CMOs          9,844,764  1.52% 23.36  2.67  

Other Fixed Income        15,698,944  N/A  N/A   N/A  
Total  $  201,202,507  3.10% 15.05  7.11  

Investment Type  Fair Value  

 Weighted 
Average 
Coupon  

Weighted 
Average 
Maturity 
(Years) 

Effective 
Duration 
(Years) 

Angelo Gordon OWL $ 25,169,709  4.50% 21.19  3.57  
Angelo Gordon STAR 44,058,692  4.18% 22.15  4.24  
Beach Point Select 34,327,368  8.50% 7.90  2.91 
Brigade Capital Management 64,518,444  7.00% 6.69  0.99  
Franklin Templeton 98,285,376  4.50% 2.78  0.03  
Pyramis Global Advisors 197,839,986  3.60% 8.17  5.45  
Total  $  464,199,575  4.70% 8.80  3.30  

ACTIVE FIXED INCOME PORTFOLIO (JUNE 30, 2015) 
Brown Brothers Harriman and Western Asset Management Portfolios Combined  

COMMINGLED FIXED INCOME PORTFOLIO (JUNE 30, 2015) 
Angelo Gordon, Beach Point Select, Brigade Capital Management, Franklin Templeton, and 
Pyramis Global Advisors  



| FINANCIAL SECTION | 49 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

Nevertheless, SamCERA’s U.S. active bond 
portfolios that reside in separate accounts 
are generally managed to duration limits that 
are within a narrow band (typically +/- 20% 
or +/- 1 year) to their respective benchmark.  
 
Custodial Credit Risk – Investments. The 
custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the 
event of the failure of a counterparty to a 
transaction, SamCERA will not be able to 
recover the value of investment or collateral 
securities that are in the possession of an 
outside party. Under the investment 
guidelines for each investment manager, 
managed investments must be held in the 
name of SamCERA. The master custodian 
may rely on sub-custodians. As of June 30, 
2015, SamCERA had no investments that 
were exposed to custodian credit risk. 
 
Foreign Currency Risk. Foreign currency 
risk is the risk that changes in the exchange 
rates will adversely affect the fair value of an 
investment or deposit. The Investment 
Policy of SamCERA allows forward currency 
contracts and currency futures as defensive 
currency hedging to mitigate foreign 
currency risk on the portfolio. International 
equity and global bond managers are 
permitted to invest in authorized countries.  
 
Foreign Currency Risk – Foreign Exchange 
Contracts. Foreign currency contracts are 
subject to foreign currency risk as the value 
of deposits or investments denominated in 
foreign currency may be adversely affected by 
changes in foreign exchange rates.  
 
Foreign currency contracts include forward 
contracts and spot contracts. Currency forward 
contracts are derivatives and generally serve to 
hedge or offset the impact of foreign 
currency exchange rate fluctuations. Spot 

contracts are agreements to buy or sell a 
certain amount of foreign currency at the 
current market rate for settlement in two 
business days. Spot contracts are generally 
used when SamCERA is required to make or 
receive payments in a foreign currency. 
SamCERA does not have a formal policy on 
foreign currency risk. The table on the 
following page indicates the magnitude of 
risk for each foreign currency denominated 
in U.S. dollars. 
 
Concentration of Credit Risk. This risk is 
the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude 
of SamCERA’s investment in a single issuer 
of securities. Investments issued or explicitly 
guaranteed by the U.S. Government and 
pooled investment are excluded from the 
concentration of credit risk analysis. As of 
June 30, 2015, SamCERA does not have 
investments in a single issuer with five 
percent or more of SamCERA’s fiduciary net 
position. 
 
Derivatives 
Derivatives are financial instruments that are 
connected to a specific financial instrument 
or indicator or commodity, and through 
which specific financial risks can be traded 
in financial markets in their own right. The 
value of a derivative derives from the price of 
an underlying item, such as an asset or 
index. Derivatives are used for a number of 
purposes (such as risk management, hedging, 
and arbitrage between markets) and are 
usually settled by net payments of cash.  
 
SamCERA’s investments contain various 
derivatives, primarily in swaps and foreign 
currency forward positions. The fair values 
of credit rate swaps, interest rate swaps, 
warrants, and To Be Announced (TBA) 
transactions, are determined using the 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT 



50 | FINANCIAL SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK 
June 30, 2015 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT 

Trade Country Name Common Stock Foreign Currency Government Issues Grand Total 

 Australia   $    11,479,305   $                    5   $                     -  $    11,479,310  

 Brazil                          -                         -             739,828              739,828  

 Canada           2,001,783              777,260                          -          2,779,043  

 Switzerland         32,674,507                          -                         -        32,674,507  

 Denmark         11,619,945                          -                         -        11,619,945  

 Europe         70,507,782          (2,017,402)          2,247,918         70,738,298 

 United Kingdom         78,659,501             (263,011)                         -        78,396,490  

 Hong Kong           6,694,223                          -                         -          6,694,223  

 Japan         65,844,659                94,713                          -        65,939,372  

 South Korea           3,372,915                          -                         -          3,372,915  

 Mexico           1,264,535                          -          2,792,975           4,057,510  

 Norway              592,188                  3,512                         -             595,700  

 New Zealand           1,168,015              182,575                         -          1,350,590  

 Philippines              846,101                          -                        -             846,101  

 Sweden         21,480,288                          -                        -        21,480,288  

 Singapore         11,726,069                46,565                         -        11,772,634 

 Turkey           2,699,491                          -                        -          2,699,491  
 South Africa           6,948,485                          -                        -          6,948,485  
 Grand Total   $  329,579,792   $     (1,175,782)  $      5,780,721   $  334,184,730 

Type of Derivatives   Notional Value   Fair Value 

Interest Rate Contracts - Long    $    90,749,458     $                      -  

Interest Rate Contracts - Short       (127,155,483)                            -  

Options on Futures                            -                 (62,894) 

Swaps                            -                100,226  

Forwards                            -                  14,135  
          

 Total    $   (36,406,025)    $           51,467  

INVESTMENT DERIVATIVES 
June 30, 2015 



| FINANCIAL SECTION | 51 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT 

custodian pricing vehicles. The fair values of 
currency forward contracts are determined 
using a proprietary pricing service, which 
uses published foreign exchange rates as the 
primary source. The fair values of other 
derivatives are determined using a pricing 
service and validated by SamCERA’s 
custodian.  
 
The derivatives held at fiscal year-end are 
summarized in the table on the previous 
page. Compared to SamCERA’s total 
investments at fair value, the fair value of 
SamCERA’s derivatives as of June 30, 2015, 
is not material.  
 
All derivatives held are investment 
derivatives, and none of them are hedging 
derivatives. As of June 30, 2015, the 
derivatives held had an aggregate negative 
notional amount of $36.4 million. The fair 
value of derivatives totaling $51,467 is 
reported in the statement of fiduciary net 
position as part of the cash management 
overlay, domestic fixed income securities, 
and domestic equities. Changes in fair value 
during fiscal year 2015 are reported in the 
statement of changes in fiduciary net 
position as a component of investment 
income.  
  
Custodial Credit Risk – Derivatives: As of 
June 30, 2015, SamCERA’s derivatives were 
not subject to custodial credit risk. However, 
they are subject to other risks. 
 
Credit Risk – Derivatives: SamCERA is 
exposed to credit risk on investment 
derivatives that are traded over the counter 
and are reported in asset positions. 
Derivatives exposed to credit risk include 
credit default and interest rate swaps, 
currency forward contracts, rights, warrants 

and TBA transactions. To minimize credit 
risk exposure, SamCERA’s investment 
managers continuously monitor credit 
ratings of counterparties. Should there be a 
counterparty failure, SamCERA would be 
exposed to the loss of fair value of derivatives 
that are in asset positions and any collateral 
provided to the counterparty, net of the 
effect of applicable netting arrangements. 
SamCERA has no general policy with 
respect to netting arrangements or collateral 
requirements. Netting arrangements legally 
provide SamCERA with a right of offset in 
the event of bankruptcy or default by the 
counterparty. 
 
Securities Lending Activity 
SamCERA is authorized by Investment 
Policy and state law to participate in a 
securities lending program. Securities 
lending transactions are short-term 
collateralized loans of SamCERA’s securities 
for the purpose of generating additional 
investment income.  
 
SamCERA has a securities lending 
agreement in place that authorizes the 
securities lending agent to lend SamCERA’s 
securities to broker-dealers and banks 
pursuant to a loan agreement. For each type 
of security loaned, SamCERA receives cash 
or non-cash collateral. SamCERA invests the 
cash and receives earnings on it in exchange 
for paying a loan rebate fee to the borrower. 
In the case of non-cash collateral, the 
borrower pays SamCERA a loan premium. 
 
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015, on 
behalf of SamCERA, the securities lending 
agent lent SamCERA’s securities to 
borrowers under the securities lending 
agreement. In return, SamCERA received 
cash, securities issued or guaranteed by the 



52 | FINANCIAL SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT 

United States government, and sovereign 
debt or irrevocable bank letters of credit as 
collateral.  
 
Borrowers were required to deliver collateral 
for each loan equal to (1) loaned securities 
denominated in U.S. dollars or sovereign 
debt issued by foreign governments, with a 
margin of at least 102% of the fair value of 
the loaned securities; and (2) loaned 
securities not denominated in U.S. dollars, 
or whose primary trading market was not 
located in the United States, with a margin 
of at least 105% of the fair value of the 
loaned securities. In addition, borrowers 
were required to maintain the designated 
margin percentage of collateral on a daily 
basis.  
 
SamCERA did not impose any restrictions 
on the amount of loans that the securities 
lending agent made on its behalf. The 
securities lending agent indemnified 
SamCERA by agreeing to purchase 
replacement securities or supplement the 
amount of cash collateral. Such 
indemnification will become effective in the 
event the borrower fails to return the loaned 
securities and the collateral is inadequate to 
replace the securities lent or the borrower 
fails to pay SamCERA for any income 
distributions on loaned securities. 
SamCERA did not experience any loss from 
a default of the borrowers or the securities 
lending agent during the reporting period. 
SamCERA and the borrowers maintained 
the right to terminate all securities lending 
transactions on demand.  
 
As of June 30, 2015, the fair value of 
securities on loan reported and the total 
collateral held amounted to $109.9 million 
and $112.2 million ($99.4 million in cash 
collateral and $12.8 million in non-cash 

collateral), respectively. The amount of 
collateral exceeded the amount of securities 
on loan by $2.3 million. The securities on 
loan include international equities, 
international government fixed income 
securities, U.S. agencies securities, U.S. 
corporate fixed income securities, U.S. 
equities, and U.S. government fixed income 
securities.  
 
The cash collateral received on each loan was 
invested in a short-term investment pool, the 
Northern Institutional Liquid Assets 
Portfolio (NILAP), managed by the securities 
lending agent. The average maturity of 
securities on loan was approximately 56 days 
as of June 30, 2015, which generally matches 
the average duration of maturities of 33 days 
for the NILAP cash collateral pool at June 
30, 2015. SamCERA does not have the 
ability to pledge or sell collateral securities 
delivered absent a borrower default; 
therefore, such non-cash collateral is not 
reported on the statement of fiduciary net 
position.  
 
Securities Lending Collateral Credit Risk. 
All of the cash collateral received for 
securities lending is invested in the NILAP 
Cash Collateral Fund (the Fund), which is 
not rated by credit rating agencies. All 
investments will qualify as “eligible 
securities” within the meaning of Rule 2(a)-7 
of the Investment Companies Act of 1940. 
The Fund seeks to maintain a stable net 
asset value per share of $1.00 by valuing its 
Fund using an amortized cost method and 
will comply with the requirements of Rule 2
(a)-7.  
 
Securities Lending Collateral Interest Rate 
Risk. Cash collateral from loans of securities 
are invested in the NILAP Cash Collateral 
Fund. The Fund’s average effective duration 



| FINANCIAL SECTION | 53 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

is restricted to 90 days or less.  As of June 
30, 2015, the NILAP Cash Collateral Fund 
had an interest sensitivity of 33 days. 
 
Note 6: Pension Disclosures 
 
Net Pension Liability 
GASB Statement No. 67, Financial Reporting 
for Pension Plans – an Amendment of GASB 
Statement No. 25, requires public pension 
plans to disclose the employer net pension 
liability information. The net pension 
liability of all participating employers was 
determined based upon plan assets as of the 
measurement date at June 30, 2015. The 
components of the employer net pension 
liability  as of June 30, 2015, are displayed 
on the following page. 
 
For financial reporting purposes, the net 
pension liability is measured as the total 
pension liability less the amount of the 
pension plan’s fiduciary net position. The 
total pension liability represents the present 
value of projected benefit payments (using 
the discount rate of 7.45% discussed below) 
to be provided through the pension plan to 
current active and inactive plan members 
that is attributed to those members’ past 
periods of services.  
 
Actuarial Assumptions 
Each year SamCERA engages an 
independent actuarial firm to perform an 
annual actuarial valuation in accordance 
with requirements under GASB Statement 
No. 67. In the valuation, the actuary 
employs generally accepted actuarial 
methods and assumptions to determine the 
total pension liability, the plan fiduciary net 
position, and the employers’ net pension 
liability. 
 

Discount Rate 
The discount rate (the assumed investment 
rate of return) used to measure the total 
pension liability was 7.45% as of June 30, 
2015. The projection of cash flows used to 
determine the discount rate assumed both 
employer and member contributions will be 
made at rates equal to the actuarially 
determined contribution rates.  
 
According to the latest actuarial study, 
SamCERA’s fiduciary net position is 
projected to be available to make all 
projected future benefit payments of current 
active and inactive members. Therefore, the 
discount rate for calculating the total 
pension liability is equal to the long-term 
expected rate of return, gross of 
administrative expenses.  
 
Sensitivity Analysis 
The employers’ net pension liability changes 
with adjustments to the discount rate. The 
table below presents the net pension liability 
of participating employers calculated using 
the current discount rate of 7.45%, as well 
as what the net pension liability would be 
using a discount rate that is one percent 
lower (6.45%) or one percent higher (8.45%) 
than the current discount rate. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT 

    
   1% 

Decrease  

 Current    
Discount 

Rate  
   1% 

Increase  
   (6.45%)   (7.45%)   (8.45%)  

Net pension 
liability  $   975,701  $  491,964  $       8,788  

Less: Fiduciary   
net position (3,454,476) (3,454,476) (3,454,476) 

Total pension 
liability $4,430,177 $3,946,440 $3,463,264 

SCHEDULE OF SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS 
June 30, 2015 (In Thousands) 



54 | FINANCIAL SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYERS’ NET PENSION LIABILITY 
This schedule displays the total pension liability and the fiduciary net position for the Plan as of June 30, 
2015, calculated in conformity with the requirements of GASB Statement No. 67. Covered employee 
payroll represents the collective total of the Plan eligible wages of all Plan employers. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT 

Net Position Liability     
  Total pension liability    $  3,946,439,845  

  Less: Plan fiduciary net position   
    

(3,454,476,328) 

  Employers' net pension liability    $     491,963,517  

          
  Plan fiduciary net position as a % of total pension liability 87.53% 
  Covered payroll    $      454,683,180  
  Net pension liability as a % of covered payroll 108.20% 
          

  
The total pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of the valuation date, calculated based on 
the discount rate and actuarial assumptions and methods shown below. 

          
Discount rate   7.45% 
Long-term expected rate of return, net of expenses                             7.25% 

  

The plan's fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of 
current active and inactive employees. Therefore, the discount rate for calculating the total pension liability is equal 
to the long-term expected rate of return, gross of administrative expenses.   

          

Valuation date June 30, 2015  
Measurement date June 30, 2015  
Actuarial experience study July 1, 2011—April 30, 2014  
Actuarial Cost Method Individual Entry Age Normal   
Amortization Method     
  Amortization method Level percent   
  Amortization period Layered, 15 years for each layer   
  Amortization growth rate 3.50%   
Asset Valuation Method     
  Smoothing period 5 years   
  Recognition method Non-asymptotic   
  Corridor 80% to 120% of fair value   
          
Key Assumptions      

  

The actuarial assumptions that determined the total pension liability as of June 30, 2015, were based on results of an 
actuarial experience study for the period from July 1, 2011 to April 30, 2014. These assumptions were adopted for the 
June 30, 2014 valuation and re-adopted for the June 30, 2015 valuation. 

          
  Inflation 3.00%   
  Investment rate of return 7.45% *   
  Cost of living adjustments  As described in the June 30, 2015, actuarial report. 

  

Mortality Various rates based on RP-2000 mortality tables as described in the June 
30, 2015, actuarial valuation. 

          
* Differs from actuarial valuation for funding purposes due to addition of administrative load of 0.20%. 



| FINANCIAL SECTION | 55 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

Note 7: Funded Status and Funding 
Progress 
 
The funding status was established using the 
entry age normal cost method and based on 
various actuarial economic and demographic 
assumptions, which include an investment 
rate of return of 7.25%, inflation rate of 3%, 
and projected annual payroll increases of 
3.5%. According to the latest actuarial 
valuation as of June 30, 2015, the plan was 
82.6% funded (the ratio of plan assets to 
plan liabilities) with the actuarial value of 
plan assets at $3.3 billion and the actuarial 
accrued liability at $4.0 billion. The 
difference between these two amounts 
represents the UAAL, which was $702 
million, or 154.5% of $455 million in the 
annual covered payroll.  
 
The actuarial value of assets is determined 
such that 20% of the investment gains and 
losses in a given year are recognized annually 
for the next five years. Thus, such 
investment gains and losses are fully 
recognized after five years. In addition, 
SamCERA adopts a “corridor” approach 
under which the actuarial value of assets 
cannot be less than 80% or greater than 
120% of the fair value. 
 
Beginning with the June 30, 2008 actuarial 
valuation, SamCERA converted to a closed 
15-years layered amortization method. The 
UAAL as of June 30, 2008, is amortized over 
a closed 15-years period ending June 30, 
2023.  Subsequent changes in the UAAL is 
amortized over separate closed 15-year layers. 
 
Details of the funding progress, annual 
required contribution for employers and 
members, and the latest actuarial valuation 
are presented in the Actuarial Section of this 
report. 

Note 8: Plan Reserves 
 
Plan reserves (components of net position) 
are established from employer and member 
contributions as well as investment income 
accumulated after satisfying investment and 
administrative expenses. The reserves do not 
represent the present value of assets needed, 
as determined by actuarial valuation, to 
satisfy retirements and other benefits as they 
become due.   
 
SamCERA uses three different types of 
accounts to record the plan reserves: the 
valuation reserve, the non-valuation reserve, 
and the market stabilization account. The 
plan reserves as of June 30, 2015, are shown 
on the following page. 
 
Valuation Reserves 
The valuation reserves generally receive  
interest at the assumed actuarial interest rate 
semi-annually. The valuation reserves are 
made up of the following: 
 
Member Deposit Reserve represents 
funding accumulated from member 
contributions of current active and inactive 
(deferred) members. Additions include 
member contributions and interest credited. 
Deductions include refunds to members and 
transfers to Retired Member Reserve at the 
time a member retires.  
 
Employer Advance Reserve represents 
funding accumulated from employer 
contributions for future retirement 
payments to active and inactive (deferred) 
members. Additions include contributions 
from the employers and interest credited. 
Deductions include lump-sum death benefit 
payments to member’s survivors, 
supplementary disability payments, and 
transfers to the Retired Member Reserve at 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT 



56 | FINANCIAL SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

the time a member retires. When a 
terminating member elects to receive a 
refund of member contributions, the 
balance in this reserve account will not be 
affected since the employers’ contribution 
rates are based on an actuarial assumption 
that take into account the expected 
termination rate for members. 
 
County Supplemental Contribution 
Account Reserve captures all the 
supplemental contributions in excess of the 
statutory contributions plus interest credited 
since fiscal year 2014. 
 
Retired Member Reserve represents funding 
set aside for retirement benefits. Additions 
include transfers from the Member Deposit 
Reserve and the Employers’ Advance 
Reserve (both made at the time a member 
retires) as well as interest credited. 
Deductions include payments to retired 
members, beneficiaries, and survivors.  
   
COLA Reserve represents employer 
contributions accumulated  for future cost of 
living adjustments under provisions of the 
CERL. Additions include contributions 
from employers and interest credited. 
Deductions include payments to retired 
members, beneficiaries, and survivors.  

Non-Valuation Reserves 
The Board established two non-valuation 
reserve accounts: Contingency Reserve and 
Unallocated Earnings/Losses Reserve. The 
balance in these non-valuation reserve 
accounts are not used to determine 
employers’ statutory contribution rates.   
 
Contingency Reserve is established to meet 
the reserve requirement under Section 
31592 of the CERL that at least one percent 
of fund’s actuarial value of assets be kept as 
reserves against future earning deficiencies, 
investment losses, and other contingencies. 
Additions to the reserve include investment 
income and other revenues. Deductions 
from the reserve include investment 
expenses, administrative expenses, and 
interest allocated to other reserves.  
 
The Board adopted an Interest Crediting Policy 
stipulating that interest to the  valuation 
reserves should be assessed at the actuarial 
interest rate. The interest crediting policy 
acknowledges that actual earnings may be 
greater or less than the actuarial interest rate. 
When there are insufficient allocable 
earnings to cover interest credited to the 
reserves specified in the interest crediting 
policy, the funding in the Contingency 

RESERVES REQUIRED FOR REPORTING PURPOSES BY THE CERL 
June 30, 2015 
Valuation Reserves     
  Member Deposit Reserve   $ 628,286,936  
  Employer Advance Reserve          650,940,470  
  County Supplemental Contribution Account Reserve          65,480,696  
  Retired Member Reserve          925,996,889  
  Cost-of-Living Adjustment Reserve       1,119,746,850  
    Subtotal - Valuation Reserves       3,390,451,841  
Non-Valuation Reserves     
  Contigency Reserve          33,773,232  
  Unallocated Earnings/Losses Reserve        (46,905,378) 
    Subtotal - Non-Valuation Reserves          (13,132,146) 
Market Stabilization Account          77,156,633  
Total Reserves    $3,454,476,328  

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT 



| FINANCIAL SECTION | 57 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT 

Reserve may be used to cover the shortage. 
However, in no event may the Contingency  
Reserve be allowed to drop lower than one 
percent of the actuarial value of assets.  
 
Under the CERL, excess earnings exceeding 
one percent of SamCERA’s total assets may 
be transferred from the Contingency Reserve 
into the Employers’ Advance Reserve for 
payment of benefits. However, SamCERA  
strives to keep the Contingency Reserve at 
3% of the actuarial value of assets as 
described in its Interest Credit Policy. 
 
SamCERA semi-annually updates reserve 
balances as of December 31 and June 30 
each year to reflect interest credited as 
specified in Article 5 of the CERL (Semi-
Annual Interest Crediting). The amount of 
“net earnings” to be distributed for each 
semi-annual period is based on the actuarial 
smoothing process described later.  
 
To the extent that net earnings are available, 
interest is credited to all components of 
reserves (except the Member Deposit 
Reserve) at the actuarial assumed interest 
rate semi-annually in a prescribed sequence. 
The Member Deposit Reserve is credited at 
the lesser of the actuarial smoothed earnings 
rate or the actuarial assumed interest rate 
pursuant to the Board’s interest crediting 
policy. The rate credited cannot be less than 
zero.     
 
Earnings on average, from the five-year 
smoothing process, were sufficient to 
provide interest credits to the valuation  
reserves at the actuarial assumed rate in 
effect during the year, which was 3.625% 
semi-annually. The actuarial smoothed rates 
of return were 4.6% and 4.8% at December 
31, 2014, and June 30, 2015, respectively. 
 

Unallocated Earnings/Losses Reserve is 
established to account for periods when 
actual earnings do not equal the actuarial 
interest rate.  
 
The Board adopted a Five-year Actuarial 
Smoothing Policy to value actuarial assets and 
calculate the UAAL. The smoothing process 
operates semi-annually (with calculation 
periods ending December 31 and June 30) 
to spread the difference between actual and 
expected market return over five years (or 
ten successive semi-annual periods). This 
smoothing process affects the net investment 
income reported on the statement of 
changes in fiduciary net position. 
 
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015, 
smoothed earnings of $62 million were 
distributed to the Unallocated Earnings/
Losses Reserve, which increased the balance 
in this account from a negative $109 million 
to a negative $47 million.  
 
Market Stabilization Account 
The Market Stabilization Account is 
designed to minimize the impact of short-
term volatility in the fair value of the 
retirement fund on employer and member 
contribution rates by smoothing market 
returns over a five-year period. The Board 
adopted a Market Stabilization Account 
policy to limit the actuarial value of assets 
not to exceed  ±20% of the fair value.  
 
The balance in this account, arising from a 
Five-year Actuarial Smoothing Policy, represents 
the difference between (1) the aggregate 
amount initially deferred (smoothed) from 
the ten most recent semi-annual periods and 
(2) the aggregate amount subsequently 
recognized for semi-annual interest crediting 
from the same ten periods.  
 



58 | FINANCIAL SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

Deferred investment earnings are amortized 
over five years in accordance with a schedule 
established by the actuary. At June 30, 2015, 
the balance in the Market Stabilization 
Account was $77 million. 
 
Note 9: Administrative Expenses 
 
The Board annually adopts an operating 
budget for the administration of SamCERA. 
Administrative expenses are charged against 
earnings of the retirement fund and cannot 
exceed twenty-one hundredth of one percent 
(0.21%) of the accrued actuarial liabilities as 
set forth under Government Code Section 
31580.2 of the CERL. Information 
technology is excluded from this limit.  
 
SamCERA has a policy in place to assess 
compliance with such limitation. 
SamCERA’s administrative expenses for the 
reporting period amounted to 0.15% of 
accrued actuarial liability at June 30, 2013 

(the latest information available when 
preparing the administrative budget for fiscal 
year 2014-15). The budget-to-actual analysis 
of SamCERA’s administrative expenses for 
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015,  is 
presented in the table below. 
 
Note 10: Information Technology 
Expenses 
 
Pursuant to Government Code Section 
31580.2 of the CERL, expenses for 
computer software, computer hardware, and 
computer technology consulting services in 
support of these computer products are not 
subject to the mandated limit of 0.21% 
discussed earlier. As a result, SamCERA 
prepares a separate information technology 
budget since this Government Code was 
implemented in fiscal year 2012. The  
budget-to-actual analysis of technology 
expenses for the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2015, is presented on the following page. 

   Budget     Actual     Variance   

Salaries and benefits  $  4,129,491     $ 4,118,911     $      10,580  
Services and supplies     1,676,009        1,230,885           445,124  
Total expenses  $  5,805,500     $ 5,349,796    $   455,704  

SAMCERA’S ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES, BUDGET VS. ACTUAL 
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2015 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT 

       
 Actuarial Accrued Liability (AAL) as of 6/30/13   $       3,572,750   (a)  
 Maximum Allowed for Administrative Expense (AAL*0.21%)   $              7,503   (b)  
 Operating Budget for Administrative  Expense   $              5,806   (c)  
 Actual Administrative Expense   $              5,350   (d)  
 Excess of Allowed over Actual Administrative Expense   $              2,153   =(b) - (d)  
 Excess of Budgeted over Actual Administrative Expense   $                 456   =(c) - (d)  

Actual Administrative Expense as a Percentage of Actuarial Accrued Liability as 0.15%  = (d)/(a)  

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2015 COMPARED TO 
ACTUARIAL ACCRUED LIABILITY AS OF JUNE 30, 2013 
(In Thousands) 



| FINANCIAL SECTION | 59 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT 

Note 11: Risk Management    
 
SamCERA is exposed to various risks of loss 
related to torts; theft of, damage to, and 
destruction of assets; injuries to employees; 
and natural disasters. Such risks are 
managed by SamCERA through its 
participation with the County’s self-
insurance program and commercial 
insurance policies. 
  
SamCERA is covered by the County’s self-
insurance program for general liability and 
workers’ compensation with coverage up to 
$1 million per occurrence. Additional 
coverage for various types of risks are 
provided through the County’s commercial 
insurance carriers in accordance with the 
terms set forth in individual insurance 
policies. Pursuant to a Memorandum of 
Understanding between SamCERA and the 
County, SamCERA pays a pro-rata share of 
total insurance cost incurred by the County 
based on the employee count. Settled claims 
have not exceeded the insurance coverage in 
the past three fiscal years. 
 
The Board members and senior staff 
purchase separate Fiduciary Liability 
coverage for actual or alleged breach of 
fiduciary duties through a policy provided by 
AIG Nation Union Fire Insurance 
Company of Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. The 

coverage is limited to $10 million aggregate 
for all loss combined (including defense 
costs).  
 
Note 12: Related Party Transactions 
 
SamCERA has various business transactions 
with the County. On a cost-reimbursement 
basis, SamCERA employs services from the 
following County offices: County Counsel, 
Treasurer, Controller, Procurement, Human 
Resources, Information Services, Health 
System, Sheriff, and Elections.   
 
Note 13: Commitments 
 
At June 30, 2015, SamCERA had a total 
outstanding commitment of $190.2 million, 
$164.5 million of “uncalled capital” in 
private equity investments and $25.7 million 
of “uncalled capital” in the real asset 
portfolio. SamCERA is still in the process of 
building out its private equity and real asset 
portfolios and intends to make additional 
capital commitments over the next three to 
five years. 
 
Note 14: Contingent Liability 
 
SamCERA is subject to legal proceedings 
and claims arising from the normal course 
of its business. Currently, no such actions 
are adjudicated or reported. 

   Budget     Actual     Variance   

Property and equipment  $    153,000     $   36,033     $    116,967  
Information technology infrastructure     1,408,150        592,876           815,274  

Total expenses  $ 5,061,150     $ 628,909     $ 4,432,241  
Capital asset     3,500,000                   -  *     3,500,000  

* SamCERA incurred a total of $3,206,047 in capital expenses during fiscal year 2015. This amount was capitalized and 
reported as capital assets on the Statement of Fiduciary Net Position for financial reporting purposes. 

SAMCERA’S INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY EXPENSES, BUDGET VS. ACTUAL 
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2015 



60 | FINANCIAL SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY 
INFORMATION 
 
Schedule of Changes in Net Pension 
Liability of Participating Employers 
This schedule displays the components of the 
total pension liability, the plan fiduciary net 
position, and the net pension liability of all 
participating employers, which were determined 
in conformity with the requirements prescribed 
by GASB Statement No. 67.  

Data prior to fiscal year 2013-14 is not available. 
Thus, the schedule below only shows years for 
which the new Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board statements have been 
implemented. 
 
Covered payroll represents the collective total of 
eligible wages of all participating employers. 
Difference between gross wages and pensionable 
wages are immaterial. 
 
 

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN NET PENSION LIABILITY  
For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30 

 2015    2014 * 
Total Pension Liability    
Service cost  $           90,955,831    $       87,512,515  
Interest on total pension liability             272,953,777          265,430,896  
Effect of plan changes                                  -                                -  
Effect of assumption changes or inputs                                  -             37,853,852  
Effect of economic/demographic gains or (losses)               50,655,233           (31,415,241) 
Benefit payments and refund of contributions           (171,466,218)         (162,556,107) 
Net change in total pension liability             243,098,623          196,825,915  

    
Total pension liability, beginning          3,703,341,222        3,506,515,307  

Total pension liability, ending (a)  $      3,946,439,845     $ 3,703,341,222  

    
Fiduciary Net Position    
Employer contributions  $         180,704,280    $    202,877,362  
Member contributions               48,011,698             46,593,698  
Investment income net of investment expenses             111,630,036          482,663,965  
Benefit payments and refund of contributions           (171,466,218)        (162,556,107) 
Administrative (and other non-investment) expenses                (6,097,422)             (5,710,296) 
Net change in plan fiduciary net position             162,782,374          563,868,622  

    
Fiduciary net position, beginning          3,291,693,954       2,727,825,332  

Fiduciary net position, ending (b)  $      3,454,476,328     $ 3,291,693,954  
    

Net pension liability, ending = (a) - (b)  $         491,963,517    $    411,647,268  
    

Fiduciary net position as a % of total pension liability 87.53%  88.88% 
    

Covered payroll  $         454,683,180    $    422,021,990  
    

Net pension liability as a % of covered payroll 108.20%  97.54% 

*Data prior to fiscal year 2013-14 is not available.  



| FINANCIAL SECTION | 61 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

      2015   2014   2013 

Annual money-weighted rate of return, net 
of investment expenses*   3.36%**  17.18%   13.43% 

* 

** Investment return was much lower than the prior year since the market conditions were shadowed by numerous 
global concerns such as the economic slowdown in China, decline in oil prices, and market uncertainly in Europe 
and the Middle East. 

The calculation of SamCERA’s money-weighted rate of return, net of investment expenses, was provided by 
SamCERA”s investment consultant, Strategic Investment Solutions. Data prior to fiscal year 2012-13 is not 
available.        

SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS 
Last Ten Fiscal Years  

SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENT RETURNS 
For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30 

      As a % of Covered Payroll  

Fiscal Year Actuarially Actual Contribution  Actuarially Actual  

Ended Determined  Employer Deficiency Covered Determined  Employer  

June 30 Contribution Contribution (Excess) Payroll Contribution Contribution  

         

 2006  $       76,089,599   $       76,089,599   $                         -   $   368,971,869  20.62% 20.62%  

 2007         100,549,570          100,549,570                              -        407,911,467  24.65% 24.65%  

 2008         105,339,570          105,339,570                              -        416,261,210  25.31% 25.31%  

 2009         106,123,055          106,123,055                              -        436,423,248  24.32% 24.32%  

 2010         106,265,329          106,265,329                              -        428,559,066  24.80% 24.80%  

 2011         150,474,872          150,474,872                              -        424,060,830  35.48% 35.48%  

 2012         139,406,807          150,949,791        (11,542,984)       419,778,688  33.21% 35.96% 1 

 2013         131,293,846          144,308,171        (13,014,325)       406,921,529  32.27% 35.46% 1 

 2014         152,877,362          202,877,362        (50,000,000)       422,021,990  36.22% 48.07% 2 

 2015         169,814,170          180,704,280        (10,890,110)       454,683,180  37.35% 39.74% 2 

         
1  Employers contributed at a higher rate than the Actuarially Determined Contribution rate in order to maintain more 

stable contributions. 

2  In 2014, the Board of Supervisors implemented a policy to eliminate the County UAAL by 2023. Contributions in 
excess of the Actuarially Determined Contribution are related to that policy unless noted otherwise. 

Schedule of Employer Contributions 
This schedule provides information about the statutory contributions of all participating employers and 
the percentage of the statutory contributions recognized by the plan. 

Schedule of Investment Returns 
The money-weighted rate of return measures investment performance, net of investment expenses, 
adjusted for the changing amounts actually invested.  



62 | FINANCIAL SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

 REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

APPLICABLE VALUATION ASSETS (JUNE 30) 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION - SAMCERA’S RESOURCES AS OF JUNE 30, 2015 (IN MILLIONS) 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION - SAMCERA’S LIABILITIES AS OF JUNE 30, 2015 (IN MILLIONS) 

SamCERA’s resources equal the 
actuarial assets plus the 
expected future contributions 
by both the employers and 
members. 

SamCERA’s liabilities reflect 
benefits already earned in the 
past and those expected to 
be earned in the future by 
current members. 



| FINANCIAL SECTION | 63 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

NOTES TO THE REQUIRED 
SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 
Actuarial Valuation Methods and 
Assumptions 
The employer statutory contribution rates 
for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015, are 
those calculated in the actuarial valuation as 
of June 30, 2013. Details of actuarial 
methods and assumptions selected for the 
actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2013,  are 
summarized in the table below. 

NOTES TO THE REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

VALUATION DATE  June 30, 2013 

 ACTUARIAL COST METHOD  Entry Age Normal  

AMORTIZATION METHOD  Level Percent of Payroll 

  

 AMORTIZATION PERIOD  UAAL as of June 30, 2008, is amortized over a closed 15-year period 
ending June 30, 2023. Subsequent changes in the UAAL is 
amortized over separate closed 15-year layers which are 
determined annually. 

  

 ASSET VALUATION METHOD  5-year smoothed recognition of asset gains and losses (determined 
as the difference of the actual fair value to the expected fair 
value), which cannot vary more than 20% from the fair value. 

 ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS:    

   INVESTMENT RATE OF RETURN   7.50%, net of pension plan investment and administrative expenses 

   INFLATION RATE  (CPI) 3.25% 

 ANNUAL PROJECTED SALARY INCREASES 3.75% 

  

ACTUARIAL VALUATION AS OF JUNE 30, 2013(FOR FUNDING PURPOSES) 



64 | FINANCIAL SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

Property and Equipment  $   36,033  

Information Technology Infrastructure     592,876  

Total Information Technology Expenses  $ 628,909  

SCHEDULE OF INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY EXPENSES 
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2015 

OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 
Schedule of Administrative Expenses 
The schedule below depicts the administrative expenses incurred by San Mateo County 
Employees’ Retirement Association (SamCERA) in the normal course of its business. 

Salaries & Benefits   
  Salaries  $       2,649,806  

  Benefits           1,469,105  

     Total Salaries & Benefits           4,118,911  

      
Services & Supplies   

  Board of Retirement Expenses                  7,000  

  Insurance                65,975  

  Medical Evaluation                43,082  

  Member Education                49,921  

  Education & Conference                84,477  

  Transportation & Lodging                79,637  

  Property & Equipment                16,588  

  General Office Supplies                32,953  

  Postage, Printing & Copying                47,136  

  Leased Facilities              463,780  
  County Services              283,665  
  Audit Services                31,395  
  Other Administration                25,276  

     Total Services & Supplies           1,230,885  
      

 $       5,349,796  Total Administrative Expenses 

Schedule of Information Technology Expenses 
The schedule below depicts the information technology expenses incurred by SamCERA in the 
normal course of its business. 

 

SCHEDULE OF ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2015 



| FINANCIAL SECTION | 65 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENT EXPENSES 
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2015 

OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

Investment Management Fees  

  INVESTMENT MANAGERS   
    Angelo Gordon OWL Fund  $   166,269  
    Angelo Gordon STAR Fund          2,099,892  
    AQR Delta XN Fund L.P.          2,464,725  
    AQR Global Risk Premium III L.P.             594,185  
    Baillie Gifford Overseas             923,092  
    Barrow, Hanley, Mewhinney & Strauss             635,505  
    Beach Point Select             426,355  
    BlackRock Capital Management (S&P500)             106,254  
    BlackRock Capital Management  (EAFE)              79,593  
    Brigade Capital Management             504,515  
    Brown Advisory             600,945  
    Brown Brothers Harriman             137,906  
    Chartwell Investment Partners             803,583  
    Clifton Parametric             166,657  
    D.E. Shaw Investment Management             846,198  
    Franklin Templeton             307,285  
    Invesco Realty Advisors             723,260  
    Mondrian Investment Partners             719,825  
    PanAgora Asset Management             405,980  
    Parametric             695,491  
    Pyramis Global Advisors             280,118  
    Pyramis Select             575,056  
    SSARIS Multisource Commodities             475,330  
    The Boston Company             844,586  
    Western Asset Management             350,217  

    Private Equity          3,648,529  
    Real Assets             250,951  
      Total Investment Management Fees        19,832,302  
          
Other Investment Expenses    
  Global Custodian Services             311,990  
  Investement Consulting Fees              444,597  
  Actuarial Consulting Fees              217,102  
  Other                  18,130  
      Total Other Investment Expenses             991,819  
          
Other Investment Related Expense          9,380,135  
          
Interest Paid on Prepaid Contribution          2,786,441  
          

 $ 32,990,697  Total Investment Expenses 

Schedule of Investment Expenses 
The schedule below shows the investment expenses for the generation of investment income 
during the reporting period.  



66 | FINANCIAL SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

SCHEDULE OF PAYMENTS TO CONSULTANTS (OTHER THAN INVESTMENT ADVISORS) 
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2015 

OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

  

CUSTODIAN SERVICES  

 Northern Trust  $ 311,990  

ACTUARIAL CONSULTANT EXPENSE                 

 Milliman Inc. and Segal Consulting             217,102  

OTHER PROFESSIONAL FEES  

Total Payment to Consultants  $578,617  

    eVestment              18,130  

AUDIT SERVIICES*  

    Brown Armstrong Accountancy Corporation 31,395 

Schedule of Payments to consultants (for fees paid to outside professionals 
other than investment advisors) 
 
The schedule of payments to consultants provides information on fees paid to outside 
professionals other than investment advisors (itemized by individual or firm). Fees paid to 
investment professionals can be found in the investment section of this report. 

* Audit fees were included in administrative expenses whereas 
remaining items were reported under investment expenses.  



| FINANCIAL SECTION | 67 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

NOTES TO THE OTHER 
SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 
Administrative Services Budget 
The passage of Assembly Bill 609 in October 
2010 changed the County Employees’ 
Retirement Law of 1937’s (the CERL) 
system administration expense limit from 23 
basis points of total assets to 21 basis points 
of Accrued Actuarial Liabilities.  
 
Information Technology Budget 
Pursuant to the CERL, expenses for 
computer software, computer hardware, and 
computer technology consulting services in 
support of these computer products shall 
not be considered a cost of administration of 
the retirement system. SamCERA’s 
information technology expenses are 
separately accounted for since fiscal year 
2011-12. 
 
Professional Services Budget 
SamCERA’s professional services budget is 
funded by investment earnings or 
SamCERA’s assets as prescribed by 
Government Code §31596.1 below. 
 
Government Code §31596.1 states that 
“The expenses of investing its money shall be 
borne solely by the system. The following 
types of expenses shall not be considered a 
cost of administration of the retirement 
system, but shall be considered a reduction 
in earnings from those investments or a 
charge against the assets of the retirement 
system as determined by the board: 
  

(a) The costs, as approved by the board, of 
actuarial valuations and services 
rendered pursuant to §31453. 

(b) The compensation of any bank or trust 
company performing custodial services. 

(c) When an investment is made in deeds of 
trust and mortgages, the fees stipulated 
in any agreement entered into with a 
bank or mortgage service company to 
service such deeds of trust and 
mortgages. 

(d) Any fees stipulated in an agreement 
entered into with investment counsel for 
consulting or management services in 
connection with the administration of 
the board’s investment program, 
including the system’s participation in 
any form of investment pools managed 
by a third party or parties. 

(e) The compensation to an attorney for 
services rendered pursuant to §31607 or 
legal representation rendered pursuant 
to §31529.1.” 

NOTES TO THE OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 



68 | FINANCIAL SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

OTHER INFORMATION 

OTHER INFORMATION 
SC

HE
D

UL
E 

O
F E

M
PL

O
YE

R 
PE

N
SI

O
N

 A
M

O
UN

TS
 A

LL
O

C
A

TE
D

 B
Y 

C
O

ST
 SH

A
RI

N
G

 P
LA

N
 (G

A
SB

 S
TA

TE
M

EN
T N

O
. 6

8)
 

 
 
 

 
De

fe
rre

d 
O

ut
flo

w
 o

f R
es

ou
rc

es
 

 
De

fe
rre

d 
In

flo
w

 o
f R

es
ou

rc
es

 
 

Pe
ns

io
n 

Ex
pe

ns
e 

Ex
cl

ud
in

g 
Th

at
 

A
ttr

ib
ut

ab
le

 to
 E

m
pl

oy
er

-P
ai

d 
M

em
be

r 
C

on
tri

bu
tio

ns
 

Em
pl

oy
er

 

 

N
et

 P
en

sio
n 

Lia
bi

lit
y 

 

Di
ffe

re
nc

es
 

Be
tw

ee
n 

Ex
pe

ct
ed

 
an

d 
A

ct
ua

l 
Ec

on
om

ic
 

Ex
pe

rie
nc

e 
C

ha
ng

es
 o

f 
A

ss
um

pt
io

ns
 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 

Pr
op

or
tio

n 
an

d 
Di

ffe
re

nc
es

 
Be

tw
ee

n 
Em

pl
oy

er
 

C
on

tri
bu

tio
ns

 
an

d 
Pr

op
or

tio
na

te
 

Sh
ar

e 
of

 
C

on
tri

bu
tio

ns
 

To
ta

l 
De

fe
rre

d 
O

ut
flo

w
s o

f 
Re

so
ur

ce
s 

 

Di
ffe

re
nc

es
 

Be
tw

ee
n 

Ex
pe

ct
ed

 
an

d 
A

ct
ua

l 
Ec

on
om

ic
 

Ex
pe

rie
nc

e 

N
et

 
Di

ffe
re

nc
es

 
Be

tw
ee

n 
Pr

oj
ec

te
d 

an
d 

A
ct

ua
l 

In
ve

st
m

en
t 

Ea
rn

in
gs

 o
n 

Pe
ns

io
n 

Pl
an

 
In

ve
st

m
en

ts
 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 

Pr
op

or
tio

n 
an

d 
Di

ffe
re

nc
es

 
Be

tw
ee

n 
Em

pl
oy

er
 

C
on

tri
bu

tio
ns

 
an

d 
Pr

op
or

tio
na

te
 

Sh
ar

e 
of

 
C

on
tri

bu
tio

ns
 

To
ta

l 
De

fe
rre

d 
In

flo
w

s 
of

 
Re

so
ur

ce
s 

 

Pr
op

or
tio

na
te

 
Sh

ar
e 

of
 

A
llo

ca
bl

e 
Pl

an
 P

en
sio

n 
Ex

pe
ns

e 

N
et

 
A

m
or

tiz
at

io
n 

of
 D

ef
er

re
d 

am
ou

nt
s 

fro
m

 
C

ha
ng

es
 in

 
Pr

op
or

tio
n 

an
d 

Di
ffe

re
nc

es
 

Be
tw

ee
n 

Em
pl

oy
er

 
C

on
tri

bu
tio

ns
 

an
d 

Pr
op

or
tio

na
te

 
Sh

ar
e 

of
 

C
on

tri
bu

tio
ns

 To
ta

l P
en

sio
n 

Ex
pe

ns
e 

Ex
cl

ud
in

g 
Th

at
 

A
ttr

ib
ut

ab
le

 
to

 E
m

pl
oy

er
-

Pa
id

 
M

em
be

r 
C

on
tri

bu
tio

ns
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
C

ou
nt

y 
of

 
Sa

n 
M

a
te

o 
 

 
$4

73
,3

18
,1

00
  

  $
38

,9
88

,3
19

  
$2

1,
85

1,
51

6 
 

$3
,4

74
,7

58
  $

64
,3

14
,5

93
  

 $
18

,1
34

,7
63

  
$5

2,
13

0,
42

7 
 

$ 
   

   
   

   
 - 

$7
0,

26
5,

19
0 

 
 

$5
6,

97
4,

48
2 

 
$1

,0
31

,3
53

  
$5

8,
00

5,
83

5 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Sa

n 
M

a
te

o 
Su

pe
rio

r 
C

ou
rt 

 
   

   
   

   
   

17
,1

20
,3

30
  

 
   

   
   

   
   

1,
41

0,
24

2 
 

   
   

   
   

   
 

79
0,

38
8 

 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-  
   

   
   

   
   

2,
20

0,
63

0 
 

 
   

   
   

   
   

 
65

5,
95

0 
 

   
   

   
   

   
1,

88
5,

60
3 

 
   

   
   

   
   

  
3,

55
1,

11
6 

 
   

   
   

   
   

6,
09

2,
66

9 
 

 
   

   
   

   
   

  
2,

06
0,

81
7 

 
   

   
   

   
   

 
(1

,0
54

,9
09

) 
   

   
   

   
   

  
1,

00
5,

90
8 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
M

os
q

ui
to

 
&

 V
ec

to
r 

C
on

tro
l 

D
ist

ric
t 

 
   

   
   

   
   

  
1,

52
5,

08
7 

 
 

   
   

   
   

   
   

12
5,

62
5 

 
   

   
   

   
   

   
70

,4
08

  
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
76

,3
58

  
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

27
2,

39
1 

 
 

   
   

   
   

   
   

58
,4

32
  

   
   

   
   

   
   

16
7,

97
0 

 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-  

   
   

   
   

   
   

22
6,

40
2 

 
 

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
18

3,
57

9 
 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

23
,5

56
  

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
20

7,
13

5 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

To
ta

l 
  $

49
1,

96
3,

51
7 

 
  

$4
0,

52
4,

18
6 

 $
22

,7
12

,3
12

  
$3

,5
51

,1
16

  $
66

,7
87

,6
14

  
  

$1
8,

84
9,

14
5 

 $
54

,1
84

,0
00

  
$3

,5
51

,1
16

  $
76

,5
84

,2
61

  
  

$5
9,

21
8,

87
8 

 
$ 

   
   

   
   

 - 
$5

9,
21

8,
87

8 
 



| FINANCIAL SECTION | 69 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

OTHER INFORMATION 

SCHEDULE OF COST SHARING EMPLOYER ALLOCATIONS (GASB STATEMENT NO. 68) 

  Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2015     
  Actual  Actuarially  Employer  Net 
  Employer  Determined  Allocation  Pension 

Employer   Contributions   Contributions   Percentage *   Liability 

County of San Mateo   $174,263,295    $163,373,185   96.21%    $473,318,100  

San Mateo Superior Court  5,914,688   5,914,688   3.48%        17,120,330  

Mosquito & Vector Control District  526,297   526,297   0.31%          1,525,087  

                  
Total    $180,704,280     $169,814,170    100.00%        $491,963,517  

 

  Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2014     
  Actual  Actuarially  Employer  Net 
  Employer  Determined  Allocation  Pension 

Employer   Contributions   Contributions   Percentage *   Liability 

County of San Mateo   $196,708,770    $146,708,770   95.97%   $395,057,883  
San Mateo Superior Court  5,704,224   5,704,224   3.73%  15,354,443  
Mosquito & Vector Control District  464,368   464,368   0.30%  1,234,942  
                  
Total    $202,877,362     $152,877,362    100.00%       $411,647,268  

 

  Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013     
  Actual  Actuarially  Employer  Net 
  Employer  Determined  Allocation  Pension 

Employer   Contributions   Contributions   Percentage *   Liability 

County of San Mateo   $138,313,312    $125,792,158   95.81%   $746,062,865 
San Mateo Superior Court  5,616,809  5,145,950   3.92%  30,524,647 
Mosquito & Vector Control District  378,050  355,738  0.27%    2,102,463 
                  
Total    $144,308,171    $131,293,846    100.00%       $778,689,975 

* Employer allocation percentage is based on actuarially determined contributions.  



INVESTMENT SECTION 

Bear Gulch Trail, Wunderlich County Park, San Mateo County 



| INVESTMENT SECTION | 71 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

ACTUAL HISTORICAL QUARTERLY ASSET ALLOCATION 

 

A
C

TUA
L H

ISTO
RIC

A
L Q

UA
RTERLY A

SSET A
LLO

C
A

TIO
N 

Period ended June 30, 2015 
0 
r 
0 
<0 
<1> 
() 
0 
"0 

0 
U> 

3 g 
() 
0 
"0 

0 

~ 
m 
.D 
c 
~ 

0 
C> 
0 
cr 
Q_ 
...,., 
g 
Q. 

5" 
() 
0 
3 
<1> 

• 0 
0 
3 
~ 
()" 

:n 
~ 
Q. 

5" 
() 
0 
3 
<1> 

• ;;o 
<1> 
Q_ 
m 
V> 

§: 
<1> 

0 
> 
5" 
< 
~ 

• () 
0 :r-
90 
m 
.D 
c 
:;::· 

lq05 

2q05 

3q05 

4q05 

lq06 

2q06 

3q06 

4q06 

lq07 

2q07 

3q07 

4q07 

lq08 

2q08 

3q08 

4q08 

lq09 

2q09 

3q09 

4q09 

lq l O 

2q10 

3q10 

4q l 0 

lq ll 

2q ll 

3qll 

4q ll 

lq12 

2q12 

3q12 

4q l 2 

lq13 

2q13 

3q13 

4q l 3 

lq l 4 

2q l 4 

3q l 4 

4q l 4 

lq15 

2q l 5 

0 
~ 

0 
~ 

I 

I 

I 

I 

I 

I 

I 

I 
I 

I 

I 

I 

I 
I 

I 

I 

I 

I 

I 

I 

I 

I 
I 

I 
I 

I 

I 

I 

I 

I 

I 

I 
I 

I 

I 

I 

I 
I 

I 

I 

I 

~ 
~ 

I 

I 

I 

I 

I 

I 

I 

I 
I 

I 

I 

I 

I 
I 

I 

I 

I 

I 

I 

I 

I 

I 
I 

I 
I 

I 

I 

I 

I 

I 

I 

I 
I 

I 

I 

I 

I 
I 

I 

I 

J 

~ 
~ 

l>. 
0 
~ 

g; 
~ 

g; 
~ 

...., 
0 
~ 

~ 
~ 

I 

I 

I 

.., 
0 
~ 

0 

~ 

I 

• 



72 | INVESTMENT SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

CHIEF INVESTMENT OFFICER’S REPORT 

Board of Retirement 
San Mateo County Employees’ Retirement Association 
 
Dear Trustees: 
 
On behalf of SamCERA’s investment team, I am pleased to report on the 
pension fund’s investments and portfolio performance for the period ended 
June 30, 2015.  This data was compiled by SamCERA’s investment staff, its 
investment consultant, Strategic Investment Solutions, and its custodian bank 
Northern Trust Company.   
 
The net portfolio fair value as of June 30, 2015, increased to $3.45 billion, as 
the combination of net portfolio appreciation and contributions added 
approximately $160 million to the pension trust fund. 
 
Following up on the positive double-digit returns of the past two fiscal years, 
SamCERA’s portfolio returned 3.5% net of investment manager fees (3.8% 
before deducting for investment manager fees) for the fiscal year ended June 
30, 2015, outperforming San Mateo County Employees’ Retirement 
Association’s (SamCERA’s) policy benchmark return by 80 basis points 
(0.80%). SamCERA’s alternative composite was the primary driver of 
outperformance during the fiscal year.  These fiscal-year results are also strong 
relative to SamCERA’s peers, and are above median among large (greater than 
$1 billion in assets) public retirement plans.   
 

CHIEF INVESTMENT OFFICER’S REPORT 

Michael Coultrip 
SamCERA 
Chief Investment Officer 

100 Marine Parkway, Suite 125 
Redwood City, CA 94065 
Phone: 650-599-1234 
Toll Free: 1-800-339-0761 
Fax: 650-591-1488 
Web: www.samcera.org 
Email: samcera@samcera.org 



| INVESTMENT SECTION | 73 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

While the results for this fiscal year were 
strong both on a relative basis (compared to 
our policy benchmark) and compared to our 
peers, the absolute level of returns were 
lower than the last two fiscal years.  As 
mentioned in last year’s letter, many markets 
were fairly (or even over-priced) coming into 
this fiscal year, and as a result, return 
expectations for go-forward absolute 
performance were tempered compared to 
the past few years.   
 
Performance across asset classes varied more 
widely compared to last year, when most 
asset classes, in particular global equities, 
were sharply higher as a result of the 
extraordinary global central bank 
accommodative monetary policies.  This 
year, U.S. equities generally provided strong 
returns, as economic activity in the U.S. was 
low but generally positive.  In addition, the 
U.S. dollar generally rallied during the year, 
especially against the euro, yen, and a 
number of emerging currencies.  For 
markets outside of the U.S., several factors 
impacted returns.  Heightened geopolitical 
concerns, including situations in Greece, 
Syria, and Ukraine, weighed on global 
markets during the year.  In addition, weaker 
growth prospects in China, steep drops in 
the price of oil and other commodities, and 
fears of eurozone deflation and the resulting 
quantitative easing program announced by 
the European Central Bank, all contributed 
to significant price volatility across global 
stock, bond, currency, and commodity 
markets.   
 
With this as a backdrop, diversification away 
from the U.S. market, in particular 
international equity, emerging markets 
(stocks and bonds), and commodities, did 
not help the portfolio this year as most 

major international markets under-
performed the U.S.  For example, while the 
broad U.S. equity market (as measured by 
the Russell 3000 Index) was up 7.3% on the 
year, the broad developed international 
equity market and emerging equity market, 
as measured by the MSCI EAFE Index and 
MSCI Emerging Markets Index, were down 
3.8% and 4.8%, respectively.  In addition 
commodities, as measured by the Bloomberg 
Commodity Index, were down 23.7%.  
Going forward, we expect that this 
international diversification will help the 
portfolio balance out the potential risks over 
the longer-term.  Maintaining appropriate 
asset allocation and risk exposures across 
asset classes will continue to be of the 
utmost importance.    
 
Looking at the fiscal year return drivers for 
the total portfolio, real estate was 
SamCERA’s best performing asset class 
composite this fiscal year, up 16.0%, which 
was above its composite benchmark return 
of 14.4%.  The strong performance was a 
continuation from the last few years as 
investors, thirsty for yield generating assets, 
continued to push up commercial property 
market prices, especially in high-quality core 
assets in prime locations in gateway cities.   
 
SamCERA’s alternative composite also 
provided strong returns for the fiscal year, 
returning 7.9%, besting its benchmark by 
6.9%.  These positive results were driven 
mostly by extremely robust performance in 
SamCERA’s private equity portfolio, which 
increased nearly 26% on the year compared 
to its benchmark return of 10%.  Positive 
absolute and relative results from the 
absolute return/hedge fund portfolio also 
contributed to the outperformance in 
alternatives.   

CHIEF INVESTMENT OFFICER’S REPORT 



74 | INVESTMENT SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

CHIEF INVESTMENT OFFICER’S REPORT 

As mentioned in last year’s letter, 
SamCERA’s private equity portfolio is still 
in the process of being built out, and it will 
take multiple years to fully implement to 
ensure proper diversification across sub-
categories and vintage years before more 
meaningful longer-term performance 
comparisons can be made.   During this 
implementation period, SamCERA utilizes 
the S&P 500 Index as a placeholder for the 
portion of the private equity target allocation 
that is unfunded.  Monies for new private 
equity partnerships will be sourced from this 
placeholder until SamCERA is at its private 
equity asset allocation policy weight.  
 
For the year, SamCERA made commitments 
to four new private equity partnerships, 
totaling $53 million.  This brings the total 
commitments for the private equity program 
to $333.5 million across venture capital, 
buyouts, and special situations.   
 
SamCERA also made commitments worth 
$30 million to two partnerships in its new 
private real asset category.  Subsequent to 
June 30, SamCERA committed $15 million 
to one additional real asset partnership, 
bringing the total commitments to $45 
million. 
  
The domestic equity composite returned 
7.2% during the year,  s l ightly 
underperforming its benchmark return of 
7.3%.  SamCERA’s large-capitalization 
portfolio composite was up 8.3%, while the 
small-capitalization composite was up 2.6%.  
The large-capitalization composite 
outperformed its benchmark, as two of the 
three active large-capitalization managers 
substantially outperformed their respective 
benchmark by over 2%.  The small-
capitalization composite underperformed its 

b e n c h m a r k ,  d u e  p r i m a r i l y  t o 
underperformance from SamCERA’s small-
capitalization growth strategy.   In January, 
the Board of Retirement (the Board) 
approved a change in SamCERA’s domestic 
equity structure, increasing the passive 
portion of the large-capitalization program to 
50% of total domestic equity from 35%, 
while reducing the allocation to each of the 
three active large-capitalization strategies 
evenly by 5% of total domestic equity.  The 
allocation and structure of the small-
capitalization program remain unchanged. 
 
The global bond market witnessed enhanced 
levels of interest rate volatility throughout 
the year given the heightened geopolitical 
concerns previously discussed.    Given this 
backdrop, U.S. interest rates decreased over 
the year, with the 10-year Treasury 
decreasing 18 basis points from 2.53% to 
2.35% year-over-year, defying consensus 
expectations of rates moving higher during 
the year.  Credit spreads generally widened, 
with high yield widening the most during 
the year due to its high exposure to energy.    
 
SamCERA’s fixed income portfolio 
composite returned 0.8% for the year, 
outperforming its benchmark by 70 basis 
points.  Strong relative results by its global 
bond manager (-2.3% versus -7.1% for its 
benchmark) drove the outperformance.  
SamCERA also added a new strategy within 
its opportunistic credit category to further 
diversify this program. 
 
Risk parity, which is designed to provide a 
more risk-balanced asset allocation profile 
than a typical equity-centric allocation, was 
down 1.4% during the year, and 
underperformed its policy benchmark as 
exposure to commodities, international 



| INVESTMENT SECTION | 75 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

markets, inflation-protected bonds, and 
certain currency movements hurt versus the 
domestic equity/domestic fixed income 
benchmark.  SamCERA further diversified 
this portion of the portfolio by adding a 
second manager in this space to complement 
the incumbent manager. 
 
SamCERA’s international equity composite 
returned -4.2% for the fiscal year, 
outperforming its benchmark (which 
includes both developed and emerging 
market exposure) by 40 basis points. 
Developed market stocks, as measured by 
the MSCI EAFE Index (a common 
benchmark for developed markets equity), 
were down 3.8%.  Emerging markets, as 
measured by the MSCI Emerging Markets 
Index, were down 4.8% over the period.  
Concerns continued regarding lower growth 
expectations in China and its impact on 
global growth, which especially hit 
commodities and commodity-related 
countries and industries the hardest.   
 
The U.S. dollar rallied significantly versus 
most major currencies as prospects of higher 
rates in the U.S. and strong relative growth 
in the U.S. supported the U.S. dollar.  This 
led to significant translation losses for U.S. 
dollar investors investing in international 
markets.  For example, both the MSCI 
EAFE and MSCI Emerging Markets Equity 
Index were positive for the year in local 
currency terms, but when converted to U.S. 
dollars result in the negative performance for 
the year.  Additionally, the euro decreased 
over 18% compared to the U.S. dollar, the 
yen decreased over 17%, and the UK pound 
decreased 8%. 
 
As mentioned in last year’s letter, SamCERA 
changed its custodian bank from State Street 

Bank & Trust to Northern Trust effective 
July 1, 2014.  The custodian bank provides 
services that include asset safekeeping, 
accounting, securities settlement, cash 
management, corporate actions, class actions 
and proxy processing, securities lending, and 
performance and risk analytics.  
 
During the year, the plan maintained its 
asset allocation discipline by continuing to 
actively rebalance the portfolio to its long-
term policy asset allocation portfolio 
weights.  Asset allocation and risk 
diversification continue to be of primary 
focus as the plan navigates the market 
volatility going forward.   
 
Respectfully submitted, 

Michael Coultrip 
Chief Investment Officer 
October 20, 2015 
 

CHIEF INVESTMENT OFFICER’S REPORT 



76 | INVESTMENT SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

INVESTMENT CONSULTANT’S REPORT ON INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES 

INVESTMENT CONSULTANT’S REPORT ON INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES 

October 20, 2015 

Board of Retirement 

STRATEGIC 
INVESTMENT 

SOLUTIONS 

San Mateo County Employees' Retirement Association 

100 Marine Parkway, Suite 125 
Redwood City, CA 94065 

Dear Board Members: 

MARGARET S. JADALLAH 
Managing Director 

After several years of strong capital market returns, fiscal year ended June 30, 2015, was a period 

marked by more modest, yet still positive returns for U.S. pension plans. The fiscal year saw mixed 
results within the capital markets with gains in U.S. equities but losses in Non-U.S. stock markets. The 

U.S. entered its sixth year of a bull market fueled by quantitative easing and extremely low interest rates. 

The U.S. Fixed Income market ended the fiscal year with a muted but positive return as yields ended the 
year slightly lower than the year before, though rates appear to be set to rise and the word "patient" 

disappeared from the Fed's messaging. Weaker growth in Europe, including an ailing Greek economy, 

and commodity and China-related fears in the emerging markets resulted in negative returns outside of 

the U.S. The Euro fell significantly versus the U.S. dollar over the fiscal year, and the ECB started its own 
quantitative easing policy through purchases of sovereign debt during the first quarter of 2015. China's 

local equity market dropped precipitously during June of 2015 after a period of significant appreciation, 

calling into question not just China's economic health but growth prospects globally. OPEC's decision 
not to cut oil production in November 2014, with the resulting halving of oil prices, caused its own ripple 

effect across U.S. and non-U.S. markets. 

The broad U.S. Equity market, as measured by the Russell 3000 Index, returned 7.3% during fiscal year 
2015. The Russell 1000 large cap component of U.S. Equity gained 7.4%, while the small cap Russell 2000 

rose slightly less at 6.5%. International equity investments had a tougher fiscal year in both the 

developed and emerging markets. The Developed Markets index (MSCI EAFE) lost 4.2% over the fiscal 

year, while Emerging Market s (MSCI Emerging Markets), lost 5.1%. U.S. Investment Grade Bonds 

(Barclays Aggregate), while in positive territory, advanced a modest 1.9% over the year, effectively 
earning their coupon as the market became wary of impending rat e hikes. During fiscal year 2015, high 

yield bonds, as measured by the BofAML U.S. HY Master II Trust Index, returned -0.6%. Volatility with in 
this asset class was primarily driven by the bonds of high yield energy companies given the dramatic 

decline in oi l pr ices over the fiscal year and their consequent market sensitivity to energy prices. The 
real estate asset class continued to perform well during the fiscal year, experiencing both income and 

price appreciation. The NCREIF ODCE Index of institutional, open end core funds posted a 14.4% return 

for t he year ended 6/30/2015. 

333 BUSH STREET • SUITE 2000 • SAN FRANCISCO • CA, 94104 • www.sis-sf . com • (415)362-3484 



| INVESTMENT SECTION | 77 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

INVESTMENT CONSULTANT’S REPORT ON INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES 

PLAN INVESTMENT RESULTS 

SIS Letter t o t he Sam CERA 
Board of Retirement 

October 20, 2015 

Page 2 of 3 

The San Mateo County Employees' Retirement Association (the Association) total Plan returned 3.5% net 
of fees for the fiscal year ended 2015. While less than the Association's 7.2S% actuarial return 

expectation, the total Plan outperformed its policy index which returned 2.7% for this time period. For 
the fiscal year, the total Plan ranked in the top 20th percentile for Public Fund DB Plans greater than $1 

billion. Over annualized periods going back five years, the total Plan has achieved returns significantly 
higher than its actuarial expected rate of return. 

The Association's U.S. Equity portfolio underperformed its U.S. equity policy benchmark by 0.1% during 
the fiscal year on a net of fee basis, which placed it in the 45th percentile of the universe. Within the U.S. 

Equity asset class, the large cap managers as a group returned 8.3% net offees and beat the Russell1000 
Index by 90 basis points. In contrast, the Small Cap Composite's 2.6% net return lagged the Russell 2000 
Index by 390 basis points. The Plan 's U.S. growth managers underperformed their respective 

benchmarks, with small cap growth manager Chartwell a notable laggard during the fiscal year (3.8% net 

vs. 12.3% for the Russell 2000 Growth Index). Over the past year, unusually strong returns for 
biotechnology companies were a headwind for growth managers that utilize conservative approaches. 

The International Equity Composite beat its benchmark by 40 bps, returning -4.2% net of fees over the 
fiscal year. This result placed the International Equity Composite in the 65th percentile of its universe. All 

of the Association's developed markets managers outperformed their respective benchmarks on a 

relative basis. Emerging markets manager Parametric was the outlier, returning -10.0% net vs. -4.8% for 
the MSCI Emerging Markets Index and ranking in the bottom quartile of the universe. This significant 

underperformance was primarily caused by a structural underweight to China which is a byproduct of 
their investment approach. 

During fiscal year 2015, the Plan's Total Fixed Income Composite net return of 0.8% exceeded the Plan' s 
Blended Fixed Income benchmark return of 0.1% but trailed the Barclays Aggregate Index result of 1.9%. 
The Total Fixed Income Composite ranked in the 60th percentile of its universe for the fiscal year. The 

TIPS and Global Fixed Income components ofthe portfolio posted negative returns for the year as these 
areas faced macroeconomic headwinds. The Core Fixed Income and Opportunistic Credit components of 

the portfolio, in aggregate, produced modestly positive returns for the Plan. Underperformance among 

Core and Opportunistic Credit managers was driven primarily by their high yield exposure, in particular 

to energy credits. In addition, Angelo Gordon OWL Fund, an Opportunistic Credit strategy funded in 

April 2014 invested primarily in residential and commercial whole loans, underperformed the Barclays 

Aggregate Index for the year due to its J-curve effect. In February 2015, the Association funded a new 

Opportunistic Credit manager Beach Point with an expertise in high yield bonds and bank loans. 

The INVESCO Real Estat e fund's robust 16.1% net return was 170 basis points ahead of t he NCREIF ODCE 

Index. The Association started to fund its Real Assets pool over the fiscal year and added its f irst manager 
Taurus M ining. Finally, the plan's Alternatives composit e, which returned 7.9% for the fiscal year, was a 

strong driver of retu rns for the total portfol io and significantly exceeded t he -0.9% ret urn of the 

Alternatives Allocation Index. The Plan's Private Equity investments posted a net return of 25.9% for the 

333 BUSH STREET • SUITE 2000 • SAN FRANCISCO • CA, 94104 • www.sis-sf . com • (415)362-3484 



78 | INVESTMENT SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

INVESTMENT CONSULTANT’S REPORT ON INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES 

SIS l etter t o t he SamCERA 

Board of Retirement 

October 20, 2015 
Page 3 of 3 

fiscal year and were most additive to performance. The Association's Hedge Fund manager AQR beat its 
benchmark and added to the portfolio' s returns, whereas the Plan's Commodities and Risk Parity 
exposures detracted from performance. 

ASSET ALLOCATiON AND MANAGER STRUCTURE 

SamCERA did not make any changes to its asset allocation or manager structure during f iscal year 2015. 
However, the Association continued to build out its private equity program and started funding its 
dedicated real assets program during this time period. SamCERA continues to look to increase the 
diversification of the portfolio in order to produce the highest possible returns in a risk averse, cost 
effective, and prudent fashion. A further modest reduction in equity beta risk is likely in the coming 
fiscal year in favor of other diversifying and income-producing alternatives. 

In summary, SamCERA has taken advantage of investment opportunities as they have evolved, while 
adhering to a well thought out strategic plan. The Association is reaping the rewards of its diligence and 
discipline, and SIS firmly believes that SamCERA has constructed a diversified portfolio that will continue 
to serve its participants welL 

Sincerely, 

~~'1£1 jrJaJli~l, 
Margaret S. Jadallah 

NOTE: Returns for periods greater than one year are annualized, M onthly return calculations are time-weighted; 
and market value based. The performance ca lculation methodology is consist ent with the CFAI Global 
Investment Performance Standards'". 

333 BUSH STREET • SUITE 2000 • SAN FRANCISCO • CA, 94104 • www. s is -sf.com • (415}362 -3484 



| INVESTMENT SECTION | 79 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

INVESTMENT PHILOSOPHY, OBJECTIVES, AND POLICY 

INVESTMENT PHILOSOPHY, 
OBJECTIVES, AND POLICY 
SamCERA’s Investment Policy sets forth the 
Board’s investment philosophy, from which 
the following extracts have been drawn.  The 
full policy may be viewed on SamCERA’s 
web site at www.samcera.org.  
  
Investment Beliefs 
The following summarizes the Board of 
Retirement’s (the Board) investment beliefs 
that have guided it in the development of 
the Investment Policy and will guide the 
Board in the oversight of the Plan assets. 
 

 Strategic asset allocation is the primary 
driver of portfolio risk and return. 

 SamCERA should have a long-term 
horizon and not be tempted to deviate 
from its long-term plan in response to 
short-term volatility. 

 Everything else being equal, simplicity is 
preferred over complexity. 

 For those asset classes evidencing market 
efficiencies, the manager structure may 
favor the employment of passive 
strategies. 

 Diversification is fundamental. 

 There is no single definition of risk.  
There are various measures of ‘risk’ that 
can be used for various purposes. 

 The portfolio should be diversified 
across many risk dimensions/
timeframes. 

 SamCERA should not pursue 
investments that will not adequately 
compensate the Plan for the risks that 
those investments bring. 

Investment Objectives 
The Board shall develop an investment 
program, consistent with the Investment 
Beliefs and General Investment Policies in 
order to meet the following objectives: 
 

A. Generate risk-adjusted returns that exceed 
the Asset Allocation Policy Benchmark (as 
defined in Section 6.0 of the Investment 
Policy) on a net-of-fee basis over five-year 
rolling periods. 

B.  Move toward full actuarial funding of the 
Pension Benefit Obligation based on GASB 
25 and the Board’s policy of layered fifteen-
year unfunded actuarial accrued liability 
(UAAL) amortization periods.  

C. Achieve a Fund return that meets or 
exceeds the long-term forecast of capital 
market returns for the asset allocation 
portfolio benchmark over multiple economic 
cycles (e.g. 15-20 years). 

D.  Provide a more consistent return stream 
than a traditional 60% Equity / 40% Fixed 
Income portfolio as measured by lower 
portfolio drawdowns over a full market cycle. 

  
Investment Policy 
The Investment Policy of the Board of 
Retirement pursues an investment strategy 
which reduces risk through the prudent 
diversification of the portfolio across a broad 
selection of distinct asset classes.   
  
Consistent with the Investment Beliefs, the 
Board’s investment policy is to: 
 
A. Consistent with fiduciary standards, 
always act in the best economic interests of 
SamCERA’s plan beneficiaries and plan 
sponsors, and refrain from making 
investment decisions for political, social, or 
other non-economic reasons. 



80 | INVESTMENT SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

B.  Pursue an investment strategy that reduces 
the volatility of returns through prudent 
diversification of the portfolio across a broad 
selection of distinct asset classes, as provided 
for in Section 6.0 of the Investment Policy.   

C. Further diversify other risks, including 
extreme events, liquidity, and leverage by 
looking beyond traditional asset class 
definitions by utilizing multiple lenses on 
portfolio risks.  

D.  Adopt an asset allocation target to guide 
the structure of the investment portfolio, as 
provided for in Section 6.0 of the Investment 
Policy, and reevaluate on an annual basis. 

E.   Reevaluate the asset-liability study every 
three to five years. 

F. Delegate full discretion to each investment 
manager to the extent authorized in their 
Investment Management Agreement (IMA). 

G. Adopt objectives that encourage 
investment managers to maximize their 
performance, within acceptable risk 
parameters, relative to their individual 
investment style benchmark. 

H. Refrain from drastically shifting asset class 
allocations over short time spans, unless it is 
in the Fund’s best interest to do so. 

I. Rebalance the portfolio in accordance to 
the Rebalancing Policy set forth in Section 
7.0 of the Investment Policy.   

INVESTMENT PHILOSOPHY, OBJECTIVES, AND POLICY 



| INVESTMENT SECTION | 81 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

ASSET ALLOCATION AS A PERCENTAGE OF FAIR VALUE (JUNE 30, 2015) 

ASSET ALLOCATION 

ASSET CLASS Allocation Actual 
Equity 50.0% 52.7% 
Bonds 20.0% 19.3% 
Alternatives 16.0% 12.2% 
Risk Parity 8.0% 7.7% 
Real Estate  6.0% 6.4% 
Cash 0.0% 1.7% 

   Total 100.0% 100.0% 
   
EQUITY MANAGEMENT STYLE Allocation Actual 
Domestic Large Capitalization   
     Passively Managed 15.0% 17.0% 
     Actively Managed 9.0% 9.7% 
          Subtotal - Domestic Equity 24.0% 26.7% 
   
Domestic Small Capitalization (Actively Managed) 6.0% 6.2% 
   
International Equity   
     Passively Managed 4.0% 4.0% 
     Actively Managed 16.0% 15.8% 
          Subtotal - Domestic Equity 20.0% 19.8% 
   
            Total Equity 50.0% 52.7% 
   
BOND MANAGEMENT STYLE   
Domestic Bond Managers (Actively Managed) 17.0% 16.4% 
Global Bond Managers (Actively Managed) 3.0% 2.9% 
   
            Total Bonds 20.0% 19.3% 
   
ALTERNATIVE INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT STYLE   
Private Equity (Actively Managed) 7.0% 5.4% 
Aboslute Return/Hedge Fund (Actively Managed) 4.0% 4.1% 
Commodities (Actively Managed) 3.0% 2.6% 
Real Assets (Actively Managed) 2.0% 0.1% 
   
            Total Alternative Investment 16.0% 12.2% 
   
RISK PARITY MANAGEMENT STYLE   
Actively Managed 8.0% 7.7% 
   
REAL ESTATE MANAGEMENT STYLE   
Actively Managed 6.0% 6.4% 
   
TOTAL CASH & CASH EQUIVALENT 0.0% 1.7% 
   
Total Assets 100.0% 100.0% 



82 | INVESTMENT SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

ASSET ALLOCATION 
As of June 30, 2015 

ASSET ALLOCATION 

ASSET ALLOCATION Fair Value 

Large Capitalized Domestic Equities $910,347,700  

Small Capitalized Domestic Equities 211,917,018  

International Equities 675,589,939  

TOTAL EQUITIES 1,797,854,657  

Domestic Bonds 567,116,706  

Global Bonds 98,285,376  

TOTAL BONDS 665,402,082 

Alternative Investments 426,414,445  

Risk Parity 265,103,721  

Cash & Cash Equivalents 81,228,063  

Total Assets $3,454,476,328 
  

Real Estate 218,473,360  

  

  

FAIR VALUE OF ASSET ALLOCATION 
As of June 30, 2015 



| INVESTMENT SECTION | 83 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

ASSET ALLOCATION 

PERCENT OF DEVIATION FROM ASSET ALLOCATION 
As of June 30, 2015 

2.50% 

1.96% 
2.00% 

1.50% 

1.00% 

0.50% 

0.00% 

-o.SO% 

-1.00% 

-I.SO% 

· 1.56% 
·2.00% 

·1.88% 

·2.50% 

• Lcrge Cq:> Core- Possi-..e • Lage C cp Core· ACtive • lcrge Ccp Growth • lcrge Ccp Value • Small Cop Growth 

• Small Cop VOiue • rnt'l Passive core • rnt'IGrowth •rnt'IVolue • rnt'lsmoiiCc:p 

• Emerging Markel • Fixed Income Core • Fixed Income Core Plus • Oppori\Jnislic Credl Inflation Protection 

• Global Fi>ed Income • Ptil.ote Equily Hedge Funds Commodities Red Assets 

Risk Porily RedEstole Cosh 



84 | INVESTMENT SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

SCHEDULE OF PORTFOLIO RETURNS 
Performance as of June 30, 2015 — Net of Fees 

SCHEDULE OF PORTFOLIO RETURNS 

Return calculations were prepared using a time-weighted rate of return, net of fees, in accordance with the Global 
Investment Performance Standards (GIPS).  

 Total Time Weighted Rate of Return 
Asset Category   One Year Two Years Three Years Five Years 

        
DOMESTIC EQUITY       
Large Cap        
BlackRock S&P 500 Index 7.50% 15.70% N/A N/A 
D.E. Shaw Investment Management 9.60% 16.50% 18.50% 18.10% 
Barrow, Hanley, Mewhinney & Strauss 7.80% 15.40% 19.10% 17.60% 
Brown Advisory 9.50% 14.20% N/A N/A 
Small Cap        
The Boston Company 1.70% 11.80% 16.20% 15.20% 
Chartwell Investment Partners 3.80% 14.30% 17.60% 19.40% 

US Equity Composite 2.60% 13.00% 16.90% 17.10% 
Benchmark (80% R1000/20% R2000) 7.30% 15.80% 17.80% 17.50% 

INTERNATIONAL  EQUITY      
BlackRock EAFE Index -4.00% N/A N/A N/A 
Mondrian Investment Partners -6.50% 7.40% 9.30% 8.60% 
Eaton Vance Management  -10.00% 2.10% 3.10% N/A 
Baillie Gifford Overseas  -0.80% 9.80% 13.00% N/A 
Pyramis Select   -1.00% 9.40% 12.20% N/A 

International Equity Composite -4.20% 7.80% 10.10% 7.70% 
Benchmark (MSCI ACWI ex US IMI) -4.60% 8.10% 10.10% 8.30% 

Total Equity Composite  3.00% 12.50% 14.90% 13.90% 
Benchmark (Blended Equity) 2.50% 12.80% 14.90% 14.20% 

BONDS        
Core        
Pyramis Global Advisors 1.90% 3.70% 2.50% 4.30% 
Western Asset Management 1.50% 3.90% 3.10% 5.00% 
Credit        
Angelo Gordon STAR Fund 8.90% 13.00% N/A N/A 
Angelo Gordon OWL Fund 1.60% N/A N/A N/A 
Brigade Capital Management -3.30% 3.30% 5.80% N/A 
Beach Point Select   N/A N/A N/A N/A 
Treasury Inflation Protected Securities     
Brown Brothers Harriman -2.00% 0.60% -1.20% N/A 
Global        
Franklin Templeton -2.30% 2.60% 5.70% N/A 

Total Bond Composite 0.80% 3.90% 4.20% 5.50% 
Benchmark (Blended Fixed Income Index) 0.10% 2.80% 1.50% 3.40% 

ALTERNATIVE INVESTMENTS      
Private Equity   25.90% 22.20% 14.90% N/A 
Real Assets   N/A N/A N/A N/A 
Absolute Return/Hedge Fund     
AQR Delta XN Fund L.P.  9.80% 6.60% 6.70% N/A 
Commodities       
SSARIS Multisource Commodities -19.50% -7.00% -5.20% N/A 

Total Alternative Composite 7.90% 8.50% 6.80% N/A 
Benchmark (Alternatives Allocation Index) -0.90% 6.60% 6.90% N/A 

RISK PARITY       
AQR Global Risk Premium III L.P. -4.30% 6.40% 5.30% N/A 
PanAgora DRMA Fund L.P. N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Total Risk Parity Composite -1.40% 8.00% 6.40% N/A 
Benchmark (60/40 Russell 3000/Barclays Aggregate) 5.20% 10.70% 11.20% N/A 
REAL ESTATE       
Invesco Realty Advisors  16.10% 13.20% 13.20% 14.30% 

Total Real Estate Composite 16.10% 13.20% 13.20% 14.30% 
 Benchmark (NCREIF ODCE Index) 14.40% 13.60% 13.10% 14.40% 

CASH        
Cash Composite 0.70% 0.50% 0.50% 0.60% 

0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.10% 
TOTAL FUND     
Composite Investment Portfolio 3.50% 10.20% 11.30% 11.20% 
Policy Benchmark 2.70% 10.10% 11.00% 11.50% 

Benchmark (91-day T-Bills) 



| INVESTMENT SECTION | 85 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO BY ASSET CLASS AND MANAGER 
As of June 30, 2015 

SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO BY ASSET CLASS AND MANAGER 

Investment Manager Asset Class Assets Under Management 
DOMESTIC EQUITY         
BlackRock S&P 500 Index Passive Core  $583,289,018    
D.E. Shaw Investment Manage-
ment    Large Cap Core   114,142,093    
Barrow, Hanley, Mewhinney & 
Strauss    Large Cap Value  108,822,154    
Brown Advisory    Large Cap Growth   104,094,435    
The Boston Company Small Cap Value  103,551,811    
Chartwell Investment Partners Small Cap Growth  108,365,207    

 Total Domestic Equity        $1,122,264,718  
            

INTERNATIONAL EQUITY         
BlackRock EAFE Index Passive Core  137,934,601   
Baillie Gifford Overseas    Large Cap Growth  205,932,256   
Mondrian Investment Partners    Large Cap Value  198,382,740   
Parametric    Emerging Markets  67,127,833   
Pyramis Select     Small Cap  66,212,509   

 Total International Equity         675,589,939  
 Total Equity         1,797,854,657  

         
DOMESTIC BONDS         
Angelo Gordon STAR Fund Credit Opportunity Bonds  44,058,692    
Angelo Gordon OWL Fund Credit Opportunity Bonds  25,169,709    
Beach Point Select Credit Opportunity Bonds  34,327,368    
Brigade Capital Management Credit Opportunity Bonds  64,518,444    

Brown Brothers Harriman 
Treasury Inflation Protection Securi-

ties  64,141,991    
Pyramis Global Advisors Core Bonds  197,839,986    
Western Asset Management Core Plus Bonds  137,060,516    

 Total Domestic Bonds         567,116,706  
            

GLOBAL BONDS         
Franklin Templeton Global Bonds   98,285,376    

 Total Global Bonds         98,285,376  
 Total Bonds         665,402,082  
            

ALTERNATIVE INVESTMENTS         
Total Private Equity Private Equity  193,265,850    
Total Real Assets Real Assets  4,176,914    
AQR Delta XN Fund L.P. Absolute Return/Hedge Fund  139,680,676    
SSARIS Multisource Commodities Commodities  89,291,005    

 Total Alternative Investment         426,414,445  
            

RISK PARITY         
AQR Global Risk Premium III L.P. Risk Parity  129,539,200   
PanAgora DRMA Fund L.P. Risk Parity  135,564,521   

Total Risk Parity    265,103,721  
            

REAL ESTATE         
Invesco Realty Advisors U.S. Core       218,473,360  

            
UNEQUITIZED CASH        176,822,088  
        
RECEIVABLES & PREPAID EXPENSES        27,181,381  
           

           
Net Portfolio as of June 30, 2015       $3,454,476,328  

FIXED ASSETS           3,206,047  
           
Less Current Liabilities          (125,981,453) 



86 | INVESTMENT SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

SCHEDULE OF TOP TEN EQUITIES AND FIXED INCOME SECURITIES 
As of June 30, 2015 

Top 10 Equity Securities* 

*Equities owned in commingled vehicles managed by BlackRock Capital Management and DE Shaw are excluded 
from this list. 

Top 10 Fixed Income Securities 

A complete list of the portfolio holdings is available through the San Mateo County Employees’ Retirement 
Association. 

SCHEDULE OF TOP TEN EQUITIES AND FIXED INCOME SECURITIES 

Shares Ticker Stock Exchange Company Name Fair 
Value 

198,678  ULVR London UNILEVER PLC ORD GBP0.031111 $8,530,182  

472,377  BG London BG GROUP ORD GBP0.10  7,871,103  

103,706  NESN Swiss Exchange NESTLE SA CHF0.10(REGD)  7,490,402 

147,700  4452 Tokyo KAO CORP NPV  6,871,704 

368,035  UOVEY Singapore UTD O/S BANK NPV  6,305,657  

892,693  IBE Madrid IBERDROLA SA EUR0.75  6,009,606 

19,356  RO Swiss Exchange ROCHE HLDGS AG GENUSSCHEINE NPV  5,426,432 

32,052  NPN Johannesburg  5,004,102  

91,605  NOVOB Copenhagen NOVO-NORDISK AS DKK0.2 SER'B'  4,988,452  

236,795  GSK London GLAXOSMITHKLINE ORD GBP0.25  4,925,089  

NASPERS 'N' ZAR0.02 

   Total Top 10 Equity Securities $63,422,729  

Par/Book Value Security Coupon Maturity 
Rating: 

S&P 
Rating: 

Moody’s Issue ID 
Fair 

Value 

 $11,900,000  TSY INFL IX N/B 0.125 1/15/2022 AA+ Aaa SB7GSCJ9 $ 12,327,082  

   8,205,000  TSY INFL IX N/B 1.250 7/15/2020 AA+ Aaa SB3QR0L6     9,524,014  

   8,331,000  TSY INFL IX N/B 0.125 1/15/2023 AA+ Aaa SB96LV84     8,388,178  

   5,975,000  TSY INFL IX N/B 1.750 1/15/2028 AA+ Aaa SB2PB3T1     7,643,658  

   5,435,000  TSY INFL IX N/B 2.625 7/15/2017 AA+ Aaa C912828GX2     6,657,240  

   3,735,000  TSY INFL IX N/B 2.375 1/15/2025 AA+ Aaa SB021PJ4     5,514,754  

   4,515,000  TSY INFL IX N/B 0.750 2/15/2045 AA+ Aaa SBVXLS02     4,143,474  

   2,010,000  TSY INFL IX N/B 3.875 4/15/2029 AA+ Aaa S2407096     4,097,169  

   3,835,000  TSY INFL IX N/B 0.125 4/15/2019 AA+ Aaa SBLNPBR2    3,922,263  

   3,880,000  TSY INFL IX N/B 3.000 5/15/20145 AA+ Aaa SBXC4FZ0    3,802,400  
$ 66,020,232 Total Top 10 Fixed Income Securities 



| INVESTMENT SECTION | 87 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

SCHEDULE OF PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AND FEES 
For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30 

SCHEDULE OF PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AND FEES 

INVESTMENT MANAGERS       2015 2014 

Angelo Gordon OWL Fund       $  166,269 $             - 

Angelo Gordon STAR Fund        2,099,892  455,265 

AQR Delta XN Fund L.P.  2,464,725   956,112 

AQR Global Risk Premium III L.P.  594,185  693,002 

Baillie Gifford Overseas   923,092  877,839 

Barrow, Hanley, Mewhinney & Strauss  635,505  686,543 

Beach Point Select L.P.   426,355 - 

BlackRock Capital Management (S&P500)  106,254  124,763 

BlackRock Capital Management  (EAFE)  79,593  41,384 

Brigade Capital Management   504,515  483,492 

Brown Advisory    600,945  652,364 

Brown Brothers Harriman   137,906  117,213 

Chartwell Investment Partners  803,583  889,355 

Clifton Parametric    166,657  143,011 

D.E. Shaw Investment Management  846,198  731,914 

Franklin Templeton    307,285  499,223 

Invesco Realty Advisors  723,260  721,231 

Mondrian Investment Partners  719,825  600,689 

PanAgora Asset Management   405,980  - 

Parametric     695,491  655,005 

Pyramis Global Advisors  280,118  241,874 

Pyramis Select    575,056  558,133 

SSARIS Multisource Commodities  475,330  456,540 

The Boston Company  844,586  947,664 

Western Asset Management  350,217  322,056 

Private Equity  3,648,529  3,260,487 

Real Assets  250,951  - 
     Total  19,832,302  15,115,159 

   

INVESTMENT CONSULTANT   

Strategic Investment Solutions  444,597  400,000 

   

ACTUARIAL CONSULTING    

Milliman/Segal Company  217,102  78,131 

   

MASTER CUSTODIAN   

Northern Trust Company  311,990  172,619 

   

TRADE COST CONSULTANT   

Zeno Consulting Group -  31,500 

   

OTHER PROFESSIONAL SERVICES   

eVestment   18,130  - 

   
Total Professional Services $20,824,121 $15,797,409 



88 | INVESTMENT SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

SCHEDULE OF COMMISSION PER SHARE TRADED   

Brokerage Firm Amount of Commission Number of Shares Traded Commission per share 

Liquidnet Inc  $95,551                                   2,663,950   $0.0359  

Goldman Sachs & Company  73,039                                   4,776,518   0.0153  

Boenning and Scattergood  32,983                                      851,738   0.0387  

McDonald and Company/Keybanc  31,193                                      787,955   0.0396  

Raymond James  30,459                                      812,645   0.0375  

JP Morgan Securities LLC 57079  29,035                                      834,282   0.0348  

Stifel Nicolaus and Company  28,308                                      742,961   0.0381  

Morgan Stanley & Co  24,619                                 55,786,459   0.0004  

RBC Dain Rauscher  20,622                                      610,967   0.0338  

Credit Suisse First Boston Corporation  19,836                                      855,723   0.0232  

All Other Brokerage Firms  322,210                           1,295,396,794   0.0002  

Total  $707,855                          1,364,119,992   $0.0005  

TOP 10 BROKER COMMISSIONS 
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2015 



This page intentionally left blank. 



ACTUARIAL SECTION 

Sam McDonald County Park, San Mateo County 



| ACTUARIAL SECTION | 91 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

ACTUARY’S CERTIFICATION 

Milliman 

October 20, 2015 

Board of Retirement 
San Mateo County Employees' Retirement Association 
100 Marine Parkway, Suite 125 
Redwood Shores, CA 94065-5208 

Dear Members of the Board: 

1301 Fifth Avenue 
SUite 3800 
Seattle, WA 98101-2605 
USA 

Tel +1 206 624 7940 
Fax +1 206 623 3485 

mi11iman.com 

SamCERA's basic financial goal is to establish contributions which fully fund the System's liabilities and 
which, as a percentage of payroll, remain level for each generation of active members. Annual actuarial 
valuations measure the progress toward this goal, as well as test the adequacy of the contribution rates. 

Sam CERA measures its funded status as the ratio of the actuarial value of valuation assets over the actuarial 
accrued liabilities. The funded status based on the past three actuarial valuations is shown below: 

Valuation Date Funded Ratio 

June 30, 2013 73.3% 
June 30, 2014 78.8% 
June 30, 2015 82.6% 

The funded ratio increased in the last year primarily due to contributions in excess of the value of benefits 
earned and the recognition of a portion of deferred asset gains under the asset smoothing method. 

It is our opinion that Sam CERA continues in sound financial condition as of June 30, 2015 and will continue 
to remain in sound financial condition provided that employer contributions are made based on the current 
funding policy and the valuation is based on reasonable assumptions. To be in a "sound financial condition", 
we believe the plan should be projected to reach or exceed a 100% funded ratio :in 30 years or less. 
SamCERA meets this criteria. Under SAM CERA's funding policy, the employer's contributions are set 
equal to the normal cost rate plus the amortization payment of any Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability 
(UAAL ). The amortization of the initial U AAL as of June 30, 2008 is funded over a closed 15-year period 
ending JU.i'1C 30, 2023. The S.i'Tlortization ofai1.Y subsequent cl'..ailgcs in tJ1c UAAL is fw~dcd over scpcu~tc 
closed 15-year layers which are determined annually. It should be noted that the 2015 valuation results defer 
a net market gain on assets. Thus, the funded ratio is expected to be higher once those market gains are 
reflected in the 2016 and later valuations, assuming future investment earnings are equal to the assumed rate. 
Additionally, it is the County's intent to make contributions in excess of those required under the funding 
policy. This is also expected to increase the funded status in the future. 

The June 30, 2015 valuation results are based on the membership data and the asset information provided by 
Sam CERA. In our examination of these data, we have found them to be reasonably consistent and 
comparable with data used for other purposes, although we have not audited the data at the source. Since the 
valuation results are dependent on the integrity of the data supplied, the results can be expected to differ if 
the underlying data is incomplete or missing. It should be noted that if any data or other information is found 
to be materially inaccurate or incomplete, our calculations will need to be revised. 

This wcrlc product was prepared solely for SamCERA for the purposes described herein and may not be apprcpriate to use fcr other purposes 
Mtlliman does net intend to benefit and assumes no duty rr liabihty to other parties who receive this wock. Milliman recommends that third parttes be 

aided by their own actuary cr other qualified professiooal when reviewing the Milliman wcrk product 

Offices in Principal Cities Worldw'ide 

73 



92 | ACTUARIAL SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

ACTUARY’S CERTIFICATION 

Milliman 
BoardofRetirement 

October 20, 2015 
Page 2 

The actuarial assumptions were last reviewed and adopted by the Board in 2015. The economic and 
demographic assumptions were adopted in July 2014, based on the trierurial investigation of experience 
study report as of April30, 2014 andre-adopted in June 2015. 

The actuarial computations presented in the valuation report are for purposes of determining the 
recommended funding amounts for Sam CERA consistent with our understanding of its ftmding requirements 
and goals. The liabilities are determined by using the entry age normal funding method. The actuarial assets 
are determined by using a five-year smoothed recognition method of asset gains and losses, determined as 
the difference of the actual market value to the expected market value. The actuarial assets are restricted to 
not vary more than 20% from the market value. We believe the actuarial assumptions and methods are 
internally consistent, reasonable and meet the parameters of Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
Statement No. 67 and No. 68 for fulfilling financial accounting requirements. Nevertheless, the emerging 
costs will vary from those presented in our report to the extent that actual experience differs from that 
projected by the actuarial assumptions. Future actuarial measurements may differ significantly from the 
current measurements as presented in the valuation report due to many factors. Due to the limited scope of 
our assignment, we did not perform an analysis of the potential range of future measurements. 

Our valuation report and this letter have been prepared exclusively for SamCERA for a specific and limited 
purpose. Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive 
this work. It is a complex, technical analysis that assumes a high level of knowledge concerning 
SamCERA's operations, and uses Sam CERA's data, which Milliman has not audited. Any third party 
recipient of Milliman's work product who desires professional guidance should not rely upon Milliman's 
work product, but should engage qualified professionals for advice appropriate to its own specific needs. 

The consultants who worked on this assignment are pension actuaries. Milliman's advice is not intended to 
be a substitute for qualified legal or accounting counsel. The signing actuaries are independent of the plan 
sponsor. W~ ar~ nul aw<U·~ of any relationship that woulu irnp<ti.r th~ ouj~divity of olll· work. 

We assisted Sam CERA staff in preparing the supporting schedules in this section and the trend tables in the 
financial section are based on information supplied in prior actuarial reports, as well as our June 30, 2014 
actuarial valuation report. 

We certify that the June 30, 2015 valuation was performed in accordance with the Actuarial Standards Board 
(ASB) standards of practice and by qualified actuaries. We are members of the American Academy of 
Actuaries and have experience in performing valuations for public retirement systems. 

Sincerely, 

LA-:-L G..fLL_ 
Nick J. Collier, ASA, EA, MAAA 
Consulting Actuary 

NJC/CJG/nlo 

r tfl ~• G~SA, EA, MAAA ~~~~l~~f~y 

This work product was prepared solely for Sam CERA for the purposes described herein and may nct be appropriate to use fcr cther purposes 
Mtlliman does nct intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to cther parties who receive thts wcrk. Milliman recommends that third parties be 

aided by their ovm actuary or cther qualified professional when revtewing the Milliman work product. 
74 



| ACTUARIAL SECTION | 93 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION  
 
Introduction 
 
San Mateo County Employees’ Retirement 
Association (SamCERA) provides basic 
retirement, disability, and death benefits 
based on a defined formula using final 
average compensation, years of service, and 
age of the member to calculate pension 
benefits. Details of the pension and plan 
provisions are provided in the notes to the 
financial statements (Note 1) in the Financial 
Section. 
 

The County Employees’ Retirement Law of 
1937 (the CERL) establishes the basic 
obligations for employers and members to 
the pension plan. The Board of Retirement 
(the Board) is responsible for establishing 
and maintaining the funding policy by 
adopting contribution rates recommended 
by its actuary in accordance with the 
membership type and the tier in which a 
member belongs.  
 
The funding objective is to establish 
contribution rates which, over time, will 
remain as a level percentage of payroll. 
Details for the 10 year schedule of actuarially 
determined and actual contributions  can be 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION 
June 30 

EMPLOYER AND MEMBER CONTRIBUTION RATES 
For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30 



94 | ACTUARIAL SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

found in the Financial Section under the 
Required Supplemental Information. 
 
Each year, SamCERA engages an 
independent actuarial firm to perform an 
annual actuarial valuation as of June 30. The 
actuarial valuation is used to calculate the 
value of future benefits, assess the funded 
status, and determine contribution rates for 
both employers and employees. The 
contribution rates calculated at each year-end 
as of June 30 is subject to a “one year” 
deferral. Thus, the new contribution rates 
calculated in the valuation at June 30, 2015, 
will be effective on July 1, 2016.  
 
In the actuarial valuation, the actuary applies 
specific actuarial methods and assumptions 
to project as closely as possible present 
contributions to meet future benefit 
obligations.  
 
Actuarial Cost Method 
The entry age normal cost method is selected 
for the annual actuarial valuation. Under 
this method, the actuarial present value of 
the projected benefits of each individual 
included in the valuation is allocated as a 
level percentage of the individual projected 
compensation between entry age and 
assumed retirement age. The portion of this 
actuarial present value allocated to the 
valuation year is commonly called the 
normal cost (the actuarial value of benefits 
accruing for the present year). The portion 
not provided for at the valuation date 
represents the Unfunded Actuarial Accrued 
Liability (UAAL).  
 
The entry age normal cost method is used 
for both funding and financial reporting 
purposes. This method was selected for 
funding purposes because it provides a 

relatively level normal cost rate as a 
percentage of pay (assuming no changes in 
assumptions or benefits) from year to year. 
In addition, Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 67 
requires that this method be used for 
financial reporting purposes. 
 
Between the funding and financial reporting 
valuations, the only difference in 
assumptions is the investment return 
assumption. The assumed investment return 
for funding is 7.25%, net of both investment 
and administrative expense; whereas the 
assumed investment return for financial 
reporting is 7.45%, net of investment 
expenses only. For financial reporting 
purposes, GASB Statements No. 67 and No. 
68 requires that the investment return 
assumption be gross of administrative 
expenses. 
 
Amortization Method  
Contributions are initially applied toward 
the normal cost. If the plan is less than 
100% funded, the remainder is applied 
toward the UAAL. The UAAL represents 
the difference between the actuarial accrued 
liability (AAL) and the actuarial value of 
assets (AVA). The UAAL is amortized using 
the “Level Percent of Payroll” amortization 
method.  
 
The UAAL as of June 30, 2008, is amortized 
over a closed 15-year period as a level 
percentage of the projected salaries of 
present and future members of SamCERA 
over the remaining period from the 
valuation date. This is commonly referred to 
as a closed amortization method. Actuarial 
gains and losses after the June 30, 2008, 
valuation are amortized over new closed 15-
year periods from their respective valuation 

ACTUARIAL METHODS AND ASSUMPTIONS 



| ACTUARIAL SECTION | 95 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

dates (commonly referred to as 15-year 
layered amortization).  
 
Beginning with the June 30, 2010, actuarial 
valuation, the San Mateo County Mosquito 
and Vector Control District (the District) 
adopted the same “enhanced” benefit 
formula that applies to Plan 1, 2, and 4 
County of San Mateo (the County) General 

members and the same member rates 
currently being paid by County members 
from those plans. Because the District does 
not participate in cost sharing on the 
member rates, the District has a separate 
normal cost rate and expected member 
contribution rate from the County General 
Group. 
 

ACTUARIAL METHODS AND ASSUMPTIONS  

ACTUARIAL METHODS AND ASSUMPTIONS 

 VALUATION DATE  June 30, 2015 

 ACTUARIAL COST METHOD  Entry Age Normal 

ACTUARIAL  EXPERIENCE STUDY  July 1, 2011 to April 30, 2014 

 AMORTIZATION METHOD  Level percentage of projected payroll 

    
 AMORTIZATION PERIOD  UAAL as of June 30, 2008, is amortized over a closed 15-year 

period ending June 30, 2023. Subsequent changes in the 
UAAL is amortized over separate closed 15-year layers 
which are determined annually. 

  
 ASSET VALUATION METHOD 5-year smoothed recognition of asset gains and losses 

(determined as the difference of the actual fair value to the 
expected fair value), which cannot vary more than 20% 
from the fair value. 

    

 ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS   

   Economic assumptions:  

      Investment rate of return  7.25% 

      Inflation rate  (CPI) 3.00% 
      Projected salary increases  3.50% 

    Demographic assumptions:  
       Salary increases due to service The expected annual increase in salary assumption includes 

two components; an expected annual increase of 3.5% due 
to increases in the general wage level of membership, and 
expected annual increases due to promotion and longevity 
which vary depending on a member’s years of service. 

  
       Mortality Rates are primarily based on RP-2000 mortality tables. See 

the valuation report as of June 30, 2015, for details. 

       Retirement See  the valuation report  as of June 30, 2015, for details. 

       Disablement See  the valuation report  as of June 30, 2015, for details. 

       Other terminations of employment See  the valuation report  as of June 30, 2015, for details. 
       Refund of contributions on vested termination  See  the valuation report  as of June 30, 2015, for details. 
  



96 | ACTUARIAL SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

ACTUARIAL METHODS AND ASSUMPTIONS 

Actuarial Asset Valuation Method 
The actuarial asset valuation method used is 
a 5-year smoothed recognition method with 
a 20% corridor. This method takes into 
account appreciation as well as depreciation 
in investments to smooth asset values by 
averaging the excess of the actual over the 
expected income, on a fair value basis, over a 
five year period. The smoothed asset value is 
subject to a 20% corridor, or within 20% of 
the actual asset value. 

 
Actuarial Assumptions 
Economic and demographic assumptions are 
used to determine future contribution 
requ i rement s .  The  demographic 
assumptions utilize the information from the 
latest Experience Study from July 1, 2011, to 
April 30, 2014. The assumptions selected are 
used to estimate the actuarial cost of the 
pension plan and determine the present 
contributions necessary to meet the pension 
benefits in the future. 
 
The actuarial assumptions used in the 
valuation are intended to estimate the future 
experience of SamCERA’s members and 
SamCERA’s earnings in areas that may affect 
the projected benefit flow and anticipated 
investment earning. Any variations  in future 
experience from these assumptions will 
result in corresponding changes in the 
estimated costs of SamCERA’s benefits. 
 
Economic Assumptions 
Investment Rate of Return. The future 
investment earnings of SamCERA’s assets 
are accrued at an annual rate of 7.25%, 
compounded annually, net of both 
investment and administrative expenses. 
This rate was adopted effective June 30, 
2014. 

Inflation Rate. The assumed rate of 
inflation selected for the 2015 valuation is 
3%. 
 
Projected Salary Increase. The assumed rate 
of annual salary increase selected for the 
2015 valuation is 3.5%.  
 
Cost of Living adjustment (COLA). The 
postretirement benefit increases depend 
upon the tier in which a member is enrolled 
and the Consumer Price Index for the San 
Francisco Bay Area. The COLA is limited to 
5% for General and Safety members in Tier 
1; 3% for Probation members in Tier 1 and 
all members in Tier 2; and 2% for members 
in Tiers 4, 5, 6, and 7. Plan 3 members do 
not receive a COLA. 
 
Demographic Assumptions 
Key demographic assumptions include the 
following: 
 
Salary Increases due to Service. The 
expected annual increase in salary 
assumption includes  two components; an 
expected annual increase of 3.5% due to 
increases in the general wage level of 
membership, and expected annual increases 
due to promotion and longevity which vary 
depending on a member’s years of service. 
 
Retired Mortality Rate. The same 
postretirement mortality rates are used in the 
valuation for active members, retired 
members, and beneficiaries. Beneficiary 
mortality is assumed to be the same as for 
healthy members. Beneficiaries are assumed 
to be of the opposite sex and have the same 
mortality as General members. The rates of 
retired mortality were adopted June 30, 2011 
and re-adopted June 30, 2014. 
 



| ACTUARIAL SECTION | 97 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

 
Retired Mortality Rates – Other Than 
Disabled Members 
 General Males: RP-2000 Healthy 

Combined Mortality Table for Males 
with adjustment for White Collar 
workers. Ages are set back three years.  

 Safety Males: Same as General.  
 General Males: RP-2000 Healthy 

Combined Mortality Table for Males 
with adjustment for White Collar 
workers. Ages are set back three years.  

 General Females: RP-2000 Healthy 
Combined Mortality Table for Females 
with adjustment for White Collar 
workers. Ages are set back three years.  

 Safety Females: Same as General.  
 
Retired Mortality Rates –Disabled Members 
 General Males: Average of RP-2000 

Healthy Combined Mortality Table for 
Males with adjustment for White Collar 
workers and the RP-2000 Disabled 
Annuitant Mortality Table for Males, 
both set back three years.  

 Safety Males: RP-2000 Healthy 
Combined Mortality Table for Males 
with adjustment for White Collar 
workers (minimum is 1.0%).  

 General Females: Average of RP-2000 
Healthy Combined Mortality Table for 
Females with adjustment for White 
Collar workers and the RP-2000 
Disabled Annuitant Mortality Table for 
Females, both set back three years.  

 Safety Females: RP-2000 Healthy 
Combined Mortality Table for Females 
with adjustment for White Collar 
workers (minimum is 0.4%).  

 
Separation from Active Status. The 
probabilities of termination of employment 
due to the causes stated below is presented 

on the following page. 
 Service retirement: Member retires after 

meeting age and service requirements for 
reasons other than disability. 

 Service retirement withdrawal: Member 
terminates and elects a refund of 
member contributions, or a deferred 
vested retirement benefit. 

 Service disability: Member receives 
disability retirement; disability is service 
related. 

 Ordinary disability: Member receives 
disability retirement; disability is not 
service related. 

 Service death: Member dies before 
retirement; death is service related. 

 Ordinary death: Member dies before 
retirement; death is not service related. 

 
Each rate represents the probability that a 
member will separate from service at each 
age due to the particular reason. For 
example, a rate of 0.0300 for a member’s 
service retirement at age 50 assumes that 30 
out of 1,000 members who are age 50 will 
retire at that age. 

ACTUARIAL METHODS AND ASSUMPTIONS  



98 | ACTUARIAL SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

RATE OF SEPARATION FROM ACTIVE SERVICE 

Years of  
Service 

 Other Terminations      Disability  Death while Active  
 Ordinary  Vested   Age  Ordinary  Service  Ordinary  Service  

                               
General Plan 1, 2, 4, 5 & 7 Male Members                       

0  0.1300  0.0000   20  0.0003  0.0004  0.0003  0.0000  0.0000 
5  0.0285  0.0348   30  0.0004  0.0005  0.0004  0.0000  0.0000 

10  0.0172  0.0238   40  0.0008  0.0011  0.0009  0.0000  0.0000 
15  0.0099  0.0191   50  0.0013  0.0019  0.0017  0.0000  0.0500 
20  0.0040  0.0150   60  0.0018  0.0027  0.0036  0.0000  0.1500 

30 & Above  0.0000  0.0000   70  0.0000  0.0000  0.0000  0.0000  1.0000 
General Plan 1, 2, 4, 5 & 7 Female Members                       

0  0.1200  0.0000   20  0.0003  0.0004  0.0002  0.0000  0.0000 
5  0.0285  0.0348   30  0.0003  0.0004  0.0002  0.0000  0.0000 

10  0.0153  0.0212   40  0.0006  0.0008  0.0006  0.0000  0.0000 
15  0.0088  0.0172   50  0.0020  0.0029  0.0013  0.0000  0.0400 
20  0.0040  0.0150   60  0.0032  0.0048  0.0030  0.0000  0.1500 

30 & Above  0.0000  0.0000   70  0.0000  0.0000  0.0000  0.0000  1.0000 
General Plan 3 Male Members                         

0  0.1300  0.0000   20  0.0000  0.0000  0.0003  0.0000  0.0000 
5  0.0285  0.0348   30  0.0000  0.0000  0.0004  0.0000  0.0000 

10  0.0172  0.0238   40  0.0000  0.0000  0.0009  0.0000  0.0000 
15  0.0099  0.0191   50  0.0000  0.0000  0.0017  0.0000  0.0000 
20  0.0040  0.0150   60  0.0000  0.0000  0.0036  0.0000  0.0300 

30 & Above  0.0000  0.0000   70  0.0000  0.0000  0.0000  0.0000  1.0000 
General Plan 3 Female Members                         

0  0.1200  0.0000   20  0.0000  0.0000  0.0002  0.0000  0.0000 
5  0.0285  0.0348   30  0.0000  0.0000  0.0002  0.0000  0.0000 

10  0.0153  0.0212   40  0.0000  0.0000  0.0006  0.0000  0.0000 
15  0.0088  0.0172   50  0.0000  0.0000  0.0013  0.0000  0.0000 
20  0.0040  0.0150   60  0.0000  0.0000  0.0030  0.0000  0.0400 

30 & Above  0.0000  0.0000   70  0.0000  0.0000  0.0000  0.0000  1.0000 
Safety and Probation 
Plan 1, 2 & 4 Male Members                       

0  0.0700  0.0000   20  0.0000  0.0017  0.0003  0.0010  0.0000 
5  0.0082  0.0151   30  0.0000  0.0020  0.0004  0.0010  0.0000 

10  0.0050  0.0105   40  0.0000  0.0031  0.0009  0.0010  0.0000 
15  0.0016  0.0094   50  0.0000  0.0058  0.0017  0.0010  0.1500 

20 & Above  0.0000  0.0000   60  0.0000  0.0000  0.0000  0.0000  1.0000 
Safety and Probation 
Plan 1, 2 & 4 Female Members                       

0  0.0700  0.0000   20  0.0000  0.0017  0.0002  0.0010  0.0000 
5  0.0082  0.0151   30  0.0000  0.0020  0.0002  0.0010  0.0000 

10  0.0050  0.0105   40  0.0000  0.0031  0.0006  0.0010  0.0000 
15  0.0016  0.0094   50  0.0000  0.0058  0.0013  0.0010  0.1500 

20 & Above  0.0000  0.0000   60  0.0000  0.0000  0.0000  0.0000  1.0000 
Safety and Probation 
Plan 5, 6 & 7 Male Members                       

0  0.0700  0.0000   20  0.0000  0.0017  0.0003  0.0010  0.0000 
5  0.0082  0.0151   30  0.0000  0.0020  0.0004  0.0010  0.0000 

10  0.0050  0.0105   40  0.0000  0.0031  0.0009  0.0010  0.0000 
15  0.0016  0.0094   50  0.0000  0.0058  0.0017  0.0010  0.0500 

20 & Above  0.0000  0.0000   60  0.0000  0.0000  0.0000  0.0000  1.0000 
Safety and Probation 
Plan 5, 6 & 7 Female Members                       

0  0.0700  0.0000   20  0.0000  0.0017  0.0002  0.0010  0.0000 
5  0.0082  0.0151   30  0.0000  0.0020  0.0002  0.0010  0.0000 

10  0.0050  0.0105   40  0.0000  0.0031  0.0006  0.0010  0.0000 
15  0.0016  0.0094   50  0.0000  0.0058  0.0013  0.0010  0.0500 

20 & Above  0.0000  0.0000   60  0.0000  0.0000  0.0000  0.0000  1.0000 

Service 
Retirement 

RATE OF SEPARATION FROM ACTIVE SERVICE 



| ACTUARIAL SECTION | 99 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

  Fiscal Year Beginning   

  July 1, 2016 July 1, 2015 Change 
        

Gross Normal Cost 21.94% 22.22% -0.28% 

Less: Member Contributions -11.52% -11.42% -0.10% 

Employer Normal Cost 10.42% 10.80% -0.38% 
UAAL Amortization  21.93% 23.94% -2.01% 
Total Contribution Rate 32.35% 34.74% -2.39% 

EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTION RATES AS PERCENTAGE OF COVERED PAYROLL 

    June 30, 2015 June 30, 2014 
Relative 
Change 

ACTIVE MEMBERS       
  Number of Members                5,095                 5,004           1.8 % 
  Average Age                  45.5                   45.8          (0.7)% 
  Average Credited Service                  11.0                   11.2          (1.8)% 
  Total Active Payroll (In Thousands) $462,640  $429,407           7.7 % 
  Average Monthly Salary $7,567  $7,151           5.8 % 
          
RETIRED MEMBERS       
  Number of Members       
    Service Retirement 3,628  3,525           2.9 % 
    Disability Retirement 442  428           3.3 % 
    Beneficiaries 568  565           0.5 % 
  Average Age                  71.3                   71.3                -    
  Actual Retiree Benefits Paid (In Thousands) $168,109  $159,342           5.5 % 
  Average Monthly Pension $3,160  $3,021           4.6 % 
          
NUMBER OF INACTIVE MEMBERS 1,384  1,304           6.1 % 
          
ASSETS       
  Fair Value of Fund (In Thousands) $3,454,476  $3,291,694           4.9 % 
  Return on Fair Value                 3.5%                17.3%    
  Valuation Assets (In Thousands) $3,343,550  $2,993,187          11.7 % 
  Return on Valuation Assets                 9.7%  3.7%   
          
LIABILITY VALUES (IN THOUSANDS)       
  Actuarial Accrued Liability $4,045,786  $3,797,042           6.6 % 
  Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability $702,236  $803,855        (12.6)% 
  Deferred Asset (Gains) / Losses ($77,153) ($268,273)   
          
FUNDED RATIO       
  Based on valuation assets               82.6%                78.8%           4.8 % 
          
STATUTORY EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTION RATE FOR ALL PLANS 
COMBINED AS A PERCENT OF TOTAL PAYROLL              
  Gross Normal Cost 21.94% 22.22%         (1.3)% 
  Less: Member Contributions            (11.52)%           (11.42)%          0.9 % 
  Employer Normal Cost 10.42% 10.80%         (3.5)% 
  UAAL Amortization 21.93% 23.94%         (8.4)% 
  Total Employer Rate 32.35% 34.74%         (6.9)% 
          
Funded Ratio 82.60% 78.80%          4.8 % 

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACTUARIAL STATISTICS AND MEASURES 

EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTION RATES AS A PERCENTAGE OF  COVERED PAYROLL 



100 | ACTUARIAL SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

SOLVENCY TEST & SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS 

       Actuarial Accrued Liabilities for   
Portion of Actuarial Accrued 
Liabilities Covered by Assets 

Actuarial 
Valuation Date 
(as of June 30)  

  Valuation 
Assets 

  

Active 
Member 

Contributions 
Retirees and 

Beneficiaries(1) 

Active Members 
(Employer Financed 

Portion)         
  (A) (B) (C)  (A) (B) (C) 

                      

2006    $  1,769,021     $         317,521   $      1,234,005   $          793,623    100% 100% 27% 

2007        1,976,731                359,484           1,348,013               848,007    100% 100% 32% 

2008        2,218,937                385,300           1,550,875               870,047    100% 100% 32% 

2009        1,909,679                412,147           1,670,547               905,018    100% 90% 0% 

2010        2,179,076                449,355           1,745,146               903,952    100% 99% 0% 

2011        2,405,140                485,126           1,866,219               895,382    100% 100% 6% 

2012        2,480,271                498,569           2,022,791               921,193    100% 98% 0% 

2013        2,618,639                534,276           2,157,590               880,884    100% 97% 0% 

2014        2,993,187                584,080           2,285,328               927,634    100% 100% 13% 

2015        3,343,550                628,287           2,451,544               965,955    100% 100% 27% 

      (1) Include  deferred vested members.    

SOLVENCY TEST 
(In Thousands) 

SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS 
(In Thousands) 

  (a) (b) (b-a) (a/b) (c) [(b-a)/c] 

Actuarial  
Valuation Date 
(as of June 30) 

Actuarial Value 
of Valuation 

Assets 

Actuarial 
Accrued 
Liability 

Unfunded 
Actuarial 
Accrued 
Liability 

  Funded  
Ratio 

  Covered 
Payroll 

UAAL as a 
Percentage of 

Covered Payroll 

              
2006  $ 1,769,021   $2,345,149   $ 576,128  75.4%  $368,972  156.14% 

2007     1,976,731     2,555,504      578,773  77.4%    407,912  141.92% 

2008     2,218,937     2,806,222      587,285  79.1%    416,243  141.09% 

2009     1,909,679     2,987,712   1,078,033  63.9%    436,424  247.02% 

2010     2,179,076     3,098,453      919,377  70.3%    428,559  214.53% 

2011     2,405,140     3,246,727      841,587  74.1%    424,061  198.46% 

2012     2,480,271     3,442,553      926,282  72.0%    419,779  229.24% 

2013     2,618,639     3,572,750      954,111  73.3%    406,921  234.47% 

2014     2,993,187     3,797,042      803,855  78.8%    422,022  190.48% 

2015     3,343,550     4,045,786      702,236  82.6%    454,683  154.45% 



| ACTUARIAL SECTION | 101 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

      7/1/2015   7/1/2014   Change 
General Members (No COLA share)  – County and Court(1)           
  Tier 1 & Tier 2 Age 25   9.34%   9.34%   0.00% 
    35   10.60%   10.60%   0.00% 
    45   12.13%   12.13%   0.00% 
  Tier 4 Age 25   9.10%   9.10%   0.00% 
    35   10.31%   10.31%   0.00% 
    45   11.74%   11.74%   0.00% 
General Members (50% COLA share)  – County and Court(2)           
  Tier 1 Age 25   11.82%   11.82%   0.00% 
    35   13.58%   13.58%   0.00% 
    45   15.71%   15.71%   0.00% 
  Tier 2 Age 25   11.47%   11.47%   0.00% 
    35   13.16%   13.16%   0.00% 
    45   15.20%   15.20%   0.00% 
  Tier 4 Age 25   10.50%   10.50%   0.00% 
    35   11.99%   11.99%   0.00% 
    45   13.75%   13.75%   0.00% 
  Tier 5 Age 25   6.40%   6.40%   0.00% 
    35   7.68%   7.68%   0.00% 
    45   9.22%   9.22%   0.00% 
  Tier 7 (3) All Ages   7.91%   7.92%   -0.01% 
General Members – San Mateo County Mosquito and Vector Control District (No COLA share) 
(4)           
  Tier 1 & Tier 2 Age 25   6.34%   6.34%   0.00% 
    35   7.60%   7.60%   0.00% 
    45   9.13%   9.13%   0.00% 
  Tier 4 Age 25   6.10%   6.10%   0.00% 
    35   7.31%   7.31%   0.00% 
    45   8.74%   8.74%   0.00% 
  Tier 7 (3) All Ages   7.35%   6.51%   0.84% 

MEMBER CONTRIBUTION RATES: GENERAL 
(1) Rates for Tiers 1, 2, and 4 
include 3% Cost Share. This 
category does not include 
members of Union of American 
Physicians and Dentists (UAPD) 
who also contribute 25% COLA 
share effective with 2012 
valuation. 

(2) Rates for Tiers 1, 2, and 4 
include 3% Cost Share and 50% 
COLA Share. The 50% COLA 
Share is implemented for all 
managers  and severa l 
members of several bargaining 
units effective 7/5/2015. Rates 
for Tier 5 include zero Cost 
Share and 50% COLA.  This 
category does not include 
members of UAPD who 
contribute 25% COLA share 
effective with 2012 valuation. 

(3) Tier 7 (or the PEPRA plan) 
became effective on January 
1, 2013, for all new employees 
without prior California public 
employment service. 

(4) Members in this category do 
not need to make contributions 
toward Cost Share and COLA 
Share,  but are required to 
contribute 50% of the expected 
cost of benefits. 

MEMBER CONTRIBUTION RATES 



102 | ACTUARIAL SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

      7/1/2015   7/1/2014   Change 
Safety Non-Managers (5)               
  Tier 1 & Tier 2 Age 25   13.62%   13.62%   0.00% 
    35   15.35%   15.35%   0.00% 
    45   17.19%   17.19%   0.00% 
  Tier 4 Age 25   13.29%   13.29%   0.00% 
    35   14.95%   14.95%   0.00% 
    45   16.52%   16.52%   0.00% 
  Tier 5 Age 25   14.84%   14.84%   0.00% 
    35   17.01%   17.01%   0.00% 
    45   19.06%   19.06%   0.00% 
  Tier 6 Age 25   10.62%   10.62%   0.00% 
    35   12.75%   12.75%   0.00% 
    45   14.76%   14.76%   0.00% 
  Tier 7 (3) All Ages   13.59%   14.64%   -1.05% 
Safety Managers (50% COLA share) (6)             
  Tier 1 & Tier 2 Age 25   18.62%   13.62%   5.00% 
    35   21.35%   15.35%   6.00% 
    45   24.26%   17.19%   7.07% 
  Tier 4 Age 25   16.11%   13.29%   2.82% 
    35   18.33%   14.95%   3.38% 
    45   20.43%   16.52%   3.91% 
  Tier 5 Age 25   14.84%   14.84%   0.00% 
    35   17.01%   17.01%   0.00% 
    45   19.06%   19.06%   0.00% 
  Tier 6 Age 25   10.62%   10.62%   0.00% 
    35   12.75%   12.75%   0.00% 
    45   14.76%   14.76%   0.00% 
  Tier 7 (3) All Ages   13.59%   14.64%   -1.05% 
Probation Non-Managers (7)             
  Tier 1 & Tier 2 Age 25   12.73%   12.73%   0.00% 
    35   14.57%   14.57%   0.00% 
    45   16.54%   16.54%   0.00% 
  Tier 4  Age 25   11.51%   11.51%   0.00% 
    35   13.11%   13.11%   0.00% 
    45   14.62%   14.62%   0.00% 
  Tier 5 Age 25   12.69%   12.69%   0.00% 
    35   14.54%   14.54%   0.00% 
    45   16.27%   16.27%   0.00% 
  Tier 6 Age 25   8.84%   8.84%   0.00% 
    35   10.61%   10.61%   0.00% 
    45   12.28%   12.28%   0.00% 
  Tier 7 (3) All Ages   12.91%   13.42%   -0.51% 
Probation Managers (50% COLA share) (8)           
  Tier 1 & Tier 2  Age 25   17.12%   12.12%   5.00% 
    35   19.85%   13.85%   6.00% 
    45   22.76%   15.69%   7.07% 
  Tier 4 Age 25   14.61%   11.79%   2.82% 
    35   16.83%   13.45%   3.38% 
    45   18.93%   15.02%   3.91% 
  Tier 5 Age 25   14.34%   14.34%   0.00% 
    35   16.51%   16.51%   0.00% 
    45   18.56%   18.56%   0.00% 
  Tier 6 Age 25   10.62%   10.62%   0.00% 
    35   12.75%   12.75%   0.00% 
    45   14.76%   14.76%   0.00% 
  Tier 7 (3) All Ages   12.91%   13.42%   -0.51% 

MEMBER CONTRIBUTION RATES (CONTINUED): SAFETY AND PROBATION  
(3) Tier 7 (or the PEPRA plan) 
became effective on January 1, 
2013, for all new employees 
without prior California public 
employment service. 
 

(5) Rates for non Manager in Tiers 
1, 2, and 4 include 5% Cost Share 
and in Tier 5 4% Cost Share.  Cost 
Share for Deputy Sheriffs varies as 
follows:  members below age 45 
with less than 5 years of service 
pay 3%; between 5 and 15 years 
of service 3.5%; and over 15 years 
of service 4.5%.  Members at age 
45 and above, regardless of 
years of service, pay 4.5% Cost 
Share. Rates for Tiers 1, 2, and 4 
have zero COLA Share.  Rates for 
Tiers 5 and 6 include 50% COLA 
Cost. 
 

(6) Rates for Tiers 1, 2, 4 and 5 
include 5% Cost Share and 50% 
COLA Share. Rates for Tier 6 
include zero Cost Share and 50% 
COLA Share. 
 

(7) Rates for Tiers 1, 2, 4, and 5 
include 3.5% Cost Share. Rates in 
Tier 6 has zero Cost Share. Rates 
for Tiers 1, 2, and 4 include 25% 
COLA Cost, and rates for Tiers 5 
and 6 50% COLA Cost. 
 

(8) Rates for Tiers 1, 2, 4, and 5 
include 3.5% Cost Share. Rates in 
Tier 6 and 7 have zero Cost 
Share. Effective July 5, 2015, all 
members in this category pay 
50% COLA Cost. 

MEMBER CONTRIBUTION RATES 



| ACTUARIAL SECTION | 103 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

HISTORY OF EMPLOYER STATUTORY CONTRIBUTION RATES 

  
General Members 
(County & Court)  General Members 

(Nurses & UAPD) (3) 
 General Members 

(SMCM&VCD) (2) 

Valuation 
Year  Normal UAAL Total  Normal UAAL Total  Normal UAAL Total 

2006  10.49% 9.97% 20.46%  Same as County General   

2007  10.19% 9.46% 19.65%  Same as County General   8.50% 7.76% 16.26% 

2008  10.16% 9.81% 19.97%  Same as County General   8.55% 8.04% 16.59% 

2009  10.11% 18.40% 28.51%  Same as County General   8.25% 15.09% 23.34% 

2010  10.05% 16.35% 26.40%  Same as County General   11.70% 16.35% 28.05% 

2011  9.71% 16.41% 26.12%  8.70% 16.41% 25.11%  11.97% 16.41% 28.38% 

2012  9.98% 20.17% 30.15%  8.96% 20.17% 29.13%  11.68% 20.17% 31.85% 

2013  9.74% 22.35% 32.09%  8.92% 22.35% 31.27%  11.70% 22.35% 34.05% 

2014  10.12% 20.27% 30.39%  9.14% 20.21% 29.35%  11.72% 21.16% 32.88% 

              

  General Members 
(County) (4) 

 General Members 
(Court) (4) 

 General Members 
(SMCM&VCD) (2) 

  Normal UAAL Total  Normal UAAL Total  Normal UAAL Total 

2015     8.67% 18.37% 27.04%  10.28% 19.54% 29.82%  11.75% 19.54% 31.29% 

Same as County General  

HISTORY OF EMPLOYER STATUTORY CONTRIBUTION RATES(1) - GENERAL  

(1)Contribution rates shown are those calculated in the corresponding actuarial valuation.  In some cases, actual contributions were 
higher. 
            
(2)Beginning with the 2010 actuarial valuation, the San Mateo County Mosquito and Vector Control District adopted the same benefit 
formula and member contribution rates as Plan 1, 2 & 4 General County members (excluding cost sharing and COLA sharing on 
member rates).  
           
(3)Beginning with the 2011 actuarial valuation, Plan 1, 2, and 4 members of the California Nurses Association contribute 25% of the cost of 
COLA, in addition to current member rates and cost sharing. Beginning with the 2013 actuarial valuation, Plan 1, 2, and 4 members of 
the Union of American Physicians and Dentists contribute 25% of the cost of COLA, in addition to current member rates and cost sharing. 
In 2011 and 2012 these members contributed the same as County General members.    
            
(4)Beginning with the 2015 actuarial valuation, Plan 1, 2, and 4 members of the Union of American Physicians and Dentists or the 
California Nurses Association contribute 50% of the cost of COLA, in addition to current member rates and cost sharing. As a result of 
having similar COLA share to other County groups, those members have been aggregated with all County groups.  
          
 



104 | ACTUARIAL SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

HISTORY OF EMPLOYER STATUTORY CONTRIBUTION RATES 

  Safety Members  Probation Members 
(excluding Managers) (5) 

 Probation Members 
(Managers) (6) 

Valuation 
Year  Normal UAAL Total  Normal UAAL Total  Normal UAAL Total 

2006  20.18% 30.52% 50.70%  21.59% 14.85% 36.44%  Same as Probation  
(exclude Managers)  

2007  19.94% 29.32% 49.26%  20.83% 14.06% 34.89%  Same as Probation  
(exclude Managers)  

2008  19.32% 27.31% 46.63%  20.05% 12.81% 32.86%  Same as Probation  
(exclude Managers)  

2009  19.21% 51.83% 71.04%  19.92% 23.84% 43.76%  Same as Probation  
(exclude Managers)  

2010  19.01% 44.50% 63.51%  19.85% 21.62% 41.47%  Same as Probation  
(exclude Managers)  

2011  18.87% 41.75% 60.62%  19.50% 22.30% 41.80%  Same as Probation  
(exclude Managers) 

2012  19.05% 48.51% 67.56%  19.99% 26.71% 46.70%  

2013  18.51% 50.33% 68.84%  18.33% 29.32% 47.65%  17.85% 29.32% 47.17% 

2014  18.99% 46.48% 65.47%  18.92% 28.09% 47.01%  18.79% 28.09% 46.88% 

2015  18.03% 43.58% 61.61%  18.34% 26.77% 45.11%  17.23% 26.77% 44.00% 

Same as Probation  
(exclude Managers) 

HISTORY OF EMPLOYER STATUTORY CONTRIBUTION RATES(1) - SAFETY AND PROBATION 

(5) Beginning with the 2012 actuarial valuation, Plan 1, 2, and 4 Probation members (excluding Managers) contribute 25% of the cost of 
COLA, in addition to current member rates and cost sharing.        
      
(6)Beginning with the 2015 actuarial valuation, Probation members (Managers) contribute 50% of the cost of COLA, in addition to current 
member rates and cost sharing.  



| ACTUARIAL SECTION | 105 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

DEMOGRAPHIC ACTIVITY OF RETIREES AND BENEFICIARIES 

DEMOGRAPHIC ACTIVITY OF RETIREES AND BENEFICIARIES 

  Added to Rolls(1)  Removed from Rolls  Rolls end of year    

Fiscal Year 
Ended 

June 30 
 No. 

 Annual 
Allowances 

(in Thousands) 
 No. 

Annual 
Allowances 

(in Thousands) 
 No. 

Total Retiree 
Payroll (in 

Thousands) 
 

% 
Increase 
in Payroll 

Average 
Monthly 

Allowances 

             
2006  206  N/A  112  N/A  3,613  $91,006   8.1  $2,099  

2007  155  N/A  74  N/A  3,694  98,790   8.6   2,229  

2008  218  N/A  70  N/A  3,842  109,616   11.0   2,378  

2009  159  $12,717   66  $3,281   3,935  119,052   8.6   2,521  

2010  163    9,076   96  3,240   4,002  124,888   4.9   2,601  

2011 (2) 209  12,703   64  2,916   4,147  134,675   7.8   2,706  

2012  218  14,379   90  4,209   4,275  144,845   7.6   2,823  

2013  186  13,024   63  3,095   4,398  154,774   6.9   2,933  

2014  203  12,474   83  3,479   4,518  163,769   5.8  3,021  

2015  213  16,290   93  4,179   4,638  175,880   7.4  3,160  

N/A - not applicable 
 
(1) Amount added to rolls includes COLAs granted in year to continuing retirees and beneficiaries.  
 
(2) Revised figures from the June 30, 2011 valuation. 

 Change In Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability (UAAL)  

Summary of (Gains) / Losses 2015   2014   2013   2012   2011 

UAAL, beginning of year  $    803,855     $    954,111     $    962,282     $    841,587     $    919,377  
Expected change in UAAL        (76,018)          (88,525)          (34,535)          (39,621)          (31,508) 

Salary (gains) losses         39,129           (15,884)          (59,411)          (45,526)          (51,831) 
Retiree COLA greater (less) than expected           3,648           (15,603)            (8,606)          (11,756)          (27,561) 
Asset (gains) losses        (74,068)          (88,035)           93,999          171,268            12,548  

Change due to assumption changes                  -            59,345                     -            36,443            19,402  
Miscellaneous experience           5,690             (1,554)                382              9,887              1,160  

UAAL,  end of year  $    702,236     $    803,855     $    954,111     $    962,282     $    841,587  

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 

ACTUARIAL ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL EXPERIENCE 
(In Thousands) 



106 | ACTUARIAL SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

SUMMARY OF ACTIVE MEMBER VALUATION DATA 

SUMMARY OF ACTIVE MEMBER VALUATION DATA 

Valuation Date  
June 30 

        Annual 
Salary 

  Average 
Annual Salary 

  
  No. of Members       

              
2006   General  4,614   $312,934,324   $67,823   -1.7% 

    Safety 428   41,407,772   96,747    -1.1% 
    Probation 313   22,009,210   70,317   -1.6% 
       Total 5,355   376,351,306   70,280   -1.7% 
                    

2007   General  4,767   346,319,017   72,649   7.1% 
    Safety 443   45,386,411   102,452   5.9% 
    Probation 329   24,364,268   74,056   5.3% 
       Total 5,539   416,069,696   75,116   6.9% 
                    

2008   General  4,743   353,518,525   74,535   2.6% 
    Safety 432   46,326,906   107,238   4.7% 
    Probation 325   24,741,003   76,126   2.8% 
       Total 5,500   424,586,434   77,198   2.8% 
                    

2009   General  4,777   370,760,830   77,614   4.1% 
    Safety 436   48,120,081   110,367   2.9% 
    Probation 330   26,270,802   79,608   4.6% 
       Total 5,543   445,151,713   80,309   4.0% 
                    

2010   General  4,609   363,305,740   78,825   1.6% 
    Safety 425   48,576,912   114,299   3.6% 
    Probation 313   25,247,595   80,663   1.3% 
       Total 5,347   437,130,248   81,752   1.8% 
                    

2011   General  4,494   355,876,715   79,189   0.5% 
    Safety 446   52,073,940   116,758   2.2% 
    Probation 305   24,591,392   80,628   0.0% 
       Total 5,245   432,542,046   82,468   0.9% 
                    

2012   General  4,361   351,965,689   80,708   1.9% 
    Safety 435   51,129,267   117,539   0.7% 
    Probation 299   24,554,583   82,122   1.9% 
       Total 5,095   427,649,539   83,935   1.8% 
                    

2013   General  4,173   338,595,633   81,140   2.5% 
    Safety 452   52,233,510   115,561   -1.0% 
    Probation 292   23,722,165   81,240   0.8% 
       Total 4,917   414,551,308   84,310   2.2% 
                    

2014   General  4,272   352,918,558   82,612   1.8% 
    Safety 452   52,974,475   117,200   1.4% 
    Probation 280   23,514,343   83,980   3.4% 
       Total 5,004   429,407,375   85,813   1.8% 
                    

2015   General  4,334   382,303,295   88,210   6.8% 
    Safety 479   55,917,864   116,739   -0.4% 
    Probation 282   24,418,977   86,592   3.1% 
       Total 5,095   462,640,136   90,803   5.8% 

% Change Average 
Salary 



| ACTUARIAL SECTION | 107 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

SCHEDULE OF AVERAGE MONTHLY SALARY OF ACTIVE MEMBERS 

  2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 
GENERAL Plan 1 $9,235 $8,617 $8,104 $7,843 $7,630 
  Plan 2 8,186 7,584 7,355 7,340 7,208 
  Plan 3 6,747 6,300 6,254 6,138 5,968 
  Plan 4 7,386 6,873 6,662 6,580 6,398 
  Plan 5 7,735 6,912 6,418 5,799 N/A 
  Plan 7 6,315 5,721 5,433 N/A N/A 

  
Average Monthly Salary  -
General Plan 

7,351 6,884 6,762 6,726 6,599 

              
SAFETY Plan 1 14,712 14,091 13,185 12,624 12,073 
  Plan 2 11,545 11,191 10,935 10,892 10,789 
  Plan 4 9,919 9,581 9,402 9,351 9,230 
  Plan 5 9,145 8,958 8,699 9,667 N/A 
  Plan 6 16,010 14,381 12,374 N/A N/A 
  Plan 7 6,701 7,011 6,695 N/A N/A 
  Average Monthly Salary -

Safety Plan 
9,728 9,767 9,630 9,795 9,730 

              
PROBATION Plan 1 7,038 6,874 6,618 6,618 7,533 
  Plan 2 8,012 7,699 7,445 7,454 7,349 
  Plan 4 7,267 6,922 6,622 6,686 6,505 
  Plan 5 6,106 5,916 5,242 4,949 N/A 
  Plan 6 5,739 5,216 4,808 5,239 N/A 
  Plan 7 5,684 5,807 7,742 5,239 N/A 
  Average Monthly Salary -

Probation Plan 
7,216 6,998 6,770 6,844 6,719 

              

  
Average Monthly Salary (All 
plans) 

$7,567 $7,151 $7,026 $6,995 $6,872 

SCHEDULE OF AVERAGE MONTHLY SALARY OF ACTIVE MEMBERS 
(By Plan and Membership Type) 

  2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 

COUNTY OF SAN MATEO(1)           
   General Members 4,092 4,014 3,906 4,078 4,476 
   Safety Members 479 452 452 435 446 
   Probation Members 282 280 292 299 305 
      Subtotal 4,853 4,746 4,650 4,812 5,227 

SAN MATEO COUNTY MOSQUITO  
AND VECTOR CONTROL DISTRICT           
   General Members 20 19 18 15 18 

COURT(1)           
   General Members  222 239 249 268 N/A 
              
Total Active Membership 5,095 5,004 4,917 5,095 5,245 

PARTICIPATING EMPLOYERS AND ACTIVE MEMBERS 

(1) The County of San Mateo (the County) and the Court were not split out prior to fiscal year 2012.  The counts for the County exclude 
the Court since fiscal year 2012 and thereafter.  



108 | ACTUARIAL SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

SUMMARY OF RETIRED AND INACTIVE MEMBER BENEFITS 

SUMMARY OF RETIRED AND INACTIVE BENEFITS 

   2015   2014   2013   2012   2011 

SERVICE RETIREMENT                     
                      
Number   3,628   3,525   3,446   3,355   3,242 
                      
Annual Allowance                     
Basic Only    $112,557,000     $105,556,000     $100,411,000     $  94,234,000     $  87,254,000  
COLA        30,835,000         28,027,000         26,594,000         24,748,000         23,212,000  
Total    $143,392,000     $133,583,000     $127,005,000     $118,982,000     $110,466,000  
                      
Average Monthly Payment    $          3,294     $          3,158     $          3,071     $          2,955     $          2,839  
                      
DISABILITY RETIREMENT                     
                      
Number   442   428   393   374   370 
                      
Annual Allowance                     
Basic Only    $  13,303,000     $  12,508,000     $  10,733,000     $    9,909,000     $    9,414,000  
COLA          4,208,000           3,800,000           3,564,000           3,225,000           3,005,000  

Total    $  17,511,000     $  16,308,000     $  14,297,000     $  13,134,000     $  12,419,000  

                      
Average Monthly Payment    $          3,301     $          3,175     $          3,032     $          2,927     $          2,797  
                      
BENEFICIARIES                     
                      
Number   568   565   559   546   535 
                      
Annual Allowance                     
Basic Only    $    8,610,000     $    7,986,000     $    7,668,000     $    7,235,000     $    6,672,000  
COLA          6,367,000           5,892,000           5,804,000           5,494,000           5,118,000  
Total    $  14,977,000     $  13,878,000     $  13,472,000     $  12,729,000     $  11,790,000  
                      
Average Monthly Payment    $          2,197     $          2,047     $          2,008     $          1,943     $          1,836  
                      
TOTAL RETIRED MEMBERS                     
                      
Number   4,638   4,518   4,398   4,275   4,147 
                      
Annual Allowance                     
Basic Only    $134,470,000     $126,050,000     $118,812,000     $111,378,000     $103,340,000  
COLA        41,410,000         37,719,000         35,962,000         33,467,000         31,335,000  
Total    $175,880,000     $163,769,000     $154,774,000     $144,845,000     $134,675,000  
                      
Average Monthly Payment    $          3,160     $          3,021     $          2,933     $          2,823     $          2,706  
                      
INACTIVE MEMBERS   1,384   1,304   1,306   1,212   1,190 

The data in the table above originates from PensionGold, SamCERA's retirement benefit administration system. 



| ACTUARIAL SECTION | 109 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

AVERAGE MONTHLY RETIREE BENEFIT PAYMENT 

AVERAGE MONTHLY RETIREE BENEFIT PAYMENT 

NUMBER OF RETIREES BY CATEGORY 



STATISTICAL SECTION 

Mirada Surf Coastal Trail, San Mateo County 



| STATISTICAL SECTION | 111 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

CHANGE IN PENSION PLAN NET POSITION  
For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30 (in thousands ) 

  2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 

Additions           

        Employer Contributions $180,704  $202,877  $144,308  $150,950  $150,475  

        Member Contributions 48,012 46,594 55,408 49,687 49,013 

Total Contributions 228,716 249,471 199,716 200,637 199,488 

            
 Investment Income (Loss), 
       Net of Expenses 111,320  482,050  326,983  (11,024) 437,654  

        Security Lending Income 310  435  622  721  530  

        Miscellaneous Additions - 179  160  29  73  

Total Additions 340,346  732,135  527,481  190,363  637,745  

            

Deductions           

        Retiree Benefits 168,109 159,342 149,266 139,208 129,835 

        Member Refunds 3,357  3,214  5,750  3,627  2,474  

        Administrative Expenses 5,350    4,914  4,260  4,708  3,547  

        Other Expenses 119  65  29  (33) 10  

Total Deductions 177,564  168,266  159,959  147,835  135,866  
            

Change in Pension Plan Net Position $162,782  $563,869  $367,522  $42,528  $501,879  

        Information Technology Expenses* 629 731 654 325 - 

THE STATISTICAL SECTION 
 
Introduction 
This section provides detailed information for a more thorough understanding of the financial 
statements, note disclosures, and required supplementary information. Most of the information 
in this section is compiled by SamCERA’s actuary based on information from the pension 
administration system. 

CHANGE IN PENSION PLAN NET POSITION 

* Prior to fiscal year 2012, informaƟon technology expenses were included in the administraƟve expenses. Since 
fiscal year 2012, informaƟon technology expenses are detached from administraƟve expenses and are separately 
accounted for. 



112 | STATISTICAL SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

CHANGE IN PENSION PLAN NET POSITION CONTINUED) 
For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30 (in thousands) 

  2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 

Additions           

        Employer Contributions $106,265  $106,123  $105,340  $100,550  $76,090  

        Member Contributions 50,319 50,372 60,111 42,696 39,962 

Total Contributions 156,584 156,495 165,451 143,246 116,052 

            
 Investment Income/(Loss),  
        Net of Expenses 195,412  (457,309) (178,379) 298,260 166,826 

        Security Lending Income 743  1,631  1,699  0 0 

        Miscellaneous Additions 41  (16) 181  26 49 

Total Additions 352,780  (299,199) (11,048) 441,532 282,927 

            

Deductions           

        Retiree Benefits 122,141 113,991 103,970 94,788 87,915 

        Member Refunds 2,736  2,795  3,075  2,244 2,258 

        Administrative Expenses 3,373  3,287  2,774  2,582 2,086 

        Other Expenses 33  67  8  201 40 

Total Deductions 128,283  120,140  109,827  99,815 92,299 
            

Change in Pension Plan Net Position $224,497  $(419,339) $(120,875) $341,717  $190,628  

        Information Technology Expenses* - - - - - 

CHANGE IN PENSION PLAN NET POSITION 



| STATISTICAL SECTION | 113 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS 
(in thousands) 

PLAN NET POSITION (AS OF JUNE 30) 

TOTAL PLAN NET POSITION 

Fiscal Year Ended 
June 30 

Actuarially Required 
Contributions (ARC) 

Actual  
Contribution 
Received* 

Contributions 
Made as a % of 

ARC 

2006 $76,090  $76,090  100% 

2007 100,550  100,550  100% 

2008 105,340  105,340  100% 

2009 106,123  106,123  100% 

2010 106,265  106,265  100% 

2011 150,475  150,475  100% 

2012 139,407  150,950  108% 

2013 131,294 144,308  110% 

2014 152,877  202,877  133% 

2015 169,814  180,704  106% 
    

* The County of San Mateo made additional contributions to accelerate the pay-
down of UAAL in fiscal years 2012, 2013, 2014, and 2015. 



114 | STATISTICAL SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

Fiscal Year 
Ended June 30 

Employee 
Contribution 

Employer 
Contribution Other Total Additions 

2006  $ 39,963   $ 76,090  $49   $ 282,927  

2007 42,696  100,550  26     441,532  

2008 60,111  105,340  1,880      (10,592) 

2009 50,372  106,123  1,615    (299,199) 

2010 50,319  106,265  784     352,780  

2011 49,013  150,475  603     637,745  

2012 49,687  150,950  750     190,363  

2013 55,408  144,308  782     527,481  

2014 46,594  202,877  614     732,135  

2015 48,012  180,704  310     340,346  

Investment 
Income/(Loss) 

$ 166,825  

   298,260  

 (177,923) 

 (457,309) 

   195,412  

   437,654  

   (11,024) 

   326,983  

   482,050  

   111,320  

SCHEDULE OF ADDITIONS TO PLAN NET POSITION BY SOURCE 
(in thousands) 

SCHEDULE OF DEDUCTIONS FROM PLAN NET POSITION BY TYPE 
(in thousands) 

ADDITIONS BY SOURCE & DEDUCTIONS BY TYPE 

*Administrative expenses for investments were classified as investment expenses in fiscal years 2008-2011. 
Since fiscal year 2012,  such expenses are included in administrative expenses. 

Fiscal Year 
Ended June 30 

Retirement 
Benefits  

Member 
Refunds 

Administrative 
Expenses* 

Information 
Technology 

Expenses 

Other 
Expenses 

Total 
Deductions 

2006  $  87,915   $      2,258   $         2,086   $             -   $           40   $    92,299  

2007      94,788           2,244              2,582                  -              201         99,815  

2008    103,970           3,075              3,231                  -                  8       110,284  

2009    113,991           2,795              3,287                  -                67       120,140  

2010    122,141           2,736              3,373                  -                33       128,283  

2011    129,835           2,474              3,547                  -                10       135,866  

2012    139,208           3,627              4,708             325              (33)      147,835  

2013    149,266           5,750              4,260             654                29       159,959  

2014    159,342           3,214              4,914             731                65       168,266  

2015    168,109           3,357              5,350             629              119       177,564  



| STATISTICAL SECTION | 115 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

SUMMARY OF RETIRED BENEFITS, REFUNDS, AND INACTIVE MEMBERS 

RETIRED MEMBERS 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 
Service Retirement           
Number 3,636 3,525 3,446 3,355 3,242 
Annual Allowance:           
Basic Only $112,557,000 $105,556,000 $100,411,000 $94,234,000 $87,254,000 
COLA 30,835,000  28,027,000  26,594,000  24,748,000  23,212,000  
      Total $143,392,000  $133,583,000  $127,005,000  $118,982,000  $110,466,000  
Average Monthly Payment $3,286  $3,158  $3,071  $2,955  $2,839  
Disability Retirement           
Number 442 428 393 374 370 
Annual Allowance:           
Basic Only $13,303,000  $12,508,000  $10,733,000  $9,909,000  $9,414,000  
COLA 4,208,000  3,800,000  3,564,000  3,225,000  3,005,000  
      Total $17,511,000  $16,308,000  $14,297,000  $13,134,000  $12,419,000  
Average Monthly Payment $3,301  $3,175  $3,032  $2,927  $2,797  
Beneficiaries           
Number 569 565 559 546 535 
Annual Allowance:           
Basic Only $8,610,000  $7,986,000  $7,668,000  $7,235,000  $6,672,000  
COLA 6,367,000  5,892,000  5,804,000  5,494,000  5,118,000  
      Total $14,977,000  $13,878,000  $13,472,000  $12,729,000  $11,790,000  
Average Monthly Payment $2,194  $2,047  $2,008  $1,943  $1,836  
           
TOTAL RETIRED MEMBERS      
Number 4,647 4,518 4,398 4,275 4,147 
Annual Allowance:           
Basic Only $134,470,000 $126,050,000 $118,812,000 $111,378,000 $103,340,000 
COLA 41,410,000 37,719,000 35,962,000 33,467,000 31,335,000 
      Total $175,880,000  $163,769,000  $154,774,000  $144,845,000  $134,675,000  
Average Monthly Payment $3,154  $3,021  $2,933  $2,823  $2,706  
           

General $3,011,758  $3,396,690  $5,161,430  $3,399,163  $2,379,790  
Safety 345,253  155,265  588,346  228,329  94,655  
      Total $3,357,011  $3,551,955  $5,749,776  $3,627,492  $2,474,445  

INACTIVE MEMBERS 1,384 1,304 1,306 1,212 1,190 

REFUND*      

      

 
The data in the table above originates from Pension Gold, SamCERA’s retirement benefit administration system. The 
total payroll above differs from the actual payroll due to a last month projection used by the actuary.     
 
* Refund by type is not available prior to fiscal year 2009-10. 

SUMMARY OF RETIRED BENEFITS, REFUNDS, AND INACTIVE MEMBERS 



116 | STATISTICAL SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

SUMMARY OF RETIRED BENEFITS, REFUNDS, AND INACTIVE MEMBERS (CONTINUED) 

RETIRED MEMBERS 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 
Service Retirement           
Number 3,108 3,032 2,958 2,835 2,783 
Annual Allowance           
Basic Only $79,007,000 $73,038,000 $66,704,000 $59,687,000  $54,942,000  
COLA 22,542,000  22,964,000  21,289,000  19,382,000  18,188,000  
      Total $101,549,000  $96,002,000  $87,993,000  $79,069,000  $73,130,000  
Average Monthly Payment $2,723  $2,639  $2,479  $2,324  $2,190  
Disability Retirement           
Number 365 369 361 351 342 

Annual Allowance           

Basic Only $8,988,000  $8,722,000  $8,214,000  $7,571,000  $6,915,000  
COLA 2,926,000  3,070,000  2,847,000  2,569,000  2,356,000  
      Total $11,914,000  $11,792,000  $11,061,000  $10,140,000  $9,271,000  
Average Monthly Payment $2,720  $2,663  $2,553  $2,407  $2,259  
Beneficiaries           
Number 529 534 523 508 488 
Annual Allowance           
Basic Only $6,309,000  $6,052,000  $5,757,000  $5,220,000  $4,659,000  
COLA 5,116,000  5,206,000  4,805,000  4,361,000  3,946,000  
      Total $11,425,000  $11,258,000  $10,562,000  $9,581,000  $8,605,000  
Average Monthly Payment $1,800  $1,757  $1,683  $1,572  $1,469  
           

Number 4,002 3,935 3,842 3,694 3,613 
Annual Allowance           
Basic Only $94,304,000 $87,812,000 $80,675,000 $72,478,000  $66,516,000  
COLA 30,584,000 31,240,000 28,941,000 26,312,000  24,490,000  
      Total $124,888,000  $119,052,000  $109,616,000  $98,790,000  $91,006,000  
Average Monthly Payment $2,601  $2,521  $2,378  $2,229  $2,099  
           

General $2,623,439  N/A N/A N/A N/A 
Safety 112,586  N/A N/A N/A N/A 
      Total $2,736,025  $2,794,916  $3,074,453  $2,243,677  $2,257,849  

INACTIVE MEMBERS 1,207 1,230 1,225 1,151 1,089 

TOTAL RETIRED MEMBERS      

REFUND*      

      

SUMMARY OF RETIRED BENEFITS, REFUNDS, AND INACTIVE MEMBERS 

 
The data in the table above originates from Pension Gold, SamCERA’s retirement benefit administration system. The 
total payroll above differs from the actual payroll due to a last month projection used by the actuary.     
 
* Refund by type is not available prior to fiscal year 2009-10. 



| STATISTICAL SECTION | 117 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

SCHEDULE OF AVERAGE PENSION BENEFIT PAYMENTS 

SCHEDULE OF AVERAGE PENSION BENEFIT PAYMENTS 
Retirement Date   Years of Service Credit 
                                
7/1/2014 - 6/30/2015   0 - 4   5 - 9   10 - 14   15 - 19   20 - 24   25 - 29   30+ 
Retirees - Service and Disabilities                             
  Average Monthly Gross Benefit   $552   $1,448   $2,487   $3,669   $4,161   $7,067   $5,993 
  Average Final Compensation   $4,191   $6,262   $7,158   $8,074   $7,548   $9,423   $7,751 
  Number of Retires   21   35   52   35   20   38   31 
                                
Beneficiaries                             
  Average Monthly Gross Benefit   $1,581   $1,165   $1,094   $2,144   $2,095   $4,520   $5,888 
  Average Final Compensation   N/A   $3,587   $3,867   $6,360   $4,521   $8,971   $8,071 
  Number of Retires   13   3   3   7   5   5   6 
                                
7/1/2013 - 6/30/2014   0 - 4   5 - 9   10 - 14   15 - 19   20 - 24   25 - 29   30+ 
Retirees - Service and Disabilities                             
  Average Monthly Gross Benefit   $1,576   $1,713   $2,297   $3,274   $4,502   $6,202   $6,551 
  Average Final Compensation   $6,920   $6,729   $6,555   $7,614   $7,740   $9,292   $7,528 
  Number of Retires   16   61   50   40   32   13   18 
                                
Beneficiaries                             
  Average Monthly Gross Benefit   $869   $647   $1,855   $895   $4,348   $3,463   $6,087 
  Average Final Compensation   N/A   $6,305   $5,433   $2,913   $7,872   $5,504   $6,611 
  Number of Retires   10   3   6   6   3   2   2 
                                
7/1/2012 - 6/30/2013   0 - 4   5 - 9   10 - 14   15 - 19   20 - 24   25 - 29   30+ 
Retirees - Service and Disabilities                             
  Average Monthly Gross Benefit   $629   $1,302   $2,461   $3,433   $5,100   $6,413   $7,133 
  Average Final Compensation   $5,234   $5,831   $7,321   $7,344   $8,135   $8,317   $7,818 
  Number of Retires   16   39   59   21   30   25   20 
                                
Beneficiaries                             
  Average Monthly Gross Benefit   $1,343   $1,709   $1,457   $1,463   $1,289   $5,056   $4,064 
  Average Final Compensation   $552   $5,140   $5,255   $4,536   $3,446   $7,516   $6,039 
  Number of Retires   16   2   6   4   3   1   4 
                                
7/1/2011 - 6/30/2012   0 - 4   5 - 9   10 - 14   15 - 19   20 - 24   25 - 29   30+ 
Retirees - Service and Disabilities                             
  Average Monthly Gross Benefit   $878   $1,393   $2,208   $3,510   $5,050   $5,476   $7,346 
  Average Final Compensation   $4,235   $5,843   $6,667   $7,228   $7,812   $7,344   $7,766 
  Number of Retires   19   38   47   25   47   32   29 
                                
Beneficiaries                             
  Average Monthly Gross Benefit   $1,746   $712   $2,329   $2,332   $881   $4,241   $4,722 
  Average Final Compensation   N/A   $3,913   $5,200   $5,818   $2,937   $6,102   $7,184 
  Number of Retires   16   1   5   4   4   3   5 
                                
7/1/2010 - 6/30/2011   0 - 4   5 - 9   10 - 14   15 - 19   20 - 24   25 - 29   30+ 
Retirees - Service and Disabilities                             
  Average Monthly Gross Benefit   $565   $1,166   $2,067   $3,679   $4,767   $6,300   $7,897 
  Average Final Compensation   $3,207   $6,268   $5,895   $7,761   $7,562   $8,466   $8,303 
  Number of Retires   16   25   52   29   52   26   26 
                                
Beneficiaries                             
  Average Monthly Gross Benefit   $1,106   $1,373   $1,207   $2,050   $2,039   $3,272   $8,446 
  Average Final Compensation   N/A   $6,549   $4,186   $5,178   $5,772   $5,278   $7,765 
  Number of Retires   13   1   7   3   6   2   1 
                                



118 | STATISTICAL SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

SCHEDULE OF AVERAGE PENSION BENEFIT PAYMENTS 

SCHEDULE OF AVERAGE PENSION BENEFIT PAYMENTS (CONTINUED) 

Retirement Date   Years of Service Credit 
                                
7/1/2009 - 6/30/2010   0 - 4   5 - 9   10 - 14   15 - 19   20 - 24   25 - 29   30+ 
Retirees - Service and Disabilities                             
  Average Monthly Gross Benefit   $855   $1,232   $2,061   $3,838   $4,965   $6,024   $7,366 
  Average Final Compensation   $2,619   $5,409   $5,803   $7,587   $7,827   $7,818   $8,081 
  Number of Retires   9   36   33   16   41   19   24 
                                
Beneficiaries                             
  Average Monthly Gross Benefit   $699   $2,616   $1,452   $1,142   $2,248   $3,895   $4,305 
  Average Final Compensation   N/A   $7,316   $5,457   $3,874   $5,546   $5,457   $5,166 
  Number of Retires   9   4   2   2   3   1   4 
                                
7/1/2008 - 6/30/2009   0 - 4   5 - 9   10 - 14   15 - 19   20 - 24   25 - 29   30+ 
Retirees - Service and Disabilities                             
  Average Monthly Gross Benefit   $1,508   $1,447   $2,318   $2,120   $4,873   $6,046   $8,801 
  Average Final Compensation   $3,654   $4,581   $6,562   $6,798   $7,646   $7,141   $9,061 
  Number of Retires   7   34   26   29   23   17   32 
                                
Beneficiaries                             
  Average Monthly Gross Benefit   $2,809   $631   $1,323   $978   $1,552   $4,030   $3,546 
  Average Final Compensation   N/A   $3,744   $5,068   $3,840   $6,395   $6,099   $4,661 
  Number of Retires   12   3   6   3   3   1   1 
                                
7/1/2007 - 6/30/2008   0 - 4   5 - 9   10 - 14   15 - 19   20 - 24   25 - 29   30+ 
Retirees - Service and Disabilities                             
  Average Monthly Gross Benefit   $544   $1,610   $2,386   $3,516   $3,831   $5,177   $7,270 
  Average Final Compensation   $5,406   $5,639   $5,922   $7,012   $6,179   $6,596   $7,641 
  Number of Retires   12   29   23   25   47   35   38 
                                
Beneficiaries                             
  Average Monthly Gross Benefit   $2,070   $1,057   $1,912   $3,199   $1,438   $3,822   $5,636 
  Average Final Compensation   N/A   $4,433   $7,617   $6,701   $5,149   $9,472   $6,757 
  Number of Retires   14   2   1   2   3   3   3 
                                
7/1/2006 - 6/30/2007   0 - 4   5 - 9   10 - 14   15 - 19   20 - 24   25 - 29   30+ 
Retirees - Service and Disabilities                             
  Average Monthly Gross Benefit   $1,143   $1,814   $1,986   $2,902   $3,957   $6,793   $8,367 
  Average Final Compensation   $3,705   $7,601   $5,323   $5,870   $6,703   $8,390   $7,788 
  Number of Retires   9   15   31   29   24   25   24 
                                
Beneficiaries                             
  Average Monthly Gross Benefit   $2,034   $626   $1,289   $1,559   $3,545   $3,720   $4,039 
  Average Final Compensation   $2,053   $3,608   $3,961   $5,028   $7,164   $4,056   $5,016 
  Number of Retires   9   1   5   5   2   2   2 
                                
7/1/2005 - 6/30/2006   0 - 4   5 - 9   10 - 14   15 - 19   20 - 24   25 - 29   30+ 
Retirees - Service and Disabilities                             
  Average Monthly Gross Benefit   $1,032   $1,312   $1,793   $2,840   $3,658   $6,286   $7,009 
  Average Final Compensation   $4,352   $4,630   $5,193   $5,929   $5,644   $6,845   $6,863 
  Number of Retires   4   19   33   26   23   21   37 
                                
Beneficiaries                             
  Average Monthly Gross Benefit   $1,420   $261   $1,495   $1,385   $2,327   $2,989   $3,977 
  Average Final Compensation   N/A   N/A   $4,320   $3,206   $4,742   $7,374   $4,659 
  Number of Retires   13   1   5   1   3   1   5 



| STATISTICAL SECTION | 119 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

The data in the tables above originates from Pension Gold, SamCERA’s retirement benefit administration 
system. Such data can also be found  in SamCERA’s actuarial valuation reports. 

  2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 
General Tier 1 $9,235  $8,617  $8,104  $7,843  $7,630  
General Tier 2 8,186  7,584  7,355  7,340  7,208  
General Tier 3 6,747  6,300  6,254  6,138  5,968  
General Tier 4 7,386  6,873  6,662  6,580  6,398  
General Tier 5 7,735  6,912  6,418  5,799  N/A 
General Tier 7 6,315  5,721  5,433  N/A N/A 
   Average Monthly Salary for General Tier 7,351  6,884  6,726  6,726  6,599  
Safety Tier 1 14,712  14,091  13,185  12,624  12,073  
Safety Tier 2 11,545  11,191  10,935  10,892  10,789  
Safety Tier 4 9,919  9,581  9,402  9,351  9,230  
Safety Tier 5 9,145  8,958  8,699  9,667  N/A 
Safety Tier 6 16,010  14,381  12,374  N/A N/A 
Safety Tier 7 6,701  7,011  6,695  N/A N/A 
   Average Monthly Salary for Safety Tier  9,728  9,767  9,630  9,795  9,730  
Probation Tier 1 7,038  6,874  6,618  6,618  7,533  
Probation Tier 2 8,012  7,699  7,445  7,454  7,349  
Probation Tier 4 7,267  6,922  6,622  6,686  6,505  
Probation Tier 5 6,106  5,916  5,242  4,949  N/A 
Probation Tier 6 5,739  5,216  4,808  5,239  N/A 
Probation Tier 7 5,684  5,807  7,742  N/A N/A 
   Average Monthly Salary for Probation Tier 7,216  6,998  6,770  6,844  6,719  

Average Monthly Salary for All Tiers 7,567  7,151  7,026  6,995  6,872  

  2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 
General Tier 1 $7,543  $7,534  $7,252  $7,175  $6,749  

General Tier 2 7,193  7,120  6,872  6,688  6,148  
General Tier 3 5,818  5,791  5,619  5,287  4,988  
General Tier 4 6,348  6,212  5,914  5,714  5,315  
General Tier 5 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

   Average Monthly Salary for General Tier 6,569  6,468  6,211  6,054  5,652  
Safety Tier 1 11,578  10,889  11,113  10,212  10,019  
Safety Tier 2 10,548  10,135  9,612  9,299  8,585  
Safety Tier 4 8,931  8,610  8,349  7,882  7,403  
Safety Tier 5 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 
Safety Tier 6 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

   Average Monthly Salary for Safety Tier 9,525  9,197  8,937  8,538  8,062  
Probation Tier 1 8,922  9,751  9,791  8,522  7,735  
Probation Tier 2 7,393  7,341  6,960  6,899  6,479  
Probation Tier 4 6,456  6,291  5,978  5,766  5,444  
Probation Tier 5 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 
Probation Tier 6 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

   Average Monthly Salary for Probation Tier  6,722  6,634  6,344  6,171  5,860  

Average Monthly Salary for All Tiers 6,813  6,692  6,433  6,260  5,857  

General Tier 7 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Safety Tier 7 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Probation Tier 7 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

SCHEDULE OF AVERAGE MONTHLY SALARY OF ACTIVE MEMBERS 

SCHEDULE OF AVERAGE MONTHLY SALARY OF ACTIVE MEMBERS 
(by Tier and Membership Type) 

SCHEDULE OF AVERAGE MONTHLY SALARY OF ACTIVE MEMBERS (CONTINUED) 
(by Tier and Membership Type) 



120 | STATISTICAL SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

SCHEDULE OF PARTICIPATING EMPLOYERS AND ACTIVE MEMBERS 

SCHEDULE OF PARTICIPATING EMPLOYERS AND ACTIVE MEMBERS (CONTINUED) 

 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 

COUNTY OF SAN MATEO      
   General Members 4,092 4,014 3,906 4,078 4,476 

   Safety Members  479 452 452 435 446 

   Safety/Probation Members 282 280 292 299 305 

Total 4,853 4,746 4,650 4,812 5,227 

SAN MATEO COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT*      

   General Members Total 222 239 249 268 N/A 

SAN MATEO COUNTY MOSQUITO & VECTOR CONTROL DISTRICT      

   General Members Total 20 19 18 15 18 

Total Active Membership 5,095 5,004 4,917 5,095 5,245 
      

County of San Mateo 95.25% 94.84% 94.57% 94.45% 99.66% 

    Total: 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 

San Mateo County Superior Court* 4.36% 4.78% 5.06% 5.26% N/A  

San Mateo County Mosquito and Vector Control District 0.39% 0.38% 0.37% 0.29% 0.34% 

Percentage of Membership by Employer      

* San Mateo County Superior Court Members were reported under the County of San Mateo prior to fiscal 
year 2012. 

SCHEDULE OF PARTICIPATING EMPLOYERS AND ACTIVE MEMBERS 

 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 

COUNTY OF SAN MATEO      
   General Members 4,589 4,758 4,718 4,742 4,594 

   Safety Members  425 436 432 443 428 

   Safety/Probation Members 313 330 325 329 313 

Total 5,327 5,524 5,475 5,514 5,335 

SAN MATEO COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT*      

   General Members Total N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

SAN MATEO COUNTY MOSQUITO & VECTOR CONTROL DISTRICT      

General Members Total 20 19 25 25 20 

Total Active Membership 5,347 5,543 5,500 5,539 5,355 
      

County of San Mateo 99.63% 99.66% 99.55% 99.55% 99.63% 

    Total: 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 

San Mateo County Superior Court* N/A  N/A  N/A  N/A  N/A  

San Mateo County Mosquito and Vector Control District 0.37% 0.34% 0.45% 0.45% 0.37% 

Percentage of Membership by Employer      



This page intentionally left blank. 



COMPLIANCE SECTION 

Pillar Point Bluff, San Mateo County 



| COMPLIANCE SECTION | 123 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

SAMCERA’S FUNDED RATIO 

SAMCERA’S FUNDED RATIO 
June 30 

ADDITIONS TO AND DEDUCTIONS FROM SAMCERA’S NET POSITON 
For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30 



124 | COMPLIANCE SECTION | 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

AUDITOR’S REPORT 

BROWN 
ARMSTRONG 

CERTIFIFO 
PUBliC 

ACCOU:-JTANTS 

IIAK!I\SFI!LD OPPICE 
( KAIN OPPIC!) 

4"-00~N AVENUE 

SUITE 300 

BAKERSAEl.D CA 9330'1 

TEL661 3!44971 

Pft!SNO OPPIC! 

76 3 I'< "lGRJ>' AVENUE 

SUITE 0 1 

FRESNO C< 937 I 

PASADENA OfFICE 

LO'. ROBLE!. - [ .\if 

SUITE 3 0 

BROWN ARMSTRONG 
Certified Public A ccountants 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER 
FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS 

BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

To the Board of Retirement of 
San Mateo County Employees' Retirement Association 
Redwood City, California 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in 
the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits 
contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of 
the United States, the financial statements of the San Mateo County Employees' 
Retirement Association (Sam CERA) as of and for the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2015, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise 
SamCERA's basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated 
October 20, 2015. 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered 
Sam CERA's internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of 
expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of SamCERA's internal control. 
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of SamCERA's 
internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does 
not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their 
assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely 
basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control , such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of Sam CERA's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected 
and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material 
weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 
governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first 
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal 
control that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these 
limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that 
we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist 
that have not been identified. 



| COMPLIANCE SECTION | 125 

 

SAMCERA COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT | 2015 

AUDITOR’S REPORT 

Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether SamCERA's financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 
provisions was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The 
results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be 
reported under Government Auditing Standards. 

We noted certain matters that we reported to management in a separate letter dated October 20, 2015. 

Purpose ofthis Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of SamCERA's internal 
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering SamCERA's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, 
this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 

Bakersfield, California 
October 20, 2015 

BRO\NN ARMSTRONG 
ACCOUNTANCY CORPORATION 

~ ~4-/'ttmr 
~-~-()4'1~ !A~ 



This page intentionally left blank. 



Order Information 
To order your own copy of SamCERA’s 2015 Comprehensive 
Annual Financial Report, contact SamCERA at: 

SamCERA 
100 Marine Parkway, Suite 125 
Redwood City, CA 94065 

You can also find this report on SamCERA’s website, 
www.samcera.org. 

www.samcera.org 

Photo Credits 
All photos courtesy of San Mateo County Parks Department. 





100 Marine Parkway, Suite 125 |Redwood City, California 94065 
Phone: 650-599-1234 | Toll-Free 800-339-0761 | Fax: 650-591-1488 

I ~ 
Sam CERA 
SAN MATEO COUNTY EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT ASSOCIATION 



SAN MATEO COUNTY EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT ASSOCIATION 

Board of Retirement 

October 27, 2015 Agenda Item 7.3 

TO: Board of Retirement 

FROM: AI David, Assistant Executive Officer 

SUBJECT: Annual Review of Independent Auditor, Brown Armstrong 

Staff Recommendation 
Accept the annual performance report of Brown Armstrong Accountancy Corporation, Sam CERA's 
Independent Auditor. 

Background 
The annual evaluation of Brown Armstrong Accountancy Corporation has three parts: (1) A survey 
completed by trustees and staff in which results were received from four trustees, five staff 
members, and two auditors; (2) Brown Armstrong's responses to questions; and (3) A discussion at 
the Board meeting to present the results of the responses. 

Discussion 
Brown Armstrong received above average and higher ratings in all questions from the Board 

and staff for the services they provide to Sam CERA. In responding to the ratings questions, 
some trustees expressed that because Brown Armstrong has been a long-term service provider, 
there is no basis for the trustee to make a comparison of service quality. Staff will refrain from 
asking comparison questions in future reviews with long-time service providers. 

Andrew Paulden will highlight areas in Brown Armstrong's attached survey responses and will 
be available to respond to any questions or comments regarding his firm's audit services. 



 

Responses to Questions for Annual Independent Auditor Evaluation 
Fiscal Year 2014-2015 

Organizational Update 

 
1) What is the ownership structure of your firm?  Identify all owners with 5% ownership 

or more.  

Andrew J. Paulden V.P. 17.59% 

Steven R. Starbuck President 15.27% 

Christina M. Thornburgh Sec/Treas 14.93% 

Eric H. Xin V.P. 11.62% 

Diana H. Branthoover V.P. 10.51% 

Rosalva Flores V.P. 7.74% 

Connie M. Perez V.P. 5.64% 

Thomas M. Young V.P. 5.53% 

Diane L. White V.P. 3.98% 

Jian Ou-Yang V.P. 3.98% 

Ryan L. Nielsen V.P. 3.21% 

   

  100.00% 

 

2) Provide an update on your firm’s organization, with particular emphasis on (a) changes 
to your management structure over the past eighteen months, and (b) public clients 
gained or lost in the past eighteen months.  All significant changes should be 
accompanied by an explanation.  An organizational chart should accompany this 
response.  

a. There have been no changes in our management structure in the last eighteen months. 

Our firm is managed by a managing partner that is elected by the shareholders every 

four years.  Please see our current organizational chart attached. 

b. We have added 16 new audit clients representing approximately 9,201 hours. Four 

clients (County of San Luis Obispo, City of Baldwin Park, Roman Catholic Bishop of 

Fresno, and City of Fresno) comprise approximately 5,703 of these new hours. We have 

lost 11 audit clients representing approximately 8,729 hours through the competitive 

bidding process. 

 

3) Provide a list of services available through your firm, including the number of staff 
supporting those services.   

We are a full service accounting firm offering traditional accounting services.  We currently 

have 74 employees; approximately 52 of those provide services to local governments. 

4) What are your firm’s philosophy and current policy regarding new business?  



SAN MATEO COUNTY EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT ASSOCIATION 

Board of Retirement 

 
 

 

   

We engage only new clients that have the highest ethical standards, and only after we are certain 

we can provide high quality, timely service. 

 

5) Specify separately the individuals (up to five) who you feel are key to the success of 
your firm. If the list has changed in the last eighteen months, identify and explain the 
change(s).  

All partners and managers are integral to the continued success of our firm, particularly those 

under 50.  

6) Update all significant personnel changes to the "SamCERA Team."  

Marybeth Brooks (senior) left Brown Armstrong for another job opportunity. This change did 

not significantly impact the current year audit as it was after fieldwork. 

7) Has your firm or any of its employees been involved in regulatory or litigation actions 
related to your business in the past eighteen months?  

No. 

8) Has a peer review been performed on any of your firm’s audit products?  If yes, discuss 
the review and the findings.  Any material findings or recommendations must be 
accompanied by an explanation.  

Previously provided to SamCERA Management was Brown Armstrong Accountancy 

Corporation’s most recent external quality control review (peer review.)  Please see attached 

peer review report.   

9) Describe the levels of insurance coverage maintained by your firm.  E-mail a current 
certification of insurance to adavid@samcera.org.  

See attached certificates.  

 

10) Do you have a written policy on ethics?  If so, please e-mail the policy to 
adavid@samera.org.  

We do not have a written policy. We conform to AICPA standards. 

11) Describe the relative strength and longevity of your staff.  Are any of your operations 
outsourced?  If the answer is yes, provide details regarding the firm(s) with which your 
firm has contracted.  

We have very good employee retention. The only outsourcing we do is for Information 

Technology consultations.  

12) What are your mission critical systems?  Has your firm experienced any problems with 
these systems in the past eighteen months?  When were these systems implemented 
and when were they last upgraded?  Do you anticipate any changes to these systems 
in the next eighteen months? 

Our mission critical systems are our servers, routers, and switching equipment. We have not had 

any problems with these systems in the past eighteen months. These systems were implemented 

in a general sense over 10 years ago, but they are constantly being upgraded and improved. Our 

last upgrade was the first half of this year. We do not anticipate any changes to these systems in 

the next eighteen months. 

mailto:adavid@samcera.org
mailto:adavid@samera.org


SAN MATEO COUNTY EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT ASSOCIATION 

Board of Retirement 

 
 

 

   

13) Provide an overview of your firm's business continuity plan.  Any details that you could 
share would be helpful 

We have buy-sell and deferred compensation agreements with all partners. All partners that 

reach the age of 65 are mandatorily retired unless approved annually to continue as a partner. 

New partners meeting applicable standards are admitted to ownership to ensure continuity. 

 

Audit Process  

14) Provide a description, in detail, of your audit process.  

Timeline establishment, risk assessment, internal control evaluation, substantive audit 

procedures, and Board Presentation.  

 

15) What changes to the process resulted from going paperless?  

Brown Armstrong has been paperless for multiple years. Regarding the audit process mentioned 

at #14, there were no material changes to this process 

16) Describe your internal peer review procedures in detail.   

Every engagement is reviewed in detail by the Engagement Manager, the Engagement 

Partner and a completely separate Partner who has no attachment to the engagement.  We 

use AICPA checklists and other practice aids.  Any detail that has an open question or 

concern will halt production on the engagement until the matter is cleared to the reviewing 

Partner’s satisfaction.  

17) Does your firm still engage in peer review with other audit firm?  Please provide details. 
Yes, please see #8.  

 
Outlook 

18) What issues are other clients concerned with in regards to products, services, 
education and governance? 

Our other clients are concerned with obtaining training and implementation guidance relating to 

both new and proposed accounting/pension standards.  

 

19) What is your firm’s experience regarding implementation of the enacted changes in 
PEPRA or accounting standards relative to the pension industry?  Please list and discuss 
each proposal SamCERA should consider.   

Brown Armstrong is currently assisting several 1937 Act clients, including SamCERA, with 

GASB 67 and 68 implementation.  

20) Describe your assessment of the relationship between your firm and SamCERA.  How 
can SamCERA better assist you in accomplishing the goals it has established for your 
firm?  How can we better use your firm’s capabilities?  

We have a very good relationship with SamCERA. No noted areas for improvement. 

Conclusion  



SAN MATEO COUNTY EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT ASSOCIATION 

Board of Retirement 

 
 

 

   

21) Is there any information that would be timely pursuant to SamCERA’s contract and this 
annual review?  

None noted. 

22) Are your clients making significant changes in their asset mixes or economic and non-
economic assumptions?  Describe these changes.  

None noted. 

23) What audit related changes should SamCERA consider?  

None noted. 

24) Relative to your expertise, what trends are occurring in the retirement industry that 
SamCERA should be tracking? 

None noted. 

 

 
 



 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Administrative 
Support 

Marketing 

Human  
Resources Clerical Business 

Services 

Consulting 

Accounting 
Managers 

 

Senior  
Accountants 

Shareholder- 
In-Training 

Clint W. Baird 

 

Information 
Systems 

Staff 
Accountants 

Partner Group 
Steven R. Starbuck 
Andrew J. Paulden 

Chris M. Thornburgh 
Eric H. Xin 

Rosalva Flores 
Connie M. Perez 

Thomas M. Young 
Diana H. Branthoover 

Ryan L. Nielsen 
Jian Ou-Yang 

Diane L. White 



weaver>-

System Review Report 

To the Shareholders of 
Brown Armstrong Accountancy Corporation 
and the National Peer Review Committee of the AI CPA 

We have reviewed the system of quality control for the accounting and auditing practice of 
Brown Armstrong Accountancy Corporation (the firm) applicable to non SEC issuers in effect for 
the year ended October 31, 2012. Our peer review was conducted in accordance with the 
Standards for Performing and Reporting on Peer Reviews established by the Peer Review 
Board of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. As part of our peer review, we 
considered reviews by regulatory entities, if applicable, in determining the nature and extent of 
our procedures. The firm is responsible for designing a system of quality control and complying 
with it to provide the firm with reasonable assurance of performing and reporting in conformity . 
with applicable professional standards in all material respects. Our responsibility is to express 
an opinion on the design of the system of quality control and the firm's compliance therewith 
based upon our review. The nature, objectives, scope, limitations of, and the procedures 
performed in a System Review are described in the standards at www.aicpa.org/prsummary. 

As required by the standards, engagements selected for review included engagements 
performed under Government Auditing Standards and audits of employee benefit plans. 

In our opinion, the system of quality control for the accounting and auditing practice of Brown 
Armstrong Accountancy Corporation applicable to non SEC issuers in effect for the year ended 
October 31, 2012, has been suitably designed and complied with to provide the firm with 
reasonable assurance of performing and reporting in conformity with applicable professional 
standards in all material respects. Firms can receive a rating of pass, pass with deficiency(ies) 
or fail. Brown Armstrong Accountancy Corporation has received a peer review rating of pass. 

wcwwJit,Jifkl/, vU! 
WEAVER AND TIDWELL, L.L.P. 

Dallas, Texas 
February 8, 2013 

AN INDEPENDENT 
MEMBER OF BAKER TILLY 
INTERNATIONAL 

WEAVER AND TIDWELL LLP 
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS AND CONSULTANTS 
WWWWEAVERLLP.COM 

DALLAS 
12221 MERIT DRIVE. SUITE 1400, DALLAS, TX 75251 
P:(972) 490 1970 F:(972) 702 8321 



SAN MATEO COUNTY EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT A SSOCIATION 

Board of Retirement 

October 27, 2015 Agenda Item 7.4 

TO: Board of Retirement 

FROM: Scott Hood, Chief Executive Officer 

SUBJECT: Discussion of SACRS Business Meeting Topics for the Fall 2015 Conference 

Staff Recommendation 
Discu ss SACRS November 2015 Business Meetings topics . 

Background 
The SACRS Business Meeting will be held Nov. 20, 2015, at the close of the Fall SACRS 
Conference. 

As of the mailing date for SamCERA Board materials, SACRS has not made available the 

materials for the Fall Business Meeting. Staff expects the material to become available prior 
to the SamCERA Board meeting and will distribute them as soon as they become available. 

It is important for the Board to discuss issues that will come to a vote at SACRS in order to 

give the Sam CERA Voting Delegate and Alternates a sense of the Board members' desires. 
Per Sam CERA tradition, the Voting Delegate is only bound to vote in a manner the delegate 
considers to be in the best interests of SamCERA. 

The SamCERA Voting Delegate fo r the Fall SACRS Business Meeting is Micha l Settles, the 

Board approved Susan Lee as the First Alternate. Scott Hood is the approved Second 

Alternate . 



SAN MATEO COUNTY EMPLOYEES' RETI REMENT ASSOCIATION 
Board of Retirement 

October 27, 2015 Agenda Item 7.5 

TO: Board of Retirement ~ 
FROM : Scott Hood, Chief Executive Officer 

SUBJECT: Approval of Board of Retirement Meeting Schedule for 2016 

Staff Recommendation 

Approve the attached Board of Retirement meeting schedule for calendar year 2016. 

Background 
Board regulation 3.4 provides that the regular meetings of the Board are held on the Fourth 

Tuesday of each month, starting at 10:00 a.m. It further provides that the Board may cancel 
and/or approve a cha.nge in the date, time and/or location of meetings, if the proposed change 
is included on the agenda of a regular meeting. 

For the past few years, the Board has combined its November and December meetings due to 
the holidays, and has combined the meetings in May and June due to the annual Government 
Finance Officers Association's (GFOA) Annual Conference and the Memorial Day Holiday. 

Therefore, it seems prudent to plan for such changes by adopting an annual meeting schedule. 
The approved 2016 Board meeting schedule will be placed on the SamCERA website to give 

public notice of these date changes. 

Consistent with recent years, the 2016 schedule includes: 

• Ten total meetings; 

• Meetings on the fourth Tuesday of the month; 

• M eetings at 10 a.m. except for the Board/Staff Retreat meetings; 

• Annual Board/Staff Retreat held on April 26 (fourth Tuesday) and 27, with regular 

business taken up at 2:30p.m. Tuesday, April 26; 

• No board meeting in May; a meeting would be set for June 7 to provide distance from 
Memorial Day and the annual GFOA Conference. No other board meeting would be 
held in June; 

• No board meeting in November; 

• December 6 (first Tuesday) meeting date for December. 

Attachment 

2016 SamCERA Board Meeting Schedule 



MONTH 

January 

February 

March 

SAN MATEO COUNTY EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT ASSOCIATION 
Board of Retirement 

2016 SamCERA Board Meeting Schedule 
All meetings to be held at 

100 Marine Parkway, Suite 160, 
Redwood City, CA 94065 

DAY WEEK& DAY 

26 
FOURTH 
TUESDAY 

23 
FOURTH 
TUESDAY 

22 
FOURTH 
TUESDAY 

FOURTH 

April {Board/Staff Retreat) 26 & 27 TUESDAY & 
WEDNESDAY 

May 
{No meeting 

NONE 
scheduled) 

June 7 
FIRST 

TUESDAY 

July 26 
FOURTH 
TUESDAY 

August 23 
FOURTH 
TUESDAY 

September 27 
FOURTH 
TUESDAY 

October 25 
FOURTH 
TUESDAY 

November 
{No meeting 

NONE 
scheduled) 

December 6 
FIRST 

TU ESDAY 

TIME 

lOA.M . 

10A.M. 

10A.M. 

9 A.M. FOR RETREAT 
TOPICS, 2:30P.M., 

APRIL 26, FOR 
BUSINESS ITEMS 

10A.M. 

lOA.M. 

lOA.M. 

10A.M . 

lOA.M. 

lOA.M. 


	15-10-0.0 Agenda 10.27.15
	15-10-3.1 Approval of Minutes from Sept 29, 2015
	15-10-4.0 Consent Agenda October 2015
	15-10-4.5 CONFIDENTIAL Refunds October 2015
	15-10-4.7 Interest Crediting Policy Revision Memo
	15-10-4.7 Interest Crediting Policy Resolution
	15-10-4.7 Interest Crediting Policy 2015 highlighted changes
	15-10-5.2 GASB Disclosures Report Memo
	15-10-5.2 GASB 67 & 68 Report
	Certification
	Overview of GASB 67 and GASB 68
	Statement of Fiduciary Net Position
	Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
	Schedule of Net Pension Liability
	Discount Rate
	Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability
	Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios
	Schedule of Employer Contributions
	Collective Pension Expense
	Deferred Inflows and Outflows of Resources
	Employer’s Allocations and Proportionate Share
	Employers' Proportionate Share of Deferred Outflows and Inflows
	Changes in Employers' Proportionate Share
	Differences in Contributions
	Employers' Pension Expense Excluding that Attributable to Employer-Paid Member Contributions
	Deferred Inflows and Outflows of Resources Due to Changes in Proportionate Share and Differences in Contribution
	Schedule of Employers' Recognition of Deferred Outflows and Inflows
	Schedule of Employer Pension Amounts Allocated by Cost Sharing Plan
	Actuarial Methods and Assumptions
	Glossary

	15-10-6.1 Preliminary Monthly Report 9.30.15
	15-10-6.1 SIS Monthly Market Update Sep15
	15-10-6.1 Northern Trust Preliminary Monthly Performance Repory - September 2015
	15-10-6.2 Report on Fixed Income Manager (conf)
	15-10-6.3 Report on Commodity, Hedge Fund etc Manager Reviews (conf)
	15-10-6.4 Approval of Purchase of Alt Investment (conf)
	15-10-6.4 Invesco Value Add Real Estate Presentation (confidential)
	15-10-6.5 Investment Consulting Services Update
	15-10-6.5 SIS Presentation on Merger
	San mateo county employees’ retirement association
	A Brand New Development	
	The Combined Company
	How Does This Benefit SamCERA?

	15-10-7.1 Approval of Financial Audit Reports FYE 06.30.15
	15-10-7.1 Attachment Auditor Reports
	15-10-7.2 Approval of 2015 CAFR
	15-10-7.2 Attachment 2015 CAFR
	15-10-7.3 Annual Review of Brown Armstrong
	15-10-7.3 Attachment A Response to Questions
	15-10-7.3 Attachment B Brown Armstrong Org Chart
	15-10-7.3 Attachment C Brown Armstrong Peer Review
	15-10-7.4 SACRS Business Meeting Topics
	15-10-7.5 Board Meeting Schedule 2016



